Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday, 19 November 2015 at 2.00 pm
Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mrs. R. Palmer (Tel: 0116 305 6098)
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. E. F. White CC (Chairman)
Gillian Adams
John Adler
Karen English
Lesley Hagger
Ch. Supt. Sally Healy
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Dr Andy Ker
Dr Satheesh Kumar
Dr Mayur Lakhani

Rick Moore
Mr. I. D. Ould CC
Cllr. P. Posnett
Cllr. P. Ranson
Toby Sanders
Mike Sandys
Trish Thompson
Jon Wilson

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 17 September
2015 and Action Log.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

(Pages 5 - 14)

Information
4.

East Midlands Strategic Clinical Networks and
Clinical Senate.

NHS England

(Pages 15 - 20)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy

Strategy
5.

Palliative Care - Better Care Together End of
Life Workstream.

West Leicestershire
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

There will be a powerpoint presentation for this item.
6.

Draft Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020.

Director of Adults
and Communities

(Pages 21 44)

7.

Community Services Plan.

West Leicestershire
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

(Pages 45 98)

8.

SEND Reform Update.

Director of Children
and Family Services

(Pages 99 120)

West Leicestershire
and East
Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG

(Pages 121 160)

Performance
9.

Winter Planning Arrangements.

10. Housing Interventions to Support Reductions in Blaby District
Delayed Hospital Discharge.
Council

(Pages 161 168)

11. Healthwatch Update: Swanswell Insight Report
- Road to Recovery.

Healthwatch

(Pages 169 172)

12. Healthwatch Insight: Dentistry Quick Poll.

Healthwatch

There will be an oral report for this item.

13. Performance Update - Quarter 2.

Chief Executive and
Greater East
Midlands
Commissioning
Support Unit

(Pages 173 188)

14. Annual Report of the Director of Public Health
2015.

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 189 264)

15. Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health
Protection Assurance Report.

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 265 288)

Chief Executive,
Leicestershire
County Council

(Pages 289 292)

Governance
16. Healthwatch Leicestershire Recommissioning.

17. Revised Terms of Reference for the Integration Director of Health
(Pages 293 Executive.
and Care Integration 298)
18. Date of next meeting.
The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on Thursday 7
January at 2.00pm.

19. Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

This page is intentionally left blank

5

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Thursday, 17 September 2015.
PRESENT
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. E. F. White CC (In the Chair)
Mr. I. D. Ould CC

Lesley Hagger
Mike Sandys
Jon Wilson

Clinical Commissioning Groups
Karen English
Dr Andy Ker
Prof Mayur Lakhani
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
Dr Satheesh Kumar
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Rick Moore
Gillian Adams
Leicestershire District/Borough Councils
Cllr Pam Posnett
In attendance
Mrs R Page CC, Leicestershire County Council
Det Supt Sian Walls, Leicestershire Police
Paul Burnett, Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Boards (minute 221 refers)
212. Minutes and Action Log.
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2015 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.
The Board also noted the Action Log which provided an update on progress with the
actions agreed by the Board during 2015.
213. Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

6
214. Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No declarations were made.
215. Position Statement by the Chairman.
The Chairman gave a position statement on the following matters:•
•
•

Local Developments;
The Development of Health and Wellbeing Boards;
National Developments.

The Board was assured that the quarterly Better Care Fund return had been assured by
the Integration Executive and submitted in accordance with the national deadline set out
by NHS England. It was noted that there was still underperformance with regard to the
target of reducing emergency admissions by 2,041 admissions by 31 December 2015.
A copy of the position statement and the Better Care Fund return is filed with these
minutes.
216. Mental Health and Wellbeing of Children and Young People - Better Care Together
Workstream Update.
The Board considered a report and presentation from the Director of Children and Family
Services which set out the progress of the Better Care Together workstream for the
mental health and wellbeing of children and young people. A copy of the report, marked
‘Agenda Item 5’, and the slides forming the presentation is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) Significant improvements had already been made to the service officer for children
and young people with mental health needs. Waiting times for the Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) had reduced and the crisis response
service was now more effective.
(ii) There was no additional capacity to deliver the Transformational Plan for children
and young people’s mental health services; its success would depend on partners
working together. It was suggested that the report should be distributed to district
council health and housing leads to ensure that they were engaged in this area of
work.
(iii) The aim of the Transformational Plan was to build on initiatives that were already
in place. For example, there was already a local offer in place regarding
information and signposting. The Plan could also maximise the opportunities
available through the Healthy Schools scheme. It would be important to ensure
that there was a consistency of message across the initiatives.
(iv) Work was ongoing to consolidate the elements of work on child and adult mental
health into Better Care Together workstreams, particularly with regard to the

7
transition between services. The specific project work to improve services in this
area was yet to be mapped out.
(v) The development of the Transformation Plan had included using data to identify
the groups of children and life stages most likely to be affected by mental health
issues. More work was needed to translate this evidence into targeted work.
(vi) Learning from the pilot currently taking place in Rutland, providing a range of
support for young people with mental health issues, would be rolled out to
Leicestershire in a number of ways. The young people involved in the pilot would
work with youth councils to help them develop the skills that they need. Schools
would also engage in peer to peer learning with Leicestershire schools.
RESOLVED:
(a) That progress with the Better Care Together workstream for children and young
people’s mental health and wellbeing, including the development of the
Transformational Plan, be noted;
(b) That a report on progress be submitted to the next meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.
217. Learning Disabilities and Autism Update.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which provided
an update on progress in relation to the Joint Health and Social Care Assessment for
Learning Disability (Transforming Care) and the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Autism Strategy and Action Plan. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ is filed
with these minutes.
It was confirmed that the ‘at risk’ register for those with learning disabilities and/or autism
who were at risk of admission to an inpatient mental health setting would be in place by
October 2015. Leicestershire had committed to having a whole age register but would
operationally keep two separate registers. There was multi agency involvement in the
establishment of the registers. The Board emphasised the importance of having the right
interventions in place to prevent the people on the register from being admitted.
The Joint Health and Social Care Self-Assessment Framework for Learning Disability
was rated as amber because of issues regarding employment and the number of health
checks that were being carried out. Due to the way that the targets were set, nearly 100
percent compliance with the targets was needed in order for the Framework to be rated
as green.
The Board was assured that significant progress had been made in response to the
Transforming Care Action Plan and the numbers of people with learning disabilities in
inpatient settings was now very low.
RESOLVED:
That the progress on the development of provision for people with learning disabilities
and autism be noted.

8
218. Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard and Current Performance.
The Board considered a report of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland System
Resilience Group which provided details of the successful application for the Urgent and
Emergency Care Vanguard Programme. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 7’ is
filed with these minutes.
With regard to ambulance handovers at the Leicester Royal Infirmary, it was noted that
UHL and EMAS had undertaken a review and developed a plan for transformational
change which was now being implemented, however it was recognised that this was a
complex set of issues to address and included some constraints on the physical
environment at A&E which would not be resolved fully until the new department was in
place. Improvements were also needed to the ‘front door’ of the Emergency Department,
particularly when patients were referred by GPs or the Urgent Care Centre.
The Urgent Care Board met fortnightly to consider the current performance of the urgent
care system and oversee a multiagency action plan which addressed inflow into UHL,
flow within UHL itself and outflow (e.g. discharge pathways). Current year-to-date
performance of the 4 hour wait target was 92 percent although there was still a lot of
variation in performance on a daily basis. Progress against the action plan was
considered at each meeting of the Urgent Care Board which included representation from
all providers and commissioners operating in the urgent care system in Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR), including all Local Authorities, the regional NHS 111
provider, EMAS, NHS England and the Trust Development Authority
The Health and Wellbeing Board was advised that with LLR joining the national Urgent
Care Vanguard programme additional governance arrangements to drive the delivery of
the future model of urgent care would also be established, and more detail about this
would follow later in the year. The Board would be kept abreast of these developments.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the successful application for the Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard
Programme be welcomed.
(b) That a report on the performance of the urgent care system during Winter 2015,
along with development and implementation of the Vanguard be submitted to the
Health and Wellbeing Board in January 2016;
219. Healthwatch Annual Review 2014-15.
The Board considered a report and presentation from Healthwatch Leicestershire which
presented the Annual Review 2014-15 and provided details of the Winter Tour. A copy of
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ and the slides forming the presentation is filed with
these minutes.
Health and Social Care settings were selected for ‘Enter and View’ visits by using a range
of data. This included intelligence received from the Care Quality Commission, issues
flagged up through Healthwatch’s signposting service and information from the Quality
Surveillance Group, of which Healthwatch was a member. It was important that only
three or four issues were focused on during a visit to ensure that the findings could be
really focused and would make a difference to how the service was delivered in the
future.

9
The funding to Healthwatch had reduced but the Chairman of Healthwatch was satisfied
that the organisation was performing to a high standard within the available funds.
Healthwatch was also trying to raise funds from elsewhere, such as through the
SIMTEGR8 project to evaluate the schemes within the Better Care Fund.
Healthwatch had produced a signposting directory in partnership with a private company.
The latest version would be shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board. It would be
possible to produce a directory aimed at young people as this could be funded by
revenue raised from advertising.
RESOLVED:
(a) That Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Review 2014-15 be noted;
(b) That Healthwatch Leicestershire’s representation as Participating Observers and
Representations on a wide range of key stakeholder Committees and Boards be
noted;
(c) That Healthwatch Leicestershire’s contribution to the development of national
Quality Standards for the Healthwatch network and the involvement of members of
the Health and Wellbeing Board in the 360 degree stakeholder survey be noted;
(d) That the signposting directory be circulated to members of the Board.
220. Insights from Healthwatch.
This was considered as part of minute 219 above.
221. Annual Reports of the Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board
and Safeguarding Adults Board.
The Board considered a report of the Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Board
which presented the draft Annual Report 2014/15 for the Leicestershire and Rutland
Safeguarding Children Board and the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults
Board. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) The Board sought assurance that UHL had put measures in place to improve its
compliance with the safeguarding audits and was advised that all agencies that did
not demonstrate compliance were asked to put together an action plan which was
then monitored by the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group, a subgroup of the
Safeguarding Boards.
(ii) With regard to the increase in Deprivation of Liberty Standards (DOLS)
assessment, the Board was advised that the purpose of the assessment was to
test whether a person had capacity to make decisions if they were deprived of
their liberty. Due to the increase in the number of people requiring an assessment,
a number were now outstanding. The Board was assured that this did not mean
that a person waiting for an assessment received poor care, although for some
people it could be very useful to have a relevant care plan in place. It was also

10
important to note that not all people who underwent an assessment would need to
be deprived of their liberty.
(iii) Concern was expressed that legal highs were not given sufficient recognition as a
problem, particularly given the potential mental health implications. The Board
was assured that the Safeguarding Boards had recognised the risks of legal highs
and had incorporated them into their action plan and performance framework.
Partners were also working together to address issues related to legal highs
through the single substance misuse service currently being procured across
Leicester and Leicestershire.
RESOLVED:
That the Annual Reports of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board
and Safeguarding Adults Board be noted.
222. Annual Reports of the Independent Reviewing Officer Service 2014-15.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which set
out the 2014-15 annual report of the Independent Reviewing Officer Service. A copy of
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the Annual Reports of the Independent Reviewing Officer Service and
improvements and developments planned for 2015-16 be noted.
223. Private Fostering.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which set
out the current arrangements across Leicestershire regarding private fostering. A copy of
the report marked 'Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes.
It was noted that it was a statutory requirement that after 28 days, a local authority should
be notified of a private fostering arrangement. It was felt that more could be done to raise
awareness of private fostering amongst GP practices, particularly through the locality
meetings.
RESOLVED:
That the GP Representatives on the Health and Wellbeing Board be asked to consider
how the need to identify private fostering arrangements can be promoted more effectively
to GPs.
224. Dates of Future Meetings.
It was noted that future meetings of the Board would be held on the following dates:19 November 2015;
7 January 2016;
10 March 2016;
5 May 2015;
7 July 2015;

11
15 September 2015;
17 November 2015.

2.00 - 4.00 pm
17 September 2015

CHAIRMAN

12

This page is intentionally left blank

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

Date

162(b)

22/01/15

162(d)

22/01/15

176(e)

12/03/15

178(b)

12/03/15

190(a)

14/05/15

190(b)

14/05/15

206(b)

16/07/15

209(c)

16/07/15

Action

Responsible
Officer
Submit updates on work to progress the Special Gill Weston
Educational Needs and Disabilities reforms to
each meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board
until March 2016.
Organise a development session for members of Lesley Hagger
the Health and Wellbeing Board to include
training on the Ofsted Inspection Framework for
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.
Mike Sandys
The Director of Public Health to establish a
formal relationship with NHS England for
developing the commissioning plans for
pharmaceutical services.
Submit a further report reviewing the
Mandy Stott
effectiveness of the implementation of Phase 1
of the Care Act and setting out the requirements
for Phase 2 to a future meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board.
Submit further reports to the Health and
Jim Bosworth
Wellbeing Board biannually, with the first report
in September 2015, to provide assurance on the
implementation and impact of the mental health
policy changes and associated investment,
demonstrating how the investment has improved
parity of esteem
Jim Bosworth
Commissioners to seek support from
Healthwatch Leicestershire in assessing the
impact of the additional investment in mental
health from the public’s perspective.
Refer the findings of the Quick Poll Survey
Vandna Gohil
regarding GP services to the Clinical
Commissioning Groups for consideration.
Submit a report to a future meeting of the Board Toby Sanders/
on access to GP services.
Karen English

Comments

Status

Reports scheduled for all future Board meetings until GREEN
March 2016

This will now form a report to the Board in November. GREEN

A request has been sent to NHS England but a
response has not yet been received.

AMBER

This item has been postponed due to the
Government announcement regarding the delay in
implementing Phase 2 of the Care Act.

GREEN

Parity of esteem is being considered by the
Integration Executive in December,

AMBER

13

No.

The report following consideration by the Integration GREEN
Executive in December (item 190(a) refers) will reflect
this.
This action is still in progress.

AMBER

Report scheduled for the meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board in January 2016

GREEN

1

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

216(b)

17/09/15 Submit a report on progresswith the CAMHS
workstream to the next meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board.
17/09/15 Submit a report on the performance of the
Toby Sanders
urgent care system during Winter 2015, along
with development and implementation of the
Vanguard to the Health and Wellbeing Board in
January 2016.
17/09/15 Circulate the Healthwatch signposting directory Vandna Gohil
to members of the Board.

218(b)

219(d)

223

Action

17/09/15 Ask the GP Representatives on the Health and
Wellbeing Board to consider how the need to
identify private fostering arrangements can be
promoted more effectively to GPs.

Responsible
Officer
Lesley Hagger

Mayur Lakhani/
Andy Ker

Comments

Status

Report is now scheduled for the meeting of the Health AMBER
and Wellbeing Board in January 2016
Report scheduled for the meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board in January 2016

GREEN

14

The Directories are not available as yet - the
AMBER
publishers have advised that they are awaiting input
from CCGs. HW will distribute copies once it
receives them.
Publicity relating to private fostering has been shared GREEN
with the GP Representatives on the Health and
Wellbeing Board and an offer has been made from
the Service Manager to attend locality meetings.
Private Fostering will also be included in a newsletter
sent to all GP practices in January 2016.

2

15

Agenda Item 4

EAST MIDLANDS STRATEGIC CLINICAL NETWORKS AND CLINICAL SENATE
BRIEFING FOR
LEIICESTERSHIRE COUNTY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
NOVEMBER 2015
INTRODUCTION
This paper provides the Leicestershire County Health & Wellbeing Board with information
about the role and function of the East Midlands Strategic Clinical Networks and Clinical
Senate and an update on progress against the business plan for 2015/16. It also provides an
opportunity to brief colleagues on the current national review of improvement and leadership
development across the health and care system.
NATIONAL REVIEW OF IMPROVEMENT AND LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT
There has been a national review of improvement and leadership development, the
recommendations of which were published in July 2016, and confirmed the roles for both the
clinical networks and the clinical senates moving forward, supporting health economies to
improve health outcomes.
PARTNERSHIP WORKING IN THE EAST MIDLANDS
Within the East Midlands there are a number of organisations with the same region-wide
footprint; whilst our remits are different we share a collective aim: to serve the East Midlands'
4.5m residents, improving health outcomes for patients and the public.
A formal partnership agreement reinforces this commitment and collaborating to explore all
opportunities to share resources, develop joint projects and reduce the risk of duplication.
We are pleased to confirm that East Midlands Councils have recently confirmed their
commitment to the partnership.
Where joint priorities (currently cancer,
stroke, diabetes and mental health)
exist between the Clinical Networks
and the Academic Health Science
Network, we are committed to aligning
our work programmes and resources
to maximise impact. During 2015-6
the activities, engagement and
collaborative
approaches
above
continue to be developed in order to
maximise the levers for change across
the East Midlands. We:
• Operate in partnership
• Avoid duplication
• Work
collaboratively,
not
competitively
• Share knowledge through open
and honest communication
• Represent
each
other
positively

16

The Network and Senate team also works closely with specialised commissioning to offer
support and clinical expertise into a range of programmes. We are actively supporting work
programmes for the initial priorities of the East Midlands collaborative commissioning group
to address whole pathways of care across specialised commissioners and CCGs.
Following a request from the East Midlands CCG Congress and with support from the Acute
Chief Executives group, we are co-ordinating a mapping exercise as part of a collaborative
sustainable services review. A number of recent issues (e.g. dermatology, spinal and
breast cancer services) have highlighted that, despite significant transformational and QIPP
plans within each area, there are some services where there is a significant risk to quality
and sustainability and where the impact extends beyond a single CCG, provider or unit of
planning.
It is recognised that we, as a system, usually have the information about current and future
service pressures, but we do not always bring this together to enable a planned, proactive,
timely response. This review, therefore, aims to bring this intelligence together from across
multiple perspectives (within and across health organisations) to inform the agreement of
appropriate joint solutions to ensure the continued delivery of affordable, high quality care. A
facilitative event is planned on 26th January 2016, where we plan to share the results of the
current information sharing phase and agree priorities and an initial road map for action.
EAST MIDLANDS STRATEGIC CLINICAL NETWORKS
The role of the Clinical Networks is to support health systems to improve the health
outcomes of our local communities by connecting commissioners, providers, professionals,
patients and the public across a pathway of care to share best practice and innovation,
measure and benchmark quality and outcomes, and drive improvement.
The core offers from the Clinical Networks are to:
x Enable clinical and patient engagement to inform commissioning decisions
x Define and drive quality improvements across complex pathways of care
x Coordinate and support commissioners and providers to reduce unwarranted
variation, improve cohesion and ensure sustainable services within a single pathway
of care
The Networks focus on four core disease and population groupings: cardiovascular (stroke,
renal, diabetes, vascular and cardiology), cancer, maternity and children and mental health,
dementia and neurology. They also respond to local priorities for improvement programmes,
which this year include respiratory and end of life care.
The Clinical Networks and the Clinical Senate cover the East Midlands geography of
Lincolnshire, Nottinghamshire, Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Rutland and Northamptonshire.
MENTAL HEALTH, DEMENTIA AND NEUROLOGY NETWORK
The Mental Health Network has convened the first ever East Midlands crisis concordat
event, benchmarked the provision of section 136 facilities and laterally established an East
Midlands clinical network group.

2

17

The Network is also supporting commissioners with the national target ambition for
Dementia Diagnosis. We have provided clinical and advice on best practice to all health
communities. Specific support to clinical commissioning groups in Leicestershire increased
dementia diagnosis rates by 10% through case finding in long term care homes. This project
is now being rolled out in Lincolnshire, with a view to wider spread across the East Midlands.
The parity of esteem work programme provided two innovation funds to pilot new models of
working to increase parity of esteem between mental and physical health, for people with
severe mental illness (SMI) and Dementia. The funds have been made available to
commissioners and providers to allow them to trial or pump prime new models of working
that sought to reduce premature mortality rates for patients with SMI and to improve the
support offered to patients with dementia e.g. hospital avoidance schemes. All projects will
be submitting evaluation data in December 2015, with a final report produced in March 2016.
The network identified and benchmarked services against regional consensus-based top ten
best practice indicators for Parity of esteem. Results have been shared with all nine East
Midlands health and well-being boards with an offer to assist developing action plans for
improvement.
The network has supported the review of nine local authority learning disability selfassessment framework submissions to ensure learning disability specialist providers
shared East Midland’s best practice. Support has also been provided to the progression of
the East Midlands learning Disability Network.
Clinical advice has been provided to the NHS assurance processes in relation to Improving
access to psychological therapies (IAPT) targets for access and recovery rates. In
conjunction with Health Education East Midlands, completed training needs analysis for
psychological therapists and provided workshops facilitated by national team for optimum
IAPT staffing models.
Guidelines for commissioning community rehabilitation services for people with long
term neurological conditions have been developed by the East Midlands Neurological
Clinical Advisory Group. The network has worked with Leicestershire CCGs in developing a
business case for an integrated stroke and neurological rehabilitation service across LLR.
The network is also participating in the national collaborative looking at community
neurological services and sharing the work already carried out within the region.
CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE NETWORK
The Cardiovascular Disease Network has made the case for change and engaged 19 East
Midlands CCGs to deliver improvements in the identification and management of
common cardiovascular disease conditions within primary care. All 19 EM CCGs have
implemented atrial fibrillation upskilling programmes and 7 a heart failure upskilling
programme, improving GP diagnosis and management of these conditions. It is anticipated
that there will be 983 fewer strokes and 325 fewer deaths each year and stroke related
hospital admission costs could be reduced by £14.7m, as a result.
The Network is specifically supporting a diabetes prevention programme across all 19
CCGs. This includes improving the robustness of primary care registers for people at high
risk of diabetes and implementing a systematic diabetes prevention pathway to facilitate
3

18

referral of patients onto existing lifestyle services or the national diabetes prevention
programme and systems for recall of at risk patients. This will include provision of brief
advice and standardised written information for patients on their risk of diabetes using a
standardised information booklet.
All these programmes should have a direct impact on reducing referrals into secondary care.
The East Midlands Renal Transplantation Improvement Group is collaborating with the
CVD network on an improvement programme. This will achieve consistency of access to
transplantation, patient pathways and experience, and identify areas of significant variation
that impact on patient outcomes across Leicester and Nottingham renal transplant centres.
The CVD network is further collaborating with clinicians, provider organisations and both
specialist and CCG commissioners to scope and undertake stocktake exercises of both
Vascular and Cardiac care. These stocktakes will describe the current structure and
capacity of services, with the aim of supporting the health system to meet future demand.
CHILDREN AND MATERNITY NETWORK
A CAMHS mapping exercise was undertaken to identify gaps and variation in the current
provision of CAMHS services. A self-assessment tool and user-guide for Future in Mind,
have been developed by the Children’s Reference Group, to support improvement in
CAMHS services and disseminated nationally. The Network has supported the agreement of
CAMHS as a priority for the East Midlands Collaborative Commissioning Group, and
provided clinical advice to inform the CAMHS local transformation panels. We have just
confirmed our engagement with the national children and young people mental health
transformation programme, which we plan to progress in conjunction with local authority
Directors of Children’s Services in order to ensure appropriate advice across health and
social care.
The Children and Maternity Network has been facilitating joint activities across Nottingham
University Hospitals NHS Trust and University Hospitals Leicester NHS Trust to improve
specialised care for children and young people within the East Midlands, including new
solutions for paediatric transport. This has complemented reviews of general paediatric
surgery, resulting in Trust-specific reports, and publication of NICE accredited guidance in
conjunction with the Royal College of Surgeons for appendicectomy and orchidopexy, with
work now started for testicular torsion.
A programme, has been initiated, to link data to identify pregnant and postpartum women
with serious mental illness who are not being referred into perinatal mental health
services. This will support the development of specialised services to improve access for all
women to perinatal mental health care who require it, in line with national standards
CANCER NETWORK
During 2015/16 the Cancer Network has focused on cancer waiting times improvement by
shaping and providing service-specific and clinical advice to the 62 day cancer waiting times
assurance process working collaboratively with NHS England assurance and delivery
colleagues, locality directors, TDA, Monitor and intensive support teams.

4

19

The network identified over £1m estimated potential savings through development of upper
gastrointestinal cancer care pathway and commissioning guidance, ensuring consistent
high quality care for all patients timed pathways are also being developed for prostate, lung
and colorectal cancers tumour sites. There are work programmes to improve outcomes in
diagnostic services and support a reduction in emergency admissions.
264 GP trainers, appraisers and observers have been trained in early diagnosis of cancer
resources - finalist at the 2014 Health Service Journal awards and commenced emergency
presentation work with two areas identified to carry out audits (lung and brain) to identify
key issues and address challenges.
There is also a work programme to improve outcomes in diagnostic working
collaboratively across the East Midlands with a specific focus on radiology. Health Education
East Midlands has committed to increase training numbers for radiology; however,
significant further progress is required to identify and embed sustainable solutions for the
delivery of this specialty across the East Midlands, working closely with the Vanguard East
Midlands radiology consortium (EMRAD).
CLINICAL SENATE
The East Midlands Clinical Senate provides independent strategic advice to commissioners
and other stakeholders to support them in making the best decisions about health care for
their populations. They do this by bringing together a range of health and social care
professionals, with patient representatives. More specifically the Clinical Senate can:
x
x

x

Provide clinical advice, act as an honest broker and, if required, undertake reviews to
areas where there may be lack of consensus in the local health system
Provide independent clinical advice to commissioners, in respect of major change
programmes, to inform the NHS England service change assurance process. Over
the summer of 2015 the Clinical Senate undertook a 3 day clinical review of the LLR
Better Care Together Programme and their advice is being used to further shape
the plans.
Work with stakeholders to identify aspects of health care where there is potential to
improve outcomes and value. Provide proactive advice about the areas for inquiry or
collaboration, and the areas for further analysis of current evidence and practice

As well as responding to requests for reviews, the Clinical Senate has published three
reports for commissioners of health and social care services:
x

x

Meeting the needs of an ageing population: written in conjunction with the Royal
College of Surgeons and with the support of the Academic Health Science Network:
commissioning services for an ageing population and those living with frailty summarises
recent national publications with guidance on delivering services for older people and
those living with frailty.
Using exercise as treatment: the report on physical activity and exercise medicine,
written in conjunction with Public Health England, looks at physical activity and the
benefits through its use in prevention of ill health, risk reduction and as an active
treatment.

5

20
x

The Clinical Senate has worked with Public Health England to develop a report in
respect of prevention and an East Midlands specific response to the Five Year Forward
View.

2015/16 BUSINESS PLAN
The Clinical Networks online business plan for 2015/16 provides more in depth detail about
our work programmes
We are currently commencing our business planning process for 2016/17 taking due
consideration of national, regional and local priorities.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
The Annual report for 2014/15 contains details of the range of programmes worked on
throughout the previous year
ACTIONS
Leicestershire County Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
x note the Briefing on the East Midlands Clinical Networks and the Clinical Senate
x identify if there are any local priorities for health and well-being, which are not
included within the current business plan, which the Clinical Networks or Clinical
Senate should consider within their 2016/17 business plan

Roz Lindridge
Associate Director
East Midlands Clinical Networks and Clincal Senate
November 2015.

6

21

Agenda Item 6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES
DRAFT ADULT SOCIAL CARE STRATEGY 2016-2020
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to invite members of the Board to comment on the draft
Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020, together with the associated draft overarching
commissioning intentions.

Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Workstream
Mental health

Relevance


Long term conditions





Urgent care
Learning disabilities

Frail and older people
Planned care



End of life

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Strategy sets out the draft strategic goals relating to Adult Social Care from
2016-2020. In order to deliver this change the department needs to set out how best
to commission services to deliver the strategic goals. This will be determined by the
development of an associated Commissioning Strategy.

3.

The relevant policy framework includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

4.

The Care Act 2014;
Leicestershire County Council Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015-2019;
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2014-2018 (Leading Leicestershire:
Transforming Public Services);
Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2014;
Leicestershire Commissioning and Procurement Strategy 2015;
Better Care Together Five Year Strategic Plan 2014-2019;

In April 2015 the first phase of the Care Act 2014 was implemented. The Care Act
2014 includes reforms of the law in respect of health and social care, and also
prioritises people’s wellbeing, needs and goals. The Act highlights the importance of
preventing and reducing needs and putting people in control of their care, as well as
support for both carers and the people they care for. Local authorities are expected
to ensure their populations receive services and support that prevent their care

22
needs from becoming more serious and that individuals can get the information they
need in order to make good and appropriate decisions about care and support.
5.

On 11 September 2015, the County Council’s Cabinet approved the draft Adult
Social Care Strategy 2016-20 (attached as Appendix A to this report) and
overarching commissioning intentions and agreed that a formal consultation exercise
on the principles and model for local social care delivery in the coming four-year
period is undertaken. The draft Adult Social Care Strategy has been developed to
fulfil statutory duties, meet efficiency targets and provide a basis for planning,
commissioning and delivering Adult Social Care services for the next four years.

6.

The views of customers and stakeholders are necessary to inform the new model of
social care delivery and to determine how this can be best achieved through the
commissioning of services.

7.

A further report will be submitted to the County Council’s Cabinet in February 2016
on the outcome of the consultation, alongside a final Adult Social Care Strategy and
Commissioning Strategy for approval.

Background
National Policy and Financial Issues
8.

Funding for Adult Social Care is decreasing as the Government continues to reduce
local authority budgets to meet the national budget deficit. Nationally social care
budgets have been reduced by 26% in real terms over the last four years.

9.

The County Council is both low funded and low spending. On average other similar
County Councils (who do not provide fire services) receive £72 (14%) more per head
of population in funding (Council Tax and Government Grant). Reductions in funding
from a low base mean that the financial position faced by the County Council is
considerably more challenging than that faced by other authorities.

10. The Care Act 2014 brought new responsibilities for local authorities from April 2015.
The Act highlighted the importance of preventing and reducing needs and putting
people in control of their care and support. For the first time the Care Act puts carers
on a par with those for whom they care. The Act outlines local authorities’
responsibilities to promote integration and co-operation with partners, particularly in
relation to health and housing.
The Local Picture
11. Alongside the significant challenges associated with new legislation, rising demand
and decreasing resources, several key developments locally have underpinned the
requirement to review delivery of Adult Social Care.
12. As identified in the recently updated Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, the
population of Leicestershire is growing – between 2012 and 2037 (25 years) it has
been projected that the total population of Leicestershire will grow by 15% to over
750,000. However, this growth is not uniform across the age groups. It is expected
that there will be an increase of 190% in people aged 85 years and over and an

23
increase of 56% in people aged 65-84 years. The increasing older population will
drive an increase in the number of people requiring social care services.
13. The 2011 Census data for Leicestershire shows that for people aged 85 years and
over, only 15% do not have their daily living activities limited by a long term health
problem or disability.
14. There will be a greater number of older people with complex care needs who will
require input from all parts of the health and social care system. This will need to be
supported by people providing unpaid care through informal caring arrangements.
The number of carers in Leicestershire is predicted to rise by 29% between 2015 and
2030.
15. The expected increase in numbers of young people transitioning into adult social
care services will put additional pressure on the Adults and Communities Department
when an increase in the number of older people with learning disabilities is also
expected, due to increased life expectancy.
16. The current economic backdrop continues to be extremely challenging, resulting in
significant and ongoing reductions in Government funding. In Leicestershire, this
means making best use of integrated budgets, and making savings and efficiencies
of over £15m. However, the Council has continued to prioritise social care and is
investing additional resources to meet the demands on the service. Over the period
of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) to March 2019, growth of £28.5m is
required to meet demand and cost pressures across the Council as a whole. The
main element of growth is Adult Social Care (£22.4m).
17. Demographic growth, increasing needs and dependencies are the main drivers of the
need for growth budgets. In summary the pressures being experienced are:
•

Older people growth is required to meet the increasing numbers of new older
people with substantial and critical needs as well as the increasing fragility of
existing service users. This growth is likely to be experienced in homecare.

•

Learning Disabilities growth is needed due to increasing numbers of service
users, with increasingly complex needs presenting for Adult Social Care both as
known child transitions and from families who have previously provided all the
care outside of the Social Care system but are no longer able to do so.

•

Mental Health is a smaller proportion of the Adult Social Care budget, but it is an
increasing area of spend as the profile for Mental Health has become more
prominent and more service users are coming forward to take advantage of
personalised cash budgets

•

Physical Disabilities growth of new users is relatively stable year on year and is
most likely to be taken as cash direct payments for example to employ a Personal
Assistant and/or to access community life choices

17. In light of the changing landscape for social care, both nationally and locally, current
models of delivery in social care are unsustainable and a revised model of social
care delivery is required in order to meet the challenges faced.

24

18. The current service model for Adult Social Care is not set for a time of maximum
austerity and the keys to sustainability are demand reduction and promoting
independence.
Local Strategic Responses
19. The Better Care Together (BCT) five year strategic plan has now been published and
sets out the future shape of health and social care services across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland. The plan addresses demand issues in the system as the
population is ageing and living longer with more complex, long term needs. At a time
when major financial challenges are being faced NHS and social care services need
to be of a good quality, while being sustainable.
20. The Adults and Communities Department has identified the changes that it needs to
make for the health and social care system to work more effectively in the immediate
future and this requires key changes to social care delivery in Leicestershire.
21. Leicestershire’s Adult Social Care Strategy is the proposed plan for the next four
years to implement a new, more cost-effective approach to delivering adult social
care, support the financial position, and to help the County Council to work together
with partners to provide more integrated health and social care services in line with
the BCT Strategic Plan.
Proposed Future model of Adult Social Care in Leicestershire
22. The draft Adult Social Care Strategy sets out how the Department will meet identified
need in Leicestershire within available resources in a period of austerity. This will be
achieved by making full use of community support underpinned by solution-focused,
personalised, progressive support that maximises independence.
23. It is intended that the Strategy will enable the Department to:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

(g)
(h)

implement a sustainable model of Adult Social Care;
meet statutory responsibilities;
operate within available resources, demonstrating cost effective care and
support;
target resources where they can make the greatest impact;
take a proactive, problem solving and person centred approach with customers;
alongside partners, help residents take more responsibility to maintain their
wellbeing and independence, by making the most of their own resources, and
everything on offer in Leicestershire's communities;
integrate health and care where this allows greater efficiency in delivery, using
the BCF and other pooled budgets;
work with partners to deliver the BCT Five year plan (transforming health and
care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland).

24. The Strategy will enable integrated care and support delivery of the Council’s six
strategic imperatives detailed in its
Strategic Plan 2014–2018,
‘Leading
Leicestershire: Transforming Public Services’.
25. A supporting delivery plan will ensure that Adult Social Care stays within the agreed
budget allocations, contains growth and achieves future MTFS savings targets. It will

25
include working with other council Departments to address key underpinning factors
that will ensure the success of the Strategy, such as:•
•
•
•

workforce development;
robust intelligence and performance data;
a quality advice and information offer;
robust financial processes.

26. The Adult Social care Strategy is intended to be a strategic framework document and
will be underpinned by a series of supporting documents including a departmental
commissioning strategy, a Market Position Statement and a workforce strategy.
27. The Commissioning strategy will provide more detail about how the department,
through future commissioning will re-shape social care provision to deliver our
overarching strategy. It details demand, supply (in line with the Market Position
statement findings), gaps, future developments which may impact on
demand/delivery, and our commissioning intentions in relation to each strategic
domain (prevent, reduce, delay, and meet need).
28. The Market Position Statement will describe care and support provision in
Leicestershire and give an indication of how that is likely to change over time. It
includes a consideration of both community based and accommodation based
services, identifies gaps in the market, and indicates the Council’s direction of travel
in terms of commissioning. The document contributes to the department’s market
shaping approach, with the primary audience being social care providers.
29. A Workforce Strategy is also being developed which will determine activities needed
to ensure skilled and dedicated staff are able to deliver change (including staff within
the department and across the social care market). This will identify mechanisms for
addressing issues such as the changing nature of health and social care provision,
the changing skills requirement and mechanisms for attracting people into the sector
locally.
30. The draft Strategy for Adult Social Care ensures alignment with BCT and supports
common understanding with Health partners. It also aligns with other Council
services delivering the Council’s new target operating model, in particular the unified
prevention offer led by the Public Health, and the Communities Strategy led by the
Chief Executive’s Department.
31. The Care Act 2014 outlines statutory responsibilities in relation to preventing,
reducing and delaying need, in addition to requirements to meet social care need
where an individual is eligible for support. The Strategy clearly aligns with this
structure by defining actions according to the following domains:Prevent – universal services, supporting wellbeing;
Reduce – intervening early for those who may be at risk of needing support in the
future;
Delay – supporting recovery and reablement for those who have experienced a crisis
or who have defined illness or disability;

26
Meeting need – promoting maximum independence and use of community and
individual resources for those with long term needs.
Development of the Commissioning Strategy
32. The draft Adult Social Care Strategy sets out overarching aims and strategic goals
for Social Care delivery from 2016-2020. In order to ensure effective delivery of the
strategy, the Department needs to re-shape the way that it commissions services.
33. “Commissioning” is the process for deciding how the Department will leverage the
total resources available in order to make the biggest possible impact on outcomes in
the most effective, efficient and sustainable way.
34. Overarching commissioning intentions have therefore been developed to set out how
the Department can achieve the necessary change. The consultation exercise will
enable the Department to further explore these high level intentions, and to develop a
detailed Commissioning Strategy which will make a significant contribution to the
delivery of the overarching Adult Social Care Strategy.
Proposed Overarching Commissioning Intentions
35. Draft commissioning intentions to support the new model for Adult Social Care will
include:
Prevent Need
36. The Department will work with partners to ensure that preventative services are well
aligned and maximise opportunities to obviate the need for social care support in the
future (such as enhancing community capacity, increasing mental health awareness,
information and advice to keep active, healthy and safe). This means:
•

Even though Adult Social Care does not directly provide universal services, the
Department will work more with the partners, particularly across local councils
and the NHS to commission preventative interventions where they demonstrate
effectiveness, and will ensure awareness is raised about maintaining
independence and planning for the future. This will help ensure that fewer
people will require formal care and support in the future.

Reduce Need
37. The Department will focus on early identification of people who are at risk of declining
health and losing their independence and work with them to help avoid this. Access
to community resources, including efficiently delivered advice and information
services will be further developed. The Council will ensure that preventative services
are targeted, evidence-based and are cost effective. Services that do not meet these
criteria will be de-commissioned. The Council will further develop its information and
advice offer to ensure people can get the right information at the right time and that
this is delivered in the most efficient way possible. The Department recognises the
invaluable role of carers and will ensure they are recognised, valued and supported
in a flexible way. This means:•

Services will only be commissioned where they are effectively targeted at those
most at risk, including low-level mental health services, and social support for
older people. Interventions will increasingly be targeted at those most in need

27
and time limited, and people will be supported to identify solutions within their
local communities. The appropriateness of support provided will be reviewed
regularly; access to local authority funded support may either be limited or
brought to an end.
•

Information and advice will be digitally based, or via telephone where possible,
and will focus on supporting people to maintain wellbeing and plan ahead. The
Council will seek to ensure that information and advice provided is consistent
with that provided by partners.

•

The Department will ensure informal carers are recognised, valued, and
supported to maintain their own health and wellbeing. It will focus on developing
good information, advice and community support; if the impact of caring is
significant (as identified through assessment) carers will be offered a personal
budget to support them in their caring role.

Delay Need
38. In partnership with health and other service providers, the Department will work to
ensure effective recovery, rehabilitation and reablement services are available and
adopt a problem-solving approach. This will include for example, further development
of its response to crises, supporting people to self-care, and maximising use of
assistive technology as a less intrusive, more cost effective option. Wherever possible
the Department will support people to remain at home. An integrated service
supporting those transitioning from Children’s services to Adults services will
maximise an individual’s independence. This means:•

•

For those who need help, the Department will take a problem solving approach,
and find more effective ways to help people find solutions – this will be
increasingly through telephone contact or by appointments in community
settings rather than home visits.
Equipment, adaptations and Assistive Technology solutions1 will increasingly be
used to support an individual or carer.

•

The Department will respond to crisis, but also seek to work with individuals and
their support network to ensure crises can be either avoided or managed more
effectively in the future.

•

Individuals will be supported to recover and regain their independence as
quickly as possible, through delivery of effective and efficient reablement
services.

•

We will maximise opportunities for young people to live independently.

Meet Need

1

Assistive technology encompasses a wide range of devices and services, including for example, a
calendar clock or medication reminder, or a Lifeline which could be linked to, for example, a fall detector or
smoke alarm

28
39. The Department will meet people’s needs whilst assisting them to increase their
independence, providing just enough support to prevent higher levels of need
through timely, cost effective service provision. We will ensure that the amount of
support adapts to fluctuating needs. The Department will increase its focus on cost
effective solutions to meeting individual outcomes, which may mean limiting choice.
All services will be expected to help people maximise independence over time and
fully utilise informal and community support. The Department will reduce long term
dependence on inappropriate or unnecessary levels of care and support. The
Department will further develop cost effective accommodation options including Extra
Care Housing and Supported Living. This means:•

When assessing and reviewing individuals, the Department will ensure individual
assets (strengths and capabilities) and informal/community support networks are
maximised before local authority funded support is considered.

•

The Department will work with a smaller number of providers, incentivising them
to promote ongoing independence and provide cost effective solutions including
shared, rather than one to one support where appropriate. Some customers will
find that choice of services available/the amount provided (where their support is
managed by the Council) will be limited. This will include, for example, those
accessing home care and Community Life Choices (day service provision).

•

Those requiring formal support will still be able to have personal budgets as a
cash payment if they wish to choose a different provider.

•

Residential care will only be commissioned where it is the most appropriate and
cost effective option – increasingly alternative forms of accommodation will be
developed including Extra Care Housing, Supported Living and Shared Lives.

•

All services providing long term care, including those delivered by the
Department, will be expected to demonstrate that they are supporting each
individual to maximise their independence over time, ensuring people are
receiving just enough support to meet their needs. As an individual’s needs
change, the level of support or the way that it is delivered will change.

Proposals/Options
40. The Department will continue to engage with its customers, providers and partners to
inform all areas of social care delivery, including the development of consistent,
transparent and simple processes. It will ensure all commissioned services provide
good value, and help people to progressively improve. It will take an outcomes-based
approach to better understand the impact that services have on those accessing
them. The Department will manage its performance and ensure quality provision
through the ongoing review and monitoring of costs, demand, and effectiveness of
provision. The Department will ensure people are supported to keep themselves
safe. This means:•

The Department will be clear about what it can offer, but also what it cannot.

•

The Department will ensure people pay the right amount towards their care –
this will include considering charging self-funders an arrangement fee (the
proposals for this are the subject of a separate consultation exercise.

29
•

The Department will adopt an outcomes based approach, shifting the emphasis
from what services a provider will offer to what results/goals they will help a
person achieve.

•

The Department will continually review services to ensure they are meeting
outcomes effectively and efficiently and continually assess whether a service is
still required.

•

The Department will continually work with service users, partners and providers
to shape future service provision.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
41. A public consultation commenced on 21 September and runs to 20 November 2015
(9 weeks), to seek views on the content of the Adult Social Care Strategy itself, and
to inform the development of the Adult Social Care Commissioning Strategy, based
around the commissioning intentions against each domain as highlighted above.
42. The consultation will seek the views of the general public, service users, carers,
stakeholders and partners through an online questionnaire and targeted consultation
activity involving those who may be directly affected, particularly those currently
accessing support from the Council.
43. Staff will be actively encouraged to participate through both, the online survey and a
series of workshops to be conducted during the consultation period, including five
initial briefing events, which were attended by a total of 118 staff members.
44. An information session (attended by 22 provider representatives) and three
workshops for providers attended by a total of 78 provider representatives have been
delivered. Presentations have been given at the Voluntary Sector Health and Social
Care Forum, the Learning Disability Partnership Board, and six Carers Support
Group meetings across the county, both County Clinical Commissioning Groups and
the Healthwatch Board. Officers from the Strategic Planning and Commissioning
Team are attending service user and carer groups and fora by request, and the Chief
Executive’s Department Communities Team and the Corporate Resources
Communication Team are working to raise awareness and facilitate involvement in
the consultation amongst the wider Leicestershire public.
45. Outcomes of the consultation will help determine the final version of the Adult Social
Care Strategy for the next four years, in addition to informing the resulting
Commissioning and Workforce Strategies for Adult Social Care.
46. Consultation outcomes will also be used to inform the BCT Programme, where a
consultation across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland is being planned from the
end of November.

Resource Implications
47. As set out in the Council’s MTFS, demographic pressures are increasing as income
reduces resulting in a funding gap that needs to be addressed. Key changes to the
delivery model for Adult Social Care are required in the next four years to keep the

30
financial consequences of growth to a minimum. Although there are no specific
resource implications relating to the overarching Strategy, the outcomes of the
consultation will inform:•
•

the Adult Social Care Commissioning Strategy;
a sector-wide Adult Social Care Workforce Strategy.

48. Individual workstreams will develop implementation plans allowing financial resource
requests to be appraised.
Timetable for Decisions
49. The consultation outcomes, final Adult Social Care Strategy and resulting
Commissioning Strategy will be reported to the County Council’s Cabinet in February
2016.
Conclusions/Recommendations
50. The Health and Wellbeing Board members are asked to comment on the draft Adult
Social Care Strategy.
Background papers
•

6 May 2014 - Report to the Cabinet County Council Strategic Plan and
Transformation Programme

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003990/AI00037946/$7councilstrategicandtransformation.docxA.ps.pdf

•

19 September 2014 - Report to the Cabinet Outcome of the Consultation on the
Strategic Review of Preventative Services in Leicestershire

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00004190/AI00038994/$6outcomeconsultspreventativeservicesreview.docA.ps.pdf

•

13 October 2014 - Report to the Cabinet “Communities Strategy”.

•

January 2015 – Report to the Cabinet “Better care Together – Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland Five Year Strategic Plan

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00004268/AI00039244/$8CommunitiesStrategy.docxA.ps.pdf

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00004223/AI00040407/$81JanuaryLLRBCTFiveYearStrategicPlan2.docA.ps.
pdf

•

6 February 2015 - Report to the Cabinet “Medium Term Financial Strategy 2015/16 2018/19”.

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00004359/AI00042061/$FINALCabinetReportMTFSholdingreport.docA.ps.pdf

•

6 February 2015 - Report to the Cabinet “Commissioning and Procurement Strategy”

•

11 September 2015 – Draft Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00004359/AI00042121/$FINALCabinetreportCommissioningandProcurement
Strategy.docA.ps.pdf

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00004230/AI00044719/$7draftadultsocialcarestrategy20162020.docxA.ps.pdf

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
51. The draft Adult Social Care Strategy is countywide affecting all residents in
Leicestershire.

31
Officer to Contact
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone:
0116 305 7454
Email:
jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix A

Adult Social Care Strategy 2016–2020

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
52. The Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment questionnaire has been
completed. Equalities and Human Rights impacts of the Strategy and the resulting
commissioning Strategy will be further informed by the outcomes of the consultation,
and necessary assessments conducted, which will be reported to the Cabinet
alongside consultation findings.

32

This page is intentionally left blank

33

Promoting independence,
supporting communities
Our vision and strategy for
adult social care 2016 – 2020

34

Introduction
Mr Dave Houseman MBE, County Councillor
Cabinet member for adult social care
Adult social care supports people - including unpaid carers - who need practical or
emotional support to lead an active life. Social care helps people do everyday things,
participate in their community, and safeguards people from significant harm.
The number of people who might need adult social care services in the future is
expected to rise significantly.
We know that the number of people in Leicestershire over the age of 65 years will
double by 2030 and the number of people with complex disabilities will increase
by 30%. This rise in demand for care comes at a time when funding is decreasing
– because the government continues to reduce local authority budgets to meet the
national budget deficit.

The number
of people in
Leicestershire
over the age of
65 years will
double by 2030

Nationally, social care budgets have been reduced by 26% in real terms over the
last four years. Half of this has been through spending reductions and half through
managing demand differently. To continue to do this means new ways of working.
In Leicestershire, the council has continued to prioritise social care and is investing
additional resources to meet the demands on the service. Whilst there is a requirement
to save £25.6m to balance the budget in the medium term, the council is working
with NHS partners to protect social care services whilst making the necessary
budget savings.
The Care Act 2014 brings new responsibilities for local authorities, with new eligibility
for services, support for carers, new areas of work around information, advice,
prevention, support for the care market and safeguarding. Social care services are
changing and Leicestershire County Council needs to renew what it offers to people
who need our help.
This is our plan for the next four years. It sets out how we will:
t put in place a new, more cost effective approach to delivering adult social care
t manage our finances
t work with partners to provide more joined up health and social care
t focus on preventive services which help to avoid problems from getting worse
t reduce demand and free up resources for those who most need them

Read more
t To find out more about the specific levels of need now and what’s predicted
in the future – please read the ‘Joint Strategic Needs Assessment’
t More information about the current social care market in Leicestershire
can be found in the council’s market position statements

2 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

Social care
budgets have
been reduced
by 26%

35

Our vision for adult
social care in Leicestershire
Jon Wilson
Director, Adults and Communities
Adult social care in Leicestershire is changing. Our focus will be to promote, maintain and
enhance people’s independence so that they are healthier, stronger, more resilient and
less reliant on formal social care services.
To do this we need to ensure that everyone has access to information and advice which
supports their wellbeing. Increasingly this will be online information, and telephone
advice supported by trained customer service staff and advocates. This means
information can be more responsive, up to date and tailored to individual requirements.
Information will be available to enable people to assess their own needs, their eligibility
for services and to understand the financial consequences of the decisions they are
making. This will allow people to think ahead and plan for their future.
We will ensure that there is a wide range of information on services which may support
people outside of the statutory social care services. This will enable people and families
to help themselves through a range of preventative local services which can help people
to stay healthy and well.

We need to ensure
that everyone
has access to
information and
advice which
supports their
wellbeing

We will work with local communities and other providers of health and care services to
develop local, community-based support that helps people stay independent and safe.
Working with partners we will also be able to identify people who may be at risk of
needing help in the future and for whom support in the short term may prevent longer
term needs developing. This will include working with colleagues in health services to
ensure people’s needs are diagnosed early, their care needs identified, and wherever
possible people are enabled to manage their own care. Where people experience a crisis
in their lives, rather than intervening to remove people from the crisis we will work with
people and families to manage the crisis, become more resilient and develop skills to deal
with issues in the future.
Where people do need support we will make it as easy to access as possible. People will
be able to get the help, advice and support they need online, by phone, through clinic
appointments or where required through pre-scheduled home visits. On first contact
with people we will try to resolve their problems as quickly as possible and seek to utilise
support from families and communities before resorting to formal social care services.
We will do this because we know that this helps people to be more resilient and have
better social outcomes; it reduces isolation and is more cost-effective. Support identified
in people’s local communities outside of local authorities makes life better for both the
individual and the community.
Working together with partners, sharing information, and joining up services will help us
to avoid duplication wherever possible and also to understand people’s total health and
care needs.

We will work with
local communities
to develop local,
community-based
support that
helps people
stay independent
and safe

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 3

36
We aim to deliver services which will enable people to gain or regain skills to help them
to live independently and recover from illness. We will do this in the most unobtrusive
and least restrictive manner possible. This means that we will support people in the
short term whilst expecting that wherever possible people will support themselves in
the longer term. For most people, long term support from the local authority will be the
exception rather than the rule. We will provide ‘just enough’ support to assist people to
build on their current strengths and develop their abilities to look after themselves without
becoming overly dependent on council support.

Where people need
ongoing support
we will share this
responsibility with
the individual and
their families and
communities

We will work with partners to ensure that people have the right access to housing, health
and community services so that they can have a good quality of life and make a positive
contribution to their communities. Our aim is for people to have access to work, housing,
and social networks which support them to be independent, improve their wellbeing and
reduce isolation.
We will seek to use equipment and technology to provide less intrusive and more
cost-effective care. Wherever possible we will keep people at home, with families and
friends to enhance their social and personal experience.
Of course for some people, social care services are required for longer to enable them to
live fulfilling lives. Where people need ongoing support we will share this responsibility
with the individual, their families and their communities. We will try to meet people’s
needs in a personalised way which delivers the outcomes that people require.
However, in delivering and commissioning services we want to achieve the best value
and most cost-effective means of delivering high quality care. This is important, not just
because local authorities are receiving less funding from government to provide care, but
also because the vast majority of people using support services contribute to the cost, and
many thousands of people in Leicestershire fund their own care entirely. Everyone should
expect that the services they are buying or receiving represent the best possible value.
Therefore whilst choice is an important factor in people being able to manage their own
care, it cannot be unrestricted. Wherever possible we will work with individuals to deliver
personalised social care and health services, but we will only do this in the context that
the services people receive will maximise their independence and provide the very best
value for money. Working with providers of care we will constantly review people’s care
arrangements to ensure their outcomes are being met in a cost-effective way.
We recognise that for some people there is an enhanced risk to their personal safety
because of their particular disabilities or frailties, or due to wider issues in society.
However we also recognise that we all need to take and accept a level of risk in order
that we grow and develop as individuals. We will therefore work with people to enable
them to understand and manage risks appropriately, whilst also providing arrangements
to safeguard people from significant harm. Our response to concerns about people’s
safety will be proportionate, flexible and personal and will always be based upon the
individual’s wishes and feelings alongside the best interests of the wider community.

OUR MISSION
To make the best use of the available resources to keep people in
Leicestershire independent.

4 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

Everyone should
expect that the
services they are
buying or receiving
represent the best
possible value

37

Key design principles
Our future model for social care will work to a set of principles
which aim to put the person at the centre, and to ensure that the
support they receive can deliver the right outcomes and manage
any risks appropriately.
t The right person: people who need support are identified
and prioritised
t The right time: to prevent things getting worse, increase resilience
and maximise independence
t The right place: at home, in the community or in a specialist setting
– according to need and what is most cost-effective
t The right support: just enough to keep people safe and prevent,
reduce or delay the need for long term help, delivered by the right
people with the right skills
t The right partner: working more effectively with individuals, their
friends and families and in partnership with other organisations
– to achieve more joined-up and cost-effective support.

The right
person
People who are at risk or
need support to maximise
independence

Th

ts
e righ upport
Th

right place
e
h
T

right time
e
h
T

rs
e ri g
e
n
h t p ar t

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 5

38

Our strategic approach
To meet our obligations under the Care Act 2014 we have
developed a model which is ‘layered’. It is designed to ensure that
people can get the right level and type of support, at the right time
to help prevent, reduce or delay the need for ongoing support,
and maximise people’s independence.

Prevent need

Universal services,
promoting
wellbeing

Reduce need

Targeted
interventions for
those at risk

Delay need
Meeting
need

6 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

Reablement,
rehabilitation,
recovery
Progressive planning using a broad set of
social resources
(family, community,
personal budgets) to
ensure affordability

39

1. Prevent need
We will work with our partners to prevent people needing our support. We will do this
by providing information and advice so that people can benefit from services, facilities
or resources which improve their wellbeing. This service might not be focused on
particular health or support needs - but is available for the whole population – for
example, green spaces, libraries, adult learning, places of worship, community centres,
leisure centres, information and advice services. We will promote better health and
wellbeing and work together with families and communities (including local voluntary
and community groups).

2. Reduce need
We will identify those people most at risk of needing support in the future and intervene
early if possible to help them to stay well and prevent further need for services. For
example we might work with those who have just been diagnosed with dementia, or lost
a loved-one, people at risk of isolation, low-level mental health problems, and carers.
Our work will be targeted at people most likely to develop a need, and try to prevent
problems from getting worse so that they do not become dependent on support. This
might include: information, advice, minor adaptions to housing which can prevent a fall,
support and assistance provided at a distance using information and communication
technology via telephone or computer.

3. Delay need
This will focus on support for people who have experienced a crisis or who have an
illness or disability, for example, after a fall or a stroke, following an accident or onset
of illness. We will try to minimise the effect of disability or deterioration for people with
ongoing health conditions, complex needs or caring responsibilities. Our work will
include interventions such as reablement, rehabilitation, and recovery from mental health
difficulties. We will work together with the individual, their families and communities,
health and housing colleagues to ensure people experience the best outcomes through
the most cost effective support.

4. Meeting need
The need for local authority funded social care support will be determined once we
have identified and explored what’s available to someone within their family and
community. People who need our help and have been assessed as eligible for funding,
will be supported through a personal budget. The personal budget may be taken as a
payment directly to them or can be managed by the council. Wherever possible we will
work with people to provide a choice of help which is suitable to meet their outcomes.
However, in all cases the council will ensure that the cost of services provides the best
value for money. Whilst choice is important in delivering the outcomes that people want,
maintaining people’s independence and achieving value for money is paramount.

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 7

40

How we plan to achieve our vision
1. Prevent need
How it works now:
t People don’t know how to find the information they want
t People rely upon formal services for support

In four years’ time:
t Information and advice will be co-ordinated and easily accessible
t People will be better informed about maintaining their own and their family’s health
and wellbeing, and identify what they can do for themselves and each other
t People will think about the future and plan ahead in case they need support

We will:
t Support initiatives in the community which help people to stay independent
t Promote and facilitate access to ‘universal services’ – which are for everyone
t Further improve access to information and support people to plan ahead

Preventing need
Maggie is 55 and got in touch with the Advice Service because she has a
progressive physical condition, and wanted to make plans for her futuree
finances and housing arrangements. An Advice Service Worker met with
ith
Maggie to discuss her needs and wishes and the options available to
her. She has now put in place a Lasting Power of Attorney so her wishes
hes
can be enacted if she is unable to make decisions for herself later in life.
e.

2. Reduce need
How it works now:
t We have low expectations of what people can do for themselves
t We don’t actively identify people who are at risk of losing their independence

In four years’ time:
t We will identify people who may be at risk
t We will have good information about current and predicted situation
t We will maximise what’s in the community
t We will develop the support available in the community
t Carers will be aware of and will access support available, early in their caring role

We will:
t Support initiatives alongside our partners which identify those at risk early - through,
for example, our Local Area Co-ordination work
t Work with our partners to further develop and deliver services that reduce the need for
help - such as peer support groups, telephone care and targeted advice
t Support carers to remain mentally, emotionally and physically well

8 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

41
Reducing need
Bhavesh is a 77 year old gentleman caring for his 76 year old wife who has had
a stroke. He has no family living locally and is keen to continue to care for his wife
but is struggling with lifting and supporting her properly. Following contact with the
council-funded Carer Support Service he was supported to enrol on a specific carer
training course to learn techniques and to access equipment to enable him to make
his day to day caring role easier so that he can continue to provide the care
he wants to for his wife. He was able to find community transport to the
training course, and has continued to meet with fellow course members on
a regular basis which is helping him reduce his sense of isolation following
his wife’s stroke.

3. Delay need
How it works now:
t The focus is upon people’s disabilities or those things they find difficult
t Services are commissioned to maintain people at the same level of need
t We do not have good information about which interventions can reduce need

In four years’ time:
t We will focus upon what people can do for themselves, and enable people to be as
independent as possible
t The proportion of people needing long term support will be reduced
t People and communities will be supported to help themselves
t There will be effective recovery, rehabilitation and reablement services
t We will have good communication with staff - who understand what we are trying to
do and work towards this
t We will have an integrated transitions service
t There will be more joined up services across health and social care

We will:
t Work with Children and Family Services to ensure young people have their
opportunities maximised to live independently.
t Focus on how we can solve problems before we go through detailed assessments
with people
t Target help which helps people to get better and stay well in the future
t Join up with health partners to delay the need for our help

Delaying need
Vic is in his 60’s and now lives alone. He had a stroke which affected his left side
and has little function in his left arm (he cannot grip). His partner, who died a year
ago, did all the cooking in the household – since then Vic has been reliant upon
his daughter and domiciliary care services for his drinks and meals.
The reablement service worked with him to help him learn to use
a microwave and a kettle fitted onto a tipper so that he can make
drinks and reheat ready meals for himself. He is happy to be more
independent, his daughter has more time for herself and Vic is no
longer having any domiciliary care.
Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 9

42
Felix is a young man who has a diagnosis of a severe learning disability and Autistic
Spectrum Disorder, who lives at home with his mum and brothers. Felix started
to refuse go to his specialist school, or to wash and dress; he was staying up late
watching football and didn’t want to think about or discuss what he would do when
he left school. Learning disability nurses worked with Felix and his mum to set
boundaries and to address his behaviour. The Transitions Team helped Felix and his
mum to learn to use an iPad app to identify his interests and dislikes, and a support
plan was developed. A local Community Life Choices service offering activities
matching Felix’s interests was found for 3 days a week in school holidays. Felix enjoys
this, and knows he must attend school in order to go to the holiday service – this
also gives his mum a break from caring, and she no longer needs extra respite. Felix
has now joined a local inclusive football team, learned to walk to the
football ground safely on his own, and has chosen a college course.
At Felix’s review meeting, it was agreed that he would not need a
Personal Assistant at this time, as had previously been expected,
because he was doing so well and gaining confidence daily.

4. Meeting need
How it works now:
t Community and individual resources that can support people are not fully explored
t People have expectations that care will be funded through the council
t Services are ongoing regardless of people getting better or worse
t In some cases services may create reliance rather than promote independence,
and avoid rather than manage risk

In four years’ time:
t We will provide support to meet people’s needs where families and communities cannot
t Care will be focused on the person and be cost effective
t People will be supported with less funding from the council
t We will effectively manage demand within budget

We will:
t Develop the skills our staff need so that they are innovative and creative
when helping someone
t Regularly look at what we do so that we’re working as effectively as
possible and making the most of public money
t Work together with partners to manage risks and make sensible decisions
which provide benefits which we can measure

10 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

43
Meeting need
Malcolm is a 42 year old man with a learning disability, who had lived in residential
care for over 20 years. He moved to supported living, with 20 hours per week of
support. Twelve months later, he has learned to cook simple meals, do his own
washing and keep his home clean, how to be safe at home and what to do if he
needs some help. His support package has now
ow reduced to 7 hours per week, and
work with Malcolm focuses on maintaining his independence including
household tasks, budget management, daily activities and planning
for the future. To support him to be both safe and
nd independent, and
reassure his family, the property where he lives
es has door sensors fitted
so that if he goes outside at night an alarm is triggered. The property
also has fire detection equipment such as smoke
ke and heat detectors.
The alarm calls go through to waking night staff
ff located nearby.

Key activities to deliver the model
We will need to take some action to underpin our approach and help us to
deliver what we have set out.
We will:
t Develop our staff to ensure that people have the right skills and knowledge,
the right tools available, and are deployed in the right places
t Develop new ways of working, new practices and new procedures
t Gather good information about what people need, what we are supplying,
and what works, to help us manage performance
t Understand local priorities and work with communities to develop and
improve services
t Co-ordinate what we are doing with our partners
t Develop internal processes that are simple, transparent, consistently used
and easy to understand
t Manage robust financial systems – making it clear who is accountable
t Develop a detailed action plan, which will be regularly reviewed, updated,
and used to identify the next steps

Monitoring our performance
Our progress will be monitored and reviewed regularly with the support of partners
including Healthwatch, and the Making it Real Focus Group. Progress will be reported
through our business plan and local account each year.
We also report yearly to the Association of Directors of Social Services (ADASS), and
must submit performance data against the measures set out in the Adult Social Care
Outcomes Framework (ASCOF).

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 11

P0358

44

45

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING
GROUP
COMMUNITY SERVICES PLAN
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board of the West
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (WL CCG) Community Services Plan
and to give Board members an opportunity to review the final version of the plan.

Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Workstream
√
Mental health

Relevance
√

Long term conditions

√

Frail and older people

√

Urgent care

√

Planned care

√

Learning disabilities

√

End of life

√

2. Better Care Together (BCT) is a change programme involving all of the major NHS
and social care organisations across Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland. It brings
together the three healthcare providers for the region, the three CCGs and the three
local authorities plus the voluntary sector and Healthwatch.
3. The BCT Five Year Strategic Plan sets out what will be required for the whole health
economy to be sustainable over the next five years, in the face of an increasing
funding/expenditure gap and rising patient demand. A key component of the 5 year
strategic plan is the requirement for greatly enhanced out of hospital care which will
have a direct impact on how community services are configured and delivered.
4. The WLCCG Community Services Plan sets out how the CCG will achieve the system
change required by BCT in the context of the work already taking place in the CCG.
5. The key priority for WLCCG is to further redesign community services and to
transform primary care in order to reduce the proportion of our resources assigned to
acute care; increase the proportion of care patients receive closer to home within their
local communities and deliver good patient outcomes.

46
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
6.

The development of the Community Services Plan is consistent with national policies
and drivers for change such as the Keogh Urgent Care Review, NHS Constitution
pledges, national performance standards and NHS England’s Five Year Forward
View.

7.

The NHS Five Year Forward view published in October 2014 sets out a shared vision
for the future of the NHS based around new models of care. The document sets out
why change is needed and how the NHS will need to work with local communities,
employers and local authorities to address the challenges facing the NHS.

8.

The Community Services Plan is a system change plan which sits between the
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Better Care together 5 year Strategic
plan and the CCGs own Operational plan. The Community Services Plan sets out
West Leicestershire CCGs aspiration for community services. It explains how this fits
into the broader framework of BCT and how the CCGs plan will help to bring care
closer to home. It is also informed and aligned to Leicestershire’s Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.

9.

It sits alongside the CCGs Primary Medical Care Plan developed in 2014 and
discussed by the Health and Wellbeing Board in November 2014. It sets out the
critical role of general practice in the achievement of the BCT programme and
specifically integrated community service provision.

Background
10. Over the past three years the CCG has made good progress working with our
practices and partners to invest in a range of community services that seek to
enhance the care available to our local population to as close to home as is safe and
practicable.
11. Whilst these service investments are locally based and significant in number we have
not fully succeeded in knitting all of these developments together into a single,
understandable model.
12. The community services plan seeks to address this and describes the vision for
community services moving forward and the proposed model of delivery.
Proposals/Options
13. The CCGs vision for community services is the integration of health and social care
teams, supported by secondary care specialist, clustered around groups of GP
practices within three districts: Charnwood, North West Leicestershire and Hinckley
and Bosworth. These will work towards joint outcomes and have the capacity and
capability to accommodate a “left shift” of activity from the acute sector.
14. To provide better care and to do it affordably the CCG must increase the proportion
of care it provides in local communities and people’s own homes.
15. Currently acute services are used too often when other forms of care would be
better, reflecting a mismatch between need, setting and provision of care.

47
16. WLCCGs intention is to redress this through an accessible range of services in the
community that respond to the planned and unplanned needs of patients.
17. The CCGs ambition is to develop strong, sustainable, person centred and integrated
community services which meet future demand, support the LLR BCT Strategy and
improve patient outcomes.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
18. In developing the Community Services Plan, officers have worked with the CCG
clinical leads to inform the ambition, model and description of services. The plan has
also been informed by extensive patient and public views a range of engagement
exercises undertaken by the CCG and Better Care Together. During 2014-2015 five
substantial engagement programmes informed our model including the Hinckley
Community Services project and the Better Care Together Frail and Older People
work stream.
19. The plan was presented and discussed at the Integration Executive in October 2014.
Colleagues present felt that the plan clearly articulated the CCG’s ambition and
model for community services going forward; they recognised much of the content
due to joint work to date with the CCG through the Better Care Fund and the
implementation of the Primary Medical Care Plan. Specific feedback centred on
reviewing the skill mix and capacity of current community teams to support the district
level need of patients and the need to more clearly outline the quantum of the left
shift of services to community settings, both of which have now been incorporated.
20. The plan was presented and discussed at all the general practice locality meetings
during October and was well received by all four federated localities. The federation
leads are keen to participate in early discussions regarding the implementation of the
plan, particularly the development of Multispecialty Community Providers.
Resource Implications
21. The Community Services Plan presents a vision of the future system, the detailed
cost implications have not as yet been fully worked through. This will take time due to
the complex interconnectivity of services, providers and premises currently in place.
22. It is anticipated that many of the changes described will involve no increased funding
requirements by the CCG but locations, providers and methods of delivery may
change. This will mean that the start of a service by one provider will require the
release of funding from another.
Timetable for Decisions
23. The Community Services Plan is to be presented to the WLCCG Board in November
for final approval. However, it is important to recognise that the plan is an iterative
document that will be informed by the forthcoming Better Care Together public
consultation and the associated outcomes.
Background papers
24.

Better Care Together 5 Year Strategic Plan
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

48
West Leicestershire Operating Plan 2014/15 and 2015/16
Primary Medical Care Plan 2014
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
25. The Community Services Plan aims to make a positive difference to the health and
well-being of our diverse population and reduce barriers that may exist for people
from the 9 protected characteristics and other vulnerable and marginalised groups in
West Leicestershire. As elements of the plan are worked up and implemented they
will undergo a process of ‘Equality Analysis’
Partnership Working and associated issues
26. Central to the Community services Plan is the development of Multispecialty
Community providers (MCPs) .This is a new type of delivery model integrating
primary, community, specialist and social care teams into new and efficient
organisations or alliances.
27. These MCPs will need to mature and grow to establish their organisational form and
working relationships across the system. The challenge now is to support the
development of MCPs so that they will assume a greater leadership role in the
provision and coordination of care
28. As a result the CCG will rapidly need to explore joint venture opportunities with its
key partners i.e. Federations, UHL, LPT and Adult Social Care to agree the model for
further integration of our community and primary care teams.
Conclusions/Recommendations
NOTE the development of the Community Services Plan
DISCUSS the final version of the Community Services Plan
COMMENT on areas to consider for the implementation of the Community Services Plan

List of Appendices
Appendix 1 Community Services Plan

49
West Leicestershire
Clinical Commissioning Group

Community Services
Plan
Version 3.0

Patients, practices and partners working together to create the best value
healthcare for the population of West Leicestershire

Patients, Practices, Partners

50
Community Services Plan | 2

Table of Contents
Table of Contents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2
Executive Summary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3
1. Introduction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .5
Our Journey So Far

2. Case for Change . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .9
National Environment
The Patient and Public View
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Environment
Local Environment
District Profiles
Conclusions

3. Ambition

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .21

Living Well and Caring Well
Principles
Assessment Criteria
What does this mean for our patients

4. Model of Care . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .27
A place for every setting
Patient Choice
Settings of Care
Consultation Plans

5. Implementation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .33
Our patient offer in each district

6. Enablers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .37
Leicestershire Better Care Fund
Listening to and increasing the participation of patients
Information Technology (IT)
Multispecialty Community Providers
Our workforce

7. Resources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .45
Looking Forward

8. Governance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .47
9. Conclusions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .49
Index . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .50

Issued by West Leicestershire CCG (WLCCG)

This version: 03-November-2015
Version 3.0: Publication

Version 3.0: Publication

51
3 | Community Services Plan

Executive Summary

In West Leicestershire, our understanding of the external
environment begins with patient and public engagement, and
includes our commitments through the Better Care Together
strategy.
In our local environment, we have facilitated the development
of four GP federated localities: North West Leicestershire, North
Charnwood, South Charnwood and Hinckley & Bosworth. These
will support the delivery of new models of care. These groups
of GP practices are working more closely together to share
resources, expertise, and provide services for and on behalf of
each other.
Locally, the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) provides
key data on life expectancy, impact of long term conditions,
and other factors which determine the care we should be
commissioning.
Key themes emerging are prevention, reduction of impact of
health conditions, delaying the need for long term support and
services, and offering the right support.
3. Ambition
Our ambition is to deliver high quality, citizen-centred care
pathways close to people’s homes and in their communities.
This is to:
• reduce inequalities in care (both physical and mental)
•
•
1

increase the number of people reporting a positive
experience of care
optimise the opportunities for integration and the use of
http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/bruce-keogh-review/Pages/Overview.aspx

Version 3.0: Publication

ncy
Emergency
e care
and acute

Urgent care a
and
spons
crisis response

nced
Enhanced
routine
e care

0 1 2 3 4
mary
Primary
care

2. Case for Change
The national context is set out in the Five Year Forward View,
and demonstrates a need to help people live healthier lives and
break down the barriers in how care is provided. We have
chosen to develop the Multispecialty Community Provider
model in order to integrate services, based on the Keogh1
Settings of Care diagram.

Self care and
prevention
revention

1. Introduction
In response to the NHS Five Year Forward View and our local
landscape, this plan sets out how community services are to be
redesigned within the context of the Better Care Together five
year strategic plan, the CCG’s Operational Plan, and the sister
strategy, the Primary Medical Care Plan.

Above: Settings of care diagram
(“Keogh” diagram)
The “Keogh” diagram, based on Sir
Bruce Keogh’s review, identifies five
settings of care, from level 0, self care
and prevention, through to level 4,
emergency and acute care. The overlay
triangle shows how the vast bulk of
activity should be at the left hand side
of the diagram. Although there is
overlap, especially at levels 2 and 3, the
five settings broadly reflect our four
forms of provision in this plan, being
self-care, primary care, Multispecialty
Community Provider care, and acute
hospital care. Multispecialty
Community Providers (MCPs) are
integrated teams working in a defined
district, incorporating community
hospitals, clinical teams, GP specialists,
and secondary care specialists. See p30.

Key throughout this document:


o
⑤

0

Self care
Primary care
MCP
Acute Hospital

52
Community Services Plan | 4

physical assets
•

achieve financial sustainability

•

improve the utilisation of the workforce and the
development of new capacity and capabilities.

In pursuing this, we are looking for the safest, most effective
care which gives patients the best experience of care, based on
what they have told us.
4. Model of Care: how we will achieve our ambition
Our model is to have a place for every setting of care, with distinct offerings for self-care, primary care, enhanced primary
care, urgent and crisis response utilising community hospitals
and other community settings, and emergency and acute care
at acute hospitals.
5. Implementation
We have produced a detailed summary of what treatment will
be available in each setting of care, as well as a higher level
summary of implications for community hospitals and the offer
to the patient at the district level. High level time-scales are
provided.
6. Enablers
The Leicestershire Better Care Fund is a key enabler in terms of
resources. Our ability to commission is substantially enhanced
by listening to and increasing the participation of patients. We
are extending our use of Information Technology (IT) and are
using data and technology to transform outcomes for patients
and citizens. Our federations and workforce remain key
throughout.
7. Resources
Careful management of resources is needed in order to ensure
that the programme is achievable, and, as more services move
into community settings, that resources follow the patients.
8. Governance
Systems are in place to oversee the implementation in five
phases, with comprehensive monitoring and evaluation as the
programme progresses.
9. Conclusions
The plan outlined will have a substantial and sustainable effect
in bringing care closer to home, and, more importantly,
organising care around a person’s life, rather than requiring
them to organise their lives around their care.

Version 3.0: Publication

53
5 | Community Services Plan

1. Introduction
Purpose of this document

Our Journey So Far
This plan continues the work that we started when the CCG was
first established with our mission ‘patients, practices and
partners working together to create the best value health care
for the population of West Leicestershire’.
The NHS, local authorities, patient voice and voluntary sector
partners from across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR)
have been working together now since 2014 through Better
Care Together (BCT), to ensure that proposed service changes
meet the needs of local people. This is a massive undertaking,
but is necessary to ensure the services we provide meet the
changing needs of the communities we serve, and address
growing health inequalities which impact local people.
Our commissioning intentions and planning process have been
informed and influenced by the people of West Leicestershire
and clinical leaders, as well as by national and local priorities. It
is driven by the needs of the local population, and it is owned
locally.
This Community Services Plan sets out how we will achieve the
system change required by Better Care Together (BCT), in the
context of the work already taking place in the CCG.
Our key priority over the next few years is to further redesign
community services and transform primary care in order to
reduce the proportion of our resources assigned to acute care.
This will help us to reduce the number of sites from which we
operate and consolidate community beds, and is part of a
model which delivers good patient outcomes. In both scheduled
and unscheduled care, this reflects today’s best practice, and fits
current trends in patient needs.
To offer seven day services that mesh with social care, we will
need to redesign and redevelop community care. The basis for
this is set out in our existing documents and those of our service
providers. Given our finite workforce we will have to prioritise
which community services develop when moving to seven day
services. These will be for improving access to urgent care,
particularly for those patients who our GPs have identified as
most at risk of avoidable admission.
Over the last three years we have made solid progress working
with the GP practices which are the CCG’s members. We now
have a platform for integrated, transformational change in
community services.
WLCCG extended its work with partners outside West

Version 3.0: Publication

The Community Services Plan is a
system-change plan which sits between
the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Better Care Together 5 Year
Strategic Plan, and the CCG’s own
Operational Plan.
Better Care Together sets out what
will be required for the whole health
economy to be sustainable over the
next five years.
The Operational Plan sets out the
programme by which the CCG’s own
vision and mission are being
accomplished.
The Community Services Plan sets
out West Leicestershire CCG’s
aspirations for better community
services. It explains how this fits into
the broader framework of Better Care
Together, and how the CCG’s work
helps to bring care closer to home.
It sits alongside the Primary Medical
Care Plan which sets out how
federations will play a critical part in
achievement of the Better Care
Together programme, and the Better
Care Fund plan, which responds to
national requirements for the Better
Care Fund.

Better Care Together
LLR 5 Year Strategic Plan

Primary
Medical
Care Plan

Better
Care
Fund Plan

Community
Services
Plan

Operational Plan
CCG Operation & Management

54
Community Services Plan | 6

How we have gone about
producing this plan
Our process for developing this plan
involved local engagement, the broader
Better Care engagement programme,
and information gathered through the
Better Care Fund. The model which we
have developed reflects what the public
has told us, and works with our Primary
Medical Care Plan (PMCP). It provides a
cohesive Out of Hospital Service model
where control of case management
remains in primary care.
In developing the model, we recognise
that we still need to close some service
gaps, and demonstrate how the sum is
greater than the individual parts.

Leicestershire in order to maximise the benefits of our local
investments for our populations. This resulted in the
development of the Better Care Fund with the Local Authority,
and a strategic outline case for a five year plan across the whole
of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland called Better Care
Together.
In WLCCG we continued to make local investments to support
our local population and position the resources required to
develop new models of care as the Five Year Forward View was
published by NHS England (NHSE).
These developments were significant, but so were the problems
that the system faced in the escalating needs of the older and
vulnerable population.
Our focus was on:
Proactive care: we have redesigned our community nursing
teams, aligning them to our localities and virtual wards, while
proactively identifying and providing support to patients at risk
of hospital admission.
Left shift: GPs have extended their ability to manage long term
conditions, especially in diabetes, COPD and dementia, which
means that care which previously would have taken place in the
acute hospitals can now take place locally, in the community.
To offer immediate treatment without patients needing to
attend an acute hospital, we opened a new Urgent Care Centre
(UCC) in Loughborough Community Hospital.
Step up and step down: we have invested in services such as
Rapid Access clinics for heart failure which routinely offer
specialist care close to home. This ‘step up’ support means that
people can remain in the community and not have to spend
time in an acute hospital. Equally, we have invested in ‘step
down’ services where a person who has spent time in hospital
can receive elements of specialist care in the community, and so
return to their own homes.
Examples include:
•

Investments in domiciliary therapy to support the needs of
people who fell and who suffered from acute episodes that
reduced their mobility

•

Investments into crisis social care services that responded at
people’s homes within 2 hours and delivered support
around the activities of daily living for up to 72 hours

•

A new home-based intermediate care service called
Intensive Community Support that responded to medical
crisis in older people. Led by an Advanced Nurse Practitioner
(ANP), this offered support to patients in their own home to

Version 3.0: Publication

55
7 | Community Services Plan

stabilise crisis presentations for 72 hours
•

Investment in mental health to allow the service to
reconfigure, reducing its bed base and enhancing its ability
to respond to crisis close to home

•

New specifications for dementia support services, building
capacity to identify the patients who needed specialist
support

•

Echo cardiogram reading capability with an accredited
safety standard in all GP surgeries in West Leicestershire CCG
(WLCCG)

•

An Acute Home Visiting Service (AVS) which visits people at
home, supporting a timely assessment of vulnerable older
adults, provided by emergency care practitioners
(paramedics).

•

A night sitting service to ensure that people do not need to
be hospitalised as a means of meeting their night needs

•

An Older Persons Unit based at Loughborough Community
Hospital offering comprehensive geriatric assessments and
Assessment to Admit capabilities for older adults who do
require acute care

•

A shared care agreement so that Primary Care leads the case
management of stable dementia patients

•

Falls training for paramedics to reduce the need to convey
patients to an A&E department if they have not broken any
bones

•

Increased diverts from our ambulance provider to our
Urgent Care Centre and Older Persons Unit at
Loughborough Hospital

•

A Musculoskeletal (MSK) assessment service to support
appropriate prioritisation and utilisation of therapy and
surgical resources.

It can be observed that these service investments are all locally
based and significant in number, but until now we have not
succeeded in knitting all of these developments into a single,
understandable, service model.
Conclusion
WLCCG has introduced a number of initiatives which are aimed
at providing care in the most appropriate setting for all of our
population. Our initiatives that are geared to supporting
patients receiving urgent care closer to home, such as the Rapid
Response Falls Service, Rapid Assessment for Older Person’s
Unit, Night Nursing Service and long-term conditions (LTCs)

Version 3.0: Publication

What's the difference
between BCT and BCF?
Social care is a part of Better Care
Together (BCT), and all three councils
responsible for social care in Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) are
partners in BCT.
The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a
government-funded scheme which
supports the transformation and
integration of health and social care
services. BCF has a focus on social care
and out of hospital services, whereas
BCT is a locally led programme which
looks at the whole of health and social
care in LLR.
Many of the changes which are being
implemented for frail and older people,
in particular dementia services, are
being funded by BCF, but they still fall
under the BCT umbrella of change.

Better Care Together
Better Care Together is about ensuring
that health and social care services in
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland are
capable of meeting the future needs of
the local population. There are
significant opportunities to improve the
quality of care for people by providing
more support and care for them in the
community, closer to home. At the
same time, services face increased and
more complex demands because of the
ageing population.
There are also financial pressures, with
the local NHS funding gap predicted to
reach almost £400m within five years
(2018/19). NHS organisations and local
authorities have formed a partnership
to plan and deliver such changes,
under the Better Care Together banner.

Better Care Fund
The national £5.3bn Better Care Fund
was announced by the Government in
the June 2013 spending round, to
ensure a transformation in integrated
health and social care. The Better Care
Fund (BCF) is one of the most
ambitious ever programmes across the
NHS and Local Government. It creates a
local single pooled budget to
incentivise the NHS and local
government to work more closely
together around people, making their
well-being the focus of health and care
services.

56
Community Services Plan | 8

A&E Attendance
April to August
2014

2015

14,732

14,333

Expected

 1.2%

Actual

 2.7%

rapid access Atrial Fibrillation (AF) & Heart Failure (HF) clinics,
have contributed to the CCG’s reduction in attendance and
admission at the emergency department at University Hospitals
for Leicester (UHL).
The latest figures for WLCCG indicates:
•

Attendance at A&E has fallen. In April to August 2014 there
were 14,732 attendances. For the same period in 2015 the
figure was 14,333, a fall of 2.7%, which is 1.5% below the
figure we had planned for.

•

Emergency admissions (patients judged to require
hospitalisation) have risen less than expected. Emergency
admissions for April–August 2014 were 9,005 and for the
same period in 2015, 9,187. Although 2% higher, this is less
than expected, meaning that our emergency admissions are
currently 1.8% below what we planned for.

•

Emergency admissions are at a significantly slower rate than
previously. Emergency admissions rose by 14% in April–
August 2014 compared with the same period in 2013.
However, in 2015 the rise was just 2%.

Emergency admissions
April to August
2014

2015
9,005

9,187

Expected

 3.8%

Actual

 2.0%

Rate of change
for period April to August
2014 versus 2013

2015 versus
2014

 14%

 2%

Improvement

12%

Above: change in A&E attendance and
emergency admissions.

These figures give positive correlation that the approach
adopted by West Leicestershire is bearing fruit, especially by
comparison with other commissioners of the same services.
This is an iterative document which will change based on the
feedback from BCT consultation. It sets out our aspirations,
intentions and model. Its development will also be influenced
by changes in the environment at the national and sub-regional
level.

Version 3.0: Publication

57
9 | Community Services Plan

2. Case for Change
National Environment
The Five Year Forward View1, published in 2014 by NHS England
and other national bodies, outlined how NHS services must
change to move towards the care models required for the
future. The document sets out why change is needed and how
the NHS will need to work with local communities, employers
and local authorities to address the challenges in the areas of
cost inflation due to medical and IT advances, ageing society,
increase in long-term conditions and rising patient
expectations.

This Case for Change section sets out
how the national, sub-regional and
local environments push us towards
change. We have chosen to prioritise
learning from patients, carers and the
public in this section. This is found on
page 11.

Challenges facing the NHS include
those based on the cost inflation
resulting from Medical and IT advances,
ageing society, rising long-term
conditions, and increasing patient
expectations.
Medical
and
IT advances

Ageing
Society

Increase in
Rising
long-term
Patient
Conditions expectations

The first key priority is prevention—there needs to be a big
improvement in helping people live healthier lives. The NHS
will support people in the areas of obesity, smoking, alcohol
and other major health risks. This will include new work-based
initiatives and a stronger role for local government. There is
also commitments that patients will gain greater control of
their own care, and for greater partnerships with voluntary
organisations and local communities. Improving mental health
is also essential: there is no health without mental health.
The second priority is to take steps to break down the barriers
in how care is provided between family doctors and hospitals,
between physical and mental health and health and social care.
There is a commitment to see more care delivered locally but
with some service in specialist centres, organised to support
people with multiple health conditions.
The Five Year Forward View recognises that, although the detail
of how care is organised needs to be locally driven, there are
two main organisational forms that can be considered:
Multispecialty Community Provider (MCP) and Primary and
Acute Systems (PACS). Our preferred model in West
Leicestershire is the MCP where GPs join with community nurses
and social care and mental health to create integrated out of
hospital care.
Across the NHS, urgent and emergency care services will be
1

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf

Version 3.0: Publication

58
Community Services Plan | 10

Multispecialty
Community Provider
Multispecialty
Community Providers
(MCPs) were formally
recognised in the NHS
Five Year Forward View.

redesigned to integrate between A&E departments, GP out-ofhours services, urgent care centres, NHS 111, and ambulance
services. In places such as West Leicestershire, Community
hospitals offer options to help them remain viable including
forming partnerships with specialist hospitals to provide more
care locally.

An MCP is a network of provision
coordinated from General Practice
which brings together specialist GP
services, community hospitals, multidisciplinary teams, and consultants
under contract from the acute sector.

The third priority is about using money effectively. The NHS has
been working well in the past but it needs to work in better
ways so that it can meet the demands over the next ten years.
There is a clear understanding that there will be a huge gap
between resources and patient needs which equates to nearly
£30 billion a year if transformational change in how care is
delivered is not achieved. To provide the full and high quality
care that people want, action is needed on three fronts:
demand, efficiency and funding.

⑤

MCPs involve integrated teams of
senior nurses, consultant physicians,
geriatricians, paediatricians and
psychiatrists working alongside GPs,
community nurses, therapists,
pharmacists, psychologists, social
workers, and other staff.
These MCPs would shift the majority of
outpatient consultations and
ambulatory care out of hospital
settings.
Within the MCPs, our community
hospitals can substantially expand their
diagnostic services as well as other
services such as dialysis and
chemotherapy.
MCPs are able to tailor the setting of
care to patient need, working at times
with the patient in their own home,
and at other times in out-patient and
community in-patient settings.

Version 3.0: Publication

59
11 | Community Services Plan

The Patient and Public View
Patient and public engagement — a future model
for community services
We have developed robust methods of listening, engaging and
involving patients, carers, staff and the wider public in order to
gather insights and experiences that we can act upon, respond
to and use to influence and develop a case for change. When
this happens, service redesign and commissioning is more
responsive and the services provided help people journey
towards health improvement and well-being, enabling them to
become self-reliant and remain independent.

Listening, engaging and involving
In 2014 and 2015 we undertook five substantial research
programmes which inform our model for integrated community
services:
•

Within the Better Care Together (BCT) Frail and Older
People work-stream, we undertook qualitative engagement
with patients, carers and staff in March and early April 2015
to identify their care experiences and priorities.

•

Commencing in September 2014 we worked with nearly
2,000 patients, carers and staff in the Hinckley & Bosworth
area.

•

In November and December 2014 we held a number of
listening events with patients, service users, carers and staff
following the publication of the Learning Lessons to
Improve Care report.

•

In the summer of 2014 we held two events with GPs,
practice staff and patient participation groups

•

In July 2015 more intensive community work was
undertaken by the CCG in partnership with North
Charnwood Federation (NCF)

The following priorities for commissioning have emerged:
•

Expand community-based care—building ‘districts of care’

•

Invest in fit-for-purpose hospital buildings

•

Invest in relationships

•

Join up support for exercise and mobility preservation—
make it integral to improving outcomes

•

Improve care before and after hospital

•

Support family carers to do a good job

Version 3.0: Publication

In the summer of 2014 the Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR)
provider organisations (University
Hospitals of Leicester (UHL), and
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
(LPT) and 3 Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) published the Learning
Lessons to Improve Care report (LLtIC).
The report detailed the findings of a
clinical audit commissioned by health
organisations in Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland to examine the quality care
of patients, and the action plan to
address the areas of improvement
identified. One of the areas the report
focussed on was the care for individuals
at the end of life. A plan is in place and
much work has already progressed,
however the challenge is significant
given the ageing population of LLR.

60
Community Services Plan | 12

Learning points from our
engagement work:

•

Adopt a more person-centred approach, especially in
prescribing

People with complex care needs
Loneliness emerges as a significant
issue, especially for those who live in
their own homes. Health and care
workers need to understand the level
of proactive family support people
have. Without it people are lonely, lack
hope for the future and have no one to
turn to in a crisis, which means they are
likely to end up in hospital and become
depressed.

•

Give power to patients: improve self-care, hold providers to
account

•

Focus on prevention

•

Focus on staff well-being.

Support from community organisations
that build social connection and from
clinicians are equally valued by this
group. Community support helps
people stay happy, which in turn helps
them keep well.

Our community learning suggests that people want humanscale healthcare, close to home, with emphasis on independent
living and self-reliance, and attention being paid to reducing
length of stay and using good step-up and step-down
mechanisms. Patients want care organised around their lives,
not the other way around.

Family carers
Whilst some feel involved in decisions,
many family carers report feeling
ignored by health services and not
coping with caring. They are not
involved in decisions and care planning
and so are unable to do their best
work. They feel stressed and exhausted.
Life is on hold for them.
A significant concern is “life after
caring”. Family carers say they need
help to get back on their feet and
rebuild their lives.

Front-line staff
Front-line teams feel they support
family carers well.
Support from the voluntary sector and
community groups makes it much
easier for clinical staff to do their work
well (in particular for community
teams).
Whilst front-line teams feel they build
close relationships and involve them,
they feel unable to support people to
self-care (or do not see this as their
role). This aligns with what people and
families told us.
Right:
Infographic: one of the summaries of
learning from the Hinckley programme.
Service users, carers, families and
professionals gave their insights into
the personal impact of life with LTCs.

Version 3.0: Publication

61
13 | Community Services Plan

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Environment
Better Care Together — The Five Year Strategic
Plan 2014–2019
The Five Year Strategic Plan 2014–2019 sets out the direction
and vision for health and social care shared in Leicester, West
Leicestershire and Leicestershire & Rutland by Clinical
Commissioning groups, NHS Providers, Local Authorities, NHS
Area Team and local Healthwatch bodies. That vision drives six
strategic objectives:
1

Deliver high quality, citizen-centred, integrated care,
delivered in the appropriate place and at the appropriate
time by the appropriate person, supported by staff and
citizens, resulting in a reduction in the time spent avoidably
in hospital

2

To reduce inequalities in care (both physical and mental)
across and within communities in Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland (LLR) Local Health and Social Care Economy
(LHSCE)

3

To increase the number of those citizens with mental,
physical and social needs reporting a positive experience
across all health and social care settings

4

To optimise both the opportunities for integration and the
use of physical assets across the health and social care
economy, ensuring care is provided in appropriate, costeffective settings, reducing duplication and eliminating
waste

5

For all health and social care organisations in LLR to achieve
financial sustainability, by adapting the resource profile
where appropriate

6

To improve the utilisation of workforce and the
development of new capacity and capabilities where
appropriate, in the people and the technology used.

Better Care Together (BCT) is an ambitious programme to
change the way health and social care services are delivered
across Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland (LLR). It aims to
transform health and social care services in LLR from the cradle
to the grave.
Delivery of the objectives of BCT relies on significant tranches of
planned care being repatriated to community settings, urgent
care beds being transferred to community hospitals, the
development of community-based diagnostic services, and an
extended range of services offered in, or closer to, patients’
homes.

Version 3.0: Publication

62
Community Services Plan | 14

LLR has been recognised as one of eleven challenged health
economies in England. For the health economy and each
organisation, this reshaping of services contributes to
addressing its significant financial and performance issues
currently.

2,350

Health System financial balance if no
action is taken

2,250

£m
14-15 15-16 16-17 17-18 18-19

Funding

1,783 1,829 1,856 1,885 1,912

Expenditure

1,896 2,016 2,117 2,213 2,310

"Do Nothing"
Gap

-113 -187 -261 -328 -398

2,150
£ millions

Income &
Expenditure

Gap £398 million
(Health economy only)

2,050
1,950
1,850
1,750
2014/15

2015/16

2016/17
Funding

There are 7 main outcomes we want
from our health and social care services
that can support people through every
stage of their lives.
We are seeking a health and care
system which:
1

Supports children and parents for
the very best start in life

2

Helps people stay well in mind and
body throughout their life

3

Knows your history and can plan
your health needs

4

Cares for the most vulnerable and
frail

5

Has services available when it
matters and especially in a crisis

6

Helps support patients and their
loved ones when life comes to an
end

7

Provides faster access, shorter
waits and more services out of
hospital.

2017/18

2018/19

Expenditure

The development of a Community Services Plan is set against
this context. It is also consistent with national policies and
drivers for change such as the intention to deliver care closer to
home, the Keogh Urgent and Emergency Care Review, NHS
Constitution pledges, national performance standards and NHS
England’s (NHSE) Five Year Forward View. It also responds to
the challenge set out in A Call to Action1 to deliver sustainable
clinical change in the face of growing financial pressures and
growing demands.
Each of the operating plans of the respective NHS organisations
and local authorities will reflect the road map for improving
health and care in LLR, so that everyone will complete the
important changes for which they are individually and jointly
responsible.
The emerging LLR five year strategy is readily aligned to
Leicestershire’s current Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and
BCF plan, due to the emphasis across the system on reducing
avoidable admissions to hospital, with the redesign of
alternative pathways and prevention, outside hospital settings.
In Leicestershire we now have the benefit of stronger
connections and strategic alignment, and it is becoming clearer
how our local Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and BCF
plan will contribute to the overall shift of activity from acute to
community settings.
The role of ‘adult social care’ is not just an add-on to the NHS,
1

www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/nhs_belongs.pdf

Version 3.0: Publication

63
15 | Community Services Plan

but effective, personalised care and support which helps to
reduce the impact of physical and mental ill-health. The local
authorities support people to live better, more fulfilled lives
and provide essential help to those who need it.
This work is taking place against a backdrop of public spending
pressures. Since 2011, all three councils have made significant
savings and further cuts are expected. This work is also being
done in light of the changes brought in by the Care Act (2014)2,
which sets out what is expected from a modern care service.
Leicestershire County Council has saved more than £100m over
the last four years and plans to save a further £87m over the
next four years.

Citizens seek citizencentred, seamless
integrated care pathways, delivered in the
appropriate place at
the appropriate time
by the appropriate
person, reversing
overly medical and
hospital-centred
models of care, with
shared and informed
decision-making.

benchmarked against
peers, to systemagreed standards.
Citizens with diverse
backgrounds, and
diverse social care,
mental and physical
health needs, receive
equitable access and
outcomes in
personalised care.
Transforming the
health and social
care system to
deliver integrated
quality care

Demonstrating
sustained and
improving safety,
effectiveness and
experience of care,

2

Meeting the
needs of our
changing
population

More people are living
with single and
multiple long-term
health conditions
Rising health
inequalities across
LLR’s diverse
communities,
including citizens with
a learning disability,
and the underlying
causes of physical and
mental ill-health, need
to be addressed.

Case for
change

Ensuring
our
workforce
meets the health Delivering value
for money
and social needs
of our population

LLR is a good place to
work, where staff are
fully engaged and
involved in
transformation,
working in new and
exciting roles.
Addressing the
shortfall in local and
national workforce
availability, through
different ways of
working.

There is a rising
demand for health
and social care — the
LLR population is
forecast to grow by
3% over 2014-19, with
a changing age profile
(12% growth in 65+
population).

Developing new
capacity and
capabilities where
appropriate, in our
people and the
technology we use.

will provide the
highest quality and
best outcomes for
patients and citizens.

Strengthen primary,
community and
All health and social
voluntary sector care,
care organisations in
to deliver integrated
LLR to achieve
care, maximising the
financial sustainability, use of physical assets,
in a time of financial
ensuring that self-care
constraint.
is provided in appropriate cost-effective
Commissioners will
need to make phased settings, reducing
duplication and
savings to deliver
eliminating waste in
investments in the
the system.
models of care that

www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted/data.htm

Version 3.0: Publication

Summary of the case for change from
the Better Care Together strategy

64
Community Services Plan | 16

Local Environment
The CCG covers the local authority
districts of North West Leicestershire,
Charnwood and Hinckley & Bosworth,
and overlaps some areas of Blaby and
Harborough.
These correspond to the four
federations, with North and South
Charnwood making up the Charnwood
district.

West Leicestershire CCG is made up of four localities: North
West Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth, North Charnwood,
South Charnwood. Our GP practices are clustered within these
four localities. However, services will be commissioned,
coordinated and provided in three districts which are broadly
coterminous with district council boundaries.
Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust
Derby Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

The federations are shown below. Our
districts of care are shown on the right.

Loughborough Hospital
Loughborough Urgent Care Centre

North West Leicestershire
Burton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Charnwood
Coalville Community Hospital

Hinckley & Bosworth
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust

Hinckley and Bosworth Community Hospital

GP Practice
GP Branch
Acute Hospital
Community Hospital
Care Home

Hinckley and District Hospital
George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust

University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust

The CCG area is generally prosperous, but with pockets of high
deprivation around Coalville and Loughborough.
Loughborough is a university town.

800
700
Population (000's)

600
500
400
300
200
100
0
2015

2020

>= 85 yrs Leicestershire
25 - 64 yrs Leicestershire

2025

2030

2035

65 - 84 yrs Leicestershire
< 25 yrs Leicestershire

Population projections for
Leicestershire (ONS, based on 2012)

Compared with England as a whole, the area sees higher rates
of hypertension, asthma, heart failure, atrial fibrillation and
chronic kidney disease, and substantially higher rates of
depression. Overall, the CCG is in the Prospering UK cluster,
with substantially fewer Potential Years of Life Lost (PYLL) from
causes amenable to health care. However, proportionately
fewer people report that they are supported to manage their
own conditions.
Our local population is projected to grow by 10% over the next
eight years, with 60-84s growing by 19% and the over 85s
growing by 42%. This will bring associated increases in complex
and multiple long-term conditions (LTCs) such as dementia,
cardiovascular disease and Alzheimer’s, often compounded by
frailty.

Version 3.0: Publication

65
17 | Community Services Plan

West Leicestershire cares for around 1,500 patients in care and
nursing home and has implemented a one general practice-one
home model to develop care coordination and planning for this
vulnerable group of people. This is also supported by a range of
commissioned services to support people in care homes,
including:
•

specialist nursing support

•

medicines management optimisation reviews

•

community based Service

•

specification for care home for general practice.

Care homes

In 2010 locally there were approximately 85,500 people aged
over 60 in West Leicestershire CCG, and 6,400 aged over 80. The
CCG’s over-60s population is estimated to increase by around
60% by 2030.
In 2010 there were around 28,740 people in West Leicestershire
over the age of 65 with a limiting long term illness. By 2030 this
is estimated to rise to around 48,330, an increase of 68.2%.

The local Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA) priority identifies a
need to focus on increasing healthy life
expectancy. The emphasis must be on
preventing the development of long
term conditions and disabilities in
working age adults — those adults
who are 40-50 years old now but who
will be 60-85 years old in 25 years
time.
The JSNA priorities are underpinned by
the core principles of:

85+ yrs

•

reducing inequalities

•

focusing on prevention

•

using evidence

•

sustainability

•

dignity.

Left: Impact of Long Term Conditions
75-84 yrs

A reduction in independence correlates
directly with increase in statutory
services.

65-74 yrs

50-64 yrs
Day-to-day activities not limited
Day-to-day activities limited a little
Day-to-day activities limited a lot

35-49 yrs

“The ageing population, and increased
prevalence of chronic diseases require a
strong re-orientation away from the
current emphasis on acute care
towards prevention, self-care, more
consistent standards of primary care
and care that is well coordinated and
integrated.”

25-34 yrs

16-24 yrs

0-15 yrs

0%

10%

20%

Version 3.0: Publication

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Nuffield Trust and King’s Fund
Cited in Better Care Together

66
Community Services Plan | 18

District Profiles

Charnwood

Hinckley & Bosworth

North West Leicestershire

Mixed urban and rural
Anstey, Barrow, Birstall, Loughborough,
Mountsorrel, Quorn, Sileby, Thurmaston
and Woodhouse Eaves

Mainly rural
Main town:
Hinckley

Mainly rural
Main towns:
Ashby De La Zouch
Coalville

117,000 registered population

103,000 registered population

374 km2

326 km2

13 GP practices

14 GP practices

Hinckley and Bosworth Medical Alliance

North West Leicestershire GP Limited

Demographics
171,000 registered population

Area
273 km2

Practices
22 GP practices

GP Federations
South Charnwood GP Network Limited
North Charnwood Community GP
Network Limited

Better than national average for:
Deprivation
Child Poverty (under 16s)
Violent Crime
Long Term unemployment
Alcohol-specific hospital stays (under 18)
Hip fractures in people aged 65 and over
Life expectancy at birth (male)
Smoking-related deaths

Deprivation
Child poverty (under 16s)
Violent crime (violence offences)
Long Term unemployment
Obese children (year 6)
Alcohol specific hospital stays (under 18)
Life expectancy at birth (male and
female)
Under 75 mortality rate (cardiovascular
and cancer)

Deprivation
Child poverty (under 16s)
Violent crime (violence offences)
Long-term unemployment

Obese adults
Excess weight in adults
Incidence of malignant melanoma

Excess weight in adults
Recorded Diabetes

University Hospitals of Leicester,
George Eliot Hospital, Nuneaton
University Hospitals Coventry
Warwickshire (UHCW)

University Hospitals of Leicester,
Derby Hospital and Queens Hospital in
Burton on Trent, Nottingham University
Hospitals

Coalville Community Hospital
Bosworth District Hospital

Coalville Community Hospital

Priorities
Mental well-being (including that of
older people)
Obesity and weight management
(including diabetes)
Tobacco control

Acute referrals
University Hospitals of Leicester,
Nottingham University Hospitals

Community Hospitals
Loughborough Community Hospital &
Urgent Care Centre (co-located)

Version 3.0: Publication

67
19 | Community Services Plan

Conclusions
All the factors identified nationally are at work in our local
context. From a funding point of view, system transformation is
necessary to sustain the level of service we currently provide.
However, when health inequalities, the growing vulnerable and
frail elderly population, and the rise in long term conditions are
taken into account, it is clear that we must provide better, more
personalised, and less intrusive services if we are genuinely to
meet the needs of local people.
It is this assessment of the local, sub-regional and national
context which fuels the ambition for community care which we
set out in the next section.

Version 3.0: Publication

68
Community Services Plan | 20

Version 3.0: Publication

69
21 | Community Services Plan

3. Ambition
Left-shift=
Doing care where it should happen,
instead of where it could happen

To provide better care, and to do it affordably, we must
increase the proportion of care we provide in local communities
and people’s own homes.
Currently, acute services are used too often when other forms
of care would be better, reflecting a mismatch between need,
setting, and provision of care. Many admissions to hospital and
attendances at A&E are for conditions that would not need
hospitalisation if earlier proactive management in the
community had been in place.
Nationally and locally, whenever patients feel that they are
unable to access primary care when they need to, we see a rise
in the pressure on urgent and emergency care services. Our
intention is to redress this through an accessible range of
services out of hospital that respond to the planned and
unplanned needs of patients.
Our ambition is to develop strong, sustainable, person-centred
and integrated community services which meet future demand,
support the LLR Better Care Together (BCT) 5 year strategy, and
improve outcome for our patients.
To do this we are making step changes to community-based
services so that avoidable pressure on acute hospital is reduced.
The CCG’s vision for integration is health and social care teams,
supported by secondary care specialists, clustered around groups
of GP practices within three identified districts. These will work
toward joint outcomes, and have the capacity and capability to
accommodate a left-shift of activity from the acute sector.
These teams will create a step change in integrated and
proactive care planning, particularly for frail older people and
people with LTCs. With primary care, they will offer services on
a seven-day basis. This will provide a safe, effective and patientcentred alternative to hospital care, consistently available.

Version 3.0: Publication

Left:
The inevitable tendency of healthcare is
to do things in more specialised
environments than they need to be.
However, this creates clinical risks,
reduces effectiveness, and downgrades
patient experience. Our ambition is to
do through self-care what should be
done through self-care, through
primary care what should be done
there, all the way up to doing things in
community rather than acute hospitals
when it is safe and appropriate to do
so.
Below:
Our ambition is to shift the care system
so that the bulk of work is done
through scheduled care, as opposed to
the current situation where it is in
urgent care.
Planned
care

Urgent
care

Scheduled
care
Unscheduled
care

Who contributes to inappropriate
use of hospital?
Commissioners: placing services in
acute can be an easy commissioning
decision even when a community
setting would be better.
Primary Care Referrers: over-cautious
referrals can send people to hospital
who don’t need to be there.
Hospital Clinicians: over-cautious
clinicians may hold back discharge.
Intermediate and social care: lack of
availability in step-down
accommodation means people may
stay longer.
Patient attendance: people are going
increasingly to Accident and Emergency
when there is no need, and patients
may press for acute treatment, even
when it is against their interests.
Patient delay: not seeking help early
through primary care (GP surgery)
means that some patients are
hospitalised who could otherwise have
maintained their health.
Family, carers and well-wishers: the
old attitude of ‘hospital’s the best
place’ can lead to inappropriate
encouragement to seek acute care.

70
Community Services Plan | 22

Living Well

Caring Well

✁✂✃♣
♦♥♠✃✄☞✇✆
As patients, carers and the
public, we will:
• Look after ourselves with
vaccinations, healthy
lifestyle and making the
most of information
• Look out for each other—
being good neighbours
• Go to the pharmacist,
doctor or dentist early
when we are ill
• Work with the NHS to
make the most of scheduled and planned care
• Only use urgent services
(A&E, 999, on-call GP)
when it’s really urgent.

As the NHS,
we will:
• Put your health and your
safety first in all our care
decisions
• Plan your care with you so
that it takes place in a
scheduled way whenever
possible
• Care for you as close to
home as possible and help
you to live independently
• Give you timely information about how to care for
yourself and others
• Make sure that urgent
services are available when
you really need them.

Living Well and Caring Well
The NHS is ultimately a bargain between all of us.
As patients, carers and the public, our part of the bargain is to
live well: looking after ourselves, looking out for each other,
going to the pharmacist, doctor, dentist or eye specialist early
when we recognise a problem, and only using urgent services
such as A&E, 999, on-call GPs and urgent appointments when
things really are urgent.
As the NHS, our part of the bargain is to care well, looking after
you in the right care setting. We will always put your safety and
health first when deciding how to care for you. As much as
possible, we will care for you at home or close to home, and
help you to live independently so that your healthcare fits
around your life, not the other way around. We will give you
timely information about caring for yourself, and, if you are a
carer, caring for others. We will also make sure that urgent
services are available when you really need them.

Version 3.0: Publication

71
23 | Community Services Plan

Principles
In order to ensure that what we develop is fit for purpose, we
have agreed principles and assessment criteria.
1

We will prioritise independence and reablement. Our aim in
all our patient interactions will be to enable people to live
their lives with the least impact caused by health conditions.

2

We will provide equitable health care in all localities. Some
localities will develop specialist services to meet the needs of
a wider population, using local community assets to
enhance the care provided both now and in the future.

3

We will engage our local community in the co-design and
production of local health services, involving them in the
decisions taken about where their care is delivered and
ensuring that local people are empowered to access the
right care, in the right place and at the right time.

4

We will retain leadership of all non-urgent care at a local
level, working with the right people to ensure that health
and social care services work together. Should people
require access to emergency care we will ensure that we
keep them safe and do not delay access to an acute hospital.

5

We will maximise the use of information technology, using
it to ensure that all the health care needs of our patients are
managed effectively.

6

The care of our patients and carers will be led by local
doctors and their teams working through their federations
and integrated districts, enhancing the patient journey,
making it more responsive to meeting health needs and
supporting the carer to do a good job.

nappropriate use =
doing things where they could be done
instead of where they should be done.

0
Self care and
prevention

1
Primary
care

2

Enhanced
routine care

3
Urgent care and
crisis response

4
Emergency
and acute care

When asked, patients typically say,
“Home is where I want to be”. When
making decisions about other people,
there has historically been a tendency
to say, “hospital is the best place for
them”. This is an attitude no longer
shared by carers in West Leicestershire,
who feel they are best placed to
support their loved ones but need
integrated support.

“Left shift”
Care is safest, most effective and has
the best patient experience when it is
done in the right clinical setting. Most
care could also be done in a more
specialist setting. This puts patients at
risk of care-acquired infections and
disrupts social networks and daily
routines which are essential to
recovering wellness.
“Left-shift” is about resisting the
temptations to ‘up-sell’ ourselves, and,
wherever possible, to move care which
belongs closer to home to where it
should be.

Left shift = moving care from where it could happen to where it should happen.

Version 3.0: Publication

72
Community Services Plan | 24

Assessment Criteria
In developing our services, we will use these assessment criteria
which are informed by the public engagement work described
on page 11.
To deliver high quality, citizen-centred, integrated care
pathways
• Ensure future services generate continuous and sustainable
improvements in the quality of care provided
•

Join up support for exercise and mobility preservation,
making it integral to improving outcomes for patients and
carers

•

Improve care before and after hospital, intervening earlier
to reduce avoidable admissions

•

Work with the community to co-design and co-produce
services and to hold providers to account. Where an
unpopular decision is made, ensure that it is based on
robust evidence that reflects community concerns.

To reduce inequalities in care (both physical and mental)
• Meet the changing health needs of our population and that
of the wider health economy, responding to concerns about
an increasing population overall and the growing elderly
population
•

Improve mental health outcomes for individuals and the
population as a whole, tackling health inequalities and
ensuring equality across all protected characteristics, and
creating parity of esteem with physical health.

•

Intervene to reduce inequalities in health in early life,
improving health outcomes for children and young people.

To increase the number of people reporting a positive
experience of care
• Adopt a more person-centred approach to the
commissioning and delivery of health care, investing in
relationships with patients and supporting family carers to
do a good job
•

Deliver measurable, evidenced-based improvements in the
way our patients experience integrated care and support

•

Increase the capacity and capability of integrated
community services so that professionals and the public
have confidence that more care and support can be
delivered in the community in the future by a range of
health care professionals.

Version 3.0: Publication

73
25 | Community Services Plan

To optimise the opportunities for integration and the use of
physical assets
• Review all community services and expand communitybased care, developing districts of care which are integrated
and meet the needs of patients and carers
•

Ensure estates are well utilised and fit for the future

•

Harness advances in medicine, to reduce reliance on
secondary care and adopt a person-centred approach to
prescribing medication.

To achieve financial sustainability
• Improve value for money and ensure our sites are financially
viable.
To improve the utilisation of the workforce and the
development of new capacity and capabilities
• Focus on staff well-being
•

Develop and gain impact from an integrated workforce
where staff work in multi-disciplinary teams which improve
standards of care. This is to include community-based urgent
care teams co-located with community provision, supported
by secondary care consultants who are available sessionally
on-site.

What does this mean for our patients
The implementation of our plan is designed to transform
people’s experience of integrated care, especially outside
hospital.
•

One system of health and care, placing patients and service
users in the centre of their care, as per the National Voices
principles

•

Improved care planning and care coordination especially for
frail older people and those with long term conditions

•

Greater involvement of service users and carers in care
planning

•

Clear routes for accessing help, advice and support in a
crisis, avoiding hospital admission and A&E visits where
possible

•

More assessment and support available to carers

•

More seamless care from professionals in community and
primary care settings

Version 3.0: Publication

74
Community Services Plan | 26

•

Shorter hospital stays and more effective discharge planning
from the point of admission

•

More effective and consistent pathways of care in the
community, and more confidence that these will meet
urgent care needs

•

Fewer inappropriate admissions to hospital and fewer
inappropriate A&E attendances

•

Greater access to and responsiveness of Leicestershire’s
community and primary care services on a seven day basis

•

A more effective and responsive service for aids and
adaptations in the home, and more expertise and advice on
housing matters in support of hospital discharge and
maintaining independence in the community

•

More people who are vulnerable supported in our
communities through Local Area Coordination

•

More people benefitting from reablement

•

More people being able to avoid or delay an admission to
residential/nursing care.

Person-centred, close to home, seamless
We have been speaking of ‘patient-centred care’ for many
years. It is time to move to ‘person-centred care’. While people
enormously value the NHS and the care it provides, they do not
normally wish to define themselves as patients. Care closer to
home ultimately allows people to organise their healthcare
around their lives, rather than being forced to restructure their
lives around their care. In doing this, the care we provide must
be seamless: as far as the individual is concerned, their
experience should be one of being looked after by a single care
system, working to common values which shares information
effectively and fulfils every promise it makes.

Version 3.0: Publication

75
27 | Community Services Plan

4. Model of Care
0
Self care and
prevention

1
Primary
care

2

3

4

Enhanced
routine care

Urgent care and
crisis response

Emergency and
acute care

Greater risk and complexity

Patient
Practice
District
(Multispecialty
Community
Provider)

A place for every setting
Our model of care takes the insights from the Keogh diagram,
identifying five settings of care, and makes these physical. By
creating a ‘place for every setting’, we are building appropriate
use and and appropriate care into our structures.
For this we are developing Multispecialty Community Providers
(MCPs) at the district level, incorporating our existing
community hospitals in Coalville, Loughborough and Hinckley.
Each of these will serve their districts, enabling in-hospital but
non-acute care and urgent care and crisis response to take place
closer to people’s homes. As an organisational form, the MCP
networks generalist and specialist nurses and doctors, alongside
social care and Allied Health Professionals (AHPs). Each district
has its own MCP, including a Community Hospital.

Acute

Above:
This diagram describes how we
commission at each point to treat the
patient in a setting which matches their
risk and complexity. This theme runs
through the activity of many of the
clinical work-streams with a focus on
prevention and avoidance as well as
reducing in-patient care where it is not
the most appropriate form of care.

For local people, this will mean:
•

Self-care at home

•

Primary care at their GP practice

•

Enhanced routine care through the Multispecialty
Community Provider

•

Urgent care and crisis response through the Multispecialty
Community Provider

•

Emergency acute care and specialist acute services

Version 3.0: Publication

Safety, Effectiveness, Patient
Experience
The safety of patients is always our
highest priority. Within that, we want
our care for them to be effective in
bringing about the health outcomes
that matter to them most. When there
are choices between different ways of
offering safe, effective care, the
patient’s experience is the deciding
factor.

76
Community Services Plan | 28

GPs and their teams, as expert-generalists, play a pivotal role
coordinating the care and ensuring that co-morbidities are
reflected in the setting of care. This means that, while our aim
will always be to provide care as close to home as possible
based on what is safe, effective and person-centric, some
patients at some times will be admitted at an escalated setting
of care because their spectrum of conditions creates additional
clinical risks.
GPs will increasingly work with specialists co-located in primary
and community settings, supported by community providers
and social care to create integrated out-of-hospital care.
Likewise, community pharmacies will continue to play a key role
in supporting self-care: 95% of our population lives within
three miles of a community pharmacy.

Below:
What the patient can expect in each
setting of care, and what the NHS
commits to.

Patient

0

Self care and
prevention

I can: look after my
physical and mental
well being, get
self-care advice, get
guidance on
resources available,
and get patient
information
I am: linked to
community support
networks

NHS

I know: who to call
for more
information
We will: provide
advice, support and
information
services, without a
referral, so patients
can make choices
about setting of
care.

1

This model relies on involvement of secondary care consultants
in the MCP model, and will require secondary care doctors,
nurses and therapists working in community settings. This will
require a cultural change from the way the NHS has
traditionally approached the boundaries of acute and nonacute care.

Primary
care

I can: get a Primary
Care appointment on
the same day.
My GP knows what
care I have been
receiving elsewhere.
I am: referred
promptly to other
services when needed.

2

Enhanced
routine care

I am: involved in my
care with a named care
worker and shared
care plan, supported
at home and in
community, helped to
navigate the system.
I can: talk with my GP
about my plan.

I feel: supported to
manage my own
condition.

I know: who to call.

My mental health
needs are given equal
priority.

I am: assessed once
with regular check-ups.

We will: enable access
to primary health care
when needed on the
same day, tomorrow or
planned in advance.

I can: access short or
long term care.

We will: give
proactive, targeted
care, as part of a
package of care: long
or short term, planned
and consistent with
access same day, next
day and scheduled.

3

Urgent care and
crisis response

I can: get the same
level of treatment at
any UCC, and crisis
response services in 2
hours, day or night.
I can: speak to a
clinician about my
urgent care needs
within 2 hours.
I have: rapid access to
community services.
I understand
alternatives to A&E.
We will: give urgent
advice, care, treatment
or diagnosis 24/7 with
consistent and rigorous
assessment of urgency,
with a 2 hour response,
completed in 48/72
hours.

4

Emergency
and acute care

I will: be seen promptly,
with access to senior
clinical advice and quick
care decisions. If
needed, I will be
transferred to a ward in
a timely fashion, with a
full discharge plan, to
be in hospital no longer
than needed, with
pre-12pm discharge and
no delays.
We will: respond
immediately to timecritical, serious and lifethreatening need, in
A&E and by 999, with a
care decision in under 4
hours. We will give
intensive input to treat
and care for episodes of
crisis.

77
29 | Community Services Plan

Our Districts
The community services model in West Leicestershire will be
based on three districts, broadly coterminous with district and
borough councils.
Each district will provide a core standard of service in
conjunction with our health and social care partners to meet
local need.
Some districts will develop a degree of specialism which,
although not geographically present in every locality, will be
accessible to all patients. This will enhance access to services and
make the best use of local resources for our population.
We will better use our community assets e.g., community
hospital, general practice premises, to ensure they remain
viable for our local populations and meet local need.
Each will respond to the requirements as laid out in the Better
Care Together (BCT) strategy, delivering services to patients
across all settings of care. Thus the model can be described as a
set of circles building on each other to maintain people safely
at home as long and as independently as possible.

Patient Choice
Under current arrangements, about half of our patients
requiring secondary care go to University Hospitals of Leicester,
with 15% being cared for by Alliance, and about a quarter of
patients opting to go to Derby, Burton, Nottingham, Nuneaton
or Coventry for their care.
Patients will continue to be able to choose which acute hospital
to attend if they need Setting 4, Emergency and Acute Care,
and will also have a choice of community locations when
undergoing Enhanced Routine Care or Urgent and Crisis
Response through the MCPs.

North West
Leicestershire

Loughborough
Charnwood

Coalville
Hinckley &
Bosworth
Hinckley

Above:
Districts and locations of community
hospitals

Below:
Current patient flows. 53% of
commissioned activity goes to UHL,
with 2-6% going to other hospitals.

University Hospitals of Leicester
NHS Trust

53%

Alliance

15%

Leicestershire Partnership NHS
Trust

6%

Burton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

6%

Other Providers

5%

Derby Teaching Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

5%

George Eliot Hospital NHS Trust

4%

University Hospitals Coventry
and Warwickshire NHS Trust

2%

Nottingham University Hospitals
NHS Trust

2%

Nottingham
Derby

Whilst each district will offer a standard set of services, they will
also reflect local need and provide patients choice in where
they access services and community infrastructure.

Charnwood

Burton

North West Leicestershire

Hinckley & Bosworth

UHL

George Eliot
Nuneaton

UHCW Coventry

Version 3.0: Publication

78
Community Services Plan | 30

Settings of Care

ncy
Emergency
and acute
e care

Urgent care a
and
crisis response
spons

Enhanced
nced
routine
e care

mary
Primary
care

Self care and
revention
prevention

0 1 2 3 4

Above:
As previously described, the “Keogh”
diagram, based on Sir Bruce Keogh’s
review, identifies five settings of care,
from level 0, self care and prevention,
through to level 4, emergency and
acute care. The overlay triangle shows
how the vast bulk of activity should
be at the left hand side of the
diagram. Although there is overlap,
especially at levels 2 and 3, the five
settings broadly reflect our four forms
of provision in this plan, being selfcare, primary care, Multispecialty
Community Provider care and acute
hospital care. Multispecialty
Community Providers (MCPs)
incorporate community hospitals,
clinical teams, GP specialists, and
secondary care specialists.
In all settings, the GP as expertgeneralist remains the principal
coordinator of care.

 Setting 0: Self Care and Prevention
Patients will take a greater responsibility for their
own physical and mental well-being and in doing so
will be able to access a wide range of resources.
Individuals will be supported by a wide range of
community networks including the voluntary and
community sector.
Support will be widely accessible and can be accessed
without referral
Services will be provided in the communities in which
people live.

o Setting 1: Primary Care
This will remain the corner stone of the NHS and is
often the first and most commonly used point of
access for healthcare. Patients are likely to have a
consultation with a healthcare professional to
manage an existing condition or diagnose a new
problem, or obtain referral to another service. Over
recent years the range of services has expanded to
include screening and immunisation, disease
management and some services previously provided
in hospital settings.
Increasingly services are provided by a range of
healthcare professionals including GPs, nurse
practitioners, pharmacists.
Services are available on the same day and in
advance.
Services are provided in the communities where
people live

Version 3.0: Publication

79
31 | Community Services Plan

 Setting 2: Enhanced Routine Care
Integrated and proactive care to promote
independence and recovery with input from a range
of community-based healthcare professionals.
Care may be coordinated by GPs working closely with
a wide range of multidisciplinary health and social
care teams including physicians, nurses, and
therapists.
Referral is from a GP or following discharge from
urgent or acute services.
Services are located in community settings and
patients’ own homes, in districts aligned to local
authority boundaries.

 Setting 3: Urgent Care and Crisis Response
Urgent advice, care, treatment and diagnosis
including a range of alternatives to A&E.
Care will be provided by a range of healthcare
professionals although this may be coordinated by a
GP, including paramedics, extended scope
practitioners and consultants.
Referral from a clinical team (step-up), self-referral or
walk-in attendance.
Within a range of community settings and patients’
own homes. Patients will have a clear understanding
of what services are available in and out of hours.

0 Setting 4: Emergency and Acute
Acute medical / surgical care and emergency care.
Care is provided by consultants and integrated teams
of health and social care professionals.
These services are accessed via referral or following a
need for emergency or urgent care.
Mainly provided within our acute hospitals.

Version 3.0: Publication

80
Community Services Plan | 32

Consultation Plans
As part of the process of Better Care Together we will be
consulting on the type of services that will take place in
community and acute hospitals, and the best use of our sites
and premises. The outcome of this may require us to review the
footprint of services at a district level.
Within West Leicestershire, we are expecting to consult formally
on some aspects of community hospital services, particularly in
Hinckley.
The consultation on Hinckley will be based on the extensive
engagement work undertaken over recent months with our
patients, clinicians and partner organisations.
This will be in line with the Better Care Together consultation,
and should reflect the proposals put forward in this plan.
We expect to update this and other related plans once the
results of the consultations are known.

Version 3.0: Publication

81
33 | Community Services Plan

5. Implementation
This implementation section sets out
some of the more detailed aspects of
We have phased the implementation of this plan to run from
2016, subject to the outcome of the BCT Consultation (see p 32). putting the model of care into practice.
Details are subject to change.
On the following pages are a more detailed breakdown of
what services will be offered in each setting of care, and what
the complete patient offer will be in each of the three districts.
Because there are a number of implications (see below) for
getting community sites ready for their enhanced role, there
will be some double running costs during implementation (see
schematic, bottom). However, a number of the aspects will be
cost neutral, or will begin to delivery a saving early on.

Potential to offer
medical day cases
(infusions, venesection
etc., from community
ward space)

Integrated
pathways including
enhanced primary
care and onward to
elective procedures

Community
Sites
Supporting
Districts

Rationalisation of
general anaesthetic
work, possibly in two
sites across county.
Shift of GA to LA
work, supported by
skill mix

Increase in local anaesthetics work, including
use of primary care
sites for some LA
procedures, and LA
work carried out in
procedure rooms

2014/15

Increased outpatient
activity in community
and primary care
locations, especially
medical specialties

2015/16

Estate audit

Increased range and
volume of diagnostics,
including one stop
shop, mobile, and
provision of
diagnostics in primary
care settings
Increased endoscopy
activity including
screening and
diagnostic work (in
parallel with reduction
of activity on UHL
General site)

2016/17

2017/18

Estates/IM&T development work

Managerial & Clinical
Leadership

Primary Medical Care double running period

New contracting
models

Version 3.0: Publication

Left:
Implications for community sites
supporting districts, as discussed in the
Model, above.

Double running costs
Community Services Plan

2018/19

Left:
High-level schematic showing the
phasing of our plans. While some of
the developments required by this plan
will be cost-neutral, we anticipate
double-running costs from 2016 as we
implement our Community Services
Plan.

82
Community Services Plan | 34

0

Self care and
prevention

1

Primary
care

2

Enhanced
routine care

3

Urgent care and
crisis response

4

Emergency
and acute care

Right Care: lpatient
k f decision
aids

Comprehensive core
i care
l planning:
d in my
i General Enhanced
Practice

24/7 SPA: 999/111/OOH
SPA
h
all interoperable with one
single assessment

Health coaching

Disease registers

Risk-stratified population:
Managing the high risk 1020%

Clinical triage at single point Emergency Department:
of access
Majors and Minors

First contact—multi agency
support

Primary care nursing and
ANP support

Integrated and proactive
Direct booking to local
care planning using standard services
shared care plans and
records

Cardiac arrests

Lifestyle Hub—city

ECG/Spirometry/INR NPT in
federated hubs.

EOLC pathways and plans

Rapid Response services:

Stroke

Public health schemes you
can access yourself

2% at-risk patients profiled
and managed

Supported residents reviews

• Leicester care alarm & falls Trauma
response

Weight management

7 day access and working
between practices

Enhanced management:

• Fast response vehicle + see Neuro
& treat ambulance

Alcohol and drug misuse

Expert patient programmes

Community health and men- Acute Visiting Service (West) Paeds
tal health wraparound services

Smoking cessation

Dementia care advisors

Case management through
virtual ward schemes

Integrated crisis response
Service

Major Trauma Unit- out of
county

Sexual health

Optometry services

‘Locality’ health and social
care teams targeting at-risk
and case-managed patients
(HSCCs)

MH Assertive Outreach

Maternity

Wider community & vol.
sector support

Dental surgeries

Key workers

Psychosis Intervention and
Early Recovery (PIER)

Neo-nates

Local Area Coordination/
Local Support Groups

Community pharmacies

Case workers

At increased risk group:

Discharge date and pathway
agreed at point of admission

Healthy Cities Programme

Direct booking in to primary Pharmacist-led medication
care
reviews

Customer portal; self
assessment and signposting

Falls response team- trusted
responders

Palliative care and night
nursing

Carers and young carers
support and training

Remote monitoring:

Urgent care centres

Dementia cafes

Telecare

Standard offer across Urgent
care centres

Integrated housing support
service

Telehealth

Comprehensive assessment
(including CGA)

Falls prevention information

Step up/down services:

Ambulatory care sensitive
conditions pathways with
access to MDT: asthma,
COPD, Heart Failure, DVT,
Cellulitis

Domiciliary care

Frailty hubs/older people's
unit

Acuteillmedical
/ surgical
be seen
promptly,
care

Mental health acute
admissions

Intensive primary care/ social Observation "beds"
care interventions immediately following discharge
Intermediate care beds: social care

Community diagnostics
(digital links/near patient
testing)

Residential and non-residen- ECG/X Ray/Ultrasound
tial reablement services
Intensive Community Support

Pathology/Phlebotomy

Community hospital inpaIntravenous procedures:
tient care (length of stay 0- Diuretics, antibiotics
5 days- increased acuity and
throughput)

Version 3.0: Publication

83
35 | Community Services Plan

Our patient offer in each district

Our patient offer in the districts.
Setting of care:

Hinckley and North West
Charnwood Bosworth Leicestershire
Self Care and Prevention
Signposting
Public health initiatives
Prevention offer













o
o
o

o
o
o

o
o
o

o
o
o
o

o
o
o
o


o


o
o
o
o


o


Routine community services
(including clinics and nurses)







Specialist community services
(including clinics and nurses)








o


o


o

Enhanced primary care offer
Family Planning services

4 To be confirmed
Facing page:
List of services per setting of care

Primary Care
GP services

 Self-care
o Primary Care
 MCP
0 Acute

Some services will be outside your
district.

Enhanced Routine Care
Standard Outpatient Department
Specialised Outpatient Department
Basic Investigations
Specialist diagnostics
Endoscopy
Day case room
Planned nursing and therapy team
Inpatient Services

Day hospital for rehabilitation
Women's & Children's Interventions


o


Urgent care and Crisis Response
Urgent care centre
Unscheduled care team
Geriatric assessment (home and district)
Integrated OOH team base






4

4





4

4





Increasing community services
As part of the Better Care Together
plans, across Leicestershire 40,000
outpatients are expected to move to a
community setting, of which
approximately 20,000 are in West
Leicestershire. This is an increase of out
patients in community settings of 36%
for West Leicestershire CCG.



20,000 out-patient appointments
are expected to move into
community settings.

Our aim is also to increase both in
patient and home-based rehabilitation.
For West Leicestershire this will mean a
step increase in both in-patient in
community hospitals and rehabilitation
at home.

Current

Proposed

①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①

①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①
①

↕
↕
↕
↕
↕

111 48

↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕
↕

126 142

Community in-patient beds
Home-based rehabilitation beds

Emergency and Acute
Acute inpatients
Emergency Department

Version 3.0: Publication

0
0

0
0

0
0

84
Community Services Plan | 36

Version 3.0: Publication

85
37 | Community Services Plan

6. Enablers
Leicestershire Better Care Fund

Our enablers are things the plan relies
on, but which are not actually a part of
it.

Leicestershire’s Better Care Fund Plan (BCF) forms an important
component of the LLR BCT five year strategy.
People rarely need support from a single service as they age, or
if they are vulnerable through ill health, disability, injury or
social exclusion/isolation. They have told us that they find it
difficult to navigate between services and feel that there are
many barriers in the way as they move between health, social
care and other statutory services.
The Leicestershire BCF plan is based on
improving how citizens access
information, support and services and
how these are designed across the
stepped pyramid of care illustrated in
this diagram.

Targeted services
and case
management

on
ati
egr
In t

Pre
ven
tio
n

Specialist
Services

Early intervention and
secondary prevention
Universal services for the
whole population

These barriers are simply not understandable or acceptable to
the population we serve. A key feature of this plan is to address
this, and support people and communities much more
effectively so that when people are in need of information,
support or services to maintain or improve their health and
well-being, local partners will:
•

Deliver this support in a coordinated way across agencies

•

Provide this support as early as possible, anticipating future
needs, as well as dealing with immediate needs in the most
appropriate setting.

The aim of the BCF plan is to deliver important improvements
to the way we collectively offer care and support to local
citizens. To do this, we are making stepped changes to both the
composition and capacity of local, integrated, community-based
services so that avoidable pressure on hospital care is reduced.

Version 3.0: Publication

The base of the pyramid is least
intrusive in people’s lives. At the top of
the pyramid healthcare has temporarily
become the dominating aspect of their
lives. In addition to the intrusiveness of
this and the additional clinical risks
associated with specialist treatment,
absence from the home environment
tends to desocialise, and disrupts the
social networks essential for long-term
independent living. It is therefore
always better to treat as close to the
base of the pyramid as is appropriate to
the condition.

86
Community Services Plan | 38

Unified Prevention Offer for Leicestershire’s
Communities
Bring together prevention services in Leicestershire’s
communities into one consistent offer, including housing
expertise and support to carers.
Provide better coordination in communities of this offer so
that local people have easy access to information, help and
advice.

Integrated, Proactive Care for those with Long-Term
Conditions
Scale up the support already offered by primary and
community care services for patients with long-term
conditions/the frail elderly
—including through:
• The introduction of case management for the over-75s
• Changes to how records and data are shared between
agencies and with patients so that ongoing care is planned
more effectively and changes in needs/care plans can be
anticipated and addressed earlier.

Integrated Urgent Response

Hospital Discharge and Reablement

Introduce an integrated two hour community services
response, to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions for those
who need urgent assistance.

Make significant improvements in the timeliness and
effectiveness of discharge pathways from hospital, especially
for frail older people.

Move towards appropriate access to primary care on a seven
day a week basis which integrates effectively with
community-based health and care services, both in and out
of hours.

Consolidate, integrate and extend a number of
Leicestershire’s existing community-based services into one
24/7 service operating across health and social care, with a
single point of access, to focus on maintaining independence
in the community for as long as possible.

Design and implement an integrated service for frail older
people.

The six metrics of the Leicestershire
Better Care Fund Plan1 are:
METRIC 1: Permanent admissions of
older people (aged 65 and over) to
residential and nursing care homes, per
100,000 population.
METRIC 2: Proportion of older people
(65 and over) who were still at home
91 days after discharge from hospital
into reablement / rehabilitation services.
METRIC 3: Delayed transfers of care
from hospital per 100,000 population
(average per month).

Ultimately the BCF plan aims to provide a very clear articulation
of the menu of services, information and support available to
the public, and make this menu more understandable and
accessible, particularly in community settings. The Leicestershire
BCF plan is based on improving how citizens access information,
support and services and how these are designed across the
stepped pyramid of care illustrated in this diagram below:
There will be clear integrated service offers at each layer of the
pyramid, operating across organisational boundaries, with a
view to coordinating care for individuals, carers and families.
Over the next two years we will work towards achieving an
integrated health and care system through:

METRIC 4: Total emergency admissions
into hospital, per 100,000 population.

•

Providing focused leadership to integration across
organisational boundaries

METRIC 5: Patient / service user
experience.

•

METRIC 6: Injuries due to falls in people
aged 65 and over

Building on existing priorities and current work, where we
can see measurable impact

•

Aligning our plans across the system of health and care

•

Streamlining and focusing our efforts on tackling a smaller
number of areas

1

http://www.leics.gov.uk/healthwellbeingboard/
bcfsubmission.htm

Version 3.0: Publication

87
39 | Community Services Plan

•

Identifying those citizens at greatest risk and supporting
them to maintain or regain their independence which will
reduce their reliance on more costly interventions

•

Adopting a whole system approach to pathway re-design
(patient journey) ensuring integration of planning,
commissioning and delivery is considered where appropriate

•

Improving the customer experience through driving up
quality and performance

•

Delivering efficiencies through developing more effective
and streamlined practices and processes

•

Integrating care records and using more integrated
technology to support joint care plans.

Listening to and increasing the
participation of patients
Public and patient involvement undertaken using a systematic
approach will enable the CCG to commission high quality,
evidence-based community services which support people and
families to keep well and live their lives to the full in West
Leicestershire.
The majority of the evidence-based engagement which has
informed this plan has used Experience Led Commissioning
(ELC). It is built around the idea that if we listen to and deeply
understand people’s experiences, we will design better, more
person-centred services that deliver better care for people.
ELC methodology is different from other approaches as it is
experience-led. Many people complain that often their
experience of NHS care leaves them feeling more like a number
rather than a person. Where they get the right care and
medical treatment, they often feel the human element is
missing. We want to ensure that we change this, and focus on
what people tell us matters to them and what would make the
biggest difference to a great experience of care, using these
insights to commission great services.
We also want to ensure that people feel they are living a
fulfilling life and are supported by care professionals to take
control and feel confident in managing their health issues and
keeping well and remaining independent.
To achieve both of these aims we will work with all our partners
to:
•

Adopt a more person-centred approach to commissioning
by developing a person-centred outcome measurement
system.

Version 3.0: Publication

88
Community Services Plan | 40

•

Improve self-care by sending out strong messages to
encourage people to have shared goal-setting which will
build empathy and relationships.

•

Focus on prevention including supporting those people
living with health issues and their carers, with more
education about their condition and support to prevent
crises in care that mean they end up in hospital.

•

Support staff to articulate information in a simple way that
people understand about how to self-care and remain
independent.

•

Support family carers to do a good job.

•

Invest in relationships enabling front-line teams across
organisations to get to know each other.

•

Invest in mobility preservation to prevent people from being
socially isolated and lonely, by linking with voluntary and
community organisations and volunteer schemes.

•

Support parity of esteem between mental and physical wellbeing by extending support programmes like social
prescribing.

By taking this approach we will empower patients, strengthen
the role they have in managing their own care, and reduce the
burden on health and social care services. It will also maximise
our chances of the community supporting change now and in
the future, even where decisions might be controversial.

Information Technology (IT)
Information technology is a key enabler, as sharing information
is essential for us to treat patients safely wherever they are. As
patients increasingly receive care from more than one provider,
timely communication of relevant information between and
within care providers and with patients and carers is critical.
Good communication and coordination is needed, both within
and between professionals, teams, care systems and institutions.
The IM&T workstream has implemented a number of initiatives
that have improved patient experiences, these include:
Electronic Prescriptions—sending prescriptions directly to the
pharmacy so they are ready for pick-up at a nominated
pharmacy without the need to wait for medication to be
processed.
Online Access—viewing of a summary of the patient record,
ability to book appointments with the GP online and ability to
request repeat medication online.
Summary Care Record—ability for clinicians treating patients

Version 3.0: Publication

89
41 | Community Services Plan

anywhere in the country to have access to a core subset of
patient records (medications, allergies and bad reactions to
medicines).
Medical Interoperability Gateway—allows clinicians in provider
organisations such as Out of Hours to access core clinical data
regarding the patient, subject to their agreement.
The Summary Care Record and Medical Interoperability
Gateway (MIG) are already in use, and roll-out is being
completed in this year (2015/16)

Multispecialty Community Providers
At the heart of our Community Services Plan is the development
of Multispecialty Community Providers (MCPs). This is a new
type of delivery model, integrating what, to date, have been
relatively poorly coordinated primary and community care
providers into new and efficient organisations or alliances
capable of delivering on the “triple aim”—a better patient
experience, better population health and more efficient use of
resources.
These MCPs will need to mature and grow to establish their
organisational form and working relationships across the
system. As a result, not only could a full range of traditional
community based services be coordinated by the MCP, but it is
also envisaged that outpatient and diagnostics would
increasingly shift into the community under their control.
MCPs are able to tailor the setting of care to patient need,
working at times with the patient in their own home, and at
other times in community settings including community
hospitals.
In order to set the foundations required we have to date:
•

Supported our practices in the development of four legally
constituted GP Federations. The federations enable a strong
primary care orientation to the delivery of patient pathways
across all settings of care.

•

Given our federations opportunities to practically test
models of joint working. Examples include federation QIPP
schemes and the development of local weekend access
services.

•

Commissioned community nursing and rehabilitation teams
through a proactive care approach to align with our four
federated localities.

•

Worked collaboratively with our social care partners on the
same geographical footprint. This enables the full
integration of our practices with our community and social

Version 3.0: Publication

Medical Interoperability Gateway
Services which will have access to core
clinical data are:
Out of Hours (OOHs)
NHS 111
Ambulance Service 999
Urgent Care Centres
Acute Inpatient Services
Leicestershire Partnership Trust Single
Point of Access for Community Services

90
Community Services Plan | 42

care teams to support the further development of
integrated teams.
•

Assumed the delegated responsibility for the commissioning
of general practice—this is enabling the CCG to create a
joined-up, clinically led, system that delivers seamless out of
hospital care based around the needs of local people.

The challenge now is to support the development of our MCPs
so that they will assume a greater leadership role in the
provision of care and care coordination, whilst supporting staff
from different sectors to work with them in new ways.
To achieve this we will:
•

Rapidly explore joint venture opportunities with our key
partners e.g., Federations, UHL, LPT and Adult Social Care,
to agree the model for further integration of our
community and primary care teams.

•

Develop mechanisms and approaches for GP Federations to
meet these challenges by supporting their organisational
and business development, enabling them to engage fully in
the leadership and development of MCPs.

•

Develop contractual forms that enable the MCP to deliver
care across our three districts in the most clinically and cost
effective manner by breaking down the contractual and
sectoral barriers to integrated provision.

Our workforce
A competent and skilled workforce is a key enabler in
implementing our plan to support out of hospital care to the
scale required. As a health community we need to inspire a new
generation within our workforce to work across organisational
boundaries and with a greater focus on community provision.
This will not be an easy task. Both at a national and local level
the health and social care workforce is facing a number of
challenges:
•

The nature of work undertaken by staff is changing. As the
population ages, our staff will need to care for more people
with complex needs and co-morbidities.

•

In the future we will need to work increasingly in
multidisciplinary teams that treat the whole person and not
just the presenting condition. Staff will need to have more
generic skills and will need to embrace new technologies.

Meeting these challenges and delivering our Community
Services Plan will mean changes in the skill mix for primary and

Version 3.0: Publication

91
43 | Community Services Plan

community care as well as appropriate capacity across primary
and community settings. Workforce planning and modelling
assumptions will need to incorporate new, emerging and more
sustainable models of community care. We need to develop a
workforce which is fit for purpose now and in the future rather
than merely increasing numbers. Developing services that span
different professional perspectives and work across the primary
and secondary care interface is vital. We will also need to
ensure that the workforce in each district reflects the health
needs of the local population.
The workforce implications are that we will need to:
•

Target the existing primary and community workforce to
improve recruitment and retention, and, equally
importantly, identify new capabilities, competencies, skills
and behaviours to support an enhanced community offer.

•

Identify new capabilities of new staff groups—there is an
urgent need to focus on roles and competencies which
support the left shift and integrated working. For example.
AHPs, community pharmacists, Emergency Care Practitioner
ECPs, secondary care clinicians, such as geriatricians

In achieving this, we will work with all partners through the
BCT Workforce Enabling Group and LETC to:
•

Establish a clear baseline of our current workforce—against
which we can map any change

•

Undertake workforce modelling and capacity planning—to
enable scenario planning as new models and pathways or
care are developed

•

Undertake functional mapping—getting the detail right by
reviewing and refining the skill mix of teams to better
understand the types of work that needs to be done in a
new setting and either match these to existing roles or
create new roles

•

Develop the ability to move people around the system - it
will be vital to be able to move staff around the system
quickly and efficiently e.g., moving specialist nurses from
the acute setting into the community to support integrated
team working

•

Develop new and different roles to mitigate recruitment
and retention risks e.g., apprentices, assistant practitioners,
physician associates.

Version 3.0: Publication

92
Community Services Plan | 44

Version 3.0: Publication

93
45 | Community Services Plan

7. Resources
Currently the CCG’s revenue budget allocation in 2015/16 is
£460m. This is spent across various types of health care
provision as follows:
Service Type Sub Type
NHS contracts outside of Leicester (George Eliot,
UHCW, Derby, Burton etc)
Independent Sector Providers (BUPA, Nuffield etc)
Elective Care in Community Hospitals
Acute TOTAL
Non Acute
LPT Community Hospital Services
LPT Mental Health & LD
Continuing Heathcare (&FNC)
Emergency and Non Emergency Transport
Learning Disability Pooled Budget
Non Acute Other
Non Acute
TOTAL
Primary Care Prescribing
Co-commissioning Budgets (GP practice income)
Other commissioning schemes, community based
services, GP Out of Hours (OOH), Loughborough Urgent
Care Centre
Primary Care
TOTAL
Other
CCG running costs
Contingency/Reserves/Transformation Funds
Planned Surplus
Other TOTAL
GRAND
TOTAL

Total
£46m
£5m
£14m
£194m
£34m
£30m
£29m
£11m
£7m
£24m
£135m
£53m
£44m
£14m
£111m
£8m
£7m
£5m
£20m
£460m

Looking Forward
Staff and financial resources available to the CCG will continue
to be focused on achieving the aims set out in this strategic
plan wherever possible, subject to other CCG priorities.
As this document presents a vision of the future system, the
detailed cost implications have not yet been worked through.
This will take time and resources in itself due to the complex
interconnectivity of services, providers and premises currently in
place. Any changes to service funding streams have to be
carefully planned and coordinated to ensure providers can
change delivery methods and venues smoothly, with no
detriment to patient outcomes.
It is anticipated that many of the changes described in this
document will involve no increased funding requirements for
the CCG, but locations, providers and methods of delivery may

Version 3.0: Publication

The CCG operates within an annual
fixed resource environment. Revenue
and capital funds are made available
each year to enable the CCG to provide
effective and efficient health care
services for its population.

94
Community Services Plan | 46

change. This will mean that the start of a service by one
provider will require the release of funding from another.
As future service details are worked through, the financial
implications will be reviewed, revised and confirmed. This will
mean that the full resource effects can be understood and
acknowledged by all organisations involved prior to the change
being implemented.
The criteria in this document for assessing detailed
implementation are almost as important as the high level plans.
Only when assessed at a greater level of detail will the benefits
(financial and non financial) be fully illustrated, and in so doing,
the case for potential future investment fully made.
These criteria are outlined elsewhere in this document (see
page 24). In terms of testing financial viability, the CCG will
need to ensure on a case by case basis that detailed plans:
•

Secure value for money from any investment required

•

Are financially affordable, taking into account the overall
financial standing of the CCG

•

Are viable in line with available funds.

This latter point is particularly important in connection with
capital investments required for a service change (e.g., costs to
refurbish buildings or purchase new equipment). It is
anticipated that availability of capital resource may become
further restricted in future years, as the NHS financial position
becomes more challenging nationally.

Right:
Table setting out expected value of ‘left
shift’ financially and in terms of activity

Area

Description of change

Value of service
subject to change
Financial
Activity

Planned Care
(Outpatients)

There are emerging plans to shift
circa £2m In excess of 20,000
significant levels of outpatient
OP appointments
activity from Acute Hospitals into the
for WLCCG
community.
Inpatient
There are emerging plans to move
circa £5m Approximately 109
Rehabilitation patient recovery, rehabilitation and
beds for WLCCG
and Sub Acute reablement into the community.
Care
Integrated
There are emerging plans to move to circa £7m To be confirmed
Urgent Care
an integrated delivery model for
Clinical Hub
urgent care services from the
multiple services currently
commissioned.
Hinckley
There are emerging plans to invest £1.5m to Allows continuation
Planned Care between £1.5 and £3m into fit for £3m
of and increases in
investment
purpose community settings within
activity for OP, DC
Hinckley to ensure the ongoing
and endoscopies in
viability of planned care services.
Hinckley

Version 3.0: Publication

95
47 | Community Services Plan

8. Governance
West Leicestershire CCG has robust systems of governance in
place, with three sub-groups and two formal committees
supporting the Board’s work, and regular development sessions
to ensure that the CCG continues to improve its corporate life.
The Board has in place robust decision making arrangements to
enable it to establish and implement joint strategies with the
other Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland CCGs, via the
Commissioning Collaborative Board, and to manage any
conflicts of interest which may arise.
To support and drive the implementation of the Community
Services Plan, the Planning and Delivery sub group will require a
detailed action plan to be developed .

Monitoring, Evaluation, Improvements
The implementation plan will be underpinned by a robust
performance and governance process, through the established
Programme Management Office (PMO). Through the PMO the
CCG has well-established processes including Business Case
Development, Project Initiation Documentation, performance
management dashboards and risk registers, all of which will
support effective programme delivery.
In order to ensure effective monitoring of the programme and
any individual task groups that are established to support it, a
clear reporting methodology will be instigated, enabling
regular progress reports to be provided to the Planning and
Delivery Group for review. This report will be an exception
report, RAG rated and will detail missed milestones or
deliverables together with requests to review the scope of the
programme/task groups if required.
Elements of the plan will be implemented in a phased way, in
order to deliver quality benefits as soon as possible. The
implementation is planned in five phases:
Phase 1: July 2015 – September 2015. The initial phase has
supported the development of the draft plan informed by
members, partners and local stakeholders.
Phase 2: October 2015 – November 2015. The second phase
allows us to engage more widely with stakeholders and to
further develop the plan.

Version 3.0: Publication

This section sets out key aspects of
oversight and evaluation of the
programme.

96
Community Services Plan | 48

Phase 3: December 2015 – March 2016. This phase will enable
wider feedback on the plan as part of the Better Care Together
Consultation process. Within this phase we will explore joint
venture opportunities with UHL, LPT, with regard to further
integration of our teams as we develop our MCP model. It will
also enable the implementation group to be formally
established, supporting programme management structures to
be put in place and markers of success to be agreed.
Phase 4: April 2016 – March 2017. This phase will commence
tangible change programmes laying the foundations for the
realisation of the plan.
Phase 5: April 2015 – March 2019. This phase will consolidate
and embed change programmes into main stream activity.

Transformed and integrated community services will
demonstrate a number of markers of success which will be
quantifiable and perceptible to patients — performance
trajectories and projected improvements in performance as a
result of this transformational programme will be agreed and
established in Phase Two of the programme.

Version 3.0: Publication

97
49 | Community Services Plan

9. Conclusions
The Community Services Plan outlined here represents a
necessary transformation of NHS services in West Leicestershire.
It is tempting to see advances in medical treatment, extended
life expectancy, rise in long term conditions and a cultural
tendency to insist on over-specialised care as primarily a cost
issue to the NHS. What is more important, though, is that all
these things will result in healthcare becoming a more intrusive
part of people’s lives unless we redesign our services to fit
around them, rather than the other way around.
It has long been understood that a ‘left-shift’ of some kind is
needed to achieve this. However, the left-shift ambition is in
itself insufficient: a mechanism is necessary.
Building on our work with GP Federated Localities, which have
enabled us to introduce Multispecialty Community Providers,
we have extended our model to include three district-based
community hospitals. Together, these allow us to offer care as
close to home as possible in all five settings of care, as
identified by Sir Bruce Keogh’s review.
To the patient, this means the following:
•

Better information and preventative care which will reduce
the chances of becoming seriously ill

•

Early treatment in primary care settings which can limit the
long-term impact of conditions as they begin, with easy
access and within the local community

•

Scheduled care organised at the locality level, minimising
the need for overnight care away from home

•

Urgent care and overnight care — when needed — provided
in human-scale, district settings through community
hospitals

•

Accident and Emergency and specialist acute care when
necessary.

From the patient’s perspective, the vast majority of interactions
with healthcare will take place without disruption to their daily
life.

Version 3.0: Publication

The patient’s perspective (above)
All patients will be involved in selfcare. A proportion will need to attend
a GP surgery (blue), and some will
need enhanced routine care through
the GP network of Multispecialty
Community Providers. Some of these
will need step-up care in community
hospitals (green). Only a small
proportion will need to be referred on
to the acute hospital (red).

98
50 | Community Services Plan

Index
A

K

Q

A Call to Action 14
A&E 7, 10, 21, 22, 25, 26
Acute home Visiting Service 7 ➔ AVS
7
Advanced Nurse Practitioner 6 ➔
ANP 6
Allied Health Professionals 27 ➔ AHP
27, 43
Assessment to Admit 7
Atrial Fibrillation 8, 16 ➔ AF 8

Keogh 3, 14, 27, 49 ➔ Urgent and
Emergency Care Review 14

Quality, Innovation, Productivity
and Prevention ➔ QIPP 41

L

R

Learning Lessons to Improve Care
11
Left shift 6, 23
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
5, 6, 7, 11, 13, 47 ➔ LLR 5, 11, 13, 14,
15, 21, 37
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
11 ➔ LPT 11, 42, 48
LETC 43
Local Health and Social Care
Economy 13 ➔ LHSCE 13
long-term conditions 7, 9, 16 ➔ LTCs
16, 21
Loughborough Community Hospital
6, 7 ➔ Loughborough Hospital 7

Rapid Access clinics 6

B
Better Care Fund 5, 6, 7, 37, 38 ➔
BCF 7, 14, 37, 38
Better Care Together 3, 5, 6, 7, 11,
13, 15, 17, 21, 29, 48 ➔ BCT 5, 7, 8,
11, 13, 21, 29, 37, 43

C
Charnwood 3, 11, 16, 29, 35
Community Hospitals 10, 13, 27, 29,
49
Community Services Plan 1, 5, 14,
33, 42, 47, 49
COPD 6

E
Emergency Care Practitioner 43 ➔
ECP 43
Experience Led Commissioning 39 ➔
ELC 39

F
Five Year Forward View 3, 6, 9, 14

H

M
Medical Interoperability Gateway
41 ➔ MIG 41
Multispecialty Community Provider
3, 9, 10, 27 ➔ MCP 9 ➔ Multispecialty
Community Providers 10, 27, 49
Musculoskeletal 7 ➔ MSK 7

N
NHS Constitution 14
NHS England 6, 9, 14 ➔ NHSE 6, 14
North Charnwood 3, 11, 16
North West Leicestershire 3, 16, 29,
35

O

Healthwatch bodies 13
Heart Failure 6, 8, 16 ➔ HF 8
Hinckley & Bosworth 3, 11, 16, 29

Older Persons Unit 7
Out of Hours ➔ OOH 35
Operational Plan 3, 5
Out of Hospital Service 6

I

P

Information Technology 23, 40
Intensive Community Support 6

J
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
14
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 3,
17 ➔ JSNA 3, 17

Version 3.0: Publication

Potential Years of Life Lost 16 ➔
PYLL 16
Primary and Acute Systems 9 ➔ PACS
9
Primary Medical Care Plan 3, 5, 6 ➔
PMCP 6
Programme Management Office 47
➔ PMO 47

S
Settings of Care 3, 27, 29, 30, 49
South Charnwood 3, 16

U
University Hospitals of Leicester 11,
18, 29 ➔ UHL 8, 11, 29, 42, 48
Urgent Care Centre 6, 7, 35 ➔ UCC 6

W
West Leicestershire CCG 2, 5, 7, 16,
17, 47 ➔ WLCCG 2, 5, 6, 7, 8
Workforce Enabling Group 43

99

Agenda Item 8

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY
SERVICES
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES (SEND)
REFORM UPDATE
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the
progress to date in regards to the implementation of SEND reform as part of the
Children and Families Act.

2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
a.

Note the current progress in implementing SEND reform, particularly in
relation to the integrated working and contribution made by health
professionals;

b.

Note the consultation by Ofsted and Care Quality Commission CQC to
develop a specific framework to inspect local areas from spring 2016.

Link to Better Care Together
Work stream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young
people

Relevance Work stream
Yes
Mental health

Long term conditions

Yes

Urgent care
Learning disabilities

Relevance
Yes

Frail and older people
Planned care

Yes

End of life

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3.

The Children and Families Act received Royal Assent on 13 March 2014. Part 3
of the Children and Families Act outlines new responsibilities across education,
health and social care for children and young people with special educational
needs and disability. This includes a new Code of Practice which was reissued
in January 2015.

100

4.

The Children and Families Act 2014 has major implications for how the NHS
commissioners and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) organise and
deliver services to children and young people who have a Special Education
Need and/or Disability between the ages of 0 and 25. It has reformed the
system of support across education, health and social care to ensure that
services are organised with the needs and preferences of the child and their
family firmly at the centre, from birth to the transition to adulthood.

5.

It is expected that all partners will work together to deliver a person-centred
approach that is outcome focused through:
•
•
•
•
•

6.

Included is the requirement for CCGs to:
•
•
•
•

7.

Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans and assessment processes;
A Local Offer;
Personal Budgets offered in EHC plans;
Mediation and dispute resolution arrangements;
Joint commissioning arrangements.

Commission services jointly for children and young people (up to 25) with
SEND, including those with EHC plans;
Work with the local authority to contribute to the Local Offer services
available;
Have mechanisms in place to ensure practitioners and clinicians will support
the integrated EHC needs assessment processes;
Agree Personal Budgets where they are provided for those with EHC plans.
At previous meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board, papers were provided
that set out information about the Children and Families Act and within it, the
revised Code of Practice for Special Educational Needs and Disability. At the
meeting on 15 March 2015 the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to consider
the key questions outlined in the Department of Health’s guidance and a
working party was set up. At the July meeting the intention of OFSTED to
establish a local area inspection format was highlighted and an internal audit by
the council’s own audit team of the implementation of SEND reform gave
‘substantial’ reassurance that reform was on track with some recommended
areas where attention needed to be focussed.

Background
8.

Leicestershire places a high priority on improving the outcomes and raising
aspirations for all children and young people aged 0-25 with special educational
needs and disability. 16.25% of Leicestershire children of school age have a
special educational need, compared to 17.9% nationally of school age children
and young people who are identified as having a special educational need
and/or disability. The vision for all children is that they live in safe and thriving
communities where they enjoy good health and wellbeing and achieve their
potential.

101

9.

Locally, the reform has been planned in two phases with an implementation
time of three years to 2018. Phase one focused on meeting the initial
milestones for September 2014. These were met in Leicestershire and this was
reported to the Board in January 2015. Phase two is a longer period of time
focusing on the cultural shift which underpins the reform. Fundamental to the
success is the joint commissioning and accountability of health, education and
social care professionals at strategic and operational level.

10. Across this group of young people 0-25 there is a diverse range of health
needs, which include children and young people with long term health
conditions, children and young people with autism, children and young people
with sensory impairments and children and young people with mental health
issues. It also includes children and young people with multiple and complex
needs who may be dependent on technology, children and young people with
behaviour that challenges and children and young people with a life-threatening
or life-limiting condition.
11. Meeting these health needs requires a range of different health services. The
emphasis is to create a system whereby the services for children are
integrated. These then support children and young people with SEND, and their
families, to make decisions about their care and adequately support them
during the transition to adult services.
Current Position
12. Local Offer: The local offer has been developed in accordance with the core
information as set out in the Code of Practice. Further work is now underway to
develop a more user friendly website and to link this with the online project for
the County Council website.
13. Education Health and Care plans: The conversion of statements into Education,
Health and Care plans is on track and these have been positively received by
children and families. Work is underway to ensure that contributions from health
and social care partners are received promptly. This was highlighted as a
concern in feedback from Leicestershire Family Voice as part of the audit
process referred to above. As a consequence of feedback from schools and
DfE survey highlighting that the coordination of new assessments across
education health and social care were not leading to a holistic approach, the
council has appointed three education health and care plan facilitators for a 2
year period to focus on;•
•
•
•
•

Children and young adults either in care or receiving a social care service;
Coordinating advice from social care and health;
Planning the coordination of reviews across social care, health and education
in accordance with expectations set out in the SEND code of practice;
Embed person centred planning and outcome focused working across
education, health and social care practitioner;
Enable these new ways of working to be sustainable without the facilitators
input in two years’ time.

102

At the same time, Leicestershire Partnership Trust is resourcing two SEND
leads to further embed SEND reform across health commissioned services.
14. The Health and Wellbeing Board should also note the consultation for children’s
continuing care, within which, Education Health and Care plan information
becomes highly significant to inform decisions for health commissioning. It
should also be noted that there is a requirement when Health are making these
decisions that it should be in the forum of a multi-disciplinary group that
includes local authority representation;"The decision-making phase involves a multidisciplinary, multi-agency forum or
panel making a decision as to whether or not the child or young person has a
continuing care need. They decide on the recommendations and costed options
put forward by the assessor. The CCG must ensure that the panel has the input
of the local authority and other key partners."
CCGs therefore will need to reconsider the current complex care panel. At the
same time, the local authority will need to consider its own decision making
processes where health representation is required to ensure a consistent and
singular approach to not only children with special educational needs but other
vulnerable groups requiring a joined up approach for the 0 to25 year’s age
range.
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/continuing-care-for-children-and-young-people-with-complex-needs

15. Joint Commissioning: Following on from the above, the Children and Families
Act and SEND Code of Practice is explicit in requiring local governance
arrangements to be in place to ensure clear accountability for commissioning
services for children with special educational needs and disabilities from birth to
the age of 25. There must be clear decision making structures so that partners
can agree the changes that joint commissioning will bring in the design of
services. This will help ensure that joint commissioning is focused on achieving
agreed outcomes. Partners must also be clear about who is delivering what,
who the decision makers are in education, health and social care, and how
partners will hold each other to account in the event of a disagreement. The
partners must be able to make a decision on how they will meet the needs of
children and young people with special educational needs or disabilities.
16. In respect of joint commissioning there are a number of areas that are being
progressed. Discussions have been taking place with the lead commissioner for
the Clinical Commissioning Groups and work has commenced on the
development of a framework for future joint commissioning. The framework will
set out how services will be planned and commissioned across the Council and
the CCGs, based on engagement and co-production with children, young
people and families which have influenced commissioning decisions. Again, in
order to ensure inclusivity of children and young people with special
educational needs alongside other vulnerable groups, there is agreement
between the local authority and CCG commissioning leads that a single joint
commissioning plan will be draw up that takes into account the statutory

103

responsibility of a joint SEND commissioning plan within the context of a single
local authority and health commissioning framework.
17. The initial steps in this are to establish a range of data which informs the needs
assessment and the current range and expenditure on services commissioned
across health and local authority that targets vulnerable and SEND children and
young people. This will help to define where there are gaps in service or lack of
equity across the county (services may not be available in some areas).
18. Personal Budgets: There has been limited progress with the development of
personal budgets. More recently there has been financial modelling to consider
ways in which social care and education budgets can be more aligned. The
NHS is developing a personal budget offer. The system to deliver personal
health budgets for those children and young people who have continuing health
care has been agreed with colleagues in adult services. This will ensure
consistency for young people who move into adult services. Further work is
now required in relation to broadening the offer of personal health budgets and
the links to the Education, Health and Care Plans. Once these are signed off by
all relevant parties, the framework will act as the catalyst to fundamentally
change the way in which services are commissioned in the future for children
and young people with complex conditions or SEND. There remains work to do
to ensure that the education and social care elements of the budgets are fully
modelled and understood as part of this developmental process.
19. The Council is in receipt of a one off grant from the DfE of £33K to improve
employment opportunities for young adults with a disability. Work has started
with Leicester and Leicestershire Economic Partnership, schools and colleges.
Support has been brokered from ‘In Need', a national organisation that
specialises in;(i) Engaging employers in a region to develop further the employment,
apprenticeships and traineeship offer;
(ii) Training schools and colleges to be able to sustain and develop links with
employers; and
(iii) Enabling schools and colleges to have in place suitable support and
curriculum opportunities that enable young adults to access work.
This grant is overseen by Preparing for Adulthood on behalf of the DfE.
Preparing for Adulthood have visited Leicestershire and ratified this approach,
especially that investment is on establishing a sustainable model as opposed to
a time limited offer for which a limited number of young people would benefit.
20. Attached is a summary of the project to date and the status to which the various
requirements have been met. The conclusion of the SEND project board is that
as a discrete transformation project (T16), it has fulfilled its objectives. At the
same time there are SEND initiatives that are being developed that fall outside
of the SEND reform project that now need coordinating as part of the Children
and Family Service overall transformation e.g. school place planning for SEND,
school improvement initiatives for SEND pupils. To help make this change
effective, fit in with the councils organisational change agenda and specifically
the whole life disability project and the inherent links to the Care Act 2014 and

104

Better Care Together initiatives, Lesley Hagger, the Director for Children and
Family Services, is now the project sponsor.
21. There remain a number of specific SEND reform project areas outstanding that
can categorised as below;Move to business as normal;•

•

SEND data collection and analysis: This is now part of the local authority’s
Data and Business intelligence enabler, which includes links to accessing
health data where necessary.
Local Offer: will be fully established by new year and needs a business
owner within the council to be maintained

Improve current SEND reform initiatives that are now part of business as
usual;•

•

•

•

SEND Advice and Information Service: fulfil the requirements set out in the
SEND Code of practice in full. However this is reliant upon the current DfE
grant for independent support and advice which is ending at the end of this
financial year. As this activity is embedded within Early Help services, then
this part of the T4 Early Help project for which transformation unit input is
being allocated.
Education, Health and Care Plan and Assessment Pathway: will have
investment from the EHC Plan facilitators. In addition work is being
initiated to review the current criteria for statutory assessment for a plan
and better coordinate social care advice.
Co-production with parents and carers: needs to further develop. The local
parents and carers forum, Leicestershire family voice, and their executive
group are an invaluable resource for ensuring co-production. However,
practice needs to be further developed to ensure that all SEND specific
and SEND related activity when being re designed or commissioned are
utilising Leicestershire Family Voice as well as parent and carers to ensure
best practice for co-production.
Learning and Development offer for ongoing SEND training and support to
practitioner: needs to evolve further. Recommendations are being drawn
up as part of the SEND project that will need to be adopted. It should be
noted that learning and development opportunities are increasing being
devised and developed independently of the local authority by schools
working in partnership e.g. Teaching Schools Alliances, which the Council
actively encourages.

Complete outstanding SEND project deliverables yet to be concluded;•

•

Personal budgets and Joint Commissioning Plan: remains at the early
stages of development and needs ongoing work and coordination across
education, health and social care in both the children’s and adults sectors
Young people’s engagement: is an area where there has been
considerable activity across the SEND project. However, this now needs to
be embedded into the Council’s young people voice and engagement to

105

•

•

ensure the full inclusion of young people with disabilities are taken into
account.
Preparing for adulthood and the specific outcomes of improving young
adults outcomes in terms of being healthy, having relationships in their
community, being employed, being independent and safe: These are all
part of the longer term cultural shift implicit within the Children’s and
Families Act whereby it is acknowledged this is both cross cutting and will
take time.
Conclude the review of the Specialist Teaching Service

22. Ofsted inspection of SEND reform: Edward Timpson MP, Children and
Families Minister, has invited Ofsted to formally inspect local areas on their
effectiveness in fulfilling their new duties. They will do this along with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) and a local authority officer. This request follows
the advice provided to the Department for Education by Ofsted on local areas’
preparation for the disability and special educational needs reforms within the
Children and Families Act, 2014. All local areas will be inspected over a fiveyear period. The first inspections will commence in May 2016.

23. A consultation has now been initiated, see link below.
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-area-send-consultation
From this and previous documentation, the framework for this new inspection
has been developed by Ofsted and CQC and the intention is to focus on how
local areas have self-evaluated their understanding of their responsibilities for
disabled children and those with special educational needs. Inspectors will test
out the evidence that the local area uses in its self-evaluation of how effectively
it meets its responsibilities.
24. While the local authority has the key leadership role within its area, the
inspection will not simply evaluate the effectiveness of the local authority.
Successful implementation of SEND reform requires full involvement of the
local area. The inspection will evaluate the effectiveness of the local area as a
whole, which includes the local authority, clinical commissioning groups (CCGs)
and NHS England (for specialist services), early year’s settings, schools and
the further education sector. The focus will be on how well these partnerships
work together to identify children and young people early and appropriately,
meeting needs and improving outcomes.
25. Although the inspection will take into account all children and young people with
special educational needs and disability, the evaluation of social care and
health responsibilities will focus on how these services have contributed to
meeting the needs of children and young people who are being assessed, or
have, education, health and care plan. This evaluation does not extend to a
broad inspection of these services’ responsibilities for all children and young
people who have disabilities and special educational needs.

106

26. The consultation documentation sets out the process for the local area
inspection and the proposed arrangements for the inspection are as follows:
a. All local areas will be inspected over a five day period, with a two day notice
being delivered to the Director of Children’s Services and Chief Executive of
the Clinical Commissioning Group.
b. Inspection teams will include a HMI, a CQC inspector and a local authority
inspector.
c. Inspectors will review available national data as part of their preparation,
including within area inspection outcomes from CQC and Ofsted.
d. Inspectors will meet key managers and leaders from the area’s education,
health and social care services.
e. Visit a number of early year’s settings, schools and further education
providers to discuss with senior leaders and governors how the local area
fulfils its responsibilities and how they contribute to these.
f. Visit health settings, where inspectors will discuss with managers and
practitioners how the local area fulfils its responsibilities and how they
contribute to this and contribute to assessments and education, health and
care plans.
g. Meet children and young people, and parents and carers to get their views
of how effectively the area fulfils its responsibilities.
27. The consultation sets out four proposals that can be summarised as follows;Proposal 1: Inspectors will evaluate how effectively the local area identifies
disabled children and young people, and those who have special educational
needs.
Proposal 2: Inspectors will evaluate how effectively the local area meets the
needs and improves the outcomes of disabled children and young people, and
those who have special educational needs.
Proposal 3: A wide range of information will be used to evaluate the
effectiveness of local area arrangements to identify disabled children and
young people or those who have special educational needs; and to meet their
needs and improve their outcomes.
Proposal 4: A wide range of ways will be used during the inspection to obtain
the views of disabled children and young people, and those who have special
educational needs, and their parents and carers.
28. Ofsted and CQC will publish an inspection report in the form of an outcome
letter that will be sent to the local authority in its lead role for the local area. It is
clear that a successful inspection will depend upon demonstrable improved
outcomes for children and young adults with SEND and that this has been

107

achieved through an the integrated approach and shared accountability of
education, health and social care professionals and organisations
29. Key dates;• Consultation ends: 4 January 2016
• Consultation outcomes published: early 2016
• Dissemination workshops for local areas by Ofsted and CQC: autumn 2015 –
spring 2016
• Launch of inspection programme: May 2016
It will be important to ensure that representatives from all three professional
groups attend training and briefings leading to the implementation of this
framework during autumn and spring.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
30. Listening to children and families is at the heart of SEND reform. There has
been good engagement with the parents and carers forum, for example in coproducing the one page profile/SEND support plans that are the basis of an
Education, Health and Care plan. Leicestershire Family Voice, who are funded
by the DfE via the charity Contact a Family to act as the Parent and Carers
forum for Leicestershire, have been commissioned for additional activity to
enhance co-production and establish a network of SEND voluntary groups.
Resource Implications
31. SEND reform is supported by an implementation grant totalling £1,598,477.
This has been used to establish a project team and development programme.
The SEND reform brings with it additional burdens for which no additional
resource has been identified in council or direct schools grant funding. The
SEND project is timetabled to conclude on 31 March 2016, at which point these
additional burdens will be part of business as normal operating across
education social care and health services. The project team is now looking at a
plan for transition to business as usual by March 2016.
Conclusions/Recommendations
32. SEND reform continues to progress well and there has been increased
engagement between education, health and social care professionals over the
key issues of joint commissioning and personal budgets.
33. The Health and Wellbeing Board will need assurance that this progress
continues to create the cultural shift which is fundamental to the success of
reform and that operational and strategic plans by CCGs and the local authority
give the priority to SEND reform as expected in the Children and Families Act
2014.
34. Given the clear steer from OFTED and the Care Quality Commission regarding
the nature of future inspections, then it is recommended that work be initiated
across the local partners to begin a self-evaluation process

108

Background papers
SEND Code of Practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
DoH guidance Doc
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/357447/DH_HWB_children_s_guidance.pdf

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-guide-for-health-professionals
DfE guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-guide-for-social-care-professionals

OFSTED guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/416347/Accountability_Publication.pdf

Officer to Contact
Lesley Hagger, Director Children and Family’s Service Telephone: 0116 305 7813
Email: Lesley.Hagger@leics.gov.uk
Chris Bristow, Head of Strategy, SEND Reform
Telephone: 0116 305 6767
Email: chris.bristow@leics.gov.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
35. This paper is for information and not requiring an impact assessment. However,
the right of children and young adults with special educational needs and /or
disability needs to be considered in full by commissioners to ensure their needs
are taken into account when determining commissioning priorities and plans to
ensure there is no direct or indirect discrimination.
Crime and Disorder Implications
36. The incidence of people with a disability, particularly those with learning
difficulties or mental health difficulties either being the victims of reported (and
unreported crime is significantly higher than average. Equally, those with
disabilities report that they experience barriers to accessing redress or support
from the justice system.
Environmental Implications
37. The SEND reform focus on preparing for adulthood and specifically
‘independence’ and ‘relationships in the local community’ should enable adults
with disability to remain in their local community and therefore lower their
carbon foot print.

109

Partnership Working and associated issues
37. The legal framework requires local authorities and their partner commissioning
bodies to develop joint arrangements for commissioning services to improve
outcomes for 0 to 25-year-old children and young people who have special
educational needs (SEN) or disabilities, including those with Education Health
and Care (EHC) plans. Section 25 of the Children and Families Act 2014 places
a duty on local authorities that should ensure integration between educational
and training provision, health and social care provision, where this will promote
wellbeing and improve the quality of provision for disabled young people and
those with SEN. The Care Act 2014 requires local authorities to ensure cooperation between children’s and adults’ services to promote the integration of
care and support with health services, so that young adults experience
continuous care and support as they make the transition from children’s to adult
social care.
38. Local authorities and clinical commissioning groups must make joint
commissioning arrangements for education, health and care provision for
children and young people with SEN or disabilities (Section 26 of the Act). The
term ‘partners’ refers to the local authority and its partner commissioning bodies
across education, health and social care provision for children and young
people with SEN or disabilities, including clinicians’ commissioning
arrangements, and NHS England for specialist health provision.

110

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
Deliverable
Mediation and dispute
arrangements in place

Products
resolution

Complete?

Requirements outlined to inform tender
specification
Tender submissions evaluated

Business owner

Information published on the local offer
• Manage Leicestershire’s mediation and dispute resolution contract
• Contribute to regional network in relation to the contract
• Ensure information published on the local offer is kept up-to-date
Marian Sutton (SENA)

Young offenders pathway

Young offenders pathway

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

•

Business owner

Chris Thomas (Head of Service youth offending)

To support changes to advice and
information services for young people
with SEND and their families

Establishing independent supporters via Core
Assets

111

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

- Currently trying to ensure information is
published online
Continue to optimise the process that has been put in place

Requirements for a single point of access outlined

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

Business owner

Attend regular review meetings with core assets and continue to work closely with them to ensure
independent advice to families is facilitated and maximised
• To develop a single point of access for advice
• Continue to provide families with independent advice in relation to SEND
Marian Sutton (SENA) – to liaise with Core Assets in relation to independent supporters
Penny Pugh (Locality Manager)- to manage advice provided to families by SENDIASS
•

1

Joint commissioning

Joint commissioning arrangements between health,
education and social care which will culminate into
a joint commissioning strategy

Still developing as part of the whole of Children and
Families joint commissioning arrangements

Demands and Needs analysis
Information sharing agreement with GEM
Considered as part of the projects involvement with
the Dbi enabler. The project is involved in a national
pilot of POET between September-December 15.
Outcomes star is being considered as a long-term
solution for generating outcomes data
• Continue to develop a joint commissioning strategy across C+F- this is evolving
• To use Dbi enabler work to understand gaps in data and to work with service managers to
address how missing data can be captured and to identify systems that will support this (i.e. where
data should be stored)
• To work closely with research and insight colleagues to ensure resources continue to be available
to analyse data to inform commissioning arrangements
• To support EHC plan facilitators to gather outcomes data using the outcomes star tool
• Utilise the local offer to determine demand and need, commissioning gaps and market
development
Chris Bristow (Strategic lead SEND reforms)
Outcomes data

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

112

Business owner

No owner currently identified for utilising the local offer to inform commissioning arrangements.
Decision at meeting between Neil Hanney, Michelle Nicholls and Chris Bristow (2/9/15), that
Michelle as part of admin review, would lead the establishment of the SEND business support team
as per ‘future design model’ as approved by transformation board. Part of this review will include
identifying resource and capacity for this local offer role. In the first instance this will involve the
amalgamation of the admin/support functions across psychology/STS and SENA.
Other resources:
Research and Insight – to support the business in gathering data that is not currently recorded
Michelle Nicholls (business support) – to ensure that the systems are in place for data storage
Mark Cast (early help) - will manage EHC plan facilitators to gather outcomes data using the outcomes
star tool

2

Workforce development
Training needs analysis
Training strategy
Formal training (2 days)
Facilitation and 1-1 support
Training evaluation
E-learning/guidance materials
What does the business need to do as
business as usual?
Business owner

113

• Learning and development to include elements of SEND training within their existing training offer
• To identify a nominated person to review online documents and ensure they are up-to-date
• LEEP to continue to develop the idea of ‘SEND champions’ to support work around SEND
Liz Dunn ((Team manager Learning and Development)- to ensure the corporate training offer includes key
messages in relation to SEND
Lisa J Morgan (School Effectiveness Officer)- to develop SEND champions within the LEEP forum
No owner currently identified for maintaining online training documents- this could be a role for
the SEND business support team following review with input from EHC plan facilitators to provide
subject matter knowledge

3

EHC plans and assessment

Conversion strategy for migrating young people
with existing statements of SEN to the new plans
Assessment process outlined
Template forms/plans
Information sharing process
Review process
EHC eligibility policy

A consultant has been identified to undertake this
piece of work

‘Single view’ of a child requirements/SEND portal

EHC plan facilitators

Business owner

114

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

In progress
Capita update
• To continue to keep documentation up-to-date in line with statutory guidance and to support
practitioners in completing and returning information required by SENA
• To support EHC plan facilitators in ensuring cultural change
• To develop a process for sharing EHC plan information with GPs
• To optimise capita for storing EHC plan information
• To develop a system for recording ‘outcomes’ information once a process is in place for obtaining
outcomes information from young people (i.e. outcomes star)
• To continue to explore options allowing a ‘single view’ of a child such as implementation of the
SEND portal. SENA will manage the SEND portal as BAU as a means for sharing information with
families and professionals across education, health and social care
• To support the implementation of new guidance for social care in providing advice for EHC plans
Marian Sutton (SENA)
Other resources:
Mark Cast (Early Help) – to manage EHC plan facilitators
Michelle Nicholls (Business support) – to support single view requirements

4

Local offer

Content requirements

- Content is currently being updated

Settings minimum offer
SEN information report e-form
Accessibility strategy
Design & functionality requirements
Database (following RFQ)
Feedback mechanism (your voice comments and
surveys)
User acceptance testing/piloting
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

115

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

In progress

Manage ongoing revenue costs for the local offer database £5K per annum
Monitor information submitted by settings using SEN information report e-forms and managing any
related queries
Maintenance of the local offer database and ensuring that providers populate this
Publishing comments made by families and professionals on the ‘your voice’ area of the local offer
and responded to at least annually (as a statutory obligation), providing quarterly reports of survey
responses to Strategic lead for SEND reforms
Ensuring that settings minimum offers remain up-to-date
Ensuring that the accessibility strategy for the local offer remains up-to-date
Ensuring pdf documents are presented in an accessible format
Ownership of the front pages of the local offer and ensuring that these remain up-to-date- content
designer to confirm whether these will still exist following content review.

5

Business owner

Michelle Nicholls (Business support)- Pratik Desai to support maintenance of database and ensuring that
providers populate this, monitoring and responding to feedback provided via ‘your voice’ (with support from
SMEs) and converting pdfs into an accessible format
Other resources:
Early years will pay £1.5K of the annual local offer database revenue costs
Relevant service manages will ensure settings minimum offers are kept up-to-date
Business owner required for:
- Providing quarterly reports of survey responses to strategic lead for SEND reforms- this could be a
role for research and insight
- Responsibility for ensuring the accessibility strategy for the local offer remains up-to-date
- Monitoring information submitted by settings using SEN information report e-forms and managing
any related queries
Local offer front pages- however clarity is required from the content designer as to whether these
will remain as part of the redeveloped local offer- Pratik Desai/business support will continue
to provide ‘technical support’ as currently. Admin review as referred to above will provide
capacity to fulfil this function

-

Ongoing revenue costs minus early years contribution – this stands at £3.5K per annum,Chris
Bristow has contacted jenny Lawrence to see how C&F budget can be top sliced to meet
this short fall in funding

116

-

6

Personal budgets

Demand analysis

In progress

Unit costing/banding

In progress

SEN transport personal budget

Planning underway to commence a pilot September
2016

Assessment model established across education,
health and social care

Strategic vision and scope required

Coordinated and transparent allocation system
(reflective of ACS principles)

Strategic vision and scope required

Requirements for and implementation of a payment
administration and monitoring system
Policy/guidance

Implementation/testing strategy

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

Business owner

Will be reviewed to reflect new developments

117

Support for managing personal budgets

Strategic vision and scope required

part of ACS contract
To do

To do
Testing/piloting/training
• The business will need to manage the new process for education personal budgets which will
involve a banding system- further details to be confirmed
• The business will need to manage the new allocation system for children’s social care- this may
include inputting data into a spreadsheet or ICT system to calculate personal budget allocation
• The business may need to utilise new systems in administering personal budget payments for
children’s social care
• To ensure that the personal budgets guidance is kept up-to-date
• To develop services that can be offered as a personal budget year on yearp[;
Ian Clarkson (Service Manager DCS) / 0-25 social care service manager
Marian Sutton (SENA)
CCG manager- TBC

7

Communications/
stakeholder engagement

Stakeholder analysis
Communications plan
Accessible information for families and professionals-

online information, case studies, publications- i.e.
newsletters, Leicestershire matters, staff matters,
briefings, e-mails, surveys/consultations, face to
face
Co-production with families

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?

118

Business owner

To continue to keep professionals and families informed of changes relating to SEND and the
reforms (i.e. development of personal budgets, STS review, the local offer)
• To continue to coproduce changes with families (i.e. ongoing role in developing the local offer and
involvement in strategic decision making such as commissioning arrangements)
None identified at this stage.
•

However it is suggested that as this is parental and young persons voice at a requirement of all
services, then this falls within the brief of ‘Voice’ work led by Michelle James and Ellie Lowe. It is
recognised that currently adopting send requirements has not been possible due to their capacity.
It therefore mean are prioritising to ensure that this statutory obligation is fulfilled as business as
normal.

8

STS review

Scope and strategic intentions
Review methodology

What does the business need to do as
business as usual?
Business owner

‘As is’ analysis

In progress

Target operating model

To do

HR action plan/consultation

To do

Implementation plan/change management strategy

To do

• This is yet to be confirmed- however the business will need to manage new operational processes
• It is recommended that commercial expertise is utilised to develop STS into a viable business
Chris Connearn and Chris Bristow (Head of Strategy vulnerable groups)

119

9

120

This page is intentionally left blank

121

Agenda Item 9

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE URGENT CARE BOARD
WINTER PLANNING ARRANGEMENTS
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the latest Winter Plan.

Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Workstream
Mental health

Long term conditions
Urgent care

Relevance

Frail and older people
*

Learning disabilities

Planned care
End of life

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

Additional funding of £1.98bn national announced in the 2014 Autumn Statement
provided certainty of funding in 2015/16, including for issues such as operational
resilience that would previously have been resourced from in-year allocations. As a
result, there will be no further in-year allocations during 2015/16. System Resilience
Groups were asked to develop local capacity and demand plans that reflected
operational resilience funding (including for winter) at the same level received in
2014/15, but funded from baseline allocations.

Background
3.

The winter plan specifically focuses on the pressures presented by winter and is
used in conjunction with the surge and escalation plan which is in place on a day to
day basis. In addition to these plans each organisation has a business continuity plan
which incorporates contingency plans for staffing and weather. These organisational
plans should incorporate contingences for known pressure periods, flu vaccination
particularly staff, assurance processes for alignment of plans and communication
strategies.

122
Proposals/Options
4.

The winter plan final version went to the Urgent Care Board on 29th October 2015,
however it still requires further up-dating by key organisations. When the plan is
complete it will be monitored by LLR Surge and Reliance Group on a monthly basis.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
5.

Consultation was undertaken via the LLR Surge and Reliance Group, whose
membership includes members of the health and social care economy and NHSE
representation.

Resource Implications
6.

None outside agreed winter monies.

Timetable for Decisions
7.

The winter plan went to the Urgent Care Board on 29th October 2015 for approval,
however it still requires further up-dating by key organisations.

Conclusions/Recommendations
8.

The winter plan has been approved by the Urgent Care Board and is now in place.
The plan will be monitored by LLR Surge and Reliance Group on a monthly basis.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Officer to Contact
Toby Sanders, Chair of the Urgent Care Board
List of Appendices
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Social Care Economy Winter Plan 2015
– 2016

123

APPENDIX

LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND
HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE ECONOMY

Winter Plan
2015 - 2016

Document Control
Document Name
Purpose of Document

Document Version Number
Document Status
Document Owner
Document Author
Last Updated Date
Contributors

LLR Surge and Resilience Management Plan 2015-2016
This document sets out the steps that are being undertaken across the
LLR health and social care community to ensure that appropriate
arrangements are in place to provide high quality and responsive
services through the winter period
V5
Draft
UCB
Jane Taylor – Emergency Care Director LLR
27/10/2015
Leicester Partnership Trust
East Midlands Ambulance Service
University Hospitals of Leicester
NHS 111 – Derbyshire Health United
Leicester Out of Hours service
Arriva Patient Transport
Social Care City
Social Care County
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
West Leicestershire CCG
Leicester City CCG
NHS England Area Team.
Leicester Urgent Care Centre
East Leicestershire & Rutland Urgent Care Centre’s
Loughborough Urgent Care Centre

124

Table of Contents

Winter Contingency
Vaccination/Flu
Assurance
Communication and Engagement Plan

125

Introduction
The winter plan specifically focuses on the pressures presented by winter and should be read in
conjunction with the surge and escalation plan which is in place on a day to day basis.
In addition to these plans each organisation has business continuity plans which incorporates
contingency plans for staffing and weather, and therefore should be considered as an adjunct to
existing resilience plans to incorporate contingences for known pressure periods, flu vaccination
particularly staff, assurance process for alignment of plans and communication strategy.

Winter Contingency
University Hospitals of Leicester
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned

Demand & Additional Capacity
The trust is modelling bed requirements for the predicted demand this winter.
Assumptions in the model for winter include:
•
•
•
•
•

6% activity growth on emergency pathway
Standard population growth
90% occupancy for emergency admissions
95% occupancy for elective activity
Activity for elective work is for contract level

This work will be completed at the end of August.

We are also transferring a small amount of elective work to the independent sector.
Workforce
We currently are running with a significant number of vacancies in qualified nursing staff across the Trust. This particularly
affects nursing in acute medicine. Fortnightly recruitment meetings are taking place in areas of specific shortage with
recruitment modelled against workforce plans. Papers have gone to Trust Board recently to provide assurance about the
recruitment campaign.
Maintaining patient safety – managing peaks in demand safely
There are three performance monitoring processes in place to ensure that ED quality of care is monitored weekly :•
A weekly report to Director of Nursing, City CCG, where performance is less that 80% in ED
•
A weekly monitoring of the Quality metrics as part of EQSG dashboard
•
A UCB paper indicates how the CCG will ensure the quality of service in the ED using current metrics and unannounced
visits. The focus will be on the overall care and the care for patients experiencing long delays
•
There is a hospital escalation plan with alerts at each stage to ensure actions are taken to maintain patient safety and

126

It is felt unlikely at this stage that UHL will have sufficient funded capacity (beds) to cope with expected winter pressures. This
may have an impact on performance (4hr) and occupancy levels. One ward is shut at the LRI and one ward is shut at GGH but
there are no plans to reopen these beds because of staffing and financial shortfalls.

•
•

quality.
The Director of Nursing has required ED to identify additional staff to undertake hourly rounding and care-makers for
all patients throughout winter
Safety in the ED, on the wards in medicine and in any outlying areas is monitored especially closely at times of
excessive activity by additional safety walkabout visits by matrons and senior managers

Christmas and New Year arrangements
Agreements have been made with all clinical areas on staffing levels needed for the Christmas/New Year period.
UHL will have a detailed winter staffing plan in a draft format by the end of October. The plan will indicate the staffing for each
area and will be assessed against the admission and discharge profile for the last three years.
The trust is working with external partners to develop a pan-health economy plan for Christmas and New Year.
Focus from discharge team to deliver an effective board rounds across all wards. Increase presence of therapy, discharge
response team and partnership working to focus on timely discharge. Senior consultants presence within assessment bay and
across all admission wards to focus on admission avoidance. Increased consultant presence within ESM at weekends and over
bank holiday again to focus on discharge and review of acutely ill patients. Utilisation of senior corporate nursing team and
matrons across all specialities to provide robust nurse presence. Increase presence of Senior managers throughout weekends
and bank holidays providing leadership.

Leicestershire Partnership Trust
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned

Surges in demand on the health and social care community can occur at any time of the year. In response Leicestershire
Partnership NHS Trust’s (LPT) divisions have plans and processes in place to respond to these surges.
The winter period can still present particular challenges to LPT and the wider health community through the impacts of periods
of disruptive severe winter weather and outbreaks of infectious diseases such as seasonal influenza.
Community Health Services
LPT’s Community Health Services (CHS) provides rehabilitation, palliative and end of life care within inpatient care across
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. The community nursing service provides 24 hour nursing care in the community. This
includes routine planned care as well as urgent unplanned care. Nurses deliver care in people's own homes for those who are
housebound, and in GP practices, health centres and community hospital clinics for those who are mobile.
Processes are in place throughout the year under the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Health and Social Care
Economy surge and Resilience Management Plan, to ensure patient flow and available capacity. Within CHS, previous years
have highlighted periods of ‘winter pressure’ at various times through the year. CHS processes have been developed to ensure
constant and sustainable monitoring and action to respond to these pressures.

127

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

Additional winter funding has supported an increase in the number of staff and hours of service for the in-reach Primary Care
Co-ordinaters, including a deployment of the service into the Glenfield site. It is anticipated this will increase both the number
and speed patients are identified and moved out of the acute an into the care of the community services.
An additional 150 Intensive Community Support beds are coming on line in a staged approach over the winter to support
additional community based care for sub-acute patients.
Additional winter funding is enabling increased therapy support from October 2015 to March 2016 to reduce the community
hospital in-patient length of stay, improve patient experience and improve the therapy response rate for community based
patients.
Community Health Services Older Persons Unit
The OPU has been established in a specialist unit at Loughborough Hospital. It is open Monday to Friday 0900hrs to 1700hrs. It
provides General Practitioners and other clinicians namely EMAS and the Acute Visiting Service with an alternative method of
obtaining a comprehensive Geriatric assessment as opposed to being admitted to the acute sector for patients who are
perceived as being pre-hospital admission. In addition it provides diagnostics for frail older people and telephone advice,
guidance and support to GP’s and other healthcare professionals.

Adult Mental Health & Learning Disability (AMH) provides services for those with learning disabilities, acute and enduring
mental health conditions – such as bi-polar disorder, schizophrenia, severe depression, personality disorder, dual diagnosis and
Asperger’s/autistic spectrum - across LLR through in-patient and community based services.
Under Adult Mental Health Division’s Quality Improvement Plan a number of workstreams are being followed with the aim of
achieving high quality acute mental health services across the division. This includes access to in-patients, crisis support and
community care. This is an ongoing initiative with a Quality Improvement Programme Board having final agreement on the
work.
The Adult Mental Health division does not typically experience an increase in pressure on service delivery during winter. In the
event of an increase in demand, the division would follow its escalation plan and out of area protocol to ensure there is
continuity of care
Families, Young People and Children’s Services
Families, Young People and Children’s Services (FYPC) Ward 3 is a 10 bed in-patient unit for young people between the ages of
11 - 18 who are experiencing mental health problems. The service provides assessment, treatment and diagnosis of a range of
conditions including, psychosis, depression, anxiety related disorders, behavioural disturbances, eating disorders and learning
disability associated with mental health. The team consists of trained psychiatric nurses, psychiatrists, occupational therapists,
family therapist, teachers and psychologists. Where demand outstrips capacity, the team work with NHS England to would seek

128

Adult Mental Health & Learning Disability

to place a service user in an out of area bed or look to local contingency arrangements to ensure safety.
The Diana Specialist Childrens Community Team provides a service from 8 am – 8 pm 7 days a week. The service offers a range
of interventions to ensure children and young people with life limiting, long term or acute need can have access to care in the
community, either through home, school or clinic visits which are scheduled on a daily basis. The Diana Nurses provide
discharge liaison support for children and young people who are in UHL and need safe discharge package of care home.
Families, Young People and Children’s services do not typically experience an increase in pressure on service delivery during
winter. Processes as outline above would be utilised to respond to increases on service delivery.
Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

Increase in Advanced Nurse Practitioner (ANP) and therapist on Community Hospital Wards during extended holiday periods
and periods of surge. This could include weekend therapy to support the review and rehabilitation for patients to facilitate
earlier discharge and additional ANP to ensure instigation and review of medical management plans to reduce length of stay
and facilitate discharge.
Increase in Primary Care Coordinators within ED and UHL wards to deflect patients and support discharge during times of peak
activity.

CNCS Out of Hours
•

Planned

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Year on Year demand analysis has identified a 15.5% increase in volume each month for both November and
December, a 21.5% increase in January, a 5.4% increase in February and decrease of 3.5% in March YOY. This has led
to a focussed plan development of the winter rota from November 2015 to March 2016. Resources will be increased in
specific areas of the operation at predetermined times in line with predicted demand levels;
o Use of a supernumery GP to re-triage in order to restrict and reduce volumes within pressure points of the
operation e.g. volume of home and base visits, which were identified at initial triage
o Use of Pharmacist to manage repeat prescriptions, thus reducing workload on GPs
o Extension of the use of laptops for remote / home triage by GPs to assist in supporting and managing volume
during peak periods.
Additional resources are planned for all Bank Holidays, including associated weekends, and consideration is given in
regards to staff availability following these periods of increased requirement.
Annual leave is restricted during known pressure periods and sickness is closely managed in line with CNCS Policy.
CNCS operate a leave ban period over the festive season.
An active list of Doctors who are willing to be contacted at short notice. A more formal process of on-call
enhancement, rota fulfilment / remuneration will be in place in order to robustly manage GPs rota fulfilment
Implementation of extended GP hours and LUCC (extend GP coverage until 10pm weekdays and 10am-10pm at
weekends
Arrangements are in place that facilitate collaborative working with NHS 111 to support clinical assessment where
needed.
Corporate and site business continuity plans have been revised and changes implemented in advance of the peak
volume period
A corporate winter planning data gathering process has been devised to ensure that detailed and accurate granular

129

What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

data is collected throughout the current year. Planning meetings to be scheduled to review output from current year in
April with subsequent planning meetings throughout the summer in preparation of next year’s planning process
NOTE: We are limited to the amount of staff that we can have working in various locations due to space restrictions
• Further additional resources can be deployed in all areas of the operation; this will however require additional space
and physical resources.
• For GP Assessment – additional space is limited at Fosse House, further extend use of home triage via laptop
• For Face to Face Clinic Appointments – additional space would be needed at Clinic 4, LRI
• For Home Visiting – additional 4x4 vehicle(s) have been requested through winter pressures money

NHS 111
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

For the two week Christmas period all annual leave during this period is cancelled.
Agreements are in place with reputable nursing agencies to provide additional NHS Pathways support if required.
Home working of Nurse Advisors is currently being piloted and it is anticipated that this initiative will support additional
resource at peak periods.
GPs could be brought into the service to support the Nurse Advisor queue with senior support

130

Planned

Historical data from the previous 2 years LLR NHS 111 service demand has been reviewed and analysed to predict call volumes
for 2015/16 winter period. These volumes have been reviewed by the DHU Operational Team and approved by CCG
Commissioners. Additional resources are planned and being recruited to for the winter due to the increase in call volumes
predicted.

ELR UCC’S
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

•

Run with full staffing levels
Export additional staffing from other areas if needed to help to support
Recruitment planned for more staff on bank contracts in order to support additional hours

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Continue to use agency staff to help to support existing team
Direct booking from 111
Annual leave embargo over peak times
List of clinician available to work at short notice
Limited to number of staff able to work at one time due to space restrictions within the centres
Recruitment drive in place
Pilot with 111 to ensure direct booking working adequately
Clinical manager on call 24/7
Operational manager on call 24/7

•
•

LOUGHBOROUGH UCC
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

131

Planned

Loughborough urgent care centre operates 24 hours a day 365 days and will be enhanced from 1st November 2015 by a team
of doctors with a specialist interest in emergency medicine who will be on duty 9 am to 10pm Monday to Friday, 10am to
10pm at weekends
The doctors will also be on duty during Bank Holiday periods;
– Christmas Day (Friday 25th December) and Monday 28th December 2015
– New Year’s Day (Friday 1st January 2016)
– Good Friday (25th March 2016)
– Easter Monday (Monday 28th March 2016)
The Diagnostics available include Near patient blood testing for BNP, C-Reactive Protein, D-Dimer, Troponin, INR, FBC, blood
gases, full range of U&Es and liver function tests offering immediate results for the clinicians to support their decision making
X-ray, ECG and access to secondary care specialists
The range of new complex pathways that this enhanced team can manage include
– Low severity pneumonia / lower respiratory chest infection
– Congestive Heart Failure (CHF)
– UTI and blocked catheter
– Diabetic emergencies
– Hyperkalaemia
– Asthma
– Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)
– Gastroenteritis and dehydration
Ensuring the effective implementation of these pathways require good communication with a range of providers but especially
with 111 and the EMAS CAT team and paramedics so that they are familiar with the new offer and use LUCC as an alternative
to ED. Additional support such as specialist advise from pneumonia and heart failure teams at Glenfield hospital will enhance
the expertise of the team at LUCC as well as ensuring patient safety

Arriva PTS
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Rotas planned against last year’s demand in line with Commissioned arrangements. However funding not supporting
additional capacity.
Recruitment planned for more staff on zero hours in order to support additional hours
Agency and third party support is in place for additional support when required
Surge and demand plan developed
Arriva Transport is mapping resource to the activity of previous winter demand profiles, therefore ensuring operational
rota patterns will reflect previous actual demand as opposed to forecast demand
Arriva Transport is working closely with LRI, this includes an additional Locality Manager role on site to support
operational peak and ensure there is a joined up approach to local responsiveness between our control and
communications centre and operational resources. This enhanced managerial focus was implemented on 1st October
2015 and is designed to improve communication and responsiveness to issues as they arise, therefore a proactive
rather than reactive response.
Recruitment campaigns during the summer months have been largely successful with many vacancies now closed and
staff in post. Sickness is below 4% and management actions are ongoing to maintain staff attendance through staff
engagement events.

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Planning for additional stretcher support for later in the day conveyance of patients.
Further 8 stretcher crews support required on 10 hours days from 11am onwards to support flow Mon –Friday (cost
£5,200 per week), 3 Saturday and Sunday (cost of £3,900 per week)
Notification by July in order to plan recruitment and training and funding to support from September
TTO conveyance by alternative resource in order to quicken movement of patients from wards – this is an service
development opportunity to be tabled with lead commissioners
Outpatient movement particular ambulant patients only to be offered weekday and 0900-15 appointments.
Consideration of LRI discharge co-ordinator (approx. cost of £500 per week)

132

Arriva Transport is party to the daily system wide escalation calls, in addition these calls feed through to daily internal
conference calls enabling a rapid assessment of pressures identified or building associated with admissions and therefore
associated increased discharge of patents. A revised management structure commenced on 1st October 2015 with an emphasis
on supporting business strategy in all operational and control aspects. This includes ensuring vehicles readiness, staff welfare
and support and operational emphasis on supporting peak flow through an ongoing rota review and training for our control
staff to recognise and respond quickly to escalation issues.

Social Care City -

Jane Taylor (City CCG) Ros Speight (Leicestershire CC) Ashraf Osman (Leicester City Council) are meeting at end August to consolidate Cold
Weather plans; workshop in September will consider materials we can use collectively – using this winter’s National Campaign information, which covers keeping
well and warm, seasonal flu, go to your GP rather than A&E
What additional bed/service
None – we expect to be able to maintain business as usual throughout the period, using established business contingency
capacity/staffing is:
arrangements to manage capacity and demand.
Planned
Contingency plans are in place to spot purchase additional capacity in the independent sectors for both Residential and
Domiciliary Care as needed. The triggers for these are described in the LLR Surge and Resilience Plan. Contracts are held with
most of the regulated providers in the City and the County.
Business Contingency Plans specify minimum staffing levels at times of predicted surge in demand and also actions in the event
of unplanned staff loss to protect critical business functions.
Daily teleconference calls with health and ASC staff with appropriate levels of skill and authority.
We anticipate an increase in discharge activity. We have gaps in social care staffing levels and private provider preparedness
for the winter. We have also done the following:
-Prepared private providers for the predicted increase in demand during the winter
-Increased weekend working
-Recruitment drive to employ qualified and unqualified social workers

Staffing: Staffing resilient due to recruitment drive and we are working with private sector agencies (both Dom Care and
Res/Nursing care)
We have optimised the restarting of care packages for people already in receipt of ASC services and also increased the number
of staff working on Saturdays. We will soon have Assessment staff within ICRS who will be able to carry out assessments on
Sundays if needed.
Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

Integrated brokerage across the LLR Health and Social Care economies for Residential and Nursing Home placements would
improve timeliness of access to placements reducing LOS and DTOC. This could also level the playing field in terms of access to
residential and nursing home market and ensure that service users are located as close to home as possible.

133

All Business continuity plans have been updated
ICRS activity to pull out patients avoiding admission
Locality teams admission avoidance activity by maintaining complex care packages in the community

Social Care County -

Jane Taylor (City CCG) Ros Speight (Leicestershire CC) Ashraf Osman (Leicester City Council) are meeting at end August to consolidate
Cold Weather plans; workshop in September will consider materials we can use collectively – using this winter’s National Campaign information, which covers
keeping well and warm, seasonal flu, go to your GP rather than A&E
Enhanced staffing at UHL in hospital team and A&E cover to include weekends (subject to funding )
What additional bed/service
Implementation of NWB pathway to include residential and domiciliary services (subject to funding)
capacity/staffing is:
Continuation of the Transfer to Assess - Home Pilot (T2AH)
Planned
Business Contingency Plans specify minimum staffing levels at times of predicted surge in demand and also actions in the event of
unplanned staff loss to protect critical business functions.
Daily teleconference calls with health and ASC staff with appropriate levels of skill and authority. The triggers for these are described in the
LLR Surge and Resilience Plan
ICare – our Community Meals Provider forms part of our BCP and is designated as a critical service.
They have a contract with the volunteer 4x4 service to ensure that they can always deliver meals – for example when any of our units close
due to bad weather; or where a service user doesn’t attend a day service due to poor weather conditions, meals can be delivered, even for
those not normally on the service.
The day service will also liaise with any domiciliary agency involved in the care and support of service users where appropriate.

Integrated working between ASC and CCHS
In July and August all ASC localities met jointly with their CCHS counterparts to plan and mobilise joint working in four main areas:
-Joint approach to community hospital discharge and a monthly joint discharge MDT meeting
- Joint ‘early intervention’ monthly community MDT meeting for our shared complex community caseload
- Building a local published contact directory to make contact with each other easier
Establishing a joint locality monthly management oversight meeting to drive and build upon the above activities, bringing teams closer
together.
Each locality now has a timetable for bringing these mechanisms to life, being led by Locality Managers and CCHS Operational Leads.

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

Joint MDT meetings have already taken place to review our shared caseload and the opportunity to improve outcomes for customers and
staff.
Integrated brokerage across the LLR Health and Social Care economies for Residential and Nursing Home placements would improve
timeliness of access to placements reducing LOS and DTOC - subject to Pathway 3 development and procurement.

134

We have produced information leaflets around cold weather planning to increase awareness and mitigate risks to both staff, service users
and critical providers within social care and more widely ….such as ESPO (food suppliers) ICT etc.. These will be reviewed as part of the
collaborative work detailed previously but historically these have been produced corporately as part of county’s cold weather planning and
shared with the City and Rutland.

EMAS Emergency
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned

Staffing is run at maximum capacity throughout the winter. There will be 9 Technicians and 6 Emergency Care Assistants (ECAs)
operational in August. 6 new Paramedics will be operational in September and 12 new Technicians will be operational in
October/November. We will have recruited 12 new WTE Paramedics, and 26 Trainee Technicians by the 11th of January 2015.
Combined with this we will be reviewing our staffing on a daily, weekly and monthly basis to ensure we have robust cover over
key dates and identified pressure areas.
Forecasts

Forecast Data Oct
15.xlsx

Forecast Data Nov
15.xlsx

Forecast Data Dec
15.xlsx

Community First Responders (CFRs) are increasing rapidly with some schemes having now received response cars. A continued
focus on CFR expansion is on-going to assist during times of high demand.

The Mobile Treatment Centre (MTC) will be available for use over the Christmas/New Year period and at times of high demand
when it can be identified that this unit would be of benefit to support with A&E avoidance. The MTC can also be linked to
community services as required to further support A&E appropriate avoidance.
On-going use of Pathfinder programme
CAT being expanded to assist with increased non-conveyance. Benchmark data has been gained – the target is to consistently
achieve 7% of all calls treated by CAT. Currently LLR achieves 4% – 7%
Agreements remain in place with local volunteer 4x4 groups to assist in challenging weather conditions.
HALO to be deployed on an ‘as and when’ required basis.
Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

HALO to be available daily – funding required to cover extraction from rota line.

135

Contracts are in place with several Voluntary Ambulance Service /Private Ambulance Service providers, for
DCA and FRV provision and negotiations are on-going to expand this to other organisations to increase
capacity and resilience. VAS/PAS are available to support when required and will be pre-planned and targeted at times of peak
demand to ensure service delivery.
EMAS CFR
Report.docx

CCG - Commissioners
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned

Full CCG business continuity plans are in place in case of either adverse weather or pandemic situation.
Leicester City CCG

1. 4 x extended hour hubs will be in place, offering a mixture of walk in, 111 and health professional booked
appointments. These will be live from 6.30-10pm mon to Friday and 9am to 10pm at weekends.
2. Extended hours DES in place and usage will be monitored given the hubs will be live
3. Clinical navigation being trialled (for LLR) in bed bureau to encourage GP’s to use a variety of options (Clinician to
clinician conversation, hot clinics, ambulatory care pathways, urgent response community health and social care
services etc) to promote admission avoidance where clinically appropriate
4. All City health and social care community teams (including housing) have committed to either virtual or actual
attendance at the 11am census call to facilitate flow across UHL. Similar function in place for LPT.
West Leicestershire CCG

Improving patient access to primary and community care services
• An LLR local protocol for GP opening hours over Christmas and New Year is being finalised, ensuring appropriate cover
arrangements are in place for all patients and allowing practices to plan capacity arrangements accordingly (including
extended hours provision)
• Offer of minor ailments scheme so that patients can get advice and appropriate over the counter treatments from
community pharmacies without the need for a GP consultation
• Offer of the Emergency Repeat prescription service from a community pharmacy without the need to access OOHs and
reduce the risk of patients attending ED as a result of running out of their medication
• Hinckley and Bosworth federated locality is reviewing the current proactive care virtual ward model with a view to
enabling GPs to refer “on the day” complex patients to the clinical coordinator who will ensure the right community
health team assess the patient with a two hour response timeframe
Increasing workforce capacity and provision in the evenings, weekends and bank holidays
• Commissioning of additional specialist medical provision at Loughborough Urgent Care Centre from 09.00 hours to
22.00 hours Monday to Friday including bank holidays, 10.00 hours to 22.00 hours Saturday and Sunday, go live date 1st
November
• 7 day working model that is coordinated through the four already established federations due to go live in November.

136

Patient and Public communications
• In response to the trend of admissions to secondary care during last Winter, WLCCG Autumn health fair this year was
tailored towards offering timely and appropriate information to specific at risk groups such as older people at risk of
falls or respiratory conditions as well as supporting parents of young children in the management of bronchiolitis
• Messages relating to Winter will be coordinated through the LLR Winter communications plan including healthcare
professionals and wider stakeholder groups

This service operates by patients at risk of an avoidable admission are identified through their registered practice,
offered the contact telephone number of the Acute Visiting Service (AVS) team who will be available over the weekend
to access their needs and ensure a timely and appropriate intervention from the on call GP, AVS or wider community
health team
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Patient and Public communications
• ELR CCG have designed and developed a mobile APP called “NHS NOW” that provides live information on all available
NHS services including access to self-care advice that helps to support patients to access the right service first time.
• This APP pin points the patients location and will show then what is open near to them, whether Pharmacy, GP, UCC,
Dentist or ED. It tells them if it is open, when it closes and then directs them to the service of their choice via google
maps. It is fully interactive, but relies on GPS signal not WIFI or 3G so is useable anywhere. This will go live in the start
of November and when trialled will be expanded to cover City and West CCGs
• Further messages relating to Winter will be coordinated through the LLR Winter communications plan including
healthcare professionals and wider stakeholder groups

Increasing workforce capacity and provision in the evenings, weekends and bank holidays
• ELR UCCs are open evenings 5 pm to 9 pm and weekends and bank holidays including Christmas and new year 9 am to
7 pm. These GP lead services provide significant increased capacity to patients that were not available last year and
are now directly bookable for patients through NHS 111
• 7 Day working model for the Oadby area has been trialled and achieved significant reduction in unplanned admissions
at weekends for complex and elderly patients. Following substantial review, this has been rolled out to three other
pilot sites that will be running by Christmas.
Future 7 day working strategy
• ELR CCG working closely with our newly forming GP federation covering the whole geographical area are developing a
plan to integrate the evening and weekend services provided by the out of hours provider, GP extended hours and the
service provided in the 4 urgent care centres to have a single GP led service that includes both walk in, pre-bookable
appointments through 111 and services for complex elderly patients. This will link with the CCG community service
strategy for delivering community services from hubs across the area to ensure joined up health and social care
provision

137

Improving patient access to primary and community care services
• An LLR local protocol for GP opening hours over Christmas and New Year is being finalised, ensuring appropriate cover
arrangements are in place for all patients and allowing practices to plan capacity arrangements accordingly (including
extended hours provision)
• Offer of the Emergency Repeat prescription service from a community pharmacy without the need to access OOHs and
reduce the risk of patients attending ED as a result of running out of their medication

Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

N/A

Urgent Care Centre – Leicester - TO BE UPDATED AFTER NEW FRONT DOOR
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned
Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

138

Vaccination – Flu:
University Hospitals of Leicester
Specific plans are in place for :
Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination
What is being offered, what
is the start date

•
•
•
•

Flu vaccination
Flu management
Norovirus Toolkit
Infection Outbreak plan

Staff vaccination campaign will commence early October once flu vaccines are available.
The trusts target for flu vaccination is 75% of all staff.
What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination
What is being offered, what
is the start date

The 2015/16 seasonal flu vaccination campaign will commence in October 2015. With the aim of increasing staff uptake of the vaccine,
the 2015/16 campaign will be based on a combination of peer vaccinators and drop in clinics operated by Occupational Health Service.
LPT is aiming to achieve 65% vaccination of staff by a mixture of peers vaccinations, Occupational Health Clinics and a mobile staff
vaccination team into all workplaces.
Peer vaccinators are nursing / clinical staff who will be trained to administer the vaccine to colleagues in their wards / departments /
teams. Through adopting this approach LPT is aiming to increase the opportunities staff have to access the seasonal flu vaccine.
It is envisaged that by increasing the opportunity to access the vaccine a greater proportion of staff will benefit in 2015/16.
It was recognised that the 2014/15 LPT staff seasonal flu vaccination campaign saw 52% of staff take up the offer of the vaccine. The
uptake was slightly down on the previous winter, and was contrary to the national picture, which saw the national average for all trusts
increase to 55 % of staff having received the vaccine.
LPT does not routinely vaccinate in-patients as it is expected that patients within the seasonal flu “at risk” groups would have been
offered the vaccine through their GP. However, where it is deemed necessary LPT would consider offering the seasonal flu vaccine to inpatients.

What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

For the 2015/16 seasonal flu vaccination campaign LPT has adopted a target of aiming to vaccinate 65% of staff.
Over the winter 2013/14 Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust undertook a 14 week national pilot programme across parts of
Leicestershire for Public Health England to deliver the nasal flu vaccine to primary school children. After this successful pilot during
which 28,652 children were vaccinated at an uptake rate of 52.1%.
This winter as one of 12 pilot areas to run the programme nationally, nurses from LPT will visit every primary and secondary school in

139

Leicestershire Partnership Trust

LLR to offer the vaccine to pupils in years 1 to 6 (primary) and years 7 and 8 (secondary).

CNCS Out of Hours
Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination
Vaccinations will be available through local Occupational Health and via PC24 in Mansfield.
What is being offered, what
is the start date
What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

Vaccinations will be made available to all employed staff. Those in vulnerable groups will normally be offered vaccinations
through their own GP Practice however our planned services will still be available to them if required.
All staff will be encouraged to take advantage of this provision.

NHS 111
Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination

Planned schedule for administration October / November 2015 (pending available supply). Schedule of vaccinations not yet available.

What is being offered, what
is the start date
What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

The DHU internal target is that in line with national guidelines we aim to ensure that 75% of all frontline staff are vaccinated

ELR UCC’S
Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination

All Vocare staff will be offered vaccination.
Planned vaccinations to commence October/November Supply dependent. No schedule available at present

What is being offered, what
is the start date

140

All frontline staff within Derbyshire Health United incorporating the following:
NHS 111 Services Leicester, Derby & Chesterfield

What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

It will be encouraged for all staff to take up this offer however our target is currently 75%

LOUGHBOROUGH UCC
Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination

Vaccinations will be available through local Occupational Health. There will also be the opportunity for staff to attend
Their local practise where appropriate.

What is being offered, what
is the start date

It is hoped that all frontline staff will take up this opportunity and encouraged to do so.

141

What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

Arriva PTS
Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination

All our areas offer Flu vouchers, free to all staff. Available from October 2015

•
What is being offered, what
is the start date
What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

Flu vaccinations will also be offered to all frontline staff ensuring Arriva Transport is supporting our staff in a ‘keep well’
campaign during the winter months

70% - this is based on volunteers for vaccinations

Social Care City -

Jane Taylor (City CCG) Ros Speight (Leicestershire CC) Ashraf Osman (Leicester City Council) are meeting at end August to consolidate Cold
Weather plans; workshop in September will consider materials we can use collectively – using this winter’s National Campaign information, which covers keeping
well and warm, seasonal flu, go to your GP rather than A&E

a) City
b) County

Staff/ Service provider Vaccination

What is being offered, what is
the start date

What target of
vaccination/coverage are you
aiming for?

The seasonal flu vaccination programme is now commissioned by NHS England and predominantly delivered through general practice. The
local authority public health team work closely with the commissioners to consider possible ways to increase the protection against flu
within the local population. The local public health team are part of the seasonal flu planning meetings arranged by the commissioners and
at these we formulate and monitor action plans for the current season.
This year will see an extension of the flu immunisation pilot for children. Locally, all primary school and probably year 7 and 8 secondary
school children will be offered a flu vaccination. It is known that the vaccination of children not only protects them but also significantly
reduces the degree of spread amongst the adult population.
The public health team have been tasked by the Director of Public Health to ensure that an additional focus is placed on supporting this
year’s flu vaccination coverage, especially amongst those at the greatest clinical risk. We will be meeting with social care colleagues,
commissioners and provider representatives to identify any additional areas for development or coordination to improve overall uptake
As per national guidance, flu vaccines are to be offered to frontline health and social care staff i.e. staff who have direct contact with
patients or service users.
There will be a specific planning programme for this element of the seasonal vaccination programme. Public health leads will meet with UHL
and LPT occupational health services as well as social care commissioners to ensure that robust plans are in place to support high flu
vaccination uptake amongst local health and social care staff.
The aim is that staff be given their vaccination as early as possible between September and early November before flu starts circulating in
the community.
No national target has been set for staff immunisation uptake by the department of health within its published guidance for the national flu
immunisation programme 2014/15. Any local targets are yet to be set.

142

What are the Public Health
Arrangements for;

Social Care County -

Jane Taylor (City CCG) Ros Speight (Leicestershire CC) Ashraf Osman (Leicester City Council) are meeting at end August to consolidate
Cold Weather plans; workshop in September will consider materials we can use collectively – using this winter’s National Campaign information, which covers
keeping well and warm, seasonal flu, go to your GP rather than A&E
What are the Public Health
Arrangements for;
c)

Historically County Social Care work with Public Health and colleagues in Health to ensure we have joined up/co-ordinated communications
for our staff, service users, services (both in-house and contracted) and this is promoted across both county, and shared with the city and
Rutland. For 2015/16 this will be in line with the national campaign.

City

d) County

The service review suggests that the information flyers (which are reviewed/updated annually) continue to be popular. It is anticipated that
these will be incorporated into any national information emerging from the National Campaign and potentially produced collaboratively
through the LLR cold planning work and workshop prior to being circulated to encourage people to have their vaccination – particularly
those who by age or condition are eligible for a free vaccination via their GP and those who work with vulnerable service users in front line
services.
Currently the information flyers (schools/academies, adult and children’s social care, contracted providers) for the county’s annual
campaign covers eligibility, reasons to have a vaccination (protection of self, service users and family/NOK). It also covers respiratory
etiquette, infection control, hand washing etc. Content aligns with planning undertaken with colleagues from UHL, LPT, City, County and
Rutland councils – led by Public Health England.

Staff/ Service provider Vaccination

What is being offered, what is
the start date

It is anticipated that the new Community Infection, Prevention Control team (which covers LLR, but is based in the county) will support/raise
awareness with Residential and Domiciliary providers in regard to flu vaccinations for their staff and their residents/service users. They will
continue to promote Infection Control Champions – it may be possible to run a session for them to cascade within their services; this
resource is still in its infancy and requires further development.
Our authority wide communication campaign normally commences Sept/Oct each year – this maybe adjusted this year to align with the
national campaign and the work coming out of the LLR wide workshop.
Designated front-line social care staff (across adults and children’s social care) will again be encouraged to have a seasonal flu vaccination
from a local supermarket/pharmacists and have the cost refunded The Corporate Resources Department is considering holding drop-in
vaccination sessions within our Customer Service Centre; the Environment and Transport Department are considering offering a similar reimbursement for drivers who transport vulnerable children and adults.
As in previous years UHL’s Occupational Health Service will vaccinate the County’s Social Care team which is based at the LRI and covers all
the hospitals.

What target of
vaccination/coverage are you
aiming for?

There is no specific target for social care staff, however we would want to improve take-up, which informal monitoring suggests is very low
(excepting for those staff eligible for a free vaccination from their GP.
We have investigated ways of formally gathering vaccination data/through re-imbursement requests, but we currently are not able to pull
this information from any of our systems

143

Last year Public Health funded vouchers for staff in contracted residential homes across the City, County and Rutland. Take-up was not
good; there will not be funding for this initiative this year.

To re-iterate information previously detailed regarding coverage:
Adult and Communities (A&C) and Children and Families Services (C&FS) will support their our own front line staff to have seasonal flu
vaccinations i.e. social work staff, HART and residential services staff; staff working across our Community Opportunity and Contact Centre
sites; we also support Community Care Finance Benefits team as they visit vulnerable people in their own homes.
Social Care Staff based in the LRI receive vaccination from UHL.
As in previous years, Corporate Resources will be running vaccination sessions for staff taking social care calls within the Customer Service
Centre. They will be looking to increase uptake from one-third to a half of all staff.
The STG (Passenger Transport) Department may also consider supporting vaccinations.
rd

We will encourage all our contracted providers across residential, domiciliary and day services (independent and 3 sector) to support their
staff to be vaccinated or to provide their staff with the information on eligibility, respiratory etiquette and infection control.
More widely we will be working corporately again this year to encourage our wider staff teams to have vaccinations to reduce staff
absences/part of our BCP winter planning.

144

EMAS Emergency
Staff/ Service provider Vaccination
imm plan.doc

What is being offered, what is
the start date

The Trust target for 2015/16 is 75% of all staff to receive the influenza vaccination
What target of
vaccination/coverage are
you aiming for?

145

CCG - Commissioners
1 What are the Public Health
Arrangements for;
a) City
b) County & Rutland

In the City and the County there will be the normal GP based immunisation programme for >65s, those in at risk groups, pregnant women
and carers.
Primary care will also offer Fluenz to 2, 3 and 4 year olds.
In addition, LPT will offer Fluenz to all children in primary school (years 1-6) across the whole patch and also to children in years 7 and 8 in
secondary schools across the patch (a total of around 96,000 children).
We are not doing anything with community pharmacists this year on the basis that the Fluenz work is a significant undertaking for us and
we think this will have a bigger impact on circulating flu than commissioning a service from pharmacists.
We do collate the primary care staff data. UHL and LPT both offer through occupational health. In general practice we expect practices to
immunise their own staff.
Providers will start their campaigns when the vaccine is available which is normally the last week in September and performance will be
monitored.
As above

Staff/ Service provider
Vaccination
a) What is being offered,
what is the start date

West Leicestershire CCG staff will be offered vaccination from Sept 2014, subject to affordability – x%
All practices will start offering vaccinations from Sept-October 2014 with expected uptake monitored by Public Health.

Urgent Care Centre – Leicester - TO BE UPDATED AFTER NEW FRONT DOOR
What additional bed/service
capacity/staffing is:
Planned
Could be delivered and what
would be required to
implement.

146

All City CCG staff will be offered vaccination from Sept 2014, subject to affordability - 60%

a) What target of
vaccination/coverage
are you aiming for?

Assurance
University Hospitals of Leicester
Identify the service lead for
winter

Richard Mitchell – Chief Operating Officer

•

Reporting process

•
•
•
•
•
•

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation
The Board Assurance Framework indicates 3 key issues related to winter planning and emergency flow. These remain:
Identified risks and mitigating
actions

•
•
•

Failure to transform the emergency care system
Failure to achieve and sustain high standards of operational performance
Loss of business continuity

Each issue has an action plan which is reviewed monthly as part of the Trust Board. Any other risk associated with winter
pressure currently identified on the trust Risk Register

Leicestershire Partnership Trust
Identify the service lead for
winter

Community Health Services: Nikki Beacher/Mark Dewick
Adult Mental Health & Learning Disability: Chris Crane & Sam Pearson
Families, Young People & Children’s Services: Helen Perfect
Trust wide support: Bernadette Keaveney, Emergency Planning Manager

147

•

There are four site meeting daily where ED, capacity and any other issues affecting patient flow are addressed.
There are gold command meetings at 0800 and 1300 chaired by the Chief Operating Officer
There are daily meetings to discuss all medical discharges at the LRI.
There is a daily complex discharge conference call including staff from the Local Authorities, LPT and UHL staff
The Emergency Quality Steering Group (EQSG) meets weekly to review the performance from the last week
There is a monthly Executive Team performance meeting which discusses all performance issues including the 4hr ED
performance
A weekly update goes from the Chief Operating Officer to all staff to ensure that UHL staff are aware of the ED
performance.
There is an escalation plan which includes actions for external partners dependent on the level and cause of the
escalation.

Reporting process

Overarching Governance of Winter Preparedness
•
The LPT Financial Performance Committee has executive level responsibility for business continuity, emergency
planning and winter planning.
•
The Financial Performance Committee is presented with quarterly reports on compliance with Emergency
Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) core standards.
•
The Financial Performance Committee presents a highlight report to the Trust Board.
Organisational Monitoring of Winter Response
Emergency Planning Manager responsible for monitoring:•
Compliance with EPRR core standards applicable to winter preparedness.
•
Use of 4x4 vehicles in support of community services.
•
Level of staff uptake of the seasonal flu vaccine.
•
Effectiveness of business continuity response to severe winter weather.
•
Compliance with EPRR core standards and business continuity incidents are reported to the LPT Health & Safety
Committee.
•
Infection control incidents and compliance with Infection Control Policy reported to Infection Prevention & Control
Committee.

Management of Service Demands:•
Twice a day bed state issued at 8.30am and 2.30pm Monday to Friday identifying bed capacity, predicted discharges
and ICS capacity.
•
Named bed co-ordinator operates 7 days a week, acting as the single point contact to address and escalate any bed
issues, co-ordinating response with partner agencies as is necessary.
•
Daily monitoring and recording of all community hospital delays.
•
Daily Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) Conference Call held at 12.30pm with Health and social care partners to
expedite any delays and discuss potential pressures on system.
•
Twice daily reporting of CHS Escalation Level to LLR stakeholders.
•
Bed capacity issues are escalated through the senior management team if demand outweighs capacity, with actions
taken in line with triggers laid out in the LPT’s component of the LLR Health and Social Care Economy Surge and
Resilience Management Plan.
•
CHS holds a Friday Conference Call to update On-call manager on pressures within CHS and potential weekend
pressures and initiate early actions to prevent anticipated patient flow bottle necks across the services..

148

Operational Divisional Governance: Performance Monitoring Criteria
Community Health Services: In-patients
Metrics for monitoring performance:•
Delays
•
Length of Stay
•
Bed occupancy (percentage of beds available)

Families, Young People & Children’s Services: Ward 3
Metrics for monitoring performance:•
Bed occupancy (percentage of beds available).
• Visit schedule for the Diana team.
Management of Service Demands:•
Weekly report to Service Manager on bed state.
•
Weekly report to NHS England (as commissioner of the service) on bed state.
•
Monthly bed meetings with Service Manager and key partners
•
Ward 3 Team would escalate service pressures to Service Manager as appropriate to support resolution.
•
In event of increased service pressure, Service Manager would escalate to Head of Service and ultimately to Divisional
Director as is necessary.
Adult Mental Health & Learning Disabilities Division: In-patients
Metrics for monitoring performance:•
Bed occupancy (Number of beds available)

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation

Identified risks and mitigating
actions

The LPT Winter Plan will be presented to the Financial Performance Committee for scrutiny and validation. Following validation
the plan will be included in highlight report to the Trust Board.
The validated LPT Winter Plan will be forwarded to the LLR Emergency Care Director for inclusion in the LLR Winter Plan.

Disruptive Severe Winter Weather
Inclement winter weather can cause disruption to service provision and staff availability. The northern and more rural parts of
Leicestershire can be especially affected by snow and ice which through transport network disruption can impact on the
delivery of community services and in-patient services.
River and surface water flooding can also cause transport network disruption and displace service users where their homes are
flooded.
Mitigating Actions
All key managers receive Met Office weather warnings as routine, facilitating preparation for possible weather related

149

Management of Service Demands:•
Twice weekly Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) meetings and weekly length of stay meeting.
•
Bed state – issued at 10.30am & 2pm Monday – Friday identifying bed capacity and predicted discharges.
•
Bed Management Team is single point of contact to escalate any bed issues.
•
EDP (Early Discharge Planning) identify and assessment.
•
Review of patients on Home Treatment to identify measures to prevent admission.
•
Service pressures would be escalated to Head of Service and if necessary to Divisional Director.

disruption. The newly appointed Emergency Planning Manager responsible for maintaining this system.
The newly appointed Emergency Planning Manager responsible for liaising with Met Office on longer range forecasts with the
intention of providing advance notice to staff of severe winter weather or possibility of flooding.
Prioritisation of patients and service users, so available staff are focussed on those with the greatest need.
Following The LPT Adverse Weather Policy which provides guidance, advice and support to managers and employees in the
event of adverse weather conditions.
Utilisation of volunteer 4x4 vehicle support under mutual aid agreement to reach community patients with the greatest need.
Provision of private sector overnight accommodation to staff where necessary to maintain service delivery.
Provision of winter driving guidance to staff.
Community teams local knowledge of roads liable to flooding or disruption during severe winter weather.
All premises to be assessed for the level of risk from river flooding.

Staff shortages
Winter related illness may result in elevated levels of staff absenteeism.
Mitigating Actions
Encourage all front line staff to have the seasonal flu vaccine.
Management of available staff to compensate for weather related travel disruptions, illness including scaling back non-critical
patient care functions and the scaling back of non-essential training as required.
Norovirus other infection disease outbreaks
Incidents of seasonal flu and other infectious diseases are traditionally higher during winter. This can result in increased
pressure on the wider health community through increased presentations and impact on capacity through bed or ward
closures.
Mitigating Actions
Staff follow infection control policy to prevent incidents of infectious disease or outbreaks.
Outbreak meetings held daily in line with existing Infection Control Policy.
No placements during an outbreak will be made from a closed ward.
Staff with suspected viral gastro enteritis including Norovirus will follow infection control guidance. They will not attend for
duty until clinically well and symptom free for 48 hours.

150

Cold Weather Related Illness
There is a clear link between periods of cold weather and increased presentation to the health community of respiratory, heart
conditions and falls.
Mitigating Actions
CHS would follow its actions under the LLR Health and Social Care Economy Surge and Resilience Management Plan to respond
to escalation in demand on the health and social care community.
All key managers receive Met Office escalations in Cold Weather Alert as routine. This enables LPT to ensure in-patients and
service users in the community are supported during periods of cold weather as required under the Department of Health Cold
Weather Plan.

Managing escalation of young people in A&E with mental health problems.
Incidents of young people presenting in heightened mental health distress have increased in recent years It is noted that this is
not a seasonal increase. It is recognised that the clinical and social assessment challenges of supporting these young people
and their families, does impact on the overall flow of patients through the emergency / urgent care system.
Mitigating actions
LPT / UHL Shared Protocol for Children and Young People who present at A&E with mental health problems.
A protocol has been developed and agreed between the two organisations to agree a pathway of care for children and young
people who present with mental health problems. The protocol identified actions for each partners to complete with agreed
timescales for attendance.
LPT CAMHS are in the progress of recruiting 3 wte FTC CAMHS mental health nurses that will be able to provide support to the
Monday to Friday 9 – 5 Deliberate Self Harm assessment, and also provide support out of hours as per the escalation protocol.
Regular meetings to review protocol are undertaken with FYPC Clinical Director and UHL Paediatric ED Clinician.
Further work to review LLR response for young people is being explored through Better Care Together / Future in Mind, and
also through LLR Vanguard Programme.
Agreement for Section 135/ 136 Suite to be all age has been reached. Environmental work will commence to ensure suite is fit
for purpose.

CNCS Out of Hours
Identify the service lead for
winter

Corporate Christine Green Deputy CEO
Local SMT Rob Haines
Business Manager LLR
Deputy
Malcolm King
Operations Manager LLR

Reporting process

Standard
Enhanced
High Level

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation

To be signed off by Exec Team

Identified risks and mitigating
actions

Funding for planned increase in resources in line with standard capacity planning is funded through our standard contract.
Additional capacity such as those initiatives shown in section 3 would require investment.
Space is a significant restricting factor to increase in capacity. Will discuss with commissioners if required.
Resource at short notice could be problematic. Currently in discussions with the exec around resource modelling and

Weekly to Commissioners
Daily internally and escalated to Commissioners
Daily internally, to commissioners and to Corporate

151

Risks
Recruitment, Escalation and access to appropriate CAMHS nursing staff to support
Timely access to social care support for children and young people who present with social. / behavioural problems
Access to local, regional and national CAMHS T4 NHS England beds
Availability of specialist mental health beds for young people eg:- PICU / Secure

initiatives.

NHS 111
Pauline Hand, NHS 111 Programme and Operations Director
Identify the service lead for
winter
Reporting process

Daily situation reporting to LLR commissioners / CCG.
Hourly internal service demand and performance monitoring.
Continually review any variation in service provision.
Action variation accordingly depending on escalation level:
• Teleconferencing - as required
• Face to Face meetings weekly scheduled increase according to escalation level
**Review any variation in conjunction with the DHU Business Contingency Plan 2015, V7, 03/15 & initiate internal escalation as
per guidance
Signed off by Executive Team

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation
1. Increased activity above modelled call volumes
• Implement DHU Business Contingency Plan
• Escalate according to contingency plan actions

DHU LLR Winter Plan
Escalation Criteria.docx

Providers contributing to an increase in 111 call volume activity:
• EMAS internal escalation of service (CMP)
• CNCS delay in service provision
• Secondary Care increased activity base
• Flu Pandemic
• Social Care

ELR UCC’s
Identify the service lead for

152

Identified risks and mitigating
actions

winter
Reporting process

Rachael Taylor
Escalation process as attached
Senior team leader on call during weekend and peak times
Operations Manager on call 24/7
Clinical Manager on call 24/7
Chief executive on call 24/7
Daily handovers reports
Conference calls during peak times (Internal and external with partners as per LHE requirements)

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation

CCG to approve

Identified risks and mitigating
actions

•

Surge over and above predicted contracted activity- Internal escalation process and mutual aid from within Vocare group

•
•

Weather restrictions- severe weather, deployment of 4x4 staff transport as required.
Reliance on Agency and Locum staffing- Significantly reduced from September 2015 with recruitment of ELRUC LCD, GPs
and regular use of ANPs on Vocare PSC.
Operational winter plan in place

•

LOUGHBOROUGH UCC

Reporting process

Corporate Christine Green Deputy CEO
Service manager Simon Court LUCC
Deputy manager Nick Hurst LUCC
Standard Daily to Organisation
Monthly to Commissioners
Enhanced Organisation and escalated to Commissioners
Sign off by the Exec Team

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation
Identified risks and mitigating
actions

Planned enhanced service with CCG, awaiting contract sign off
Potential delays in resource to go live.
Space may be a contributing factor for enhanced treatments (will monitor)

Arriva Patient Transport
Identify the service lead for
winter

Head of Operation Jethro Pickard supported by Head of Region Andrew Cullen

Reporting process

Daily Escalation reporting via CCG/Teleconferencing and/or scheduled face to face meetings – Operations Managers into Area
Ops Manager into Head of Service and as required into Director of Operations

153

Identify the service lead for
winter

Via Head of Service into Director of Operations
Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation
If not additional funding, no additional resources in place for winter above usual ‘day to day’ operations.
Identified risks and mitigating
actions

Social Care City
Identify the service lead for
winter

Ashraf Osman

Reporting process

Daily Escalation reporting via CCG/Teleconferencing and/or scheduled face to face meetings

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation

Plan will be signed off by Leadership Team

Identified risks and mitigating
actions

The Winter Plan is recorded in the Adult Social Care and Safeguarding Divisional Risk Register

Social Care County
Identify the service lead for
winter
Reporting process

Jackie L Wright
Ros Speight
Daily Escalation reporting via CCG/Teleconferencing and/or scheduled face to face meetings
DMT / UCWG / UCB

Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation
Identified risks and mitigating
actions

Additional staffing resources are not in place to support UHL during winter pressures
The recruitment of appropriately skilled resources will be dependent upon agreed funding in a timely manner i.e. by the end of
July for implementation in November.

154

Risks identified;
Loss of staff – managed via Business Contingency Plans e.g. –use of Locum staff/ flexible deployment of existing staff to
maintain critical functions including the management of Section 2 and 5 notifications, public and professional referral points
and work related to the safe and timely transfer of patients.
Loss of IT/Telephony – managed via existing Business Contingency Plans for alternative telephony provision. In the event of loss
of IT networks alternative standalone provision is available.
Loss of/insufficient provision of care services - managed by Business Contingency Plans for additional resources to be
commissioned from the independent Residential and Domiciliary Care sectors and flexible use of in house provision.
Risks are noted by the City Council’s Operational and Strategic Risk Registers dependent on relative risk rating.

The demand for reablement and other community resources is greater than available capacity both within LCC and
independent Providers
A number of measures are currently in place and being planned to improve what has been a challenging situation faced over
the winter period of 14/15 and currently in relation to the availability of home based reablement/support. We will continue
strategies for reducing the demand and ensuring optimum use of available services.

EMAS Emergency
Mick Jones, Locality Manager
Identify the service lead for
winter
Reporting process

Reporting processes – Bronze manager reports to Silver manager who, if appropriate, reports to Gold manager. Gold will then
escalate through the given escalation procedure if required.

EMAS Strategic
Surge Management Plan Version 2 - 8 August 2013.docx

Identified risks and mitigating
actions

Risks
Inability of UHL to take handovers of patients in a timely manner.
Lack of early escalation and action by UHL at times of increased demand.
Lack of timely response to escalation needs within UHL
Higher than normal levels of 111 ambulance calls requiring response.

Actions
Deployment of HALO to A&E at times of high demand.
Development of Pathfinder to reduce A&E attendance. (Recruitment of Pathfinder Leads currently underway internally)
Expansion of CAT team to assist with non-conveyance to A&E.
Improved cooperation with DHU and Harmoni regarding 111 dispositions

155

The Trust winter plan should be signed off at the Trust Board meeting on XXX XXXX
Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation

CCG Commissioners
Identify the service lead for
winter

Sue Lock (Sarah Prema as operational lead)
Toby Sanders (Caron Williams as operational lead)
Karen English (Jane Chapman as operational lead)

Reporting process

In line with NHS England requirements, the LLR CCGs will be involved in multi-agency conference calls and meetings facilitated
by the NHS England Area Team, to discuss the operational position across the whole LLR health and social care system.
The CCGs will direct any appropriate communications to primary care providers highlighting operational issues as required.
The 3 CCGs have a leadership role to ensure that the health and social care systems across the LLR system are co-ordinated to
respond to the increased needs and/or service demands throughout the winter period, particularly where there is increased
activity exceeding the seasonal norm and where response and recovery is beyond the internal capabilities and escalation
procedures of an individual NHS commissioned service.
Situation Reports (SITREP) and Winter Reporting
In order to manage the day to day activity, daily SITREPs will commence on 1 December 2015. In the event of significant issues
being reported, the NHS England Area Team will also be notified at the same time as the SITREP is submitted.

All risks and actions will be taken via the Urgent Care Board

Identified risks and mitigating
actions

Urgent Care Centre – Leicester TO BE UPDATED AFTER NEW FRONT DOOR
Identify the service lead for
winter
Reporting process
Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation
Identified risks and mitigating
actions

156

All 3 CCG’s will approve the LLR Winter Plan at August Governing Body
Board sign off for winter plan
and escalation

Communication and Engagement Plan
This communications and engagement plan has been developed jointly by the communications and engagement leads for the three clinical commissioning groups representing
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR):
•

Leicester City CCG

•

West Leicestershire CCG

•

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Approach for winter 2015/16

157

For the first time NHS England, Public Health England, the Department of Health, the NHS Trust Development Agency and Monitor are joining up winter campaigns. In previous
years, there have been separate campaigns to address the challenges of winter. This year, one focused behaviour change programme will inform the public how they can keep
well over the winter months. CCGs and System Resilience Groups will be asked to support the national campaign. Further information will be available on the NHS England
website in due course.
Joint National campaign summary

The campaign is currently being developed for 2015, with a planned roll-out of national advertising activity from October 12 onwards. The campaign aims to make patients and
the public who are at risk of preventable winter admission aware of, and motivated to take, those actions that could prevent that admission.
If successful, the campaign will reduce pressures on NHS services, particularly urgent and emergency care, in the winter months, prevent illness and improve patient
experience.
The key messages
The messages recommended in the campaign focus on those actions that are most likely to prevent an emergency admission, for example:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Taking up the offer of flu vaccination
Self-care (for example using over-the-counter medicines) and pharmacy as a first point of call
For people who have long-term conditions, seeking prompt medical attention, so that minor illnesses do not escalate to the point where hospitalisation is necessary
Keeping homes warm in cold weather
Avoiding falls (for example by stocking up on food and medicines so that it is not necessary to go outside in icy conditions)
Avoiding A&E except for emergencies (calling NHS 111 if in doubt)

Local activity and messages
To better support the national campaign there is a focus on targeting specific groups who are most at risk of admission or most likely to access healthcare services during the
winter. The LLR-wide winter campaign will be split into two phases of activity focussing initially on flu vaccinations followed by a second phase that focusses on preparedness,
avoidance of admission and self-care.
Phase One – Flu vaccinations
The national campaign advertising for flu vaccinations is scheduled to start on the 12 October and will run for approximately four weeks. The advertising will include national
television advertising in targeted slots to secure the maximum reach with the target audiences on ITV, Channel 4, Five and SKY. Radio advertising will run on Capital, Smooth,
Gem, Heart, Gold and other local channels. National newspaper advertising will run in the daily and Sunday issues of the Mirror, Mail, Express and the Sun. Additional
advertising will run in Readers Digest Monthly, Saga Monthly, Yours and Peoples Friend. This will be supported be local newspaper advertising which will be focussed on the
Leicester Mercury (Mon-Fri) for the majority of the four week Flu campaign with additional coverage in the Hinckley Times, Loughborough Echo and other newspapers in the
bordering areas. There will also be advertising in national magazines, Womens Weekly, TV Times, What’s on TV, Chat and Womans Own.
This year there will be a social media strand with promoted Facebook and Google posts along with Video on Demand and outdoor advertising that in Shopping Centres,
roadside and close proximity to pharmacies. There will also be advertising on pharmacy bags to encourage take-up of the vaccinations.

158

The local campaign activity will focus on using partner communications channels to enhance the reach of the campaign and engage audiences in places they are more likely to
visit. This will include display screens in GP waiting rooms, council buildings, libraries and other municipal sites. In addition to this, key messages will be communicated through
the City and County residents’ magazines and Third Sector magazines and bulletins. There will be an enhanced social media campaign that will increase the volume of social
media activity along with the targeting of specific groups to encourage activity. This public facing work will be supported by targeted messages delivered to staff working
across Health, Social Care and local authorities to encourage the take-up of the flu vaccination with public facing staff, particularly those who engage with the target groups.
Phase two – Self-care and admissions avoidance
Phase two of the campaign will present a shift in emphasis to focus on self-care and admissions avoidance. This phase of the campaign will aim to develop a better
understanding of the demands on the system and the most appropriate place for people to visit when they require healthcare. Currently when the public look to access
healthcare it is focussed too heavily on two routes, the GP practice and ED. As demand over winter increases it is vital that the public understand the services they can access
and what they should be presenting at each service for. To ensure they receive the quickest and most appropriate care.
A clear focus for this phase of the campaign is to demystify the choices people can make and promote the alternatives to ED whilst at the same time educating the public on
the demands placed on ED over the winter period. It is clear that the public trust the alternatives to ED when they access them, however they need more encouragement to
access these services. In addition to the continued communications work outlined in phase one where messages are disseminated through local partners, we will focus on key
issues as pillars of our campaign that will aim to increase the flow of patients to other services and educate target groups on the trigger points for accessing appropriate
healthcare.
During this phase of the campaign we will:

•
•
•
•
•
•

Publish a live waiting times website
Publish a service app for East Leicestershire and Rutland that is planned to roll-out across LLR
Develop a public narrative through media stories focussing on GP Access, Demands on ED, high impact patients e.g. Frail elderly and high impact activity, repeat
prescriptions etc.
Focussed activity to push the priority patients into primary care before requiring admission and reducing demand
Targeted activity with childrens centres to raise awareness of services and trigger points for accessing healthcare
Enhanced social media activity to deliver service updates, access guidance, health education and partner engagement

Budget
Funding for this activity has been secured from the LLR Urgent Care Working Group.
The outline budget required to deliver this activity is detailed below:
Budget
£20,000
£15,000
£20,000
£10,000
£5,000
Tbc

TOTAL

£75,000

Contacts:
Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group:
Richard Crabb, Interim Communications Manager
T: 0116 295 1424
E: Richard.crabb@leicestercityccg.nhs.uk
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
Sue Venables, Communication and Engagement Manager
T: 01509 567762
E: Susan.Venables@westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk

159

Activity
Production of National campaign material
Outreach events across LLR
Development of targeted community materials
Outreach with local partners
Production of any other materials for other winter activity
NHS 111

160

This page is intentionally left blank

161

Agenda Item 10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DISTRICT COUNCIL CHIEF EXECUTIVE LEAD ON
HEALTH AND WELLBEING
HOUSING INTERVENTIONS TO SUPPORT REDUCTIONS IN
DELAYED HOSPITAL DISCHARGE
Purpose of Report
1. To bring information to the Health and Wellbeing Board about the delivery of
two housing schemes by District Councils designed to reduce delays in
discharge of patients from hospital.
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:(a) note the detail and progress of the two schemes;
(b) support the ongoing evaluation of the schemes in terms of return on
financial investment and understanding of outcomes for patients.
Financial implications
3. The cost of each Pilot is approximately £100,000 for the Bradgate Unit and
£120,000 for the LRI Pilot this takes account of staffing costs and funding for
furniture packs and rent deposits. Both Pilots run until the end of the financial
year 2015/16.
Housing’s Offer To Health
4. A report articulating the ‘Housing Offer’ that district councils can deliver to
support the Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategic objectives was produced
in 2013 by the Leicestershire District Councils in partnership with the
Chartered Institute of Housing.
5. It set out how the district councils’ housing services can support the health
and wellbeing of residents across Leicestershire. As a consequence of this
report three main practical projects identified:•
•

•

Establish the First Contact scheme as a referral route in in all GP’s
surgeries
Transform the service pathway for aids/adaptations, affordable warmth,
and handy person schemes to best suit service user needs and reduce
demand on health and social care – subsequently called the Lightbulb
Project
Housing services staff to support Health and Social Care colleagues in
reducing delays in hospital discharge

6. This report relates to the two hospital discharge schemes that are operating
across Leicester and Leicestershire.

162

The Bradgate Unit Housing Pilot
7. Within Leicestershire, as across the country, the acute mental health pathway
is under significant pressure, resulting in patients that need in-hospital support
being placed in out of county independent hospitals.
8. One of the reasons attributed to this ‘out sourcing’ was the delayed transfers
of care (DTOC). There had been little historic research on housing factors but
new analysis carried out by the Bradgate for the three month period to 21
December 2013 showed that in this period the accumulated DTOC was 1826
days and of these, 682 days (37%) were as a result of housing issues. [NHS
Data]
9. The daily cost of housing a patient at the Bradgate Unit was £238 (based on
the Price Activity Matrix 2014). The analysis showed that for the three month
period, the housing related DTOC cost was £162,316, or close to £650,000 on
an annual basis.
10. A proposal for a six month pilot, hosted by Blaby District Council, but covering
the whole of Leicester city and Leicestershire County was accepted and
began in October 2014.
11. In summary the pilot comprised four elements:I.

Housing Options Officer - a housing specialist (seconded from
Leicester City Council) working three days a week directly with service
users and hospital staff to identify housing problems that are a barrier to
discharge and then putting in place the right steps address these for each
service user.

II.

Furniture Packs - a basic furniture pack was made available where
required – once other options had been exhausted and where cost
effective to do so.

III.

Rent Deposit/rent in advance - funding was made available for service
users to access the private rented sector for housing where appropriate.

IV.

Low Level Housing Related Support - this was offered through a
Community Support Worker who would assist service users in transition
from hospital to home and provide support with setting up a new tenancy
or managing the existing home. Intrinsic elements of this community
support was building capacity of the former patients to develop selfadvocacy and social skills, taking personal responsibility for their own
actions and gaining knowledge of their rights as individuals.

12. The housing officers were empowered to make decisions, across county, city
and district boundaries, access funds and offer ongoing support to patients
moving back to their home – or a more suitable new home.

163

13. The experience of the officers is very people orientated in that they know how
to ask the right questions, in the right way and thereby can understand the full
picture. Often patients or families are uncomfortable in acknowledging gaps
in support and so opportunities to meet the actual need are missed.
14. The Pilot received 115 referrals during the 12 month period that between
them accumulated 920 delayed bed days that were classified as Housing
DTOC.
15. Of these referrals, 46 service users were sourced new accommodation. Other
placements were arranged for 37 service users, which included living with
family/friends and returns to previous tenancies. 9 of the referrals were
incorrect for service specifications, 2 relapsed on the ward and 11 refused the
service/AWOL/Discharged due to abusive behavior on wards. As at 30th
September 2015 10 were still inpatients.
16. The age of service users referred ranged from 18 to 72 years of age (M = 38
years old). A total of 69 males and 46 females were referred to the Housing
Support Team.
17. The average time from referral to when a service user was seen was 3.5
working days.
18. The service isn’t only working to reduce the total number of DTOC bed days.
Within the cases that have been referred, only 23 have had any DTOC delays
at all. The other significant impact is regarding the hospital re-admissions. Of
the 40 service users supported on the Community by the Housing Related
Support Officer only one has been re-admitted to the Bradgate Unit; a
testament in part to the quality of support provided by the worker.
19. As at 30th September, 103 of the cases had left the unit with 12 still on the
unit. Of the 103 cases that had left, 40 needed ongoing support and were
seen by Housing Related Support Officer. 24 cases were still being supported
and 16 cases had been closed.
20. Having housing officers based at the Bradgate Unit has fostered positive
relationship, enabled ward staff and the In Assistive In-Reach Team to have
quick and easier access to expert housing advice and delivered a culture of
referring patients earlier for housing advice.
Leicester Royal Infirmary (LRI) – part of the Leicester Royal Infirmary
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL).
21. Within the LRI, DTOC rates were 4.7% against a target of 3.5%, even though
the Trust had already established an Integrated Discharge Team (primary and
secondary care nurses and social workers) using Discharge to Assess and
Non Weight bearing pathways. In September 2014 a review was undertaken
to understand the reasons for DTOC continuing to run above target. This
review found many other reasons (unrelated to health or social care) and
based more on housing, finance or support issues but was unable to quantify

164

the numbers or costs for these ‘other reasons’. The Urgent Care Programme
Team was tasked to look into the review’s findings. The initial difficulty was a
lack of clear data – as patients’ housing issues were masked behind other
reported delays, such as care packages or family and often not picked up until
the patient was medically fit for discharge.
22. The Urgent Care Team was aware of the pilot at the Bradgate Unit and
working with the District Council Lead, and her team, the Urgent Care Team
drew up a proposal for a similar combination of housing expertise and
community support to be based within the LRI.
23. In December 2014, to test out this type of role and collect some data on the
size of the issues within the acute Trust, a six day ‘taster’ of the role was put
in place on the medical assessment wards. This entailed an experienced
housing officer undertaking a housing and welfare assessment on a robust
sample of patients, alongside nursing and medical assessment on admission.
This identified that 42% of all patients seen over the six days had housing or
welfare issues that would have an impact on their discharge:•
•

62% of these were housing related: problems with heating, disrepair,
unsuitable housing, homelessness etc
38% were welfare related: patients being too scared to go home due to
harassments or loneliness, family problems or financial concerns.

24. In February 2015, as a result of the findings from the ‘taster’ the Trust made
the brave decision to implement a 12 month pilot, with housing and a
community officer, working closely with the Integrated Discharge Team but
concentrated on patient’s housing/welfare needs. The Funding awarded by
the Trust would also establish what resources would be required going
forward and enable the collection of robust data on the true size of the issues
patients and the LRI were facing. As with the Bradgate pilot, resources were
made available for basic furniture packs and rent deposits – again these were
only to be used if all other options had been exhausted and where it was cost
effective.
25. The service was delivered initially through one Hospital Discharge Enabler
and one Community worker - both posts are filled by experienced officers who
work closely with nursing and therapy staff on the assessment wards, social
workers and Discharge Sisters. They also link with the seven District, and
City, council services to provide long term solutions.
26. With a matter of weeks, the impact of this work on DOTC and patient welfare
was evident and the Trust agreed to fund a third housing officer, who has
been placed within the Integrated Discharge Team and takes referrals
housing and welfare issues from the rest of the Trust and local Community
Hospitals.
27. As with the Bradgate model, the officers are empowered to make decisions,
with support provided by Blaby District Council’s Community Services Team.
Critically their work at both hospitals is not mere ‘signposting’ but providing

165

practical individual end to end solutions for patients. This does mean that at
times the officers need to have robust conversations to remind other services
and authorities of their responsibilities.
Conclusions and Next Steps
28. Having Housing Officers based at the Bradgate unit has fostered positive
relationships, enabled Ward Staff and the InReach Team to have quick,
easier access to expert housing advice and has engendered a culture of
referring patients earlier for housing options and advice. This coupled with the
Housing Officers being empowered to make decisions, access funds and offer
ongoing support to patients when the move back to, or into their new home
has made a difference to how patients perceive their move from hospital.
29. The Pilot is working with LPT and commissioners to provide evidence of its
impact on DTOC for housing related cases and it is proposed that the project
is mainstreamed.
30. The housing support elements of the Better Care Fund (BCF) are being
evaluated and considered in the refresh of the BCF for 2016/17 which is being
led by the Integration Executive
31. Decisions on funding arrangements for the BCF for 2016/17 will be made in
conjunction with CCG Boards and Leicestershire County Council Cabinet (via
the Medium Term Financial Strategy), and milestones for this have been
developed so that the planning work is approached jointly between December
2015 and March 2016.
Case studies
32. Three case studies relating to the Bradgate scheme and two case studies
relating to the LRI scheme can be found in Appendix One.
Officer to Contact
Sandra Whiles
Chief Executive Blaby District Council
01162727501
Sw2@blaby.gov.uk

166

Appendix One – Case Studies
CASE STUDY ONE
Name: Mr A
Diagnosis: Depression
Admission Date: 05/11/2014

Referral Date: 12/11/2014

Local Authority: Leicester City Council

Discharge Date: 25/11/2014

Case Summary:
Prior to his admission, Mr A lived in a privately rented, two bedroom house in
Leicester City. Unfortunately, the property is unaffordable for Mr A, his son moved to
live with his mother around two years ago, which caused a reduction in his Housing
Benefit. Over this 2 year period, his rent arrears have continued to accrue and he is
currently in arrears of £6000. This was a major factor in the deterioration of Mr A’s
mental health and the necessity for admission.
After a short stay in hospital, Mr A was assessed as medically fit and was discharged
back to his previous address. The project aimed to assist Mr A with a move to more
suitable and affordable accommodation. To facilitate this, the Discharge Enabler
pursued both private renting and council properties as potential options and was able
to have Mr A placed on the priority banding with Leicester City Council.
Unfortunately, an issue arose with Mr A’s benefits and both his Housing Benefit and
ESA were suspended. This added financial pressure took its toll on Mr A’s mental
health and he began reporting suicidal ideation and intent. The community support
provided by the project was vital in preventing a readmission for Mr A. The Housing
Support Officer worked alongside the key professionals in Mr A’s case to do this;
working with the Assertive Inreach Team to resolve the issues with Mr A’s benefits
and Mr A’s CPN to ensure his safety in the community. The Housing Support Officer
also worked directly with Mr A to build his resilience and confidence in working
towards solutions. The projects funds were also utilised to provide Mr A with basic
necessities such as power during this crisis period, ensuring his home was habitable.
Through this multi-disciplinary work, Mr A was able to remain in the community, his
benefits were reinstated and he has received an offer of accommodation from the
City Council. Work on this case is ongoing.
Case Summary Update:
Mr A has now moved into a Housing Association property. The property is affordable
and Mr A reports that he is much happier. The removal of the stresses surrounding
his housing situation has improved his mental health. Mr A has also moved into a
property that is closer to where his son lives, increasing the amount of time he gets
to spend with him. Mr A continues to receive support from the Housing Support
Officer in developing his independent living

167

CASE STUDY TWO
Name: Mr D
Diagnosis: Depression, Personality Disorder
Admission Date: 12/11/2014
District Authority: Blaby District Council

Referral Date: 23/12/2014
Discharge Date: 25/01/2015

Case Summary:
When Mr D was admitted to the hospital, he was living with his parents. Due to his
mental health problems, they could no longer house him and Mr D became
homeless whilst on the ward. To prevent a long over-stay in hospital, the Discharge
Enabler was able to secure private rented accommodation in the area of Mr D’s
choice.
As this was Mr D’s first tenancy that he had held himself, the HSO supported him to
establish routines for independent living and ensure his finances were kept in order.
Mr D has maintained the tenancy since his discharge with no issues. Mr D has also
been able to build and maintain a relationship with his son, who lives nearby with his
ex-partner.
Recently, Mr D has applied for a place at university and has been successful. He will
start his course in September. The HSO will support him in the transition and will
support Mr D’s referral to student support.

CASE STUDY THREE
Name: Mr E
Diagnosis: Depression
Admission Date: 17/01/2015
District Authority: Hinckley and Bosworth

Referral Date: 29/01/2015
Discharge Date: 18/02/2015

Case Summary:
Mr E has spent many years in either hostels or sofa surfing. In that time he has had
three separate admissions into the Bradgate unit. Mr E has also been addicted to
drugs and has a past history as an offender. On Mr E’s third admission, he was
referred to the Housing Support Service. The Discharge Enabler was able to get Mr
E private accommodation in Leicester City. With the support of the HSO, Mr E has
been able to maintain his tenancy for almost six months with no issues. Mr E is also
engaging with drug and alcohol support.

168

Mr E also has a daughter, who he had very limited contact with. By maintaining his
tenancy, this has given him the ability to see his daughter on a regular basis. The
HSO and Mr E are now working towards Mr E gaining enough confidence to
undertake some voluntary work

LEICESTER ROYAL INFIRMARY
CASE STUDY ONE
Single Female - Leicester City
A patient had identified via a relative that she was worried about her home and job
while she was in hospital. The relative was not based in the UK and the patient did
not speak English. The community support officer was able to gain the patients trust
and speak to her in her own language. She was able to visit the landlord of the
property (who was also her employer) and explain the circumstances and assist the
patient to apply for housing benefits. The patient had come into hospital as an
emergency and had no papers with her and no relatives or friends to help. The
community support officer was able to get consent to collect essential papers and
the woman’s mobile phone so she was able to contact friends to help her. The
officer liaised regularly with the landlord so that he knew what was happening and
when he would get his rent and she was able to provide support following discharge
to ensure that benefits were in place and to help the patient return to her job.

CASE STUDY TWO
Single Male – County
The project was able to resolve a long running and highly complex case that had
seen multiple admissions to hospital in the last 5 years, and several referrals to the
local multi agency forum due to agencies recognising his vulnerabilities and service
requirements but being unable to engage with him. The resolution included gaining
the trust of the patient, offering services that removed barriers to discharge (in this
case facilitating delivery of a specialist mattress as the patient had no other person
to do this) and providing practical services (a full clean and provision of floor
covering to the bedroom) to meet minimum requirements for a package of care to be
secured.

169

Agenda Item 11

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE
SWANSWELL INSIGHT REPORT
ROAD TO RECOVERY
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to presenting the findings of an exercise to collect evidence
and insight relating to substance misuse services by listening to service users and staff
so that Healthwatch Leicestershire (HWL) could:
• Establish a deeper understanding of service users’ experiences;
• Understand what changes service users would make to improve their experiences
with Swanswell;
• Gather the staff perspective on improvements.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2. The report insights will feed into the Public Health Substance Misuse Review/
Procurement process of Leicestershire County Council.
3. The report will also be distributed or presented to:
• Swanswell;
• The sub-regional Substance Misuse Clinical Forum for Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland, hosted by Leicestershire County Council.
• West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and East Leicestershire and
Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group
• Better Care Together Programme Board
Background
4. HWL has pledged to gather the views of health and social care service users across
Leicestershire. From May to June 2015 it collaborated with Swanswell, a national
alcohol and drug charity that delivers services locally, to listen to both staff and services
users to understand better their experiences of working within and accessing substance
misuse services.
5. The local Swanswell service in Leicestershire and Rutland started on 1 July 2011 and
now operates out of two offices based in Coalville and Loughborough, as well as from
district based hubs across the two counties. The service works in GP surgeries
providing shared care. Swanswell supports approximately 1500 service users each year
in Leicestershire and Rutland and accepts referrals from a variety of sources but mainly
from either GP’s or self-referrals.

170
6. Swanswell is committed to continuous improvement of its organisation and welcomed
the opportunity to work with HWL.
Staff and service user Involvement
7.

The project involved various components to gather staff views and service user
experiences:
• Group discussions took place with four existing service user peer mentor groups in
Coalville, Oadby and Wigston and Hinckley, allowing open conversation and a
chance to share experiences.
• A Recovery survey was completed with new and existing service users through dropin sessions, reception waiting areas and outreach locations.
• Staff were offered an opportunity to provide comment on what changes if any, they
would make to the service, that would allow them to provide better care to service
users.

Emerging themes from service users
8. Coordination of services
Services users spoke of a lack of a joined-up approach and co-ordination of care
between different services or professionals. Links between GPs, hospitals and
Swanswell regarding their care could be improved. Service users wanted
professionals to treat them holistically, taking the whole person into account, dealing
with their mental, social and physical illnesses.
9.

Peer groups
Support groups at Swanswell worked very well according to service users. We were
told that a recovery plan that supports the user to think about the wider objectives of
their recovery and lifestyle would be beneficial.

10. Aftercare
Aftercare could be put in place for those users who had left the service or were
deemed to no longer need the service. They could receive a follow up appointment or
conversation after a particular period of time.
11. Access
Greater flexibility for service users around access to services at various locations
outside of the City, involving joined up service provision across Leicester and
Leicestershire.
Service users felt attending more than one meeting per week would provide
additional opportunities for support and aid recovery.
Emerging themes from staff
12. Manageable caseloads
Staff said that more manageable caseloads would in turn help to provide a healthier
working environment, increase support and allow more dedicated time for clients.

171
13. Streamlined processes
Reviewing and streamlining processes to avoid duplication of paperwork between
various personnel would help to reduce administration and save time.
14. Ways of working
Staff would welcome more time to discuss how to work smarter, review the
practicalities of current working patterns, and geographical locations of staff across
Leicestershire.
Recommendations to Partners
15. Based on its findings, HWL offers the following recommendations to providers and
commissioners of services:
Leicestershire County Council
16. To use the findings of the report to help inform future procurement and
commissioning of substance misuse services.
17. Substance misuse should be understood as a period of illness affecting the body and
mind, developed as part of a public health campaign which may help to reduce the
stigma service users feel and experience.
Swanswell and Leicestershire County Council
18. To use the findings of the report as a springboard to further understand what is of
most benefit to service users.
Swanswell
19. Implementation of a recovery plan that sets out the service user journey with their
progress and next steps, reflecting an understanding of the different individual needs.
This would include their aims, how they will be supported to achieve the plan and
would provide a continued journey through the system.
20. A patient’s aftercare plan should be recognised as an important step in maintaining
the will to stop substance misuse for service users. It would also be useful to have a
follow-up conversation built into the service, to allow contact to be made with the exservice user at the three to six months’ stage to assess whether additional support is
needed. This would be beneficial especially for those with no support system at
home.
21. Review the provision of peer support groups/ meetings to either continue to develop
these or create new activities that further benefit the recovery of service users.
Clinical Commissioning Groups and Better Care Together partners
22. A system that flags to a GP when a substance misuse service user has not collected
their repeat prescription could be explored (and consider any patient consent issues),
as not taking medication could be detrimental to recovery.
23. Greater links and understanding between hospitals and substance misuse services
to better support the user should be adopted. These links would be beneficial to all
parties and be a step forward in terms of risk management. To set out and implement
a clear pathway of communication between emergency services when a patient is

172
identified or admitted for a drug or alcohol issue, as working with Swanswell would be
both beneficial and expedient.
Recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board
24. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to support the recommendations and urge
partners to consider any actions for improvement of the service and system as a
whole.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
25. None.
Officer to Contact
Name and Job Title: Vandna Gohil, Director
Telephone: 0116 257 5040
Email: Vandna.g@healthwatchleics.co.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
1.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
applies to all functions of public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality Act
2010. Schedule 19 list does not include Healthwatch England or Local Healthwatch
organisations, however as bodies carrying out a public function using public funding
Healthwatch Leicestershire is subject to the PSED general duty.

2.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health and
social care outcomes experienced in some communities. Healthwatch Leicestershire
believes also that health and social care should be based on a human rights
platform. It will utilise the Equality Act 2010 when carrying out its work and in
influencing change in service commissioning and delivery.

Partnership Working and associated issues
3.

Healthwatch Leicestershire would like to thank Swanswell for allowing access to both
staff and service users.

173

Agenda Item 13

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND COMMISSIONING
SUPPORT PERFORMANCE SERVICE
PERFORMANCE UPDATE AT END OF QUARTER 2 2015/16
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of the report is to provide the Board with an update on health
performance issues at the end of quarter 2 of 2015/16.

Background
2.

The Board currently receives a joint report on performance from the County
Council’s Chief Executive’s Department and the Arden/GEM Commissioning
Support Performance Service. This particular report encompasses:
a. Performance against key metrics and priorities set out in the Better Care
Fund plan and with progressing health and social care integration; and
b. An update on key provider performance issues and performance priorities

Better Care Fund and Integration Projects
3.

The following section of the report and Appendix A summarises current
performance against the schemes within the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan.
There is also a summary of the BCF Plan key indicators and progress against
delivering on the BCF targets. Where data is not yet available for the metrics
and proposed targets the published baselines are shown.

Metric

Commentary

Metric 1: Admissions to
Care aged 65+

The current data shows an estimate of the full year
figure for 2015/16. The forecast for permanent
admissions to either residential or nursing care of people
aged 65 and over per 100,000 population based on data
at the end of September has increased slightly. However
at 630.8 admissions per 100,000, this is still forecast to
meet the BCF target.

Metric 2; Older People
At Home 91 Days After
Discharge

A key measure in the Better Care Fund (BCF) is the
metric that measures the proportion of people
discharged from hospital via reablement services that
are still living at home 91 days later. For those people
discharged between April 15 and June 15 with
accommodation location between July and September
the figure was 82.3% against the BCF target of 82% and

174

is currently rated ‘green’.
Metric 3: Delayed
transfer of care from
hospital per 100,000

The BCF target is a measure of delayed days per
100,000 population. The target for Q2 is 256.0 and
performance at Q2 remains slightly higher at 264.6
delayed days per 1,000 population. Based on the adult
social care data snapshot on the last Thursday of
August, the position is similar to the previous month (8
ASC delays compared to 9 in July; 38 NHS delays
compared to 40 in July). As such the average month
since the start of the year remains lower than the
average month last year (ASC is 8.0 compared to 11.5
in 2014/15; For NHS delays the difference is 37.6 this
year compared to 63.8 last year). For ASC delays, the
number of days delayed in August was 129, significantly
lower than 208 in July and the lowest monthly total in the
past eighteen months (they peaked at 351 in November
2014).

Metric 4: Total nonelective admissions into
hospital (general and
acute), per 100,000
population, per month

Data for the period January to August 2015 shows a
drop from a rate of 742 non-elective admissions per
100,000 population in July to 730 in August. Against a
target to reduce non-elective admissions to 56,273 by
December 2015, the health and social care economy in
Leicestershire is forecast to run over by 2,605 (or 4.6%)
and that 58,878 admissions will be made by patients
registered with GPs in Leicestershire. Though see BCF
avoided admissions para 4 below.

Metric 5: Patient/service
user experience.
Patients satisfied with
support to manage long
term health conditions

Based on the aggregated data for July to September
2014 and January to March 2015 61.6% of the people
that answered this question in the survey, reported that
they have received enough support from local services/
organisations to help manage their long-term
condition(s). This is a small drop in performance from
64.2% from 2013/14.

Metric 6: Emergency
admissions for injuries
due to falls in people
aged 65 and over per
100,000 population, per
month.

The definition of the data reporting for these indicators is
that it is required at resident County HWBB level. GEM
currently receives provider information at this level into
their database from providers but queries will have to be
written to extract it. This is currently being discussed
with Public Health and GEM CSU. Further testing on
data from the provider will also be needed to ensure
data quality and robustness. Getting an accurate
process at this stage is imperative for payment by
results reasons. The RAG status has not been updated
as the current data is not a true reflection of the actual
position.

175

Performance Against Total Non-Elective Admissions
4.

The tables below show the total number of avoided admissions that the four
emergency admission avoidance schemes achieved against the pay for
performance target.

Monthly Performance
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
Monthly
166 166 166 168 168 168 172 172 172 174 174
Target
Actual
avoided
149 139 136 156 157 157 153 150 158
admissions
Monthly
variance
-17 -27 -30 -12 -11 -11 -19 -22 -14
against
target

Dec 15
175

Total Performance
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
Jul
Aug
Sep
Oct
Nov Dec
15 15
15 15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
15
Cumulative
2,04
166 332 498 666 834 1,002 1,174 1,346 1,518 1,692 1,866
Target
1
Cumulative
actual
149 288 424 580 737 894 1,047 1,197 1,355
avoided
admissions
Cumulative
variance
-17 -44 -74 -86 -97 -108 -127 -149 -163
against
target
5.

The action plan to improve performance against the four emergency
admissions schemes has been comprehensively reviewed and revised and is
currently being implemented. In addition, a review of the planned trajectories
is currently underway and proposed revised trajectories will be reported to the
November Integration Operational Group for agreement. A stock take and
position statement including revised risks and issues and actions to address
gaps will also be presented to the November meeting.

176

Integration Project Delivery
6.

Within the current Better Care Fund scheme delivery progress updates, a
number of issues have been noted and these are set out below.

Scheme
Seven day
services in
primary care

Commentary
WLCCG - pilot update
The draft service specification is due to be updated following
discussion at the CCG wide federation leads meeting in August,
where queries were raised pertaining to the suggested patient
pathway in terms of accessing a local GP over the specified
weekend period. Work is now underway to review the pathway and
to ensure that there is robust engagement with NHS111 and OOH
and that any opportunities to link with existing pathways are
maximised. It is envisaged that the pilot will commence in October
2015.
ELR CCG - pilot update
A proposal to extend the original pilot was considered by the CCG
Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee week beginning 19th
October. The enhanced scheme will extend to over 70k patients,
targeting 2% of the most vulnerable patients. Expressions of
interest from GP practices will be returned by the first week in
November, with a planned go-live at the end of November.
Practices will be asked to identify estimates of potential avoidable
admissions with a likely estimate to be 50 avoided admissions per
month. The target/trajectory will therefore remain zero until
December.

Glenfield
Hospital
Admission
Avoidance

UHL Programme Lead Helen Crossley and lead respiratory
consultant Dr Catherine Free attended the October Integration
Operational Group to propose a model of ambulatory care for short
stay patients.
The Clinical Decisions Unit (CDU) at Glenfield Hospital sees two
cohorts of patients – those that come in and will go home on the
same day, and those that will be admitted. This proposal aims to
create streaming of patients into the two groups from the outset, so
that those going home same day can benefit from rapid clinical
decision making and effective care planning back into the
community, and admission can be avoided.
The preferred option discussed was to fund a dedicated clinical
assessment and triage function for this stream of patients and to
implement this scheme as quickly as possible so that impact could
be seen during winter 2015/16. A number of actions were agreed in
order to implement the Glenfield scheme successfully, including
recognition that a coding change is needed to reflect that same day
patients will be coded as attenders not admissions, also that
impact will be measured on aspects of flow and admissions, as
well as the quality of the interface between Glenfield attendance

177

and care planning/navigation in community settings, also the
scheme will be subject to the same evaluation methodology and
clinical audit as the other emergency admissions avoidance
schemes.
Safe
Minimum
Transfer Data
Set

The minimum data set system has experienced some delays as a
result of IT resource constraints. The system is to be hosted by
UHL however their resources required to support the
implementation are all currently assigned to other projects of higher
priority. Further to an IT stakeholder meeting held in June, UHL
IM&T staff and their managed IT Business partner IBM GBS
(Global Business Services) have been revisiting the schedule and
resource availability. This process has taken a number of weeks to
go through and a revised timeline proposed with a new provisional
go live date in November put forward. November is still subject to
confirmation and UHL IM&T/IBM GBS will confirm this shortly as
part of their internal PID approval process. Once confirmation has
been received, project plans will be updated and revised schedules
shared.

Provider and CCG Dashboard - Appendix B
7.

Attached as Appendix B is a dashboard that summarises information on
provider and CCG performance. The Everyone Counts Dashboard sets out
the rights and pledges that patients are entitled to through the NHS. The
indicators within the dashboard are reported at CCG level. Data reported at
provider level does differ, and delivery actions indicate where this is a risk.
University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) Emergency Department (ED).
Waiting Time < 4 Hours

8.

The nationally set target is that 95% of patients that attend A&E should be
admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours of their arrival. This
currently stands at 92% at UHL.

9.

Daily performance continues to vary, however the year to date position has
improved compared to the same time last year. Actions include: redesign of
Leicester Royal Infirmary front door assessment and integrated Urgent Care
Centre (handover to go live 3 Nov 2015). Primary Care Co‐ordinators
supporting the Clinical Decision Unit at Glenfield (3 days per week in October
increasing to 7 days by Christmas). Pathway co-ordinators in the Bed Bureau
to divert GP admissions and proactive arrangements to manage anticipated
demand surge on Fridays and Mondays. A targeted communication campaign
for flu vaccine take-up and how to access appropriate services.

178

Ambulance Response Times, Handovers between UHL ED and Ambulance
and Ambulance Crew Clear
10.

The Care Quality Commission is due to revisit during the week commencing
16th November. Commissioners have had discussions with the Director of
Nursing from EMAS regarding the available localised quality information for
the area. It was agreed that the Commissioning Quality Team will produce a
draft quality schedule that will enable Commissioners to gain assurance
regarding the quality of care.

11.

Commissioners met on Monday 12th October with the Trust Development
Agency, EMAS and UHL to discuss the opportunities to improve the process
and reduce delays in the handover of patients between EMAS and the
Emergency Department at Leicester Royal Infirmary. An action plan was
agreed to deliver improvement within the next 8 weeks to include a 30%
reduction in lost hours and elimination of the 2 hour breaches.
Cancelled Operations - non re-admitted in 28 days

12.

This target relates to the percentage of patients that are offered a binding date
within 28 days or funded at patients choice, if their operation is cancelled for
non-clinical reasons. This was achieved in May, but not consistently
performing, with August having 4 breaches. These were Urology and General
Surgery patients who breached the 28 day rebooking target. This was due to
an increase in the number of cancer cases that created capacity problems in
the Intensive Therapy Unit.

13.

The key risk remains failure to follow the UHL cancellation escalation policy
for patients at risk of cancellation on the day. Escalation is to the Head of
Operations for resolution, prior to agreeing to any cancellations.
Pressure Ulcers (Grade 2)

14.

UHL reported 10 Grade 2 avoidable pressure ulcers in August 2015. This is
above the current threshold of 8 per month. UHL are focusing on the
prevention of tissue damage to heels and are reviewing equipment and
support surfaces to support pressure ulcer prevention interventions and antiembolic stockings. UHL are also implementing changes to the Tissue Viability
Team to strengthen Pressure Ulcer Prevention.
Never Events

15.

No new ‘Never events’ were reported June - August.
52 Week waiters (incomplete at UHL)

16.

This relates to Orthodontic patients, this service is commissioned by NHS
England. The service is now closed to new referrals with some clinical
exceptions. Funding has been secured from NHS England for 2 FTE locums
to clear the backlog. NHS England is contacting other providers to see if they

179

are able to treat any of these patients in the community. A Serious Untoward
Incident (SUI) investigation has taken place.
Diagnostic Waiting Times < 6 weeks
17.

In order to address long patient waits, UHL are working with Medinet to put on
weekend lists, providing 60-90 additional scopes per weekend. The
department is also in the process of transferring 300 patients to Circle, as well
as approximately 100 patients to Nuffield. Additional lists have also been put
on by UHL’s own consultants. The extra capacity is complemented by a
robust action plan aimed at addressing general performance issues in
Gastroenterology, with particular focus on ensuring that all lists are fully
booked and efforts to improve Cancer performance via access to Endoscopy
tests. There has also been a management review in the department and an
Endoscopy Manager has been appointed to focus solely on the service.

18.

The Intensive Support Team and NHS Improving Quality team will begin work
in Endoscopy on 22/10/15 to further assist resolving and sustaining
performance. This is however a stretching plan, but should allow UHL to
regain compliance of the diagnostic standard in December2015.
Cancer

19.

Cancer performance remains a concern for 62 days. Performance continues
to be monitored via the joint Cancer and Referral to Treatment Board. The
report from the Intensive Support Team (IST) visit to UHL was received midOctober which contained 37 recommendations. UHL have now shared an
action plan based on these recommendations. Progress of the combined plan
will be monitored through the Cancer/RTT Board. Elements of cancer
performance continue to be reported on a weekly basis. Following the
success of the first root cause analysis of the June 62 day breaches a further
3 reviews have taken place. This will become a rolling process with findings
and themes being fed into the action plan to ensure it remains ‘live’. Areas of
good practice identified continue to be implemented with executive oversight
to ensure compliance. 2 week wait referrals in August were lower than July at
2,453; however this is 12.5% up on the same time last year. The focus is still
on endoscopy due to the impact on cancer performance with a number of key
actions in progress to mitigate the current performance position. A 2 year
cancer pathway project focussing on UHL cancer pathways from point of
referral, referral to treatment, discharge and follow up is underway.
Improved Access to Psychological Therapies

20.

Both CCGs performance improved in August and early indications show
further improvement in September. Staffing is at full establishment. All GP
practices have been contacted regarding current waits and the CCGs are
encouraging self-referrals. Self-referral leaflets are now in all Community
Hospitals, Libraries, Urgent Care Centres and other community venues. LCR
Alliance is looking at the possibility of rolling presentations/adverts in Urgent
Care Centres, Universities etc. Arriva (Patient Transport Service) has agreed
to put self-referral forms within all vehicles. Voluntary Action Leicester has

180

been contacted and an IAPT article, with contact details and self-referral
information, has been sent to all voluntary organisations and community
group members.
Clostridium Difficile (C Diff) Cases – Leicestershire Partnership Trust
21.

The trajectory for 2015-16 for Clostridium difficile has been set at 7 by the
CCGs. There have been 5 cases in 6 months. All cases undergo a full root
cause analysis and lessons learnt are identified and actioned for the staff to
take forward.
Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to
healthcare

22.

2014 data for potential years of life lost (PYLL) for causes amenable to
healthcare was published in September. This is an estimate of the average
years a person would have lived if he or she had not died prematurely, and it
is therefore a measure of premature mortality. To achieve this indicator, a
reduction of 3.2% was required. This indicator saw a 16% increase in ELR
and a 1.7% reduction in WL.
Unplanned Hospitalisation and Emergency admissions

23.

With regard to the readmissions audit a report has been received and further
meeting arranged in October 2015 with UHL and commissioners to review
further actions required.

24.

High levels of activity continue for pneumonia diagnoses and heart failure or
shock with complications and comorbidities. On the former, a joint review with
commissioners and UHL clinicians confirmed that increased activity has been
observed at a national level. On the latter, ongoing monitoring arrangements
are in place to track activity levels on a monthly basis and a downward trend
is evident in the latest monitoring information.
Health-related quality of life for people with Long Term Conditions

25.

This is annual data and the next expected publication is November 2015.
Estimated diagnosis rate of people with dementia

26.

Dementia figures have now been added onto the practice profile dashboards
and regular dementia communications are sent to GP practice dementia
leads and are included in the GP bulletin. Practices within the lowest quartile
are being supported via phone calls. Care planning workshops are being
held and include multi agency stakeholders. Localised dementia services
(health, social and voluntary sectors) are being scoped to pull together
service packs for practices.

181

Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their own condition
27.

This indicator measures the degree to which people with health conditions
that are expected to last for a significant period of time feel they have had
sufficient support from relevant services and organisations to manage their
condition and is from the GP Patient Survey. This has been RAG rated red as
2014/15 data is below the 2013/14 baseline across both CCG areas.
Health-related quality of life for carers – ELR only

28.

This indicator measures health-related quality of life for people who identify
themselves as helping or supporting family members, friends, neighbours or
others with their long-term physical or mental illness/disability or because of
problems related to old age. There has been no significant change in the
health-related quality of life for carers across ELR CCG. This is based on
responses to the GP Patient Survey.
Employment of people with mental illness (difference between England
population and people with Mental Illness)

29.

This is available quarterly and fluctuates considerably given the time of year
that employment data is made available. Data for Jan – Mar 15 is currently
reported, and this has considerably improved from Jan – Mar 14, but there
has been no improvement from the baseline position of July 14 - Sept 14.
This will continue to be monitored. This indicator is at Leicestershire County
level only, not at CCG level.
Patient experience indicators

30.

No new data from that reported in September, and next data expected in
January 2016.
Incidence of health associated infection CDIFF – West Leicestershire only

31.

There has been an increase in the number of CDiff cases attributed to WL
patients in June and July. A deep dive was undertaken and presented to
September’s Quality and Performance Group to understand any trends or
further information on this. The target of 77 cases or less during 2015/16 was
based on historic data. During 14/15 there were 80 cases across the CCG.

Recommendations
32.

The Board is asked to:
a) note the performance summary, issues identified this quarter and actions
planned in response to improve performance; and
b) comment on any recommendations or other issues with regard to the report.

182

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Better Care Fund Summary Dashboard
Appendix B – Provider and CCG Performance Summary Dashboard

Background papers
University Hospitals Leicester Trust Board meetings can be found at the following
link:
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-of-directors/board-meeting-dates/

Officers to Contact
Kate Allardyce and Sarah Cooke - Performance Team (Leicester & Lincoln)
Arden/GEM Commissioning Support Unit
Tel: 0116 295 7272, Mobile: 07795126428
Email: Sarah.Cooke@gemcsu.nhs.uk

Appendix A
Better Care Fund
BCF Metrics
Metric

METRIC 1: Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and
over) to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000
population, per year

Target

Current
data

670.39

630.8

METRIC 2: Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still
at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement /
rehabilitation services

82.0%

METRIC 3: Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000
population (average per month)

256.00

Trend

699.8

82.3%

Data RAG

630.8

82.3%

The current data shows an estimate of the full year figure for 2015/16. At 630.8
admissions per 100,000, this is forecast to meet the target.

G

The target relates to hospital discharges between October and December 2015 followed
by accommodation location between January and March 2016. The measure is
monitored on a rolling period with the current performance relating to hospital
discharges between April and June 2015 and accommodation location between July
and September 2015.

361.98

A

BCF DToCs targets are quarterly and 256.0 covers the 15-16 Q2 period Jul-Sep ’15.
The target shown is for March 2016. Performance in August is above the target. The full
Q2 performance will be the average of July-September

A

Target shown is pay for performance target of 717.44 for December 2015. March 2016
target is 656.16. Current data shows the August 2015 rate. This is provisional data and
subject to change when the Better Care Support Team publish revised guidance and
the submission template. (Q2 15/16 target 707.48)

A

Current data contains aggregated data collected from Jul-Sept 2014 and Jan-Mar 2015,
results published in July 15. Target is for March 2016.

264.60
METRIC 4: Total non-elective admissions into hospital (general
and acute), per 100,000 population, per month

735.67
717.44

729.99

729.99
63.2%

METRIC 5: Patient / service user experience. Patients satisfied
with support to manage long term health conditions

66.8%

61.6%

METRIC 6: Emergency admissions for injuries due to falls in
people aged 65 and over per 100,000 population, per month

140.47

151.42

61.6%

151.42
151.42

NA

Target is for March 2016. Work is still underway to identify this data at County HWBB
level.

183

G

83.7%

264.60

Commentary

184

This page is intentionally left blank

UHL

ALL PROVIDERS

Cancer Wait Times

Diagnostic Waiting
Time

Referral to Treatment

Hospital Quality

DTOC

ED Waiting Times

Patient Experience

95.2%
92.3%
98.7%
95.7%
80.1%
94.0%

Ƈ Cancer 31 day (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day surgery (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day anti cancer drug (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day radiotherapy (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - from screening service (WLCCG)
100.0%

95.6%

Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait Breast symptoms (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - consultant upgrade (WLCCG)

90.3%

Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait (WLCCG)

96.0%

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Incomplete (All Providers)
(WLCCG)
94.8%

96.0%

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Non Admitted (All Providers)
(WLCCG)

Ƈ Diagnostic Waiting Times < 6 weeks (All Providers) (WLCCG)

90.0%

1

Ƈ Never Events

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Admitted (All Providers) (WLCCG)

0

44

Ƈ Mixed Sex Accommodation

Ƈ Pressure Ulcers (Grade 2)

97.7%

1.5%

Ƈ UHL Delayed Transfers of Care - no. of patients as a % of occupied
bed days

Ƈ Cancelled Operations - non re-admitted in 28 days

21.0%

91.7%

Ƈ UHL Emergency Dept. Waiting Time < 4 Hours

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Handovers between UHL ED & Ambulance > 30
mins

97.0%

97.0%

Latest
Data

Ƈ Friends & Family Test Score - Maternity

Ƈ Friends & Family Test Score - in-patients

Indicator

APPENDIX B

LOW

Q2
(2015/16)

R
A
G
A
A
G
G
R
G
G

Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)

G

G

G

R

G

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

LOW

Q2
(2015/16)

A

LOW

Q2
(2015/16)

G
R

LOW

R

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

R

Q2
(2015/16)

G

DOT RAG

G

LOW

Trend

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Data Period

Indicator

QUARTER 2 2015/16

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - consultant upgrade (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - from screening service (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day radiotherapy (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day anti cancer drug (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day surgery (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait Breast symptoms (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Diagnostic Waiting Times < 6 weeks (All Providers) (ELRCCG)

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Incomplete (All Providers)
(ELRCCG)

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Non Admitted (All Providers)
(ELRCCG)

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Admitted (All Providers) (ELRCCG)

Ƈ 52 Week waiters (incomplete)

Ƈ Safety Thermometer (% No Harms)

Ƈ Pressure Ulcers (Avoidable Grade 3 & 4)

Ƈ Cancelled operations- Cancelled for a second time

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Handovers between UHL ED & Ambulance > 1
Hour

Ƈ 12 Hour Trolley Waits

Ƈ Friends & Family Test Score - A&E

PROVIDER & CCG INDICATORS

100.0%

95.0%

76.8%

95.4%

100.0%

86.9%

96.6%

96.1%

90.0%

93.9%

95.7%

95.8%

91.1%

258

94.3%

12

0

9.2%

0

96.0%

Latest
Data

Q2
(2015/16)

G

G

R

Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)

G

Q2
(2015/16)

G

R

Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)

G

G

A

A

G

G

G

R

G

G

G

R

G

G

DOT RAG

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Orthodontics Q2
(2015/16)

LOW

LOW

Q2
(2015/16)
Q2
(2015/16)

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Data Period

185

EMAS

IAPT

LPT

Quality - Safe Care

Community & Other

Mental Health

Mental Health

East Midlands
Ambulance Service

524

Ƈ Total number of Home Treatment episodes carried out by Crisis
Resolution team year to date

Ƈ MRSA Bacteraemia Cases - Community

Ƈ STEIS - SI actions plans implemented within timescales

(YTD Jun 15)

(YTD Jun 15)

(YTD Jun 15)

(YTD Jun 15)

(YTD Jun 15)

0 (YTD Sept 15)

100.0%

0 (YTD August 15)

16.2

Ƈ Average Length of Stay - Community Hospital rehab wards

Ƈ Never Events

1.1%

103.0%

Ƈ % Delayed Patients (DToC) - Community

Ƈ Early intervention in Psychosis - % newly diagnosed cases against
commissioner contract

(Jun 15)

(YTD Jun 15)

95.0% (YTD August 15)

92.1

Ƈ Average Length of Stay - Mental Health

Ƈ % of patients under adult mental illness on CPA who were
followed up within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric in-patient
care (WLCCG)

7.3%

95.0% YTD August 15

Ƈ Psychological Therapies- 18 week waits (WLCCG)

Ƈ % Delayed Patients (DToC) - Mental Health

36.0% YTD August 15

Ƈ Pyschological Therapies - 6 week waits (WLCCG)

49.0% YTD August 15

Ƈ Psychological Therapies- Recovery rate (WLCCG)

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

R

A

A

R

LOW

Q2
(2015/16)

A

R

R

R

DOT RAG

A

14.4% YTD August 15

3.0%

Trend

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Data Period

Indicator

QUARTER 2 2015/16

Ƈ Clostridium Difficile (C Diff) Cases

Ƈ Compliance with hygiene code

Ƈ Patients safety incidents reporting

Ƈ Patient experience of community mental health services

Ƈ % Admissions Gate Kept

Ƈ Occupancy Rate - Community

Ƈ % of patients under adult mental illness on CPA who were
followed up within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric in-patient
care (ELRCCG)

Ƈ Median Length of Stay - Mental Health

Ƈ Occupancy Rate - Mental Health

Ƈ Psychological Therapies- 18 week waits (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Pyschological Therapies - 6 week waits (EL&RCCG)

(YTD Jun 15)

(YTD Jun 15)

(Sep-14)

(YTD Jun 15)

(YTD Jun 15)

5 (YTD Sept 15)

4002

97.7%

90.8%

96% (YTD August 15)

27

88.8%

96.0% YTD August 15

43.0% YTD August 15

55.0% YTD August 15

13.4% YTD August 15

Ƈ Psychological Therapies - % of people who enter the service
(EL&RCCG)
Ƈ Psychological Therapies- Recovery rate (EL&RCCG)

0.6%

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Q2
(2015/16)

Data Period

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Ambulance Crew Clear > 60 mins

70.6%

85.5%

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A - ambulance arriving at the
scene within 19 minutes (ELRCCG)
Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 2 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical, less so than Red 1

56.5%

66.2%

Latest
Data

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 2 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical, less so than Red 1 (ELRCCG)

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 1 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical (ELRCCG)

PROVIDER & CCG INDICATORS

Ƈ Psychological Therapies - % of people who enter the service
(WLCCG)

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Ambulance Crew Clear > 30mins

92.0%

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A - ambulance arriving at the
scene within 19 minutes

89.6%

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A - ambulance arriving at the
scene within 19 minutes (WLCCG)
73.9%

63.0%

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 2 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical, less so than Red 1 (WLCCG)

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 1 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical

67.2%

Latest
Data

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 1 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical (WLCCG)

Indicator

APPENDIX B

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

A

A

G

G

A

G

A

G

R

G

A

R

A

R

R

R

DOT RAG

186

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

DOMAIN 1

DOMAIN 2

DOMAIN 3

DOMAIN 4

DOMAIN 5

PRIMARY
CARE

20%

Ƈ Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their own condition

Ƈ Employment of people with long term conditions (difference between England population and people with LTC)

Ƈ Health-related quality of life for carers

Ƈ Employment of people with mental illness (difference between England population and people with mental illness)

7CCG

8CCG

9CCG

10CCG

84.7%

Ƈ Satisfaction with the overall care received at Surgery

56CCG

77

Ƈ Incidence of health associated infection CDIFF

22CCG

432

Ƈ Incidence of health associated infection MRSA

21CCG

Ƈ Satisfaction with the quality of consultation at a GP Practice

0

94%
Zero
Tolerance

Ƈ Access to NHS Dental Services

20CCG

55CCG

95%

75%

Ƈ Access to GP Services

19CCG

85.1%

431

84

73%

86%

85%

#N/A

#N/A

Ƈ Overall experience of NHS Dental Service

130

1517

1131

Ƈ Proportion of people 65 and over offered rehabilitation following discharge from acute or community hospital

Below 871.2
(local data)
Below 1509
(local data)
Below 134.8
(local data)

38.0%

0.81

10.3%

64.6%

60.3%

75.1

103

736

1771.8

68.4

67.4

Prev Q
Data

18CCG

Ƈ Emergency Admissions for children with Lower Respiratory Tract Infections (LRTI) per 100,000 population

0.81

Ƈ Estimated diagnosis rate of people with dementia

6CCG

13CCG

11%

Ƈ Health-related quality of life for people with long term conditions

5CCG

Ƈ Emergency Admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission

64.6%

Ƈ Unplanned Hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s per 100,000 population (WLCCG)

4CCG

Ƈ Rate of emergency admissions within 30 days of discharge

67%

Ƈ Unplanned Hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions (adults) per 100,000 population

3CCG

11CCG

76.3

Ƈ Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to healthcare

45CCG

12CCG

67.9

Ƈ 1 year survival from breast, lung and colorectal cancer

47CCG

1736.1
(2014)
Below 682.4
(local data)
Below 118.9
(local data)

66.6

Tgt

Ƈ 1 year survival from all cancers

Indicator

46CCG

WL

APPENDIX C

85.1%

431

96

0

95%

73%

86%

96

1521

1076

25.8%

0.81

10.5%

62.1%

62%

75.1

106

723

1764.2

68.4

67.4

Latest
Data

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

FOT Sept 15

YTD Sept 15

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

YTD Aug 15

YTD Aug 15

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

G

A

R

G

G

R

G

G

R

R

A

YTD Aug 15

G

14/15
Leics Jan - Mar
15

LOW

G

Leics Jan - Mar
15

R

R

G

R

A

G

G

R
LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

14/15

Aug-15

(2013/14)

YTD Aug 15

YTD Aug 15

2014

2011

2011

Data
Period
DOT RAG

58CCG

57CCG

40CCG

39CCG

38CCG

37CCG

36CCG

33CCG

32CCG

31CCG

30CCG

29CCG

28CCG

27CCG

26CCG

25CCG

24CCG

23CCG

48CCG

50CCG

49CCG

ELR

CCG INDICATORS

WL CCG

78

Ƈ Satisfaction with the overall care received at Surgery

86.8%

446

Ƈ Incidence of health associated infection CDIFF
Ƈ Satisfaction with the quality of consultation at a GP Practice

Zero Toleranc

96%

74%

84%

#N/A

Below 933.6
(local data)
Below 1469
(local data)
Below 168
(local data)

20%

0.84

0.111

Ƈ Incidence of health associated infection MRSA

Ƈ Access to NHS Dental Services

Ƈ Access to GP Services

Ƈ Overall experience of NHS Dental Service

Ƈ Emergency Admissions for children with Lower Respiratory Tract Infections (LRTI) per 100,000 population

Ƈ Rate of emergency admissions within 30 days of discharge

Ƈ Emergency Admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission

Ƈ Employment of people with mental illness (difference between England population and people with mental illness)

Ƈ Health-related quality of life for carers

Ƈ Employment of people with long term conditions (difference between England population and people with LTC)

67.1%

67%

Ƈ Estimated diagnosis rate of people with dementia
Ƈ Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their own condition

76.8

Below 701.7
(local data)
Below 136.3
(local data)

1625.1

69.1

69

Tgt

Ƈ Health-related quality of life for people with long term conditions

Ƈ Unplanned Hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s per 100,000 population

Ƈ Unplanned Hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions (adults) per 100,000 population

Ƈ Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to healthcare

Ƈ 1 year survival from breast, lung and colorectal cancer

Ƈ 1 year survival from all cancers

EL&R CCG Indicator

QUARTER 2 2015/16

85.0%

440

56

0

95%

72%

83%

#N/A

133

1632

1207

38.0%

0.84

10.3%

67.1%

54.0%

75.5

203

783

1701.5

69.6

70.2

Prev Q
Data

85.0%

440

68

0

95%

72%

83%

125

1663

1162

25.8%

0.83

10.5%

65.1%

56.8%

75.5

174

773

1978.7

69.6

70.2

Latest
Data

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

FOT Sept 15

YTD Sept 15

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

(Jul 14 - Mar 15)

YTD Aug 15

YTD Aug 15

YTD Aug 15

Leics Jan - Mar
15

14/15

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

G

G

A

R

A

G

R

R

A

A

R
G

R

A

R

R

R

G

Leics Jan - Mar
15

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

G

DOT RAG

14/15

Aug-15

(2013/14)

YTD Aug 15

YTD Aug 15

2014

2011

2011

Trend

EL&R CCG
Data
Period

R

A

187

188

This page is intentionally left blank

189

Agenda Item 14

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT FROM DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2015:
THE ROLE OF COMMUNITIES IN IMPROVING THE HEALTH AND
WELLBEING OF THE POPULATION
Purpose of Report
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Annual Report of the Director of Public
Health, which this year focuses on the role of communities in improving the health
and wellbeing of the population.
Background
2. The Director of Public Health's (DPH) Annual Report is a statutory independent
report on the health of the population of Leicestershire.
3. This year’s report is attached as an Appendix to this report. It builds on the report
of the previous year, which set out the case for focusing on the social and
economic factors which underpin health for everyone in Leicestershire. These
include healthy housing, access to quality lifelong education, fair and secure
employment and a supportive social circle.
4. This year the work has been further developed by looking at how public health
and our partners across the health system can strengthen and enhance the
impact that communities have on people’s health and wellbeing.
5. The aim of this report is to raise awareness of the role that communities have in
improving the health of the population and the need for all partners concerned
with the health and wellbeing of the population to work together to support and
develop this role in the future. The report also highlights the need for good local
leadership of this agenda to ensure that there are significant overall benefits for
our populations.
6. The report includes the 2015 JSNA Executive Summary as a data appendix to
raise awareness of this important strategic document and to set out the scale of
the challenges facing the health and social care needs of the population in the
future.
7. It is believed that implementation of the recommendations of this report will have
a significant positive impact on the health of our population.
Existing Framework / Previous Decisions

190
8. Last year's report focussed on the wider determinants of health and this report
includes an update on progress against the recommendations made in that report.
Consultations
9. The report is the independent report of the Director of Public Health.
Resource Implications
10. Full implementation of the recommendations of the report will need to be
addressed through the commissioning cycle.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
11. Implementation of the report’s recommendations would have a positive impact on
health inequalities.
Partnership Working Implications
12. The recommendations within this report focus on actions across local government
that will improve the population’s health. The recommendations focus not just on
the actions that Public Health will need to take as a lead agency, but on the
actions that they can support as a partner as well as the actions that they can
influence as an advocate. The basis of the report is improving population health in
partnership with other key agencies and addressing the wider determinants of
health is only possible through partnership working.
Conclusions / Recommendations
13. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board support the
recommendations in the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report.
Officer to Contact
Mike Sandys
Director of Public Health
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
Telephone: 0116 3057913

191

Annual Report of the
Director of Public Health
2015
Leicestershire
The role of communities in improving the health
and wellbeing of the population

192
2

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Foreword
In my last annual report, I set out the case for focusing on the
social and economic factors which underpin health for everyone
in Leicestershire. These include healthy housing, access to
quality lifelong education, fair and secure employment and a
supportive social circle. Last year’s report also set out the roles
public health can play: to be a leader in areas where we have a
direct influence; to be a partner working alongside others in joint
initiatives; and to be an advocate or champion for health in wider
spheres.
This year’s report seeks to build on this work by looking at how public
health and our partners across the health system can strengthen and
enhance the impact that communities have on people’s health and
wellbeing.
As the opening section of the report sets out, people in Leicestershire
are living ever longer lives, meaning that there are increasing numbers of
older people living with long-term conditions and disabilities. It is therefore
essential that we redouble our focus on preventing ill health, so that people
not only live longer lives but also remain healthier for longer. At the same
time we have to recognise that more people will need support and help
with their health and care needs.
I have attached the 2015 JSNA Executive Summary as an appendix to this
report. This describes the changing demography across Leicestershire over
the next 25 years and highlights:
t there will be an estimated 56% growth in people aged 65-84 years and
190% growth in people aged 85 years and over;
t this will be accompanied by a 2% reduction in the number of working
age adults (people aged 25-64 years);
t the increase in older people will mean that across Leicestershire there
will be more people living for longer with long term conditions and age
related disabilities;
t life expectancy across Leicestershire is better than the England average,
80.1 years in 2010-12 for males and 84.0 years for females;
t healthy life expectancy, is much lower for males and females at 64.9
years and 66.7 years respectively.

190%
growth in people
aged 85 years
and over

193
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

This highlights the need to work together across the wider health and
wellbeing economy, to focus on how we support people to become healthy
older people.
Communities have a valuable role to play in tackling these pressing
concerns, through empowering people to help themselves and providing
extra support where it’s needed. Equally importantly, being part of a strong
and supportive community that works together on local issues can in itself
provide an enormous boost to people’s health and wellbeing. It is important
that the County Council, district councils and local health organisations
work together in a coordinated approach to build community capacity.
The pages of this report contain some outstanding examples of work to
develop healthier communities across Leicestershire, and my thanks go not
only to everyone who has played a part in these projects, but of course to
everyone who has contributed to bringing this report together.
I look forward to working with you – whether as a partner organisation or
as a member of our communities – to build on this good work over the
coming year.

Mike Sandys
Director of Public Health

Mike Sandys
Director of Public Health

3

194
4

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Contents
Foreword

2

Contents

4

Introduction

5

Key findings and recommendations

11

Recommendations

15

Community centred approaches to health and
wellbeing in Leicestershire

16

1. Strengthening communities

16

2. Volunteer and peer roles

22

3. Collaboration and partnerships

26

4. Access to community resources

31

Feedback from recommendations for 2014

36

List of Abbreviations

41

References

42

List of tables
1. Range of outcomes from community
centered approaches

12

List of figures
1. The Determinants of Health

5

2. Community centered approaches

7

3. Prevention target operating model

9

Appendix 1
JSNA executive summary

45

195
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

/ŶƚƌŽĚƵĐƟŽŶ
Each year the Director of Public Health publishes an independent
report on the health and wellbeing of our local population. This
report is a statutory duty and intended to inform local strategies,
policy and practice across a wide range of organisations and
interests. The purpose of the report is to highlight opportunities to
improve the health and wellbeing of people in Leicestershire.
Last year the report focused on wider determinants of health and the
social and economic factors that drive health and wellbeing needs for the
population, using the 1991 Dahlgren and Whitehead model of the main
influences on health and wellbeing (Figure 1).1 The basis of the model is
the concept that some of the factors that influence health are fixed and
others can be changed. The factors that can be influenced are known as
the wider determinants of health.

tural and env
iron
ic, cul
m
o
me
n
o
c
nta
e
Living
and
working
o
i
lc
c
o
ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶƐ
So
Work
environment

Ind
i

So
ci

rs
cto

Agriculture
and food
ƉƌŽĚƵĐƟŽŶ

ks
or

ĚƵĐĂƟŽŶ

Unemployment

mmunity n
d co
etw
n
a
l
a
al lifestyle f
u
a
d
vi

Age, sex
and hereditary
factors

ns
iƟo
nd

Ge
ne
ra
l

Figure 1: The Determinants of Health

Water and
ƐĂŶŝƚĂƟŽŶ

Health care
services

Housing

Source: Dahlgren and Whitehead 1992

This report focuses on the role that social and community networks
have in improving the overall health and wellbeing of the population of
Leicestershire. Social and community networks include our family, friends
and the wider social circles around us, and they have a protective factor in
terms of our health.

5

196
6

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

The report explores the role that communities (both place-based and
where people share a common identity or affinity) can have in improving
the health and wellbeing of individuals, communities and populations.
By doing this it is possible to identify the ways that communities can
work together to address the factors that will cause people’s health and
wellbeing to deteriorate. Confident and connected communities provide
the social infrastructure that is necessary for people to flourish. Individual
and community empowerment are core components to improving the
population’s health and reducing health inequalities. At an individual
level, joining social activities, connecting to others and taking part in local
decisions help keep us healthy and well.
The role that communities have in supporting health and wellbeing will
become increasingly important over the next few years. All public services
across Leicestershire will face a very difficult financial challenge. For
example, Leicestershire County Council has to save at least £110 million
(or a third of its budget) over the next four years. Demand for services
is growing. People are living longer, which means that when they need
services they need them for longer, and people are working for a smaller
proportion of their lives. However, this also means that there may be more
people who can volunteer and support people in communities.

EĂƟŽŶĂůƌŝǀĞƌƐ͗
In 2015, Public Health England and NHS England published “A guide
to community-centred approaches for health and wellbeing”.2 This
guide summarises recent research and learning on community centred
approaches for health and wellbeing, based on the premise that the
assets within communities (such as skills and knowledge, social networks
and community organisations) are the building blocks for good health
and can help to increase people’s control over their health and lives. The
report groups a new ‘family of community-centred approaches’ under four
different strands (Figure 2):2

“Confident
and connected
communities
provide the social
infrastructure that is
necessary for people
to flourish”

197
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

1. strengthening communities – building on community capacities to
take action together on health and the social determinants of health;
2. volunteer and peer roles – enhancing individuals’ capabilities to
provide advice, information and support or organise activities around
health and wellbeing in their or other communities;
3. collaborations and partnerships – communities and local services
working together at any stage of the planning cycle, from identifying
needs through to implementation and evaluation; and
4. access to community resources – connecting people to community
resources, practical help, group activities and volunteering
opportunities to meet health needs and increase social participation.

Figure 2: The family of community-centred
approaches for health and wellbeing2
Community-centred approaches for health & wellbeing
Strengthening
communities

Volunteer peer roles

Collaborations &
partnerships

Access to community
resources

Community
development

Bridging roles

Community-Based
Participating Research

Pathways to
participation

Asset based
methods

Peer interventions

Area-based initiatives

Community hubs

Community
engagement in
planning

Community-based
commissioning

Social network
approaches

Peer support
Peer education
Peer mentoring

Co-production
projects

Volunteer
health roles

The family of community-centred approaches for health and wellbeing (South, 2014)2

7

198
8

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

>ŽĐĂůƌŝǀĞƌƐ͗
The 2015 Leicestershire Joint Strategic Need Assessment Executive
Summary (Appendix A) describes the changing demography across
Leicestershire over the next 25 years and highlights:
t there will be an estimated 56% growth in people aged 65-84 years;3
t there will be a 190% growth in people aged 85 years and over;

3

t this will be accompanied by a 2% reduction in the number of working
age adults (people aged 25-64 years);3
t the increase in older people will mean that across Leicestershire there
will be more people living for longer with long term conditions and age
related disabilities;
t life expectancy across Leicestershire continues to increase. For males it
was 77.8 years in 2000-02 and 80.1 years in 2010-12. For females
it was 81.8 years in 2000-02 and 84.0 years in 2010-12. This is an
increase of 2.3 years for males and 2.2 years for females;4
t healthy life expectancy, is much lower for males and females at 64.9
years and 66.7 years respectively;4 and
t there is a need to work together collectively, across the wider health
and wellbeing economy, to focus on how we support people to become
healthy older people.
The JSNA highlights the importance of prevention at all stages of a persons
life, but particularly in working age adults, with an aspiration to increase
healthy life expectancy for Leicestershire residents. Supporting people and
communities to thrive in healthy environments and to manage their own
health and wellbeing is absolutely essential to having a sustainable health
and care economy in the future.
In the Leicestershire County Council’s Prevention Target Operating
Model 2015, the Council has reviewed it’s approach to prevention across
the whole authority and developed a framework, or target operating model,
for prevention. This framework identifies four tiers in the council’s approach
to prevention, illustrated in Figure 3.

Healthy life
expectancy

64.9
66.7

years for males

years for females

199
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Pot
ent
ial
for
dev
elo
pin
g in
teg
rat
ed
pre
ven
tion
ser
vic
es
thr
oug
h

tier
s

Figure 3: WƌĞǀĞŶƟŽŶdĂƌŐĞƚKƉĞƌĂƟŶŐDŽĚĞů

TIER 3
(Tertiary
Prevention)
- to soften the impact
of an ongoing illness or
injury that has lasting
effects

TIER 2
(Secondary Prevention)
- to reduce the impact of a disease or injury
that has already occurred

TIER 1 (Primary Prevention)
– to prevent diseases or illnesses before they occur, includes universal
approaches to advice, information and support

TIER 0 (Community) –
Organised support helping people use individual and community assets
to help themselves and others

Ambition = manage/keep people
lower down the triangle

Successful prevention depends
on well constructed programmes
with element of all levels

9

200
10

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Leicestershire Communities Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to
working with local communities and partners for the benefit of everyone:5
t by supporting and protecting the most vulnerable people and
communities; and
t by enabling and supporting communities, individuals and families.
The strategy is key to the delivery of community interventions set out in
the prevention model outlined in Figure 3. The Communities Strategy sets
out three priorities which focus on preventing people from developing poor
health and preventing people with established conditions from deteriorating
and needing services. These include:
t unlocking the capacity of communities to support themselves and
vulnerable individuals and families, therefore reducing the demand on
public services;
t supporting communities to work in partnership with Leicestershire
County Council to design and deliver services, including those currently
delivered by the council; and
t developing voluntary and community sector (VCS) organisations in
Leicestershire as effective providers in a diverse market which supports
delivery of the council’s priorities.

“The Communities Strategy sets out three
priorities which focus on preventing people
from developing poor health and preventing
people with established conditions from
deteriorating and needing services”

201
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

11

<ĞǇĮŶĚŝŶŐƐĂŶĚ
ƌĞĐŽŵŵĞŶĚĂƟŽŶƐ
Leicestershire County Council’s recently approved Communities
Strategy sets out a framework for developing community
based approaches. The central philosophy of the Communities
Strategy is prevention and this should be the driving force behind
community led models.
This report sets out a framework for developing community based
approaches that can improve the health and wellbeing of the population,
and provides examples of some of the initiatives that are already
happening across Leicestershire. The report also identifies areas where
the researchers found less evidence of local schemes. It is demonstrated
that the framework is an effective approach for providing communities with
opportunities to improve health and wellbeing. However, the very nature of
community led approaches means that these are not being systematically
applied across Leicestershire, and to be most effective each community
will need to be able to develop the community interventions that are most
suitable for their needs. Joined up working between the Public Health
Department and the Policy and Communities Team within the Chief
Executives Department will help to ensure an effective and co-ordinated
approach to prevention. Community approaches will be central to this and
to the delivery of the Communities Strategy.
Outcomes are often connected to one another with community-centred
approaches. For example, mental health improvements may include
lifestyle change. People involved in providing support through communitycentred approaches are as likely to benefit from their involvement as the
people that are accessing the support. This is very effectively illustrated
in the case studies that have been used throughout this report. These
links are reinforced where an intervention has worked well. The range of
outcomes from each of the community-centred approaches is shown in
Table 1.

“The central
philosophy of the
Communities Strategy
is prevention”

202
12

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

The case studies presented in the report show many positive outcomes from working with communities. However,
not all community-centred approaches will deliver measurable improvements in outcomes for people. Many
schemes will not have sufficient evidence to draw firm conclusions or will report mixed results.

Table 1: The range of outcomes from community centred approaches
Individual
Health literacy –
increased knowledge,
awareness, skills,
capabilities

Community level
Social capital – social
networks, community
cohesion, sense of
belonging, trust

Community process
Community leadership
– collaborative working,
community mobilisation/
coalitions

Organisational
Public health intelligence
Changes in policy
Re-designed services

Behaviour change
– healthy lifestyles,
reduction of risky
behaviours

Community resilience
Changes in physical,
social and economic
environment

Self-efficacy, self-esteem,
Increased community
confidence
resources – including
funding
Self-management
Social relationships –
social support, reduction
of social isolation
Wellbeing – quality of life,
subjective and objective
wellbeing
Health status physical and
mental
Personal development
– life skills, employment,
education

Representation and
advocacy
Civic engagement –
volunteering, voting, civic
associations, participation
of groups at risk of
exclusion

Service use – reach,
uptake of screening and
preventive services
Improved access to
health and care services,
appropriate use of
services, culturally
relevant services

203
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

It makes economic sense to build on the capacity of communities. Using
2011 British Household Panel Survey (BHPS) figures the cabinet office
calculated the monetary value of volunteering to the wellbeing of the
volunteers as £13,500 per person per year.6 Time banking can have a net
value of £667 per person rising to £1,312 if quality of life is improved.7
Social return on investment analysis of community development in local
authorities has indicated a return of £2.16 for every pound invested,8 with
a value to volunteers of £6 for every pound invested.8 There is definite
potential to offer significant return on investment. However, poor retention
of volunteers, high turnover and low levels of ownership can push costs up.
Throughout the report, case studies have been presented that cross many
sectors of the community. This work is led by the different organisations
that work together across Leicestershire to improve health and wellbeing.
These organisations are collectively represented on Leicestershire’s Health
and Wellbeing Board. Raising awareness across this partnership of the
value and importance of community based approaches will be a significant
step towards identifying opportunities to work together more effectively to
build community capacity. There are some really good examples of local
community schemes that are delivering real benefits for local people.
However, there are gaps in what is being delivered and opportunities to do
more. In particular, community based participatory research, communitybased commissioning and co-production projects are approaches where
this research found a limited number of case studies and examples of good
local practice.
For community based approaches to have the maximum impact for local
people there needs to be good local leadership of this agenda. This will
ensure that all communities are able to make best use of the opportunities
to build their own local capacity. From a council perspective, there is a
need for the Public Health Department and the Policy and Communities
part of the Chief Executive’s Department to work together to increase
capacity within the local communities. There is also a need for the council
to work with partners in health, the districts, social care and the voluntary
sector to ensure that the opportunities for developing communities are
available to all of the people that would benefit from them.

“It makes economic
sense to build on
the capacity of
communities”.

13

204
14

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

There are a number of other implications from this report for the council to
consider. For example:
t the Communities Strategy should be embedded within all council
departments and within Public Health. It should inform service co-design
processes, commissioning processes and delivery on the ground;
t the five ways to wellbeing (connect, be active, take notice, keep learning,
give) should be used to assess, commission and evaluate community led
interventions;
t co-production models should be adopted as part of the commissioning
process to enable those at risk of exclusion to be involved in the design
and delivery of services; and
t community approaches should be developed using the best available
evidence. The council should advocate for partners to use this evidence
to determine which approach will be most effective for the community
being targeted.
Communities are vital building blocks for health and wellbeing. At an
individual level, joining social activities, connecting to others and taking
part in local decisions help to keep people healthy and well. At a collective
level, confident and connected communities provide the social fabric that
is necessary for people to flourish. An equitable health system involves
people in determining the big questions about health and care and actively
removes barriers to social inclusion. That is why individual and community
empowerment have to be core to efforts to improve the population’s health
and reduce health inequalities.

“Joining social activities, connecting to
others and taking part in local decisions help
to keep people healthy and well”

205
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

ZĞĐŽŵŵĞŶĚĂƟŽŶƐ
Building on last year’s report, the recommendations have been developed
along the three key roles for public health as defined by the World Health
Organisation, which include public health as a leader; public health as a
partner; and public health as an advocate.9 The recommendations are set
out below:
A Leader – The council should lead on programmes of work and
support initiatives that increase place and asset-based community led
interventions. The council should do this by providing opportunities
for community capacity building through the allocation of grants, by
including community-based approaches in service commissioning
and by disseminating and sharing of good practice. The Public Health
Department should redevelop its physical activity strategy as an
exemplar programme to trial these approaches.
A Partner - District and borough councils in Leicestershire deliver a
wide range services that can improve and protect residents health
and wellbeing such as, leisure, housing, planning and environmental
health. The Public Health Department should work in partnership
with district and borough councils to use a community participatory
approach to assess the health impact of their services and policies to
enable them to promote the positive impacts and mitigate the negative.
An Advocate - The Public Health Department should continue to
advocate that health is integral to all of the Council’s policies. It should
also develop robust community engagement that will feed into a
Social Value Framework, which will subsequently apply to all higher
value procurements across the authority. This will ensure all major
procurements take into account community views and knowledge to
improve and protect health and wellbeing.
These three recommendations (especially working in partnership with
local communities) should be further developed to support and empower
communities to take steps to improve their overall health and wellbeing.

“Health should be
integral to all of the
Council’s policies”

15

206
16

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Community centred
approaches to health
and wellbeing in
Leicestershire
This report uses the family of approaches outlined in Figure 2,
as a framework to review the evidence for community based
working and provides examples of where these approaches
are being used across Leicestershire. The report highlights
the opportunities to further develop these approaches in
Leicestershire and makes recommendations on ways that
partners across the health and wellbeing system can work
together to improve health and wellbeing.

ϭ͘^ƚƌĞŶŐƚŚĞŶŝŶŐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ
This group of approaches involves building community capacity to enable
community action that will improve health and the social determinants
of health.2 There are a wide variety of community capacity building
approaches and evidence has shown initiatives are more effective if they
are shaped according to the needs and characteristics of a particular
community. Taking this into account, such approaches have been shown
to increase social cohesion, creating communities that feel more connected
with each other and the wider services in their community.10 11 Benefits
include the development of skills and knowledge and the building of a
more united local voice with an increased sense of being able to rely on
friends or relatives for support.12 Benefits extend beyond the community
group involved to the wider community as a whole.13 Overall, community
capacity building has been shown to deliver a net economic benefit.2

“Building
community
capacity to enable
community action
that will improve
health and the
social determinants
of health”

207
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

17

ϭ͘ϭŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇĚĞǀĞůŽƉŵĞŶƚ

“A long term value-based process which
aims to address imbalances in power and
bring about change founded on social justice,
equality and inclusion”.14
A community-led approach to health improvement is concerned with
supporting communities to identify and define what is important to them
about their health and wellbeing; the factors that impact on their wellbeing
and take the lead in identifying and implementing solutions.15 This results
in interventions which aim to bring together a group of people, who often
share a common experience or characteristic, for support.16
Across Leicestershire, local area co-ordination (LAC) is being developed
as a key community development approach. LAC is focused on helping
isolated, excluded and vulnerable people, and communities to stay strong
and in control. The aim is to divert people from formal services through
sustainable, local individual and community solutions. LAC builds the
resources, networks and resilience of those who need help before they hit
crisis, and helps to foster an inclusive, friendly and supportive community
around them.
LAC is an asset based community development (ABCD) approach that
starts by identifying the resources and assets within a community which
can help to make the community more self-sufficient. Community assets
can be anything from existing sources of support (e.g. from voluntary
and community sector (VCS) agencies, community centres, faith groups/
places of worship) to the support which can be offered by individuals (e.g.
families, neighbours and friends). It can include any of the following and
more:
t informal support and friendship;
t cooking;
t domestic, gardening or DIY chores; and
t driving or accompanying people to appointments and shopping trips.

“LAC is focused
on helping isolated,
excluded and
vulnerable people,
and communities
to stay strong and
in control”

208
18

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Case study –>ŽĐĂůƌĞĂŽͲŽƌĚŝŶĂƟŽŶ;>Ϳ
Leicestershire County Council
Local Area Co-ordination is about supporting people and their families
to have a good life as part of their local community. The Leicestershire
LAC programme is being piloted in 10 areas. Each pilot area uses local
“co-ordinators” based in the community who act as a point of contact for
vulnerable people. They develop relationships with individuals, families and
communities offering interventions before they reach the point where they
need health and social care and other services. Each co-ordinator supports
around 60 individuals and families in their local communities, across
age groups and service types, including older people, those with mental
health needs, disabilities or health challenges. They normally work from a
community base such as a library, community centre, GP surgery or VCS
agency. They aim to:
t support the development of effective networks to enhance social
interaction and grow supportive relationships;
t spend time to understand the person’s strengths and aspirations;
t help people to plan, choose and control their own life;
t identify a range of community assets and resources which people can
access;
t link people to sources of informal support;
t help people to access other relevant services where required; and
t help people to understand progress against their goals and vision.
The intended outcomes from the programme include:
t improved health and wellbeing – feeling and staying well and happy;
t better quality of life;
t improved confidence and independence;
t stronger individuals, families and communities;
t improved confidence and independence;
t greater community cohesion, capacity and resilience;
t positive use of community assets and resources;
t increased numbers of people engaging in volunteering, training or
employment; and
t fewer hospital/emergency admissions and visits to GPs.

Local Area Co-ordination
is being piloted in 10
communities in Leicestershire
– Asfordby, Melton Mowbray
Town, Hastings ward in
Charnwood, Thorpe Acre in
Charnwood, Barwell, Desford,
Newbold Verdon, Enderby,
Braunstone Town and Thorpe
Astley.

209
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

1.2. Asset based methods

“In an asset based approach, the glass is
half-full rather than half empty”.17
The ethos of this approach is to value and accentuate the positive
capabilities of communities, starting with strengths and focusing on local
capacity, skills, knowledge, connections and potential. The focus is on
building networks, promoting resilience, self-esteem and coping abilities
of individuals and communities, eventually leading to less dependency
on professional services.18 The aim is to build up community groups and
voluntary organisations; their informal associations and networks, their
collaborative relationships, their shared knowledge and therefore their social
power to make positive changes.

Case study – The Storehouse
;ŚƩƉ͗ͬͬǁǁǁ͘ƐƚŽƌĞŚŽƵƐĞŵĞůƚŽŶ͘ŽƌŐ͘ƵŬͬͿ
The Storehouse is a not for profit charity, run by approximately 40
volunteers, serving Melton and the surrounding villages. It was established
in 2008 by Melton Vineyard Church, initially responding to local need by
providing emergency food bags. It has expanded and is now run from a
former disused pub which volunteers refurbished in 2013 with help from
local scouts, businesses and the community.
The Storehouse aims to tackle social exclusion and improve the lives of
the vulnerable and disadvantaged within the community including those
experiencing poverty, social exclusion, loneliness, family breakdown,
physical and mental health difficulties, and ex-offenders. The holistic
approach deals with the whole person and supports them within an
informal, safe and secure environment. The sustainability of the project
is strongly underpinned by extensive partnership working with Melton
Borough Council and approximately 20 local agencies. This includes a
referral system, supporters who donate both goods and time, and work
experience placements.
Over the last 18 months, The Storehouse has helped over 500 individuals
and served over 1500 nutritious meals. In a focus group of users

19

210
20

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

99% stated they have made new friends, felt more included in their
community and less isolated. The project has created a community hub
where vulnerable people are supported, empowered and inspired to
help themselves and others. Users also form their own social networks
and provide peer support to each other, with some going on to become
volunteers themselves.
“I’m so incredibly grateful to Storehouse. I think it’s amazing what
they do here and I’d be lost without them. The staff here are so friendly
and helpful, they’ve literally saved me.” (Storehouse user)

ϭ͘ϯ͘^ŽĐŝĂůŶĞƚǁŽƌŬĂƉƉƌŽĂĐŚĞƐ

“Outcomes include more cohesive and
stronger communities, improved self-esteem
and people who feel more in control of the
decisions that affect them.”19, 20
These approaches include community organised activities which
strengthen social support between members. Interventions both enhance
existing networks and create new ones to improve the social links between
people. There are health and non-health benefits including reduced illness
and premature deaths, improved mental health and resilience, reduced
crime and delinquency, and positive impacts on employment.21 The results
are more confident and active communities, including increased social
engagement, support and more extensive networks.2

211
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

21

Case study – dŝŵĞďĂŶŬŝŶŐ
Leicestershire County Council
;ŚƩƉ͗ͬͬƟŵĞďĂŶŬůĞŝĐĞƐƚĞƌƐŚŝƌĞ͘ĐŽ͘ƵŬͬͿ
Time banking is a skills exchange network enabling local people to help
each other and build social relationships. For every hour of help a member
gives (for example, a guitar lesson) they receive one time credit which they
can then spend on receiving help from another member, with all hours
valued equally. Time banking is available for anyone in Leicestershire,
but focuses particularly on those using, or who may be at risk of using,
adult health and social care services, including older people, people with
disabilities and carers.
Improved outcomes gained from the project include increased community
support, social interaction, and peer support. Individuals who participate
gain positive social and practical experiences as well as improved
health, wellbeing and mental health. As of 1 April 2015 there were 172
members who have carried out 1,335 hours of transactions. Had these
been provided by adult social care costs would have been approximately
£13,439 highlighting the potential to generate longer term cost savings for
the health and social care system. Economic modelling suggests benefits
per time bank member could exceed £1,300 from an average cost of less
than £450 per year.22

1.4. Summary
These case studies reinforce the importance of the underpinning principles
of the “strengthening communities” approaches. They demonstrate the
value of building networks and capacity to enable more connected and
resilient communities, which can then continue to support each other.
There are many excellent projects being supported throughout the
county. However, much of the available evidence of outcomes is based
on small scale case studies. There is a need for a holistic approach to
the development and evaluation of these approaches across different
geographical areas, communities and partner service providers in the
area. There is a gap in the evidence of the benefits of the strengthening
communities approaches, both in terms of health and wellbeing outcomes
and financially in terms of cost benefits and return on investment to service
providers.

“There were 172
members of the time
banking scheme in
April 2015, who have
provided 1,335 hours
of transactions”

212
22

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

It is essential that more innovative approaches to the evaluation of
community led approaches are developed and implemented to provide
robust evidence of the benefits of these approaches.

2. Volunteer and Peer Roles
This group of approaches focuses on an individual’s capacity and
competence to provide advice, information and support including
organising activities around health and wellbeing in communities.
Volunteers or peer supporters are mainly drawn from their local
neighbourhood, and receive training to enable them to undertake a health
promoting role within their community. Most volunteers are unpaid and
deliver this role on a voluntary basis.
There is a long history of volunteering within the UK, with research studies
showing participation in volunteering is strongly associated with better
health, lower premature death, better functioning, life satisfaction and
decreases in the occurrence of depression.23 Giving to others is one of the
five steps to mental wellbeing with volunteering identified as one of the
ways to do this.24 Volunteers are seen as ‘active citizens’ and there have
been a number of examples of highly successful public health volunteer
projects ranging from access to contraception in the early 20th century to
campaigns on disability rights.25
In addition to personal mental and physical health benefits, volunteers
gain both formal and informal skills which can, over time increase their
employability26 as well as their confidence and self-esteem.27 The use of
peer educators or community volunteers in health improvement activities
can be effective in changing certain health behaviours.28 Involvement
of volunteer led activities requires investment and funding but has been
shown to have a positive return on investment.2

2.1. Bridging roles
These are usually carried out by volunteers (rather than ‘peers’) who
formally signpost people to services and information, supporting them to
improve their health and wellbeing.29

“Participation in
volunteering is strongly
associated with
better health, lower
premature death,
better functioning,
life satisfaction
and decreases in
the occurrence of
depression”

213
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Case study – ^ŵŽŬĞƐĐƌĞĞŶWƌŽŵŽƚŽƌ>ĞŝĐĞƐƚĞƌƐŚŝƌĞ
County Council
The Tobacco Free Schools Project is developed and funded by the council’s
Public Health Department. It is a comprehensive school-based programme
to prevent the uptake of smoking by young people in Leicestershire and
Rutland.
Part of the Tobacco Free Schools project is the role of the peer mentor/
youth advocate/ ‘SmokeScreen’ promoter. The roles vary depending on
whether they are developed within primary or secondary schools, and
include:
t supporting and advocating for smoke free environments, particularly in
homes and cars;
t helping to ‘diffuse’ the social norms message to other students in the
school via the creation of posters that will be placed around the school
or college and entered into an annual poster competition; and
t a number of SmokeScreen Promoters are given the opportunity to
volunteer to support trading standards in conducting test purchases
in areas identified as having a high prevalence of under-age sales of
tobacco.
The overall outcomes of the project include:
t an increase the number of young people who seek assistance to quit
smoking;
t a reduction in the number of young people taking up smoking and using
tobacco; and
t a reduction in overall smoking prevalence for the population of
Leicestershire.

Ϯ͘Ϯ͘WĞĞƌďĂƐĞĚŝŶƚĞƌǀĞŶƟŽŶƐ
These interventions aim to capitalise on the social influence of people who
share similar experiences or characteristics by recruiting and training people
from within the community of interest. This approach develops the capacity
of volunteers or peers to become ‘agents of change’.

23

214
24

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Case study – ƌĞĂƐƞĞĞĚŝŶŐƉĞĞƌƐƵƉƉŽƌƚƐĞƌǀŝĐĞ
;EŽƌƚŚtĞƐƚ>ĞŝĐĞƐƚĞƌƐŚŝƌĞĂŶĚ,ŝŶĐŬůĞǇĂŶĚ
ŽƐǁŽƌƚŚͿ
Children’s centres across Leicestershire lead the breastfeeding peer
support programme and provide support for breastfeeding cafes. The peer
supporters are mothers who have breastfed their babies, or are currently
breastfeeding, and are trained to provide other mothers with support
via telephone, social media or home visits. Peer supporters also attend
breastfeeding cafes.
This project focuses on mothers in North West Leicestershire and Hinckley
and Bosworth the two areas in Leicestershire where breastfeeding rates are
lowest. The aim of the project is to contribute to increasing breast feeding
rates at initiation and 6-8 week duration focusing especially on women
from disadvantaged groups to reduce inequalities.
This project is co-commissioned by Leicestershire County Council’s Public
Health Department and West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group.
The project aims to have a minimum of 30 active breast feeding peer
supporters at any time with a target of 15 in each district. It will contribute
to an increase in the proportion of mothers breastfeeding in each district.
At least one of the peer supporters has secured paid employment in a
children’s centre to organise and coordinate breast feeding cafes.

2.3. Volunteer health roles
These are more ‘formal’ volunteer health roles which are often focused
on reducing health inequalities. Volunteers usually receive training to
undertake the role and professional support is provided.

“The project aims
to have a minimum
of 30 active breast
feeding peer
supporters at any
time with a target of
15 in each district”

215
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

25

Case study – Carers Health Champions
The Community Health and Learning Foundation is recruiting volunteers
across Leicestershire who are carers or former carers. Leicestershire County
Council has funded specific events to recruit, train and support carers
to become a carers health champion. The champions use the insight,
knowledge and skills that they developed as a carer to help other carers
take care of themselves and to know where they can go if they need
additional support in looking after their own health. This programme is in
the early stages of development with two cohorts being trained – one in
Loughborough and one in Coalville. Recruitment for two more courses is
underway.
The training is free and will provide carers with the opportunity to:
t meet other carers;
t share experiences;
t gain insight into the challenges faced by other carers;
t consider how carers can develop coping strategies;
t learn key health improvement messages; and
t reflect on how to present those messages to carers.
After receiving training the carers health champions will go on to provide
other carers with practical and emotional peer support in order to help
them look after their own health and wellbeing as well as that of the person
they are caring for.
This programme is being funded by the Council’s innovation fund and will
be evaluated for impact, with the results of the evaluation being available in
2016.

2.4. Summary
These local case studies support the evidence on the positive impact of
taking part in volunteering. The evidence highlights the positive impact of
volunteering for the volunteer or peer supporter, as well as for the target
group or recipient of the support.
Using 2011 BHPS figures, the Cabinet Office calculated the monetary
value of volunteering to the wellbeing of the volunteers as £13,500 per
person per year.6 An analysis of the value of volunteers running activities

“The Cabinet
Office calculated
the monetary value
of volunteering to
the wellbeing of
the volunteers as
£13,500 per person
per year”

216
26

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

was £6 to £1 invested to employ a community development worker.8 This
demonstrates a potential for a significant return on investment.
Volunteering delivers a whole range of benefits, which include:
t having a positive impact on the community and increasing the
connections within that community;
t supporting individuals to make new friends and contacts;
t increasing social and relationship skills;
t improving mental and physical health; and
t improving job skills or providing career experience.
These benefits are in addition to the support that is being provided within the
local community through the specific and targeted volunteer and peer roles.

ϯ͘ŽůůĂďŽƌĂƟŽŶĂŶĚƉĂƌƚŶĞƌƐŚŝƉƐ
A key strand of community centred approaches is to engage and work with
communities to improve planning and decision making, ensuring a greater
focus on ‘done with rather than done to’. Collaborative approaches that
involve communities and local services working together can range from
a one-off consultation to longer term participation in planning and service
delivery. Partnerships with communities may include jointly identifying
need, agreeing priorities and actions and planning, implementing and
evaluating results.2 There is good evidence that involving communities
in the processes of planning, design, decision-making and delivery
can improve health and well-being and make policy initiatives more
sustainable.28 Whilst no particular model of community engagement is
thought to be more effective than any other,30 engagement is seen to work
best where it is an ongoing cumulative process enabling relationships and
trust to build and strengthen over time.31
Community collaborations and partnerships can help to address a sense
of powerlessness on the part of the community leading to a more resilient,
inclusive approach and a more positive view on the way a community feel
about their local area.10, 32 In some areas of work such as social housing,
communities that have owned and managed the work have performed
better than local authority owned social housing.33 Community coalitions

“Volunteering
supports individuals
to make new friends
and contacts”

217
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

27

can contribute to the effectiveness of certain community health improving
behaviour change, particularly if they have been involved in the planning of the
initiative.28

ϯ͘ϭ͘ŽŵŵƵŶŝƚǇͲďĂƐĞĚƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƚŽƌǇƌĞƐĞĂƌĐŚ
This is where a partnership between communities, services and researchers
work together to identify the needs of the community and develop programmes
to meet those needs.

Case study – tǇŵĞƐǁŽůĚWĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƚŽƌǇYƵĞƐƟŽŶŶĂŝƌĞ
In May 2014 the Wymeswold Parish Council appointed the Rural Community
Council’s (RCC) to produce and analyse a parish sustainability questionnaire.
The aim was to give the parish council a better understanding of where people
work and shop, which schools and medical practices residents use, and how
they get there.
The questionnaire was available online on the RCC website and a paper copy
was distributed door to door by the parish council. 166 replies were received
which equates to a return rate of 31% of households.
The questionnaire identified that:
t 93.5% of respondents use their car to get to their place of work;
t 40.4% of respondents use the Barrow upon Soar GP Surgery, 55.4% are
registered in East Leake; and
t 94% use their car to get to the GP and dentist, with others using their
bicycles or motorbikes, asking for lifts or using ‘dial a ride’.
When asked to ‘name the three things you most like about living in
Wymeswold’, common themes included: the village being seen as friendly with
a good community spirit; its rural setting; and good facilities including shops,
pubs and restaurant. A lot of people like the village’s central location with good
connections to large cities, major road networks and the airport.
The overwhelming ‘dislike’ was the volume and speed of traffic using
the A6006. Others were concerned about potential development and its
consequences, the inability to use public transport to get to the doctors and
dentists, inconsiderate parking, maintenance of grassed areas and dog fouling.

93.5%
of respondents use
their car to get to
their place of work

218
28

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

ϯ͘Ϯ͘ƌĞĂďĂƐĞĚŝŶŝƟĂƟǀĞƐ
This refers to community based initiatives that are targeted in a particular
geographical neighbourhood. This allows plans to be focused on the issues
that affect a particular geographical community and to tackle multiple
matters that are affecting the area in a holistic way.

Case study – Increasing credit unions in
,ŝŶĐŬůĞǇĂŶĚŽƐǁŽƌƚŚ
People living on low incomes in the borough were frequently using small,
short-term cash loans as a way of getting by. Since banks and building
societies do not offer loans on this basis, some people on low incomes
were turning to doorstep lenders – or ‘loan sharks’ – for their credit needs.
The project aimed to work closely with an established credit union,
Clockwise, to provide a community-based credit union that was active
in providing money advice, affordable credit and repayment schedules
to those on the lowest incomes in our community, tackling hardship and
protecting the most vulnerable. Hinckley and Bosworth District Council
helped to encourage volunteers from the local community to come forward
and find appropriate locations within the community to host surgeries.
As a result of the partnership affordable loans, savings accounts and advice
were made available in two priority local neighbourhoods. Since the launch
the credit union debt advice services have been provided on demand and
are continuing to increase in popularity.

3.3. Community engagement in planning
This is an approach that aims to involve local communities in planning
and decision making with local government and the NHS. It brings in the
insights of the local communities on the issues that are affecting their lives
and also means that the local community has a greater sense of ownership
of the plans that are developed.

219
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

29

Case study – The Big Plan for Broughton Astley
Broughton Astley Parish Council used The Localism Act 2011 to give the
residents the chance to develop their own neighbourhood plan. The aim
of this was to solve their long standing infrastructure problems within a
reasonable and realistic time frame. Funding from a “Front Runners” grant
from the Government was used to develop ‘The Big Plan’ and to pay for the
local referendum required to ensure the community agreed with the final
content of the plan.
The neighbourhood plan was produced by the Broughton Astley
Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, led by the parish council using the
views of local people gathered using a variety of difference consultation
approaches. This included a stall at a local carnival, evening meetings,
interactive road shows and a village-wide paper survey. A wide range of
stakeholders were invited to participate in an event aimed specifically
to gather their views and concerns. Local businesses were also asked
to complete either a paper-based survey or respond on-line. The
Neighbourhood Plan Referendum took place on 16 January 2014.
2,747 votes were cast, (38% of residents on the Electoral Register); of
these, 2,451 supported the neighbourhood plan, 89% of votes. For a
neighbourhood plan to be formally adopted at least 50% of all those who
vote must support the plan.
Consultation identified that local infrastructure was a key issue and that
the plan needed to cover local housing development, shopping facilities,
employment, transport, leisure and wellbeing, and environmental issues
such as access to green open spaces and renewable energy.
Following the referendum, a Neighbourhood Plan Delivery and Monitoring
Group was established by the parish council and a strategy was developed
(2014 -19).
Four key objectives were identified:
t to build a community and leisure facility;
t to improve and locate centrally the healthcare centre;
t to improve the range of shopping facilities; and
t to protect existing open spaces and heritage of the village and provide
additional open spaces.

“Broughton
Astley residents
developed their own
neighbourhood plan”

220
30

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

ϯ͘ϰ͘ŽͲƉƌŽĚƵĐƟŽŶƉƌŽũĞĐƚƐ
These are projects that seek to develop equal partnerships between
professionals and those using health and care services. This approach is
similar to many of the other approaches but is focussed on people with
established care needs.

Case study – Health for Kids – Health for Teens
School nurses at Leicestershire Partnership Trust wanted to enable children
and young people to ’help themselves’ to health in a format of their choice
and to provide an extension to their school nursing services. They developed
a Health for Kids website: www.healthforkids.co.uk and a Health for Teens
website: www.healthforteens.co.uk. Children and young people were actively
involved in co-designing the websites and the websites ensure that children
and young people have access to good, sound, safe and accurate information.
Several separate groups of children and young people were involved in focus
groups to develop the ideas and topics to be included and in particular shape
how they wanted to receive the information. The children designed the
characters and games used for the Health for Kids website. In its first year of
the Health for Kids website there have been more than 126,000 page views
and the first week of a new campaign’ Move it Boom!’ has seen 27,000 page
hits and 700 children have signed up to participate and record their activities.
School teachers are using the site in lessons and have particularly welcomed
the emotions section as an excellent learning tool.
Six and a half thousand individuals have visited The Health for Teens website
in its first 5 months, with 24,000 individual page views. The Health for
Teens twitter feed has 466 followers which is growing steadily. Young people
have continued to be involved in its development and as a result a range of
additional topics, apps, videos and vlogging (video blogging) facilities are being
added to the website. An editorial team of young people is being established
and consultations will continue on an ongoing basis to ensure the websites
stay fresh and meets the needs of children and young people and that the
content and style is always driven by what children and young people want to
know about. The children and young people have expressed their pleasure at
seeing their ideas and views taken on board as can be seen in the video they
prepared for the E-Health Insider (EHI) awards for which this project has been
shortlisted.

/ŶŝƚƐĮƌƐƚǇĞĂƌŽĨƚŚĞ
Health for Kids website
there have been

126,000+
page views

221
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

3.4. Summary
These collaboration and partnership approaches can lead to more positive
health and wellbeing outcomes and have been shown to improve a sense
of belonging to a community (social capital) and to improve a sense of
wellbeing. The chance to co-produce services can increase confidence
and self-esteem. Using people’s local knowledge and experience to design
or improve services can ensure they are more appropriate, effective,
cost effective and sustainable. They can encourage health enhancing
attitudes and behaviours. Individuals and communities can gain a sense
of increased control over decisions affecting their lives.34 There is good
evidence of the benefits of working in partnership with communities
to enable better planning, decision making and delivery. For these
opportunities to be used more widely and effectively statutory organisations
and professional need to be committed to sharing power and decision
making and support the development of staff to have the skills, knowledge
and values to work in this way.34

4. Access to community resources
The assets within communities, such as its skills and knowledge,
social networks and community organisations, are building blocks for
good health. It is important that we enable people and communities to
participate, contribute and also access these assets in order to be able to
improve their health and wellbeing.
Resources can include anything that may be community based, for
example, parks and green spaces or community pharmacies. Parks and
green spaces can help to address issues such as obesity, cardiovascular
disease, mental ill health or antisocial behaviour.35 There is evidence that
community pharmacies can have an impact upon smoking cessation
activities, cardiovascular disease prevention and management of diabetes.36
Access to assets can be helped through the provision of local information
and services, support groups and organisations which both signpost to
support or assist people in getting access to support. Examples include
“community hubs” such as children’s centres, community libraries and
citizens advice centres.

31

“The assets
within communities,
such as its skills
and knowledge,
social networks
and community
organisations, are
building blocks for
good health”

222
32

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Using an asset based community development approach starts with the
process of locating the assets, skills and capacities of residents, citizens
associations and local institutions. This builds up community groups and
voluntary organisations; their informal associations and networks, their
collaborative relationships, their shared knowledge and therefore their social
power to make positive changes.

ϰ͘ϭ͘WĂƚŚǁĂǇƐƚŽƉĂƌƟĐŝƉĂƟŽŶ
This covers the many routes that are being developed locally to help people
to access interventions that will improve their health and wellbeing. These
all build on the assets that already exist within the community – be it the
physical assets in the form of parks, green spaces or community centres
or the assets that exist in the people that live within these communities
through their own experiences and expertise and time. Local examples
include “social prescribing” to activities outside of the traditional health
sector, which links people up to activities in the community that they might
benefit from. For example referral to green gyms or walking schemes for
physical activity, food banks and welfare and debt advice.

Case study –&ŝƩƵĚĚŝĞƐ^ĐŚĞŵĞ
;,ŝŶĐŬůĞǇĂŶĚŽƐǁŽƌƚŚͿ
In 2014 the Hinckley and Bosworth Active Together team started to work
with local partners to set up a one to one physical activity scheme called
Fitt Buddies that would support people living with mental ill-health on a
one to one basis with their own personal Fitt Buddy.
In 2014, a service user called Steve was referred to the Fitt Buddies
scheme by MIND. Steve has been a wheelchair user since he was involved
in a serious car accident 10 years ago. Steve was in a coma for three
months, further hospitalised for six months and living in care for two years
before returning to his home. Steve went through a divorce throughout
his years in care and now lives alone rarely seeing his son. He needs 24
hour carer support. Before the accident Steve was a dedicated boxer and
was keen to choose a Fitt Buddy that specialised in boxing. His instructor
Kelton started a 12 week course of seated boxercise in Desford Village Hall.
As the programme came to the end of the 12 weeks, Steve had made so
much progress he had started to use the left side of his body again. Steve’s

223
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

33

support worker and brother both agreed that Steve was a different person
since meeting Kelton. Steve chose to continue the scheme and uses his
own personal budget to pay Kelton on a weekly basis for one hour.
In six months of working with his Fitt Buddies instructor the changes have
been remarkable. Steve now has full mobility and strength on his left side,
can box with his left arm, and hold a right leg up with leg weights on. Steve
enjoys the banter and has responded fantastically to the challenge.
Steve can now stand up with only a little support. He communicates
better, his speech has improved and his general body language is better.
Steve can hold a cup in his left hand and has even been out shopping
for a new wardrobe. We can’t get the smile off his face and other service
members from MIND and Richmond Fellowship say how calm he is now.

4.2. Community hubs
These are community centres or organisations focussed on health and
wellbeing that can provide multiple activities to address health or the wider
determinants of health.

Case study – Seated exercise and laughter yoga
ƐĞƐƐŝŽŶƐĨŽƌŽǀĞƌϱϱƐĂƚtŝŐƐƚŽŶ>ŝďƌĂƌǇ
The programme set out to engage with the older community and to
provide an opportunity for participants to gain a wider understanding of
exercises they can do in their home, as an addition to attending a regular
class. The sessions were held in the local community library in Wigston to
provide a convenient social hub for the weekly activity. There is continuous
signposting to other sessions, including Active Ageing Week. The aim is to
also take this type of exercise opportunity out to nursing homes and day
centres.
The programme has made a real difference to many of the participant’s
lives from a health, social and emotional point of view as the following
quotes from users demonstrate.
Female aged, 73 - “As I suffer from COPD this has a huge impact on
my life. I have found my symptoms to improve from attending the class
as it improves my mobility and I have learnt breathing techniques.”

“The programme
has made a real
difference to many
of the participant’s
lives from a health,
social and emotional
point of view”

224
34

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Female aged, 49 - “I was diagnosed with breast cancer a year
ago and have been coming to the class regularly even through my
treatment. I was very active before I became poorly so this class is
currently the right intensity level for my needs. As the cancer has spread
to my lymph nodes I am not able to lift any weight so the exercises have
helped my mobility and decreased inflammation in my arms.”

4.3. Community based commissioning
This refers to a process by which local communities are involved in the
commissioning cycle includes community engagement to understand
community needs, and commissioning services through third sector
providers.

Case study – Leicestershire County Young
Parents Forum
Leicestershire County Young Parents Forum is a group of volunteer young
parents who meet on a regular basis to inform and support the County’s
Teenage Pregnancy Strategy.
The forum was developed to ensure that service users remain at the
forefront of the Teenage Pregnancy Strategy. The forum is run and
managed by the Supporting Parents Under 20 project (commissioned by
the Public Health Department).
The forum has been involved in the production of a range of resources to
support their peers; deliver training to schools and professionals
around the realities of young parenthood; contribute to content for the
www.parentsunder20.co.uk website; support the development of the
pilot Baby Box project; and have been involved in the development of the
Quality Framework for learning providers.
The outcomes from the project include:
t engagement of young parents in the development of the teenage
pregnancy strategy;
t skills development, volunteering opportunity as peer supporters and as
trainers for the forum volunteers;

225
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

35

t peer support for the young parent (to-be) cohort (through a face book
page and parents under 20 website);
t resources widely accessed by the young parent cohort across
Leicestershire and beyond; and
t improved information available around the support that is available.

4.4 Summary
Improving access to community resources has a number of health and
wellbeing benefits. Using community assets innovatively increases the
awareness of the assets and will generate further use. As people get the
benefits of different facilities and services they will start to use treatment
and support services more appropriately and to manage their nonclinical needs more effectively. The case studies presented in this section
demonstrate significant benefit to people accessing community resources,
both as a user of the service and as a citizen contributing to the community
based approach.

“Using community
assets innovatively
increases the
awareness of the
assets and will
generate further use”

226
36

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

&ĞĞĚďĂĐŬĨƌŽŵ
ƌĞĐŽŵŵĞŶĚĂƟŽŶƐ
for 2014
In this section we highlight some of the initiatives that have taken
place in the past year that are linked to the recommendations
from the 2014 report.

The best start in life
1 Over the last year, 30 additional early year settings are now
participating in the Leicestershire Healthy Tots Programme and the
majority of settings with existing Healthy Tots status have renewed their
status this year.
2 A Free Early Education Entitlement Social Marketing Project has
been commissioned to identify ways to increase the uptake of free
early education for 2 year olds to improve ‘School Readiness’ across
the County.
3 A multi-agency integrated antenatal, perinatal and post natal pathway
is being implemented to ensure a holistic approach to all of these
services in line with the ‘1001 Critical Days’ cross party manifesto – the
goal of which is for every baby to receive sensitive and responsive care
from their main caregivers in the first year of life.

Healthy schools and pupils
4 The ‘End of Year Report’ for the Leicestershire Healthy Schools
Programme (July 2015) highlighted that 99.3% of schools are
participating in the Leicestershire Healthy Schools Programme. This
means that 92,600 children and young people benefit from attending
a healthy school in Leicestershire. In addition, over 35% of schools
in Leicestershire have achieved enhanced healthy school status by
achieving meaningful outcomes regarding a public health priority area
including sexual health, teenage pregnancy, substance misuse, healthy
weight, and emotional health and wellbeing.

92,600
children and young
ƉĞŽƉůĞďĞŶĞĮƚ
ĨƌŽŵĂƩĞŶĚŝŶŐĂ
healthy school in
Leicestershire

227
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

5 The Public Health Department in partnership with Leicestershire and
Rutland Sport have commissioned the delivery of a ‘Fundamental
Movement Skills’ Pilot project in one primary school in each of the
seven districts. The aim of the project is to improve basic movement
skills in primary aged children.
6 The Public Health Department via the Leicestershire Healthy Schools
Programme has advocated that schools adopt the Personal, Social and
Health Education (PSHE) Association’s PSHE programme of study, and
that they utilise the new Leicestershire PSHE Toolkit:

‘PSHE: Better than Good Enough.’
Economy and employment
7 A healthy workplace strategy for Leicestershire County Council is being
developed, co-lead by Public Health along with Corporate Resources.
Workplace health champions have been chosen from all departments
across the council and the emerging strategy will focus particularly on
healthy lifestyles, mental health and emotional resilience.
8 The Public Health Department commissions the Healthy Workplace
service which continues to provide support to small and medium
enterprises in Leicestershire by delivering a prevention programme to
help local businesses to identify and prioritise where and how they
can provide health improvement interventions that make it easy for
employees to lead healthy lifestyles in work.
9 The Public Health Department continues to work with partners in the
NHS, police, fire service, district councils, the Fit for Work team, the
education sector and voluntary sectors to develop sustainable healthy
workplace solutions e.g. through mental health first aid training,
introduction of mindfulness sessions in the workplace and through
promotion of ‘five ways to wellbeing’.
10 The Public Health Department plays a key leadership role in tackling
inequalities in both local authority and in the NHS through our
membership of the Leicestershire County Council Equalities Board and
through supporting our local CCGs to address the health needs of our
most vulnerable populations at both strategic and operational levels.

37

228
38

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

^ƚƌŽŶŐĐŽŵŵƵŶŝƟĞƐ͕ǁĞůůďĞŝŶŐĂŶĚƌĞƐŝůŝĞŶĐĞ
11 Local Area Co-ordination (LAC) is an approach to support people and
their families to have a good life as part of their local community. All
eight local area co-ordinators are now in post and are developing links
with hospital discharge teams and GPs to ensure LAC is utilised to
support vulnerable people in the 10 identified LAC locations.
12 The Public Health Department continues to work closely with the
policy, economy and communities team in the Chief Executives
Department to support the approach taken in the Communities’
Strategy. The cross-cutting review of prevention within Leicestershire
County Council has placed working with communities as a central
plank of prevention in Leicestershire. The NHS England/ Public Health
England ‘a guide to community-centred approaches’ document has
been used by Public Health and the Chief Executives Department
to inform what we do, and need to do, to maximise the role of
communities in health improvement.2
13 Local area co-ordination has given public health a base from which to
promote community development across partners. A jointly developed
‘asset based community development’ community of practice is being
developed with Leicestershire Partnership Trust to share good practice
and information.

ĐƟǀĞĂŶĚ^ĂĨĞdƌĂǀĞů
14 The Public Health Department have trained staff in comprehensive
Health Impact Assessments (HIA) and undertaken a desk based HIA
on the Lubbesthorpe Development Design and Movement Codes.
Recommendations are being considered by the Lubbesthorpe Project
Executive.
15 The Public Health Department is working in partnership with
Environment and Transport Department to develop a needs
assessment on the links between active school travel and perceptions
of road safety.

“The cross-cutting
review of prevention
within LCC has
placed working
with communities
as a central plank
of prevention in
Leicestershire”

229
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

39

16 Plans are developing to hold a joint summit on the links between
transport, planning and health hosted jointly by the Environment
and Transport and Public Health Departments to engage district and
borough councils and wider partners in the delivery of this agenda.

Access to green and open spaces and the role of
ůĞŝƐƵƌĞƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ
17 The Public Health Department continues to develop strategic plans
which integrate the use of green spaces and highlight the importance
of these community assets in improving public health and well-being.
The effective utilisation of green space assets will be an important
part on the county council’s physical activity transformation project,
which began in 2015, which will review the way physical activity is
commissioned and delivered in Leicestershire.
18 Members of the Leicestershire County Council Green infrastructure
team are now part of the Sport and Physical Activity commissioning
group which oversees strategic commissioning of physical activity
programmes. As a result, use of green spaces will become an essential
requirement when districts submit their annual commissioning plans to
deliver physical activity programmes in their locality.
19 The Public Health Department led Health Impact Assessment on the
new Lubbesthorpe development made a number of recommendations
relating to use of green space including increasing community
allotments and orchards and improving active transport links to
green spaces. These are now being considered by the Lubbesthorpe
Executive Group (see point 14).

tĂƌŵĞƌĂŶĚƐĂĨĞƌŚŽŵĞƐ
20 The Public Health Department successfully procured the Warm Homes
Healthy Homes project – a partnership between Papworth Trust and
NEA (national fuel poverty charity). The project commenced in April
2015 and a project co-ordinator has just been appointed. NEA are
currently undertaking a health needs assessment for excess winter
morbidity and mortality, and the project has already begun training and
awareness raising sessions as well as undertaking advice casework.

“The Public
Health Department
successfully
procured the Warm
Homes Healthy
Homes project”

230
40

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

21 The Public Health Department is a partner in the prevention of falls
in older people Better Care Fund work. Funding has been received
to implement and evaluate an exercise falls prevention programme in
all districts and Public Health is leading the evaluation of the better
care fund work around falls prevention. An injury needs assessment is
being undertaken, focusing on road injuries and a home injury needs
assessment will follow this.
22 The Public Health Department is a key partner in the Lightbulb project
and local area co-ordination, which are aimed at helping people to stay
in their own homes for longer.

WƵďůŝĐWƌŽƚĞĐƟŽŶĂŶĚZĞŐƵůĂƚŽƌǇ^ĞƌǀŝĐĞƐ
23 The Public Health Department commissions several long term
programmes to encourage healthy food choices. Over 120
Leicestershire schools are actively engaged in the Food for Life
Partnership. For the wider community, the ‘Master Gardeners’
programme has trained 45 Master Gardener Volunteers who are
supporting community groups and individuals to take up growing their
own fruit and vegetables.
24 The Public Health Department has extended its work with Trading
Standards bringing together the alcohol and tobacco illicit and underage
enforcement activity. In future this will be reviewed to ensure the most
effective and focussed activity takes place.
25 In the last year, over 120 schools in Leicestershire have actively
engaged in the Food for Life Partnership (FFLP). The FFLP seeks to
‘transform food culture’ – making healthy, tasty and sustainable meals
the norm, reconnecting people with where their food comes from,
teaching them how it’s grown and cooked, and championing the
importance of well-sourced ingredients. In addition 19 Leicestershire
schools across all seven Leicestershire districts were recognised for
outstanding work with school meals and food education as they
received their Food for Life Awards and ‘Enhanced Healthy School
Status’.

“Public health
is a partner in
the prevention
of falls in older
people better
care fund work”

231
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

>ŝƐƚŽĨĂďďƌĞǀŝĂƟŽŶƐ
BCF

Better Care Fund

CCG

Clinical Commissioning Group

COPD

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

DIY

Do it Yourself

EHI

E-Health Insider

FFLP

Food For Life Partnership

GP

General Practice or General Practitioner

HIA

Health Impact Assessment

JSNA

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

LAC

Local Area Coordination

LCC

Leicestershire County Council

LPT

Leicestershire Partnership Trust

NEA

National Energy Action

NHS

National Health Service

PHSE

Personal Health and Social Education

UK

United Kingdom

VCS

Voluntary and Community Services

N.B.
Use of the term ‘Public Health’ refers to the Public Health Department of Leicestershire County Council
Use of the term ‘Chief Executives’ refers to the Chief Executives Department of Leicestershire County Council

41

232
42

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

References
1.

Dahlgren, G. & Whitehead, M. Policies and strategies to promote social equity in health. (1991).

2.

Public Health England & NHS England. A guide to community-centred approaches for health and wellbeing.
48 (2014). at www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-wellbeing-a-guide-to-community-centredapproaches

3.

Office for National Statistics Population Projections Unit. 2012-based sub-national population projections.
(2014).

4.

Public Health England. Public Health Outomes Framework. (2014).

5.

Leicestershire County Council. Leicestershire Communities Strategy Leicestershire County Council working
in partnership with communities. at www.leics.gov.uk/n0735 _ community _ strategy _ consultation _
consultation _ v3 _ webaw _ 101214.pdf

6.

Fujiwara, D., Oroyemi, P., McKinnon, E., Oroyem, i P. & McKinnon, E. Wellbeing and civil society. Estimating
the value of volunteering using subjective wellbeing data. (2013).

7.

Knapp, M., Bauer, A., Perkins, M. & Snell, T. Building community capital in social care: is there an economic
case? Community Dev. J. 48, 313–31 (2013).

8.

nef Consulting. Catalysts for community action and investment: A Social Return on Investment analysis of
community development work, based on a common outcomes framework. Executuive Summary. (2010).

9.

World Health Organisation. Implementing Health 2020: A Public Health Summary. Strength. Integr. Heal.
Promot. Serv. to Support Deliv. Essent. Public Heal. Oper. 4- Heal. Promot. Incl. action to address Soc.
Determ. Heal. inequity. Summ. Broch. (2013).

10. Cairncross, L., Morrell, C., Darke, J. & Brownhill, S. Tenants managing: an evaluation of tenant management
organisations in England. (2002).
11. Popay et al. Community engagement in initiatives addressing the wider social determinants of Health A rapid
review of evidence on impact, experience and process. (2007).
12. Winters, M. & Patel, K. The Department of Health’s Black and Minority Ethnic drug misuse needs assessment
project. (2003).
13. Grimsley, M., Hickman, P., Lawless, P., Manning, J. & Wilson, I. Community Involvement and Social Capital.
(2005).
14. Lifelong Learning UK. National Occupational Standards for Community Development. (2009).
15. Daily, J. & Barr, A. Understanding a Community-led Approach to Health Improvement. (2008). at

233
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

43

www.scdc.org.uk/media/resources/what-we-do/mtsc/Understanding a community-led approach to health
improvement.pdf
16. Elliott, E. et al. Connected Communities - A review of theories, concepts and interventions relating to
community-level strengths and their impact on health and well being. (2011).
17. Foot, J. & Hopkins, T. A glass half-full: how an asset approach can improve community health and wellbeing. Improvement and Development Agency (2010). at www.local.gov.uk/c/document _ library/get _
file?uuid=fc927d14-e25d-4be7-920c-1add80bb1d4e&groupId=10171
18. Morgan, A. & Ziglio, E. Revitalising the evidence base for public health: an assets model. Promot. Educ. Suppl
2, 17–22 (2007).
19. Wallerstein, N. What is the evidence on effectiveness of empowerment to improve health?. (2006).
20. Woodall, J., Raine, G., South, J. & Warwick-Booth, L. EMPOWERMENT AND HEALTH & WELL-BEING:
Evidence Review. (2010).
21. Fisher, B. Community Development in Health – a Literature Review. (2011).
22. Knapp, M., Bauer, A., Perkins, M. & Snell, T. Building community capacity?: making an economic case.
PSSRU Discussion paper 2272 (2010).
23. Jenkinson, C. et al. Is volunteering a public health intervention? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the
health and survival of volunteers. BMC Public Health 13, (2013).
24. NHS. Five steps to mental wellbeing. 2014 at www.nhs.uk/Conditions/stress-anxiety-depression/Pages/
improve-mental-wellbeing.aspx
25. Laverack, G. Health activism. Health Promot. Int. 27, 429–434 (2012).
26. Seyfang, G. & Smith, K. The time of our lives: Using time banking for neighbourhood renewal and community
capacity building. (2002).
27. Boyle, D., Clark, S. & Burns, S. Hidden work: Co-production by people outside paid employment. (2006).
28. Swainston, K. & Summerbell, C. The effectiveness of community engagement approaches and methods for
health promotion interventions. Rapid Review Phase 3. (2008).
29. Eng, E., Parker, E. & Harlan, C. Lay health advisor intervention strategies: a continuum from natural helping to
paraprofessional helping. Heal. Educ. Behav. 24, 413–417 (1997).
30. O’Mara-Eves, A. et al. The effectiveness of community engagement in public health interventions for
disadvantaged groups: a meta-analysis. (2015).
31. Community Planning Toolkit - community engagement. at www.communityplanningtoolkit.org
32. Tunstill, J. et al. Implementing Sure Start local programmes: An in-depth study. (2005).

234
44

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

33. Goodlad, R., Docherty, I. & Paddison, R. Responsible participation and housing: Restoring democratic theory
to the scene. in Housing Studies Association, Autumn Conference. (2003).
34. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Community Engagement NICE Guidelines [PH9]. NICE
guidelines [PH9] (2008). at www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph9
35. Pevalin, D. & Rose, D. Social Capital for Health: Investigating the links between social capital and health using
the British Household Panel Survey. (2003).
36. Public Health England. Consolidating and developing the evidence base and research for community
pharmacy’s contribution to public health: a progress report. in Task Group 3 of the Pharmacy and Public
Health Forum (Public Health England, 2014).

235
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Appendix 1

Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment
Executive Summary 2015
Leicestershire

45

236
46

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

For more information please contact:
Public Health Department
Leicestershire County Council
0116 305 0705
phi@leics.gov.uk

September 2015 – September 2016

237
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

ĂĐŬŐƌŽƵŶĚ
Joint strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) analyse the health
needs of populations to inform and guide commissioning of
health, wellbeing and social care services within local authority
areas.
The JSNA underpins the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) and
commissioning plans. The main goal of a JSNA is to accurately assess the
health needs of a local population in order to improve the physical and
mental health and wellbeing of individuals and communities and to act as
the overarching evidence base for health and wellbeing boards to decide on
key local health and social care priorities.
Within the JSNA we are using the term health in its widest sense, as
defined by the World Health Organisation:1

“Health is a state of complete physical,
mental and social wellbeing and not merely
the absence of disease or infirmity.”
Leicestershire’s JSNA is overseen by the JSNA/JHWS Steering Board. This
is a sub-committee of the Health and Wellbeing Board and their Terms of
Reference and membership are available from the JSNA webpages.

47

238
48

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Figure 1: The JSNA in the context of the
,ĞĂůƚŚĂŶĚtĞůůďĞŝŶŐŽĂƌĚ
Health and Wellbeing Board

What does our population and place look like?
Collect the evidence

What are we doing now, how well is it working?

JSNA

What does this mean - now and for the future?
A narrative on the evidence

Joint Health
& Wellbeing
Strategy

So what are our collective priorities for action,
and how can we achieve them?

Commissioning
plans

What services do we need to commission
(or decommission)?

Outcomes
Framework

How do we measure success?

The JSNA has been developed from a detailed evidence base that
is available in a number of data dashboards accessible from our
JSNA website.
http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html
These dashboards have been described in a more detailed report that
looks at our population health needs and what we are doing to meet these
needs. The report also looks at the key issues facing our population in the
future. The key themes have been summarised in this executive summary.

Engagement
with users
and the
public

239
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

The 2012 JSNA
Our JSNA in 2012 is illustrated in Figure 2 which demonstrates that the
key health issues for Leicestershire were: giving children the best start in
life, managing the shift to early intervention and prevention and supporting
the ageing population. Mental health and targeting the communities with
the greatest needs were identified as key themes running across the whole
life course. This led us to develop our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
to underpin our central themes of:
t adding quality and years to life;
t addressing needs effectively through the life course;
t targeting communities with the greatest needs; and
t a specific focus on mental health needs.

Figure 2: 2012 JSNA
Targeting the communities with the greatest needs

Giving children the
best start in life

Managing the shift
to early intervention
and prevention

Supporting the
ageing population

Improving mental health and wellbeing
Tackling the
wider
determinants
of health by
influencing
other boards

Children and Young People Commissioning Board
The Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership Environment Board
Safer Communities Commissioning Board
Stronger Communities Board
Housing Services Partnership
Housing Planning Infrastructure Group
Leicestershire Rural Partnership
Community Budget Programme Board
Voluntary and Community Sector Strategy Group

49

240
50

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

In February 2015, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to include
learning disabilities as an additional strategic priority. This is detailed in the
report, “Update of Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013/16.”2 The
detail of the priority is included in Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing
Board Annual report 2014 which identifies a number of key priorities for
learning disabilities, to ensure we understand this population and have
effective support available to keep this vulnerable population safe.3
The 2015 JSNA shows us that we have made really effective progress in
improving the overall health of our populations. The infographics on pages
22 to 27 highlight the key health indicators for our populations and include
an indication of whether we are improving in these key areas.

Life expectancy in years

Figure 3: Life Expectancy at Birth

Life expectancy
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England © Crown Copyright 2014

With regards to our overarching goals to “add quality and years to life”,
life expectancy continues to improve year on year and in the 10 year
period from 2000/2002 to 2010/2012 there has been an increase in life
expectancy of 2.4 years for men and 2.2 years for women, an increase of
about 2 months per year. Life expectancy in Leicestershire is significantly
better than the England average for both males and females at 80.1 years
and 84.0 years respectively.

80.1
84.0

years for males

years for females

241
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

51

Healthy life expectancy is illustrated in Figure 4. Healthy life expectancy
is 64.9 years for males and 66.7 years for females. For both males and
females, a significant proportion of the population will already be affected
by poor health before they reach retirement age.

Healthy life expectancy in years

Figure 4: Healthy Life Expectancy

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, Public Health England © Crown Copyright 2014

Across the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland health and social care
economy we have set out our plans to work together to improve the
immediate challenges and needs facing our populations over the next five
years in the Better Care Together (BCT) Strategy.4 The data from the 2012
JSNA underpinned and informed the development of this strategy and the
2015 JSNA brings this evidence more up to date. The key themes that we
have identified from the 2015 JSNA are focused on longer term planning
– the ageing population is continuing to increase and we need to do more
across the wider health and social care partnership to prevent adults
from developing preventable long term conditions to ensure that we give
everybody the greatest opportunity for a healthy older age.

Healthy life
expectancy

64.9
66.7

years for males

years for females

242
52

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

dŚĞϮϬϭϱ:^EWƌŝŽƌŝƟĞƐ
The most significant driver of health needs for the Leicestershire population
is the growing older population.
In 2013, the total population for Leicestershire were an estimated 661,600
people. 126,100 people were estimated to be 65 years and over, and
33,400 were 85 years and over. 153,200 of the Leicestershire population
were under 20 years of age.

Figure 5: DŝĚϮϬϭϯWŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶƐƟŵĂƚĞƐĨŽƌ>ĞŝĐĞƐƚĞƌƐŚŝƌĞ
ϮϬϭϯƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶʹ
661,600 people
Over 85 years – 33,400
Over 65 years – 126,100
0-19 years – 153,200

йŽĨƚŽƚĂůƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ

Source: Office of National Statistics © Crown Copyright 2014

The population of Leicestershire is growing – between 2012 and 2037 (25
years) it has been projected that the total population of Leicestershire will
grow by 15% to over 750,000. However, this growth is not uniform across
the age groups with a projected increase of:
t 190% increase in people aged 85 years and over;
t 56% increase in people aged 65-84 years;
t 7% increase in children and young people aged 0-24 years; and
t A 2% decrease in the working age population (25-64 years).

243
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

53

Figure 6: ϮϬϭϮĂƐĞĚ^ƵďEĂƟŽŶĂůWŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ
WƌŽũĞĐƟŽŶƐͲϮϬϭϮͲϮϬϯϳ;KE^Ϳ

Source: Population Projections Unit, Office of National Statistics © Crown Copyright

The 25 year time frame that we are looking at is important. The Better Care
Together (BCT) Strategy 2014-19, published in June 2014, is a five year
strategic plan for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.4 The BCT Strategy
covers eight overarching service models - each reflecting the current
situation and desired outcomes in five years’ time, identifying how change
will be made. These are:
t VSHFOUDBSF

tNBUFSOJUZBOEOFXCPSOTFSWJDFT

t GSBJMBOEPMEFSQFPQMF

tDIJMESFOTTFSWJDFT

t MPOHUFSNDPOEJUJPOT

tNFOUBMIFBMUIBOE

t QMBOOFEDBSF

tMFBSOJOHEJTBCJMJUJFT

Through the Better Care Together five year strategy we have identified the
changes that we need to make for the health and social care system to
work more effectively in the immediate future. However, there is a need

dŚĞƚŽƚĂůƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶŝƐ
predicted to grow by 15%.
85 years + growth 190%, 15,900
to 45,600 people.
65-84 growth 56%, 106,000 to
164,900 people.
0-24 growth 7%, 194,800 to
208,800 people.
ĚƵůƚƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶϮϱͲϲϰ
reduce by 2% From 339,900 to
333,900 people.

244
54

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

to consider the longer term care needs for our populations. With our ageing
population, we need to consider the plans that need to be put in place to
manage future health and care needs and demands in the longer term, with
a focus on reducing preventable ill health, particularly in working age adults.
Our population is living longer than ever before. For males, the most frequent
age of death in Leicestershire is 80-84 years, with 19% of male deaths
occurring in this age group. Overall, 64% of deaths in males are to people
over 75 years of age and 83% are to people aged over 65 years of age. For
females, the most frequent age of death in Leicestershire is over 90 years of
age with 28% of female deaths occurring in this age group. 77% of female
deaths occur at over 75 years of age and 89% of female deaths occur at over
65 years of age.

56%
projected increase
in people aged
65-84 years

&ŝŐƵƌĞϳ͗Deaths by Age Group in Leicestershire and England 2013

Percentage of all deaths

Source: Population Projections Unit, Office of National Statistics © Crown Copyright

245
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

85%

Health needs increase with age. The 2011 Census data for Leicestershire
shows us that for people aged 85 years and over, only 15% of the
population do not have their activities of daily living limited (ADL) by a long
term health problem or disability. Nearly a third of this age group have their
ADL limited a little and over a half have their ADL limited a lot. There is
a clear correlation with age and as people become older their care needs
linked to ADL increase. In terms of absolute numbers, the population
with the highest number of people with ADL limited either a little or a
lot is the population aged 55-64 years, affecting over 23,000 people.
Understanding the population that have health and care needs linked to
ADL is a useful way to target our preventative services to reduce longer
term dependency on services.

aged 85 years and
over have their
ĂĐƟǀŝƟĞƐŽĨĚĂŝůǇ
living limited by a
long term health
ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶŽƌĚŝƐĂďŝůŝƚǇ

Figure 8: Long term health problem or disability by
age for Leicestershire, 2011
85+ yrs

75-84 yrs

65-74 yrs

50-64 yrs
Day-to-day activities
not limited
Day-to-day activities
limited a little

35-49 yrs

Day-to-day activities
limited a lot

25-34 yrs

16-24 yrs

0-15 yrs

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Source: 2011 Census, Office of National Statistics, © Crown Copyright 2013

90%

100%

55

246
56

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

The increasing older population will drive an increase in the number of
people affected by frailty. This is illustrated in Figure 9 which applies an
estimate of between 10-11% of the population aged 65 years and over
affected by frailty, estimating the number of people in Leicestershire that
are affected by frailty as between 12,200 and 13,400 in 2012 and
between 21,100 and 23,200 people in 2037.

Figure 9:ƐƟŵĂƚĞƐŽĨ&ƌĂŝůƚǇŝŶ>ĞŝĐĞƐƚĞƌƐŚŝƌĞ
WĞŽƉůĞĂŐĞĚϲϱǇĞĂƌƐĂŶĚŽǀĞƌ

ƐƟŵĂƚĞŽĨĨƌĂŝůƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ

Upper Limit
Lower Limit

Year

Source: NHS England’s Action for End of Life Care 2014-16, Population Projections Unit,
Office of National Statistics © Crown Copyright

247
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

The population growth patterns have implications for the provision of
services for older people. There will be more older people with complex
care needs who will require input from all parts of the health and social
care system. This will need to be supported by people providing unpaid
care through informal caring arrangements. However, the reduction in
working age adults suggests that, as well as planning for the increased
needs for services, there is a long term need to consider the infrastructure
needed locally to support people. Carers will become increasingly
significant to the wider health and care system and we will need to
ensure that their health and wellbeing needs are addressed. This will be
essential to maintaining independence and to support people to manage
their own health and care needs with a shrinking network of informal care
and support. It is also recognised locally, that supporting people to live
independently through appropriate housing provision is a key enabler for
the future sustainability of health and social care.
The real challenges facing the health and social care community are linked
to planning for this future population growth and a need to really start to
focus on longer term planning and prevention of ill health in this growing
older population. The NHS forward plan states:5

“if the nation fails to get serious about
prevention then recent progress in healthy
life expectancies will stall, health inequalities
will widen, and our ability to fund beneficial
new treatments will be crowded-out by the
need to spend billions of pounds on wholly
avoidable illness.”
The Health and Wellbeing Board need to adopt a model of preventing,
reducing and delaying need across the whole life course. This starts with
building community capacity to empower people and communities to
manage their own health and wellbeing needs across the life course and
ends with having the right care and support in place to meet people’s
treatment and longer term care needs.

57

248
58

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Figure 10: WƌĞǀĞŶƚ͕ƌĞĚƵĐĞ͕ĚĞůĂǇ

Prevent need
Reduce need
Delay need
Offer the
right
support
Prevent need – this is primary prevention of ill health and disability
in people who do not currently have care or support needs. This is
providing universal services to ensure that people have access to good
information and advice, are able to live healthy and active lives, live in safe
neighbourhoods and have good social networks to help to support them.
Reduce need – this is a tier of secondary prevention or early interventions.
Providing targeted interventions to individuals with increased risk of
developing a need for services and where service provision may prevent
people from deteriorating and needing to use services.
Delay need – this is a tier of tertiary prevention, which is aimed at
minimising the effect of disability or deterioration for people with
established health conditions.
Offer the right support – as well as people that fall into the categories
of need where interventions can prevent, reduce or delay the need for
support services or treatment, there will also be a cohort of patients where

249
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

59

these strategies will not be effective who will need long term services
and support. This cohort of people may still benefit from preventative
approaches including universal services, and opportunities to minimise use
of long term services and support should continue to be utilised.
Implementation of the prevent/ reduce/ delay model will ensure that we
start to make the changes that we need across the life course to deliver
a fundamental shift in services that we provide for our population from
treatment services to prevention services.

The wider determinants of health
Health inequalities reflect the inequalities that exist across the whole of
society. Between 2010 and 2012, the gap in life expectancy between the
most deprived areas and the least deprived areas in Leicestershire was 6.1
years for males and 5.2 years for females.
An individual’s health and wellbeing is influenced by a wide range of
social, economic and environmental factors such as good housing, a good
education, a fulfilling job and the personal relationships that people have.
This means that the opportunities to improve the health for everybody in
Leicestershire will come from the collective efforts of all parts of society.
In 1991, Dahlgren and Whitehead published a model of the main
influences on health and wellbeing (Figure 11).6 The basis of the model
is the concept that some of the factors that influence health are fixed and
others can be influenced. Personal characteristics, such as age, sex and
ethnicity, are highly significant for health but cannot be influenced, and
therefore sit at the core of the model.

Healthy life
expectancy

64.9
66.7

years for males

years for females

250
60

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

tural and env
iron
ic, cul
m
o
me
n
co
nta
e
Living
and
working
o
i
lc
c
o
ĐŽŶĚŝƟŽŶƐ
So Work
mmunity n
d co
etw
n
a
l
a
lifestyle
ual
fa
d
i
v

rs
cto

Ind
i

So
ci

ks
or

ĚƵĐĂƟŽŶ

Agriculture
and food
ƉƌŽĚƵĐƟŽŶ

Unemployment

environment

Age, sex
and hereditary
factors

ns
iƟo
nd

Ge
ne
ra
l

Figure 11: The Determinants of Health

Water and
ƐĂŶŝƚĂƟŽŶ

Health care
services

Housing

Source: Dahlgren and Whitehead 1992

Individual lifestyle factors are behaviours such as smoking, alcohol and
other substance misuse, poor diet or lack of physical activity. These have a
significant impact on an individual’s health. Influencing this section of the
model is key to a long term, sustainable health and wellbeing economy.
Social and community networks are our family, friends and the wider social
circles around us. Social and community networks are a protective factor in
terms of health.
Living and working conditions include access to education, training and
employment, health, welfare services, housing, public transport and
amenities. It also includes facilities like running water and sanitation, and
having access to essential goods like food, clothing and fuel.
General socio-economic, cultural and environmental conditions include
social, cultural, economic and environmental factors that impact on health
and wellbeing such as wages, disposable income and availability of work.
The 2015 Director of Public Health’s Annual Report reviewed the wider
influences on health and is accessible from LSR-Online.7

251
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

dŚĞ:^EWƌŝŽƌŝƟĞƐ
The evidence identifies a need to focus on increasing healthy life
expectancy. The emphasis must be to prevent the development of long
term conditions and disabilities in working age adults – those adults who
are 40-50 years old now but who will be 60-85 years old in 25 years
time. The vision developed for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2013-15 remains the focus for our population.

Vision
We will add quality and years to life by improving health throughout
people’s lives, reducing inequalities and focussing on the needs of
the local population.

We need to make the most of opportunities to identify and intervene early
with population groups at risk, through strong partnership working and
community involvement.
The JSNA priorities are underpinned by the core principles of:
t reducing inequalities;
t focussing on prevention;
t using evidence;
t sustainability; and
t dignity.

61

252
62

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

/ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐŚĞĂůƚŚĂŶĚǁĞůůďĞŝŶŐƚŚƌŽƵŐŚƚŚĞůŝĨĞĐŽƵƌƐĞ
Getting it right from childhood:
t investing in improving the health and wellbeing
of children gives greatest overall return across the
life course;
t addressing the wider determinants of health with
a focus on educational attainment;

Supporting young people as they transition to
adulthood:
t vulnerable children and children with health and
social care needs are particularly vulnerable when
they become adults;

t development of the healthy child programme for
0-19s;

t consistent support needs to be in place for the
young person and their family as they move into
adult services;

t meeting the needs of vulnerable children,
including children at risk of child sexual
exploitation;

t 16-24 year olds are particularly vulnerable to
risky lifestyle behaviours such as sexual health,
substance misuse and smoking; and

t supporting children with Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities;

t addressing the wider determinants of health
including young people who are not in education,
employment or training and young offenders.

t addressing mental health needs of children; and
t support for young carers.

Improving the health and wellbeing of working
age adults:

Supporting the ageing population:

t prevention in this population is essential for a
healthy older population;

t early identification and support for people who
are at risk of developing health and social care
needs;

t continue to reduce premature mortality from the
major causes of ill health;

t more development of the evidence base around
prevention for older people;

t reduce inequalities in health across the social
gradient;

t supporting older carers;

t reduce the preventable risks to health through
people’s lifestyle choices; and

t supporting more people to look after themselves
after illness or injury through reablement services;
and

t maximising independence for those with long
term and/ or complex needs.

t supporting people at the end of their life;

t planning for the future, including future housing
needs, developing community assets, planning
for emergencies.

253
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

/ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐŚĞĂůƚŚĂŶĚǁĞůůďĞŝŶŐĨŽƌŽƵƌǀƵůŶĞƌĂďůĞƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶƐ
Provide effective support for carers:
t supporting carers through implementation of
carer support pathway; and
t providing integrated support across health and
social care, with early identification of carers
needs and appropriate support.
Improving mental health and wellbeing:
t evaluation of newly commissioned services;
t improving awareness of mental health and
risk factors; and
t improving dementia diagnosis and support.
Improving services for people with learning
disabilities and / or autism;
t increasing support for people in the local
community;
t improving recording of people with learning
disabilities and sharing this information with
partners to ensure they get the best care;
t ensuring that people have access to effective
services that are tailored to meet their individual
needs; and
t equity of access to all services for this population.

Providing effective support for people with
physical and sensory disabilities:
t improve independence for people with
physical disabilities through the use of aids and
adaptations in the home;
t building of community capacity to support people
with disabilities living in the community; and
t improving access to services for people with
sensory disabilities.

63

254
64

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

dĂƌŐĞƟŶŐƉĞŽƉůĞǁŝƚŚŝŶĐƌĞĂƐĞĚŶĞĞĚƐ
The JSNA has identified a number of groups of people who are particularly
vulnerable and whose needs must be addressed effectively. This includes
all of the protected characteristics, as well as:
t vulnerable children and families;
t people with long term conditions and cancer;
t frail older people;
t people affected by poverty;
t people affected by, or at risk of homelessness, and
t carers.
As well as recognising the increased needs of our vulnerable populations,
we need to ensure that services are commissioned in a way that addresses
inequalities in health. By understanding the needs of people that are driven
by wider social inequalities such as poverty and the needs of individual
communities within Leicestershire we will be able to work together to
address inequalities. We need to make the most of opportunities to
identify and intervene early with population groups at risk, through strong
partnership working and community involvement. All commissioning
decisions and service plans need to reflect the requirements of the Equality
Act and Human Rights legislation.

Enablers
Throughout the JSNA we have identified a number of key partners and
priority areas that will help the wider health and wellbeing partnership
deliver improved outcomes for the population. These include:
t communities;
t assets (both individual and community);
t housing;
t education;
t work;
t promoting independence; and
t supporting carers.

255
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

The 2015 JSNA on a page
Vision:
We will add quality and years to life by improving health throughout people’s lives, reducing inequalities and
focussing on the needs of the local population.

Core principles:
Reducing inequalities | focussing on prevention | using evidence | sustainability | dignity
/ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐŚĞĂůƚŚĂŶĚǁĞůůďĞŝŶŐƚŚƌŽƵŐŚƚŚĞůŝĨĞĐŽƵƌƐĞďǇ͗
ͻ 'ĞƫŶŐŝƚƌŝŐŚƚĨƌŽŵĐŚŝůĚŚŽŽĚ
ͻ ^ƵƉƉŽƌƟŶŐǇŽƵŶŐƉĞŽƉůĞĂƐƚŚĞǇƚƌĂŶƐŝƟŽŶƚŽ
adulthood

ͻ /ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐƚŚĞŚĞĂůƚŚĂŶĚǁĞůůďĞŝŶŐŽĨ
ǁŽƌŬŝŶŐĂŐĞĂĚƵůƚƐ͕ǁŝƚŚĂƉĂƌƟĐƵůĂƌĨŽĐƵƐ
ŽŶƉƌĞǀĞŶƟŽŶĂŶĚĞĂƌůǇŝŶƚĞƌǀĞŶƟŽŶ
ͻ ^ƵƉƉŽƌƟŶŐƚŚĞĂŐĞŝŶŐƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶ

/ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐŚĞĂůƚŚĂŶĚǁĞůůďĞŝŶŐĨŽƌŽƵƌǀƵůŶĞƌĂďůĞƉŽƉƵůĂƟŽŶƐ͗
ͻ WƌŽǀŝĚĞĞīĞĐƟǀĞƐƵƉƉŽƌƚĨŽƌĐĂƌĞƌƐ
ͻ /ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐŵĞŶƚĂůŚĞĂůƚŚĂŶĚǁĞůůďĞŝŶŐ
ͻ /ŵƉƌŽǀŝŶŐƐĞƌǀŝĐĞƐĨŽƌƉĞŽƉůĞǁŝƚŚůĞĂƌŶŝŶŐ
ĚŝƐĂďŝůŝƟĞƐĂŶĚͬŽƌĂƵƟƐŵ

ͻ WƌŽǀŝĚŝŶŐĞīĞĐƟǀĞƐƵƉƉŽƌƚĨŽƌƉĞŽƉůĞǁŝƚŚ
ƉŚǇƐŝĐĂůĂŶĚƐĞŶƐŽƌǇĚŝƐĂďŝůŝƟĞƐ

Enablers:

Enablers:
t t

DPNNVOJUJFT

t t
BTTFUT CPUI
individual and
community)
t t

IPVTJOH

t t

FEVDBUJPO

t t

XPSL

t t
QSPNPUJOH
independence
t t

TVQQPSUJOHDBSFST

Prevent need
Reduce need
Delay need

dĂƌŐĞƟng people with
increased
needs:
Enablers:
t t
BMMQFPQMFXJUI
protected characteristics
t t
WVMOFSBCMFDIJMESFO
and families
t t
QFPQMFXJUIMPOH
term conditions and
cancer
t t

Offer the
right
support

http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html

GSBJMPMEFSQFPQMF

t t
QFPQMFBGGFDUFECZ
poverty
t t
QFPQMFBGGFDUFECZ 
or at risk of homelessness
t tDBSFST

65

256
66

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Best start in life
Smoking
in pregnancy

Number of babies

Average number of
infant deaths

Babies born with
low birth weight

2013

2010-12

159 X

2013/14

672 X

Number of
school age
children
with learning
disabilities
2014

3,261

Number of school
age children with
Autism Spectrum
Disorder

MMR at 2

2014

2014

2012/13

2013

15,558

596

96%

153,300

2013/14

Average number
of teeth decayed
in children
at age 5

Percentage achieving
a good level of
development at the
end of reception

2011/12

2012/13

0.9

46.3%

Year 6
children with
excess weight

2012/13

1,931 X

Teenage
pregnancies

5 grades A*-C
GSCEs achieved

2012

2013

2012/13

740 X

KEY

Amber:
Red:

45.2%

2012/13

1,461 X

Children
aged
under 15
providing
care

Percentage of
children aged 5 to
16 with a mental
health disorder

59.5% S

2011

1,109

2013

8.7%

Children in need
aged under 18

Alcohol specific
admissions in children
aged under 18

Young people
hospital admissions
for self-harm aged
10 to 24 years

Diagnosed
chlamydia
in young people
aged 15-24 years

2012/13

2010/11-12/13

2010/11-12/13

2013

4,658

101

981S

Colour coding:
Green:

All children
aged 0-19 years

Reception
children with
excess weight

16 to 18 year olds
not in education,
employment
or training

2012/13

435

Babies
breastfed
at 6-8
weeks

Number of
school age children
with Special
Education Needs

254 S

Looked after
children
aged under
18

2012

26 X

6,601

Significantly better than the
England average
Similar to the England average
Significantly worse than the
England average

Direction of travel:
Light blue: Significantly higher than
the England average
Dark blue: Significantly lower than
the England average

1,444 X

S Rate improved since previous year
X Rate similar to previous year
T Rate worse than previous year

257
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

67

Health and wellbeing of adults
Population

Life expectancy at
birth - male

Life expectancy at
birth - female

Healthy life
expectancy at birth
- male

Healthy life
expectancy at birth female

2013

2010-12

2010-12

2010-12

2010-12

661,575

80.1X

84 .0 X

64.9 X

66.7 X

Average
deaths per
year
2010-12

Alcohol related
admissions
to hospital

Increasing risk
drinkers

Percentage
who smoke

2013

3,718 X

2009

20.4%

18 .0% X

271T

Genital
warts

718 X

5,627

Adults aged
15-59 living with HIV
diagnosis

2012/13

2013

2013

Excess weight
in adults

Physically
active adults

Number of
abortions

2012

57.8 % X

1466 X
2013

2013

65.4%

Coronary Heart
Disease

Chronic
Obstructive
Pulmonary
Disease

Statutory
homelessness
- homelessness
acceptances

2013/14

2013/14

2013/14

2010-12

21,498

10,994

430

1.3 %X

Sickness absence working days lost due
to sickness

Diabetes
Mellitus
2013/14

Hypertension

Stroke or
Transient
Ischaemic Attacks

Cancer

2013/14

2013/14

2013/14

2011

97,035

11,329

15,157

70,431

34,825

KEY

Colour coding:
Green:
Amber:
Red:

Significantly better than the
England average
Similar to the England average
Significantly worse than the
England average

Direction of travel:
Light blue: Significantly higher than
the England average
Dark blue: Significantly lower than
the England average

Provides
unpaid care

S Rate improved since previous year
X Rate similar to previous year
T Rate worse than previous year

Average
number of
casualties
killed and
seriously
injured on
the roads

206 X

2011-13

258
68

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

/ƐƐƵĞƐƐƉĞĐŝĮĐƚŽĂŐĞŝŶŐ
People aged 65
years and over

People aged 85
years and over

65+

85+

People aged 60 years
and over living in income
deprived households

2013

2013

2010

126,100

16,200

19,845

Older people
(65+) providing
unpaid care

Households
experiencing
fuel poverty

Older people
(65+)
vaccinated
against flu

2014

2014

52,091

19,129

30,951 S

94,794 T

Older people (65+)
unable to manage at
least one domestic
task unaided

Older people
(65+) unable
to manage
at least one
mobility task
unaided

Older people (65+)
unable to manage at
least one self-care
task unaided

2014

23,406

Older
adults were
permanently
admitted to
nursing and
residential
care homes

930 X

Older people (65+)
predicted to be
admitted to hospital
as a result of falls

2014

2014

2014

2014

60,326

2,644

8,881

New sight loss
certifications

2012/13

2012/13

290 X

Older adults (65+)
predicted to have
a profound hearing
impairment

2014

2014

1,427

54,025

Average number of
excess winter deaths
per year (all ages)

Average number of
excess winter deaths
per year (85+)

2013/14

Aug 2009 - Jul 2012

Aug 2009 - Jul 2012

358 X

KEY

Colour coding:

Amber:
Red:

Older adults (65+)
predicted to have a
moderate or severe
hearing impairment

Number of people
on palliative care
registers

3,219

Green:

Older people
(65+)
predicted to
have dementia

42,846

Older people
(65+) supported
throughout the year

Significantly better than the
England average
Similar to the England average
Significantly worse than the
England average

170 X

Direction of travel:
Light blue: Significantly higher than
the England average
Dark blue: Significantly lower than
the England average

2014

47,123

2012/13

2012

Older people
(65+) with a
limiting long-term
illness

9,885

2012/13

Older people
(65+)
predicted to
live alone

S Rate improved since previous year
X Rate similar to previous year
T Rate worse than previous year

Older people
(65+)
predicted to
have severe
depression
2014

3,554

259
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

69

DĞŶƚĂůŚĞĂůƚŚ
Percentage of children
aged 5-16 with a mental
health disorder

Children hospital
admissions for
mental health

2013

2012/13

68 X

8.7%

Self-reported
well-being - people
with a low
happiness score

Self-reported
well-being people with a low
worthwhile score

Self-reported
well-being people with a low
satisfaction score

2012/13

4.8 % X

2012/13

4.7 % X

8.9% X

Self-reported
well-being people with a
high anxiety
score

21.0% X

Depression

2013/14

2013/14

2013/14

4,537

43,744

2,593

Mental health
problems

812 X

2012/13

Attendances
at A&E for a
psychiatric disorder

Older adults (65+)
predicted to have
severe depression

2012/13

2014

2014

200

3,554

11,214

Older adults (65+)
predicted to have
depression

Average suicides
per year

56 X

2011-13

KEY

Colour coding:
Green:
Amber:
Red:

Significantly better than the
England average
Similar to the England average
Significantly worse than the
England average

Direction of travel:
Light blue: Significantly higher than
the England average
Dark blue: Significantly lower than
the England average

2010/1112/13

981 S

2012/13

Number of
people with severe
mental illness
known to GPs

2012/13

Emergency
hospital
admissions
for intentional
self-harm

Young people
hospital
admissions
for self-harm

S Rate improved since previous year
X Rate similar to previous year
T Rate worse than previous year

Older adults
(65+)
predicted
to have
dementia
2014

8,881

260
70

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

>ĞĂƌŶŝŶŐĚŝƐĂďŝůŝƟĞƐĂŶĚĂƵƟƐŵ
Pupils with
learning
disability

Prevalence
of learning
disabilities (18+)

2014

2012/13

3,261

2,165

Adults
predicted to
have autistic
spectrum
disorders
(18-64 years)

Adults with
learning
disabilities
in settled
accommodation

Gap in the employment
rate between those with a
learning disability and the
overall employment rate

Adults with learning
disabilities in paid
employment

2013/14

2012/13

Adults predicted
to have a learning
disability
(18-64 years)

2014

KEY

Amber:
Red:

Significantly better than the
England average
Similar to the England average
Significantly worse than the
England average

Older adults
predicted to
have a learning
disability (65+)

2014

2014

9,723

2,699

Colour coding:
Green:

710 S

20 X

70.5%

3,994

2012/13

Direction of travel:
Light blue: Significantly higher than
the England average
Dark blue: Significantly lower than
the England average

S Rate improved since previous year
X Rate similar to previous year
T Rate worse than previous year

261
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

71

WŚǇƐŝĐĂůĂŶĚƐĞŶƐŽƌǇĚŝƐĂďŝůŝƟĞƐ
Primary school
pupils with a
physical disability

Secondary
school pupils
with a physical
disability

2014

2014

2012

148

104

48,390

People aged 1864 registered deaf
or hard of hearing

People
aged 18-64
registered
blind or
partially
sighted
2010/11

745

Estimates of adults
aged 16-64 with
a disability

Adults aged
18-64 predicted
to have a serious
physical disability

2009/10

2014

870

9,658

New sight loss
certificates

Permanent
admissions to
residential and
nursing care homes,
aged 18-64

2012/13

2012/13

290 X

KEY

Amber:
Red:

Significantly better than the
England average
Similar to the England average
Significantly worse than the
England average

2014

32,188

45 X

Colour coding:
Green:

Adults aged 1864 predicted to
have a moderate
physical
disability

Direction of travel:
Light blue: Significantly higher than
the England average
Dark blue: Significantly lower than
the England average

S Rate improved since previous year
X Rate similar to previous year
T Rate worse than previous year

262
72

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

References
1. World Health Organization. Preamble to the Constitution of the
World Health Organization as adopted by the International Health
Conference, New York, 19-22 June, 1946, signed on 22 July 1946 by
the representatives of 61 States (Official Records of the World Health
Organization, no. (1948). at
www.who.int/about/definition/en/print.html
2. Leicestershire County Council. Leicestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy January 2015 Update of Joint Health and WEllbeing Strategy
2013-16. (2015). at
www.lsr-online.org/uploads/jhws-refresh-201516.pdf
3. Leicestershire County Council. Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing
Board Annual Report. (2014). at
http://www.lsr-online.org/reports/787800
4. Better Care Together. A Partnership of Leicester Leicestershire and
Rutland Health and Social Care. Better Care Together Plan 2014.
(2014). at
www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/the-bct-plan/
5. NHS England et al. NHS Five Year Forward View. (2014). at
www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
6. Dahlgren, G. & Whitehead, M. Policies and strategies to promote social
equity in health. (1991).
7. Director of Public Health & Leicestershire County Council. The 2014
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health The wider determinants
of health. (2014). at
http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/n0499-public-health-annualreport-2014.pdf

263

264
74

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2015

Public Health Department
0116 305 0705
phi@leics.gov.uk

265

Agenda Item 15

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND HEALTH
PROTECTION ASSURANCE REPORT (COVERING APRIL 2014 TO
SEPTEMBER 2015)
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the three Health and Wellbeing Boards for
LLR that the Health Protection Board is delivering its statutory functions and to
provide them with the assurance regarding the whole system for health protection
across LLR.
Link to Better Care Together
Workstream

Relevance Workstream

Maternity, neonates,
children and young
people

Mental health

Long term conditions

Frail and older people

Urgent care

X

Learning disabilities

Relevance

Planned care
End of life

2. The Health Protection Board needs assurance that the system can respond to
health protection issues including outbreaks of infectious disease (such as Ebola
in winter 2014) and environmental hazards. Hence there is a link with the urgent
care BCT work stream including winter planning, emergency planning, surge and
resilience.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3. From April 2013 as a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 Leicester City
Council, Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils acquired new
responsibilities with regard to protecting the health of their population. Specifically
the local authority is required, via its Director of Public Health (DPH), to assure
itself that relevant organisations have appropriate plans in place to protect the
health of the population and that all necessary action is being taken.

266

Background
4. In order to discharge the health protection assurance responsibilities, a Health
Protection Board was established as a sub-group of the three Health and
Wellbeing Boards for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). The LLR
Health Protection Board is the way the Health and Wellbeing Boards are assured
that the health protection agenda is being adequately addressed and considered
in sufficient detail. The LLR Health Protection Board was established in June
2013 and now meets on a quarterly basis.
This is the second health protection assurance report received by the three
Health and Wellbeing Boards from the LLR Health Protection Board.
Conclusions/Recommendations
5. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to;
• Receive the Health Protection Board Report April 2014- September 2015
• Note the specific health protection issues that have arisen locally and steps
taken to deal with these.
Background papers
• Leicestershire County Council Health and Wellbeing Board (January 2015)
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health protection Annual Report
2013/14. Leicestershire Coiunty Council. [Available online at
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00001038/M00004289/$$ADocPackPub
lic.pdf]
• Public Health England (2013) Protecting the health of the local population: the
new health protection duty of local authorities under the Local Authorities
(Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local Healthwatch
Representatives) Regulations 2013. PHE, London. [Available online at
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
199773/Health_Protection_in_Local_Authorities_Final.pdf]

267

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Health Protection Board
Health Protection Board Assurance Report
Covering April 2014 to September 2015
1. Background
As a result of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 the local authority is required, via its Director of
Public Health (DPH), to assure itself that relevant organisations have appropriate plans in place to
protect the health of the population and that all necessary action is being taken.
The purpose of this report is to update the three Health and Wellbeing Boards for Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) of the role that the Health Protection Board is carrying out to
provide assurance for the whole system for health protection across LLR. It also updates the boards
on key risks that have emerged during the year and how these have been handled.

2. Health protection arrangements in LLR
2.1. Function of the LLR Health Protection Board (HPB)
In order to discharge the health protection assurance responsibilities a LLR Health Protection Board
(HPB) was established in June 2013 as a sub-group of the three Health and Wellbeing Boards in LLR.
Nationally, boards were set up because health protection responsibilities sit across a large number
of organisations, including several which have a very wide geographic remit, with the potential for
fragmentation and loss of local focus. The LLR HPB meets on a quarterly basis and is chaired by one
of the two DsPHs in LLR. The purpose of the board is to provide assurance for the Health and
Wellbeing Boards that:
•
•

appropriate health protection arrangements are in place, are sound, tested and
reviewed where appropriate, and used for current routine health protection work;
partners are providing this assurance through both practical working relationships and
regular reports to the Board, including information regarding changes or developments
to health protection arrangements as a result of incidents/ experience and national,
regional and locally agreed policy and guidance.

In quarter four of 2014/15 the HPB terms of reference were reviewed to ensure they were fit for
purpose. Minimal changes were made and the terms of reference are available in Appendix 1.
2.2. Roles and Responsibilities of the HPB
In addition to the DsPH having an overarching responsibility for ensuring the health of the
population is protected, a number of other organisations have statutory responsibilities to protect
the health of the population. These are: Public Health England (PHE), NHS England, Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in relation to primary and secondary care providers and Local
Authorities. These responsibilities are summarised in the Appendix 2.
2.3. Health protection governance structures and providers
The Health Protection Board has completed a mapping exercise of the health protection system
across LLR. This is briefly described in Appendix 3. It should be noted that each of organisations and

268

functions participating in the Health Protection Board have their own internal governance and
reporting mechanisms, and make information available to the public.
Where health protection services are commissioned these are contracted via normal service
specifications and contracting mechanisms apart from those commissioned by NHS England, which
uses national service specifications. Where appropriate a partnership agreement is in place
between commissioners for some jointly procured services (such as the integrated sexual health
service.) Memoranda of understanding or letters of agreement are in place between LLR Prepared
members and another, between the local authority public health teams and their local CCGs.
All members of the Health Protection Board complete a quarterly template (Appendix 4) to inform
the board of any major changes to the health protection system (including plans, policies, and
guidelines) and any major health protection incidents. (N.B. This excludes emergency planning which
is reported via LLR Prepared, which the DsPH is a member of.) These are discussed and taken as a
source of assurance, and any issues or gaps identified are followed up to ensure that these are
addressed. If health protection concerns cannot be addressed at the HPB, escalation routes initially
include DsPH approaching chief officers of individual organisations. If this does not resolve the
concern, these can be escalated to the appropriate Local authority lead member for public health,
to the appropriate Health and Wellbeing Board or to the LLR Quality Surveillance Group (which
reviews health and social care organisational performance across LLR).

3. Update on key health protection risks, emerging issues and mitigation
3.1. Whole System Risks and mitigations
The key health protection and emergency planning risks to the LLR population are documented and
regularly reviewed in the community risk register which is held by LLR Prepared (see 3.2) and
available to all LLR Prepared partners. Other health protection risks are also captured on individual
commissioner and provider organisational/ corporate risk registers, of which key risks will be
highlighted to the Health Protection Board via the quarterly template.
The DsPH are also regularly advised by PHE about longstanding and emerging health protection
related risks which are fed back to the lead member with responsibility for public health. Papers on
major risks are also brought to the Health and Well Being Boards and Scrutiny committees as
appropriate, and an Annual Report from the LLR Health Protection Board is taken to each Health and
Well Being Board.
The section below updates the Health and Well Being Boards of the key risks, emerging issues and
mitigations that have taken place from April 2014 to September 2015. For completeness of
assurance we are also including information regarding LLR Prepared even though it does not fall
within the purview of the Health Protection Board.
3.2. LLR Prepared (Local Resilience Forum, LRF)
During 14/15 and Q1 15/16 LLR Prepared have completed the following actions;
•

Reviewed a number of plans/ policies including LRF Strategic Business Plan, Constitution,
Community Risk Register, Major Incident Framework, Record Keeping protocol, Chemical,
Biological, Radiological and Nuclear , , 4x4 severe weather protocol, Loughborough Town Centre
Evacuation Plan, Media and Communications Plan, Mass Fatalities Plan, Humanitarian Assistance

269

•
•

•

Plan, Flood Response Framework. Recovery Plan, Pipeline Plan, Control of major accident
hazards (Wing Water and Brenntag).
Published a Voluntary Agency Directory detailing key partner voluntary organisations, contact
details and what they can offer in both the response and recovery phases of an emergency.
Delivered/ coordinated a number of emergency planning training opportunities including
Exercise Opticon (counter terrorism ), MAGIC training, Resilient Telecoms Exercise, Exercise
Birdsong (Flu Pandemic), Exercise Opus (Mass Fatalities) and a series of local ‘operational
training’ sessions for all partner agencies.
Implemented changes to the LLR Prepared governance structure in June 14 to streamline
meetings and improve focus on outcomes / products. (See Fig 1). This has assisted closer
working between LLR Prepared and the Local Health Resilience Group. A quarterly newsletter is
also produced to assist with wider awareness of the forum.
This image cannot currently be displayed.

Fig 1 LLR Prepared governance structure.
Future priorities for LLR Prepared in 2015/16 include;
•

•
•

Community Resilience ‘Aware and Prepared’ project – promoting community plans, recruiting
‘prepared citizens’ to help local communities in the event of a localised incident, establishing a
youth award scheme(using an established Duke Of Cornwall model) and LLR prepared week.
Implementing learning from the MAGIC training including implementing logging, documentation
and legal training session.
Further development of plans including the mass treatment, Strategic and Tactical Co-ordinating
Group, heatwave and cold weather plans.

3.3. Public Health England (PHE)
During winter 2014 the priority health protection risk was preparing for a case of Ebola across LLR
following the epidemic in Liberia, Guinea, and Sierra Leone. Although the risk of a case was low,
plans needed to be developed and tested. PHE nationally led the response. Locally protocols and
plans were developed and tested including a multiagency table top exercise and a local exercise to
test the system plans if a patient presented in GP with symptoms. An Ebola action card was

270

developed to quickly trigger an incident/ outbreak control team in and out of hours. To date, no
confirmed cases of Ebola were identified in the East Midlands.
Other key health protection outbreaks occurring across LLR from April 2014 to September 2015
include;
•
•

•

•

Tuberculosis (TB) outbreak in school in Leicester City. Approximately 90 students were
screened for TB but no cases were identified.
Salmonella (food poisoning) outbreak associate with a pub in the Blaby area. All initial
investigations have been completed. The incident management team are continuing to
monitor and investigate the incident..
Invasive Group A Streptococcus (iGAS, a skin bacteria that got into a normally sterile place)
in a care home in Castle Donnington area. Residents in the home have been re-swabbed to
ensure that the organism has been successfully eradicated. The latest swabbing shows this
to be the case.
Methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA, bacteria usually found on the skin) in a
school in Hinckley and Bosworth District. At risk children attending the school were swabbed
and provided with suppressant treatment. This was communicated and consented to by
parents.

Work has also been progressing at considering the response to emerging infections (such as
Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae (CPE)) to ensure that we have appropriate
identification and public health / infection control measures in place.
Healthcare organisations across LLR have individually developed strategies to respond to the
emerging problem of antimicrobial resistance. However, as yet there is no consistent strategic
approach across the whole of LLR. This will form a significant component of the HPB work during
2016.
A potential risk for 2015/16 includes the movement of the PHE team from County Hall, Glenfield to
the PHE East Midlands Centre in Nottingham. Therefore systems are being reviewed to ensure the
DPH maintains timely assurance from PHE.
3.4. Local Authority Regulatory Services
The HPB now receives reports from Regulatory Services (Environmental Health & Trading Standards)
across LLR on air quality, food safety & standards regulation and environmental issues (e.g.
contaminated land investigations) impacting on health protection. Table 1 summarises the latest
council performance against some of these areas. Mitigating action to improve air quality
throughout 2014/15 has included working with upper tier authorities and partners to develop plans
to reduce congestion and levels of nitrogen dioxide, PM10 dust and sulphur dioxide. Some districts
councils have implemented enhanced support and inspections for high risk food businesses in
2014/15. Food poisoning investigations are undertaken by each District and City Council in
partnership with PHE.

271

Table 1 Summary of key environmental health indicators for each district or unitary local authority.

Declared Air Quality
Management Areas
5
4
1
0
0

Council
Blaby District Council
Charnwood Borough Council
Harborough District Council
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council
Leicester City Council
Melton Borough Council
North West Leicestershire District
Council
5
Oadby & Wigston Borough Council
Rutland County Council
0

% food businesses achieving ≥ Level
3 National Food Hygiene Rating
Scheme
92%
93%
97%
92%
93%
94%
n/a looking to implement shortly

Key emerging risks for regulatory services across LLR include;

•
•
•

Food poisoning and food borne diseases for example increase E.coli in ‘Gourmet’ burgers
production (following publication of Food Standards Agency guidelines) and increased
availability of raw milk.
Tackling ‘0’ rated food premises on National Food Hygiene Rating Systems
Health and safety in butchers shops
Commercial catering premises and carbon dioxide levels (CO2)

•
•
•
•
•

Supply of tobacco to children
Smokefree compliance in Shisha cafes
Air Quality Management Areas for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter
Potential emerging contaminated land sites
Reductions to budgets and potential impacts on staff and resources.

•

3.5. Local Authority Public Health
3.5.1. Sexual Health Services
The LLR Integrated Sexual Health Service (ISHS) was implemented in January 2014. The provider
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Partnership Trust initially experienced issues regarding recruiting
staff, implementing IT systems, specialty training and performance however significant
improvements have been made into 2015/16 and this is continuing to be monitored through the
contract meeting and ISHS Partnership Board.
Since the implementation of the Health and Social Care Act, sexual health commissioning has
become fragmented across local authorities, CCGs and NHS England. A LLR sexual health visioning
event was delivered in July 2015 to identify ways to reduce this fragmentation and to develop a clear
direction for sexual health. This will be supported by a revised sexual health needs assessment for
Leicestershire County and Rutland due winter 2015. Leicester City Council updated its specific needs
assessment on sexual health in 2013 which has informed commissioning decisions.

272

Leicester is a high prevalence area for diagnosed HIV and has a high rate of late diagnosis (defined as
CD4 <350ml). Plans are in place to increase community based diagnoses of HIV infection.
3.5.2. Community Infection prevention and control (CIPC)
The community infection prevention team support local authority social care services to improve
their infection prevention control practices across LLR. In summer 2014, LPT confirmed they were no
longer going to provide the community infection prevention control (CIPC) service. Therefore a
market test was completed in November 2014 to identify new providers. However no providers
were identified after repeating the market test. The service was therefore brought into the adults
and communities compliance team within Leicestershire County Council in July 2015 on behalf of all
three local authorities. A team is now in place and developing much closer relationships with the
wider compliance, quality and contracting teams across LLR. They are also developing a CIPC
strategy for local authority services, which will feed into the wider LLR infection prevention control
strategy.
3.5.3. Tuberculosis (TB)
New cases of Tuberculosis (TB) continue to fall across LLR. In Leicester City the TB incidence rate has
fallen from 56/100,000 (2010-2012) to 53.1/100,000 (2011-2013). This continuing reduction in rate
is likely to be due to rapid diagnosis and treatment of latency in TB contacts. Changes in the
migration pattern into the city over the last 5 years may also have had an effect, with less migration
from the Indian sub-continent (where TB rates are high) and increased migration from Eastern
Europe (i.e. Poland where TB levels are much lower). The TB incidence rates in the county from
2005-2013 have remained at a very low level (~5/100,000). Rutland also continues to have a very
low rate at 7.1/100,000 for 2011-2013.
In January 2015, PHE launched a national Collaborative TB Strategy for England 2015-20. This has
therefore been the primary focus of the LLR TB Board. This strategy includes establishment of
Regional TB Control Boards, implementation of a New Entrant Latent TB (LTBI) Screening Programme
(piloted in Leicester City from April 2015) and implementing the 10 key action areas.
3.6. NHS England
3.6.1. Immunisation
NHS England commission all immunisation and screening programmes across LLR. Table 2 provides
the latest immunisation performance for 2014/15 and quarter 1 2015/16. All immunisations have a
95% target except for the school leaving Td/IPV booster which is 90%. It can be seen that the
immunisation targets are not being achieved for many childhood immunisations from aged five
years upwards across LLR. This is a similar position to that seen nationally and plans are in place to
address these for example a new home visiting vaccination service starts in Leicester City from July
2015 and a new school based immunisation programme starts in September 2015 for all school aged
immunisations. Targeted work is also being carried out with poorly performing GP practices.

273

Table 2 Immunisation performance split by local authority. Data source: System One, supplied by
Child Health Services, Bridge Park Plaza.
a) 2014/15 full year
Dtap/IPV/
Hib

PCV
Booster

95%

95%

Rutland

96.0%

Leicestershire
Leicester City

Aiming
achieve

to

Hib/Men
C Booster

MMR
at 2

Dtap/I
PV
Booste
r
at
age
5yrs

MMR at
5yrs
(Second
dose)

Td/IPV
Booste
r at age
15yrs

HPV
(Dose 1
only)

95%

95%

95%

95%

90%
(local)

90%

96.6%

96.6%

95.6%

86.7%

90.2%

81.9%

97.6%

97.5%

96.9%

96.9%

94.0%

95.0%

85.6%

95.8%

95.2%

94.4%

94.8%

91.4%

92.1%

80.7%

94.7
93.5

b) Q1 2015/16 (N.B. HPV data not available)
Dtap/IPV/
PCV
Hib/Men
Hib
Booster
C Booster

88.4

MMR at
2

Dtap/IP
V
Booster
at age
5yrs

MMR at
5yrs
(Second
dose)

Td/IPV
Booste
r
at age
15yrs

HPV
(Dose
1 only)

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

90%
(local)

90%

Rutland

100.0%

97.6%

96.5%

97.6%

85.5%

86.7%

93.2%

-

Leicestershir
e

97.3%

100.0%

99.7%

98.5%

97.0%

97.0%

90.8%

-

Leicester City

95.3%

95.0%

94.7%

94.4%

91.3%

91.4%

78.2%

-

Aiming
achieve

to

Table 3 shows the 2014/15 influenza (flu) vaccination uptake across LLR. It can be seen that all CCGs
achieved over 70% uptake in people over 65years, but uptake was nearer 50% in all other at risk
groups. Immunisation performance was even lower for Leicester City CCG. In terms of healthcare
providers all organisations increased their flu vaccination uptake from 2013/14 performance with
58.1% of GPs, 52% of LPT and 60% of UHL staff being vaccination in winter 2014.
In winter 2014 LLR local authority care homes and domiciliary providers were offered a ‘one-off’
opportunity to provide their frontline staff with vouchers for a free flu vaccine. The aim was to
normalise providers to encourage staff to receive their flu vaccination in future years. 66 vouchers
were distributed in Leicester City and 642 in Leicestershire County. (Figures are unknown for
Rutland). Further work is being completed for winter 2015 to increase uptake within the social care
setting and to establish the vaccination uptake baseline.

274

Table 3 Influenza (Flu) vaccination uptake across LLR in 2014/15, split by CCG.

Over 65
71.9
73.9

Leicester City CCG
West Leicestershire CCG
East Leicestershire and Rutland
CCG
73.2

Under
65
at
risk
49.2
49.5

Pregnant
Women - All 2 yr All 3 yr All 4 yr
all
olds
olds
olds
46.6
34.7
37.8
28.3
51.2
49.3
52.1
44.4

48.3

48.2

52.2

54.1

45

In winter 2014, all children aged four to thirteen (~97,000 children) were offered the intranasal flu
vaccination through the school based pilot. The LLR uptake was 59.3%. Initial evaluations of the
childhood flu vaccination programme indicate that GP consultation rates for ‘influenza-like illness in
all age groups was higher in non-pilot areas (64.5/100,000) compared to pilot areas (17.7/100,000),
that ‘flu positivity rate in all ages in primary care in non-pilot areas was 16.2% compared to 8.5% in
pilot areas’ and that ‘Emergency department respiratory attendance was 8.7% in non-pilot areas
compared to 5.5% in pilot areas’.1 In winter 2015 only primary school children will be given the
vaccination as part of the school based programme.
In 2015/16 new immunisation programmes commenced. From August 2015 teenagers between the
ages of 14 and 18 will receive a vaccine for MenACWY and from September 2015 babies will be given
the meningitis B vaccination programme at 2, 4 and 12 months old.
3.6.2. Screening
NHS England commission a range of national screening programmes. Table 4 summarises the latest
available performance for these programmes. N.B. the reporting geography and periods differs with
each programme. It can be seen that LLR is performing well for all screening programmes except for
bowel cancer and cervical screening in 25-49year old women for the city and 50-64.5 year old
women across LLR. Data on the antenatal and new-born screening programme is available on
request from NHS England.

1

th

PHE (2015) The national flu immunisation programme 2015/16 letter (27 March 2015). PHE London.
[Available online at
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/418428/Annual_flu_letter_2
4_03_15__FINALv3_para9.pdf]

275

Table 4 Summary of screening performance across LLR. N.B. reporting periods and geographies
differ with each screening programme. Red font indicates underperformance from target. Data
Source NHS England, 2015.
Screening
programme
Bowel
Cancer
Breast
Cancer

Cervical
Cancer
Abdominal
Aortic
Aneurysm

Diabetic
Eye
Screening

Description of
indicator
% Uptake (6070/74years)*
% Uptake (5070years)*
Coverage 2549, every 3
years
Coverage 5064.5, every 5
years
Men
aged≥64.5years
offered
screening
Men
aged
≥64.5years
that accepted
screening
Uptake
of
screening
by
diabetic
patients

Reporting
period
Q3
2014/15
Q1
&2
2014/15

Target
60% (min
52%)
80% (min
70%)

2013/14

Leic
City

Leic
County

Rutland

70%

65.00%

76.20%

77.7%

2013/14

80%

75.40%

79.40%

79.0%

Q4
2013/14

N/A

99.90%

N/A
≥70%
acceptable,
≥80%
achievable

77.9%

Q4
2013/15

Q4
2013/15

LLR plus
Northants

LLR
58.88%

80.40%

80.9%

3.7. Clinical Commissioning Groups
Clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) have a responsibility to monitor health care associated
infections (HCAI) (including Clostridium difficile infections (CDI) and Meticillin-resistant
Staphylococcus aureus blood stream infections (MRSA BSI) across the healthcare system. CDI
trajectories for 2014/15 were higher than the 2013/14 trajectories for all three CCG’s and UHL. Final
2014/15 outturn for all three CCG’s and UHL indicated that the final number of CDI cases reported
for each organisation were within trajectory with no infection control concerns identified. However
CDI trajectories for 2015/16 have been set considerably lower for all three CCG’s and UHL, therefore
specific organisational plans are being implemented which are performance monitored on a monthly
basis. The nationally set trajectory for MRSA BSI remains at a zero trajectory for all organisations. In
2014/15 there were a total of nine MRSA BSI cases assigned to the CCG’s in line with the latest
guidance. All nine were appealed and gained ‘third party’ alignment (meaning the CCG has
completed a post infection review identified no possible failings in patient care). Monthly monitoring
will continue for this target into 2015/16.
Other prioritise for the CCGs include working towards the UK five year Antimicrobial Resistance
Strategy and developing a five year LLR infection prevention control strategy and governance
systems.

276

4. Conclusion and Recommendations
The report summarises the current LLR health protection assurance mechanisms and governance
structures and provides an update on performance and key risks since the previous health
protection annual report. The members of the Health Protection Board are assured that reasonable
steps have been taken to adequately describe the health protection system in LLR, and that there
has been regular review of issues, functioning and progress in providing a secure system. The most
appropriate assurance mechanisms will need to be kept under review in the light of emerging local,
regional, national and international health protection challenges, and local changes to organisations
and key personnel.
The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to;
•
•

Receive the Health Protection Board Report April 2014- September 2015
Note the specific health protection issues that have arisen locally and steps taken to deal
with these.

277

Appendix 1 Leicester Leicestershire and Rutland Health Protection Board, Terms of
Reference
1

Aim

The aim of the board is to provide assurance to Directors of Public Health and Health and
Wellbeing Boardsin LLR about the adequacy of prevention, surveillance, planning and
response with regard to health protection.
2

Scope

Issues that are within the scope of the board are, but are not restricted to:
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12

infectious disease in the community
healthcare acquired infections including hospital acquired infections
environmental hazards
extreme weather events
food safety
immunisation programmes
sexually transmitted infections including HIV
blood borne viruses
national screening programmes
tuberculosis
seasonal influenza
antimicrobial resistance

Issues that are specifically out of scope of the board include:
1
2
3
3

health services emergency planning arrangements and response including CBRN
and pandemic ‘flu
business continuity
predictable ‘business as usual’ events such as NHS/social care winter planning
Methods of working

The board will seek assurance in the following ways:
1

It will maintain a clear overview of the local health protection system including
governance and expertise.

2

It will receive and consider regular reports from members giving an overview of
relevant activity in the period covered, changes in health protection arrangements,
risks and issues identified and plans and actions intended to mitigate these.

3

It will ensure that learning from incidents has been established to inform future
working practices.

4

It will ensure that evidence based practice is being followed in all areas of health
protection practice.

5

It will raise any concerns (including gaps in coordination) identified by the Board with
the relevant commissioners and/or providers and, if necessary, will escalate

278

concerns to the appropriate Health and Wellbeing Board and/or to the chief
executive of the relevant organisation.
6

4

Any discussion of individual cases or incidents and the respective minutes of these
will not disclose:
• Confidential information which relates to and identifies an individual unless
the
information is disclosed in a form ensuring that individuals' identities cannot
be
ascertained, or an individual consents to disclosure;
• Any information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by or under any
enactment;
• Any information, the disclosure of which would breach commercial
confidentiality.
Accountability

The HP Board will cover the areas of Leicestershire County, Rutland County and Leicester
City Councils. It will act as a sub-group of each of the three Health and Wellbeing Boards. It
will produce an annual report on health protection issues for each of the three HWBs and will
report other issues by exception.
5

Membership
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Directors of public health from each of the upper tier authorities in LLR
Public Health England – Health Protection Team
District and unitary council environmental health departments
Immunisation leads for the area covered
CCG quality leads responsible for HCAI commissioning
NHS commissioning leads for each of the national screening programmes
Chair of the TB board
Sexual health commissioner
NHS England Area Team

The Board will be chaired by one of the DPHs by agreement between them.
Secretarial support and production of the dashboard will be undertaken by one of the local
authority public health teams (by agreement between the DPHs). Additional members may
be invited where necessary by full Board agreement. Members will endeavour to send a
deputy if they are unable to attend.

279

Appendix 2 Key health protection roles and responsibilities

Environmental Health and Regulatory services , Local authority, (Unitary
and District Councils)

Director of Public Health, Local Authority

Agency

Roles and responsibilities

Lead Officer

Following the transfer of Public Health to Local Government under the
Health and Social Care Act 2012, local authorities have the health
protection responsibility for “providing information and advice to
relevant organisations (including PHE) to ensure all parties discharge
their roles effectively for the protection of the local population”. The
Director of Public Health (DPH) has responsibility for strategic
leadership of health protection in a unitary/upper tier authority. As
such, the DPH should be absolutely assured that the arrangements to
protect the health of their local communities are robust and are
implemented appropriately.

Mike Sandys,
Leicestershire
County Council
and
Rutland
County Council
Ruth Tennant,
Leicester City
Council

Across LLR the DsPH for Leicestershire and Rutland and Leicester City
provide overall assurance of the health protection system including
Health Emergency Planning, Resilience and Response. The DsPHs
oversees outcomes and arrangements relating to Health Protection
through the LLR Health Protection Board. This group also provides
assurance to the three Health & Wellbeing Boards in LLR.
It should be noted arrangements for health emergency planning are
overseen by the LLR Prepared and the Local Health Resilience
Partnership (LHRP) which is co-chaired with NHS England by the
Leicestershire County and Rutland County Council DPH on behalf of
both DsPH.
Each Borough and District Council has Statutory responsibilities for
Environmental health functions covering a number of Health
Protection responsibilities including;
• Food Safety (not standards) - Inspections, complaints, sampling,
food poisoning, National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme.
• Infectious disease – Investigations and Enforcement, including
animal
• Air Quality – monitoring and review of air quality.
• Environmental Permitting – Control of emissions from certain
industrial processes
• Environmental Nuisances – Smoke, dust, odours, accumulations,
pollution, noise
• Occupational Health & Safety
• Private Water Supplies – sampling and control
• Smoke-free premises
• Licensing – Alcohol, Entertainment, Taxis, Lotteries and Gambling
• Pest Control (Control of Public Health Pests)
• Private Sector Housing conditions – standards and conditions
• Anti-Social Behaviour
• Product Safety
• Safety of Buildings and other Structures
• Explosives storage

Alan
Twells,
Head
of
Regulatory
Services,
Charnwood
Borough
Council
(District
Council rep)
Roman
Leszczyszyn,
Head
of
Regulatory
Services,
Leicester City
Council

Public Health England

280

PHE take a lead role on communicable disease control and
monitoring, expert advice on environmental, chemical, biological and
radiation hazards, healthcare associated infections (HCAI),
surveillance and monitoring.
• Principle PHE health protection responsibilities include: A duty
to take such steps as the Secretary of State considers
appropriate to protect the health of the public in England
• Powers in relation to Port Health
• Category 1 Responders under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004
• Power to provide a Microbiological Service in England
PHE also has a team embedded within the NHS England local area
team which is responsible for commissioning vaccination and
immunisation programmes for LLR.

NHS England Central Midlands

NHS England commission routine vaccination, immunisation and
screening programmes, primary care (although this has locally been
delegated to CCGs via co-commissioning from 1st April 2015) and has
responsibility for some closed communities, e.g. military and prisons
health services.

Dr Tim Davies,
Screening and
Immunisation
Lead

Health protection related responsibilities as set out in the Health and
Social Care Act (2012) and subsequent regulations include:
• Commissioning Primary Care in England
• Clinical Governance and Leadership
• Commissioning specialist services
• Emergency planning
• Commissioning services such as Health Visiting (although this
is moving to local authority Public Health in October 2015)
• Patient Safety and Service Quality
CCGs commission secondary care and community services (including
some aspects of TB control) and HCAI monitoring. From the 1 April
2015 CCG across LLR co-commission primary care services on behalf of
NHS England.

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs)

Dr Philip Monk,
Consultant in
Communicable
Disease Control

Caroline
Trevithick,
Carmel O’Brien
and Dawn Lees
(Chief Nurses)
A CCG has statutory duties to:
acts as point of
into
• Obtain advice appropriate to enable it to effectively discharge contact
the
three
CCGs
its functions from persons who have a broad range of
professional expertise in:
o Prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness
o The protection or improvement of public health
• To make CCG services or facilities available to LA so far as is
reasonably necessary to enable LAs to discharge their
functions relating to social services, education and public
health
• Co-operate with LAs
• Category 2 Responders duty under Civil Contingencies Act
2004
Co-operate with category 1 responders to assess risk and prepare
plans

Secondary
&
Community
Care Providers

Primary
Care
Providers

281

Reporting notifiable diseases, administering vaccination and screening GPs
programmes. Primary care providers are expected to respond as
needed to major incidents; however this would be coordinated
through NHS England and CCGs.
Treatment services, responding to emergencies, communicable UHL,
LPT,
disease notification and control. Most providers are classified as sundry ‘private
category 1 responders in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, hence providers’
required to respond to a major incident as requested by the Local
Resilience Forum (LLR Prepared).

Appendix 3 Summary of the key health protection arrangements and governance structures across LLR. *Emergency preparedness is excluded from the
scope of the LLR Health protection Board due to the separate LLR Prepared governance structures that the DsPH sits on.
Area of health protection
Governance structures
Commissioner/ Providers
Emergency preparedness and incident LLR Prepared (Local Resilience Forum (LRF)) and Multiagency category 1 and 2 providers across LLR
response*
specifically for health, the Local Health Resilience including local authorities, police and health.
Partnership (LHRP) for local major incidents.
NHS England oversees emergency planning across the
For cross boundary or high risk national health care system and jointly chair the LHRP with the
emergencies this will be coordinated nationally DPH from Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils.
by Central Government or COBR with support
from the Resilience and Emergencies Division
(RED) team (a branch of the Department for
Communities and Local Government (DCLG)).

282

Communicable disease management
Management of other health protection
Incidents (e.g. Environmental hazards,
Meningococcal
disease,
Vaccination
preventable diseases, Seasonal flu,
Chemical, radiation and terrorist incidents)

Strategic, tactical and operational coordinating
group command and control structure are used
during an incident. 24/7 response available as
described in the LLR Major Incident Plan (revised
in summer 2015).
Outbreak Control Teams convened as needed. If
the incident meets the definition of a major
incident this will feed into the LLR prepared
structures. If cross border incidents are identified
this will be led by the lead PHE Centre or taken
over by PHE nationally (Colindale).

Public Health England lead with support from local
authorities (including environmental health, public
health etc), health (CCGs, acute and community
providers), Environment Agency, Animal and Plant
Health Agency etc. Specialist support available via PHE
Centre for Radiation, Chemicals and Environmental
Hazards (CRCE). PHE are also responsible for port health
24/7 health protection response available via (including responding to incidents at East Midlands
PHE on call rota.
Airport.)
PHE Centre East Midlands Communicable Disease
Outbreak Management Plan was published in May
2014, this will be reviewed in May 2016.

Regulatory services

Community Infection prevention and
control (CIPC) in health and social care,
including healthcare acquired infections,
communicable disease and infection
prevention and control standards in
community settings.

Quarterly LLR CIPC Performance meetings
Quarterly LLR programme boards for each
screening programme. These boards feed into
the regional NHS England Board.
Immunisation
Quarterly LLR immunisation board that formally
•
Routine programmes: Childhood feed into the regional NHS England Board.
immunisations, seasonal flu, PPV
(Pneumococcal
Polysaccharide
Vaccine), school based e.g. HPV
(human papilloma virus to prevent
cervical
cancer)
and
diphtheria/tetanus/polio
•
Targeted programmes: BCG, RSV,
neonatal hepatitis B
Tuberculosis (TB)
East Midland Regional TB Board chaired by the
regional TB lead.
Screening

Each district or unitary authority has their own
regulatory services team.
LLR CIPC service is commissioned by local authorities
and was delivered by LPT until 30th June 2015. From 1st
July 2015 the service was brought into Leicestershire
County Council on behalf of all three local authorities.
CCGs also have an IPC control team to monitor
healthcare associated infections across the patch. All
providers will have IPC leads or teams that can feed into
the IPC operational meeting.

283

Each Local Authority has a different regulatory
services governance arrangement, depending on
what committee structure is in place.
Quarterly Strategic Infection Prevention and
Control (IP&C) Group to:
• Establish the strategic direction of infection
prevention for LLR population
• Monitor delivery of the strategic plan
• Mandated
by
the
HPB,
make
recommendations to health and social care
organisations regarding mechanisms to
reduce the risk of the spread of infections
within the population of LLR
• Escalate concerns and risks to the HPB for
further broader discussion if required.

Commissioned & coordinated by NHS Area Team and
delivered by various providers including acute hospitals
and primary care.
Commissioned & coordinated by NHS Area Team and
delivered by mainly primary care (GP) apart from school
aged immunisations that from September 2015 will be
delivered by using a school based programme delivered
by LPT.

TB service commissioned by clinical commissioning
groups (CCGs), outbreak response delivered by PHE.
New entrant TB screening programme is to be delivered

in Leicester City from April 2015.

Contraception and Sexual Health

Quarterly LLR TB Board feed into the regional
board. Changes in governance structures have
occurred due to the2015 PHE National TB
strategy.
Quarterly LLR Integrated Sexual Health Service
(ISHS) contract meeting and partnership board.
Quarterly LLR HIV prevention contract meetings
with providers.

Sexual Health services mainly commissioned by local
authorities. Main LLR Integrated Sexual Health Service
(ISHS) delivered by Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent
Partnership NHS Trust. GP community based services for
intrauterine devices, Implanon and Chlamydia
screening. Pharmacy services for chlamydia screening
and emergency hormone contraception. Sexual Health
and HIV prevention and promotion service delivered by
voluntary sector organisations (Leicestershire Aids
Support Service (LASS), Trade and New Futures.)

Surveillance, Alerting and Tracking of PHE have daily acute response meetings and
infectious disease
weekly national teleconference and report to flag
cases of infectious disease.

Information and Advice

Information and advice is provided by a number
of organisations within their mandated sphere of
operation and competence.

NHS England commission UHL for HIV services and GPs
for general sexual health and contraception services as
part of the GP contact (although primary care cocommissioning has now been delegated to local CCGs.)
PHE coordinate health protection surveillance and
tracking and alerting. CCGs also track local levels of
health care associated infections. Local authority public
health completes a joint strategic needs assessment
that covers wider trend in disease prevalence across
their patch.
All organisations provide information and advice specific
to their services.
Strategic health protection advice is provided by PHE,

284

CCGs commission UHL and BPAS for termination of
pregnancy services.

All organisations have 24/7 communication operational advice also from PHE acute response centre
teams.
and from LLR PH CIPC Service. Provision of information
to the general public is responsibility of the DPH but
would normally be led by PHE in line with LLR LHRP
review of health protection arrangements for
responding to incidents and outbreaks.

Training

All organisations have 24/7 access to a communication
team. These would link into the LLR prepared command
structures if needed.
Individual provider contract meetings and local LLR prepared delivered a range of training on
authority clinical governance meetings.
emergency planning including a 4 day emergency course
to Gold commanders in May 2015.

285

Individual provider’s responsibility including regular
training audits.

Appendix 4 Overview of Health Protection Board Quarterly template. N.B. specific templates are sent to each organisation
Report to the LLR Health Protection Board
Date of meeting:
Date template completed:
Name and contact details of completer or compiler:
LLR upper tier or unitary Local Authorities Public Health
Risks/Issues

Mitigation/plans

Community acquired
infection prevention
and control
Sexual Health

Clinical Governance
Other
LLR upper tier or unitary Local Authorities Regulatory Services
Air quality
Food Safety regulation

286

TB

Other issues
Public Health England
Incidents
Outbreaks
Emerging issues
Other issues
NHS England Area Team.
Immunisations

Public Health
Commissioning
Primary Care
Commissioning
Other issues
CCGs - Leicester City, West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland
Infection Control
Other Issues

287

Screening

288

This page is intentionally left blank

289

Agenda Item 16

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19th NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CHIEF EXECUTIVE
HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE RECOMMISSIONING
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of proposals
for recommissioning Healthwatch services for Leicestershire.

Link to Better Care Together

2.

Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Workstream
√
Mental health

Relevance
√

Long term conditions

√

Frail and older people

√

Urgent care

√

Planned care

√

Learning disabilities

√

End of life

√

The purpose of Healthwatch is to promote continuous improvement in local health
and social care services and achieve improved outcomes for local people. The
contract scope includes services related to all of the above workstreams.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3.

At its meeting on 19th September 2014 Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet
decided to reduce funding and support to agencies in order to achieve budget
savings. The detailed proposals included a reduction in funding for Healthwatch
Leicestershire of £80,000 from £267,391 to £187,391 for the current financial year
and for subsequent years.

4.

The Healthwatch Leicestershire Annual Review 2014 – 15 was reported to the
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board on 17th September 2015 when the work
of Healthwatch Leicestershire was noted by the Board. The report also set out the
funding context identified in paragraph 3 above.

Background
5.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is a statutory service established under the Health and
Social Care Act 2012 and proposals for procurement of the existing service were
reported to the County Council’s Cabinet on 16th October 2012 (16 October Cabinet).

290
The Healthwatch Leicestershire (HWL) contract is delivered by Voluntary Action
Leicestershire via Healthwatch Leicestershire, and is due to end on 31st March 2016.
The contract includes provision for an extension of up to two years.
6.

The Annual Report of HWL highlights impressive progress which is proposed to be
carried forward further through the current year’s work programme. HWL support is
focused on:a. Listening to local people across Leicestershire – engaging with the public and
targeting seldom heard/hard to reach communities to understand what matters
most.
b. Providing quality advice, signposting and information to inform patient choice.
c. Gathering intelligence to inform and influence key stakeholders to improve health
and social care services.
d. Reviewing health and social care services from a lay perspective to observe the
nature and quality of service improvements.

Proposal
7.

The County Council proposes to review the Healthwatch offer prior to retendering the
contract for HWL so as to inform re-commissioning. In order to allow time for this
review to be carried out, and also to support continuing strong performance under the
existing contract, it is proposed to extend the contract for a further year until March
2017. This extension is subject to agreement on service provision with VAL/HWL
within the reduced funding allocation of £187,391 and to confirmation of Government
funding for next financial year which is expected to be provided in January 2016.

8.

The review is proposed to be carried out during the first quarter of 2016/17 so as to
take account of the performance of HWL during the current financial year and the
development of national quality guidance due to be completed later this year. The
review will be led by Sarah Carter/Mike Thomson within the Council’s Communities
Team. Future commissioning proposals will be reported to the Health and Wellbeing
Board prior to being reported to County Council Cabinet for approval.

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
9.

The review of the HWL contract will include engagement and consultation with
partner organisations, the Health and Wellbeing Board, Healthwatch members etc.

Resource Implications
10. Department of Health funding for Healthwatch and associated contracts
(Independent NHS Advocacy Services (ICAS) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
(DOLS) in hospitals) is via the Local Reform and Communities Voices Grant
(LRCVG). This funding is separately identified although not ring-fenced within the
Leicestershire County Council Revenue Support Grant. All of the budget will continue
to be used for the named purposes. The County Council budget allocation is
expected to be confirmed by Central Government early next calendar year.
Recommendation
11. It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board note this report.

291

Background papers
Report to the Leicestershire County Council Cabinet on Reduction in Funding to Agencies
– Outcome of Consultation and Proposed Reductions in Funding, dated 19th September
2014. Cabinet Report – September 2014
Officer to Contact
Kristy Ball, Communities Team Leader, Leicestershire County Council
Telephone: 0116 305 8099
Email: Kristy.ball@leics.gov.uk
Equality and Human Rights Implications
12. Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing inequalities in health and social
care outcomes and this priority will be reflected in future commissioning.
Partnership Working and associated issues
13. Partnership working is fundamental to the work of Healthwatch Leicestershire and
will be central to future service specification. Partners will be consulted in order that
they can contribute to the Healthwatch review.

292

This page is intentionally left blank

293

Agenda Item 17

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 19 NOVEMBER 2015
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
REVISED TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE INTEGRATION EXECUTIVE

Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to present a revision to the terms of reference for
the Integration Executive for approval.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2. The Terms of Reference for the Integration Executive were initially approved
by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 13 March 2014. They were updated in
January 2015 following recommendations from Leicestershire County
Council’s Internal Audit Service and approved by the Health and Wellbeing
Board on 22 January 2015.
Background
3. The Integration Programme incorporates the Better Care Fund plan/priorities
and a number of other integration priorities across the partnership, building on
good foundations of joint working established over a number of years between
the council and NHS partners. This has included existing pooled budgets in
areas such as learning disability services.
4. The Integration Executive is supported by an operational group comprised of
representatives from across the partner agencies which has focused on
digesting policy, BCF planning, submission and assurance, integration
programme performance reporting, metrics and KPIs, the development of the
section 75 agreement, integration programme risk management and
programme management.
5. The operational group has also developed the infrastructure and governance
for individual projects feeding into the integration programme, managed
programme level resources and ensured close working with other programme
management teams within the health and care economy such as the Better
Care Together Programme Office and those within clinical commissioning
groups.
Terms of Reference
6. The Terms of Reference for the Integration Executive have been revised to
provide clarity regarding the delegated limits for approval of variation of
expenditure within the Integration Programme. The Terms of Reference also
confirm that all expenditure variations within the Integration Programme,

294

including those actioned via delegation, will be ratified quarterly at the
Integration Finance and Performance Group. This is the group established to
manage the pooled budget under the Section 75 agreement.
7. The Terms of Reference have also been amended to include supporting
innovation, promoting new models of integrated care, and approaches to
integrated commissioning.
Recommendation
That the Terms of Reference for the Integration Executive be approved
Officers to contact:
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
0116 305 4212
Rosemary Palmer
Democratic Services Manager
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
0116 305 6098

295

TERMS OF REFERENCE
FOR THE LEICESTERSHIRE INTEGRATION EXECUTIVE
Updated November 2015
Purpose of the Integration Executive
The purpose of the Integration Executive is to provide leadership, direction
and assurance, on behalf of the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board,
so that our vision for integrated health and care in Leicestershire is delivered,
in line with national policy and local priorities.
Terms of Reference
The Integration Executive will have a role and duties which will include:1) Agree the scope of the programme of work to integrate health and care
in Leicestershire by 2018, setting the scale of ambition and pace
needed for delivery.
2) Develop the Better Care Fund Plan for Leicestershire (2014/15 –
2015/16) as a sub set of the Integration programme for approval by the
Health and Wellbeing Board and lead its delivery.
3) Develop a programme plan to ensure delivery of all components of the
integration programme to agreed milestones.
4) Quality assure business cases for individual developments including
the strategic assumptions, models of care, evidence base, financial
analysis and equality impact assessment.
5) Make recommendations as appropriate to the Health and Wellbeing
Board on the allocation of the resources necessary to deliver the
integration programme as a whole and its individual components.
6) Develop a risk register for the integration programme.
7) Implement the necessary risk mitigation plans across the Integration
programme as a whole, with connectivity to the corporate governance
systems in partner agencies.
8) Develop an agreed basis for a Section 75 agreement for the BCF for
approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board and undertake the
strategic management of this agreement.
9) Develop pooled arrangements for the Integration Programme for
approval by the Health and Wellbeing Board
10) Through the work of the Integration Finance and Performance Group
ensure the risk sharing agreement and risk pool operates in line with
the section 75 agreement.

296

11) Through the work of the Integration Finance and Performance Group,
manage pooled budget risks in accordance with the protocol and
dispute resolution procedures.
12) Set delegated limits for approval of variation of expenditure within the
Integration Programme and review these on an annual basis.
Delegated limits are currently as follows:
•
•
•

Integration Operational Group – up to £100k (meets monthly)
Integration Executive - up to £200k (meets monthly)**
Integration Finance and Performance Group - (meets at least
quarterly) - threshold is in accordance with the delegated
authority of Finance representatives of signatories to the Section
75, as approved by their respective organisations.

**Integration Executive approval to be sought up to a £200k threshold in
circumstances where a decision is required before the next scheduled
meeting of the Integration Finance and Performance Group.
All expenditure variations within the Integration Programme, including those
actioned via delegation, will be ratified quarterly at the Integration Finance and
Performance Group.
13) Ensure connectivity and promote alignment with the LLR wide five year
health and social care strategy Better Care Together.
14) Undertake forward planning for the potential extension of the
integration policy agenda nationally and locally, including any future
arrangements for the BCF from 2016/17 onwards.
15) Horizon scan and promote innovation (using publications, evidence,
evaluations and best practice from a range of local, regional and
national sources) to develop new integrated models of care and new
approaches to integrated commissioning.
16) Support the regular refresh of the Leicestershire Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.
17) Support annual planning cycles for NHS and Local Authority partners
18) In conjunction with the Health and Wellbeing Board, direct a
communication and engagement plan about health and care
integration, targeted to a wide range of stakeholders across the health
and care system, with particular emphasis on the needs of the public
and local councillors.

297

Membership of the Integration Executive
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Director of Adults and Communities, LCC
Director of Public Health, LCC
Director of Children and Families Services, LCC
Managing Director (or their designate) of West Leicestershire CCG
Managing Director (or their designate) of East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG
Clinical Chairs (or their designates) of WLCCG and EL&RCCG
Director representative from EMAS
Director representative from UHL
Director representative from LPT
Representative of Local Healthwatch
Officer representative from District Councils
Director of Resources (or their designate) from LCC
Director of Finance representing both Clinical Commissioning Groups
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)

Meeting Frequency
Meetings will take place initially monthly, with an initial review at 6 months,
annually thereafter.
Chair
Clinical Chair of West Leicestershire CCG
Meeting Administration
Meetings will be administered by Democratic Services at Leicestershire
County Council
The agenda and papers will be issued no later than 4 working days in
advance unless later circulation has been authorised by the Chair
(exceptional circumstances).
Location of Meetings
Leicestershire County Council Committee Rooms
Quoracy
In order to meet and conduct routine business 6 members must be present of
which at least:
• 1 must be a clinical representative
• 1 must be a representative from Leicestershire County Council
• 1 must be a provider.

298

In order to take decisions in relation to the scope of the programme or
resource allocation 6 members must be present as follows:
• 1 representative from each clinical commissioning group
• 2 representatives from Leicestershire County Council
• 1 provider representative
• 1 clinical representative
• The representative from local healthwatch must also be present.
Reporting Arrangements
The Integration Executive will submit to the Health and Wellbeing Board:• At least quarterly reports on the performance of the Better Care Fund
and wider Integration Programme;
• At least annually a report on the use of resources in support of the
Better Care Fund.
The Integration Executive will report as appropriate to regional and national
assurance systems for the BCF.
The Integration Executive will ensure that risk is escalated as appropriate to
the relevant partners, subject to the appropriate reporting mechanisms to the
Health and Wellbeing Board, and will satisfy an internal or external audit
requirements of relevant partners.

